
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
PUBLIC MEETING #257 

 
December 20, 2018 

10:00 a.m. 
MassMutual Center, Rooms 1 & 2 

1277 Main Street 
Springfield, MA 







DRAFT 

1 
 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
Meeting Minutes 

  

Date/Time: December 6, 2018 – 10:00 a.m. 

Place:  Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
 101 Federal Street, 12th Floor  
 Boston, MA  02110 
  
Present:  Interim Chairwoman Gayle Cameron 
 Commissioner Enrique Zuniga 
 Commissioner Bruce Stebbins  
 Commissioner Eileen O’Brien 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Call to Order  
See transcript page 1 
 
10:00 a.m. Interim Chairwoman Cameron called to order public meeting #256 of  the 
 Massachusetts Gaming Commission.  She noted for the record that due to 
 technical difficulties, there is no closed-captioning today, but the meeting is 
 being  streamed.  
 
Approval of Minutes  
See transcript page 1 
 
10:01 a.m. Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the minutes from the November 8th 

Commission Meeting, subject to correction for typographical errors and other 
nonmaterial matters.  Commissioner O’Brien seconded the motion.  Commissioner 
Zuniga requested that on page four, the language of his opposition should read that 
it was in light of the fact that the application did not maximize the benefits to the 
Commonwealth. 

 The motion was approved 4 – 0 with the aforementioned edit.  
 
 

Time entries are linked to 
corresponding section in                  

Commission meeting video.  

 

 

https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=1
https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=17


DRAFT 

2 
 

 
Administrative Update 
See transcript pages 1 – 3  
 
10:01 a.m. Executive Director Ed Bedrosian provided the Commission with a 
 summary update regarding the staff’s daily activities.  He reported that the 
 gaming agents, Gaming Enforcement Unit, and licensing staff are continuing to 
 regulate Plainridge Park Casino and MGM Springfield.  Also, Director 
 Bedrosian thanked the horse racing staff for another successful season, as it 
 has just come to a close.   
 

 Staff is assisting Director Bedrosian with 90-Day Reports from MGM 
 Springfield concerning crosswalk designation on its casino floor, as well as the 
 matter of the plaza beverage license.  Director Bedrosian stated that he 
 anticipates presenting these reports at the December 20th Commission 
 Meeting to be held in Springfield.  He stated that he hopes to report on the 
 MGM opening process at that meeting as well.   
 
 Director Bedrosian also noted that the Commission will be briefed in an 
 executive session by the General Counsel and outside lawyers on the 
 implications of recently filed injunction and temporary restraining order 
 legislation and the impact of that on a process for getting to an adjudicatory 
 hearing. 
 
 Interim Chairwoman Cameron made a statement acknowledging the complex  
 circumstances around the Wynn investigation, related litigation, and the 
 overall integrity of the process.  She also reiterated the Commission’s role as 
 an adjudicatory body, and thanked the staff for their continued hard work, 
 perseverance, and dedication. 
 

Research and Responsible Gaming 
See transcript pages 4 – 18  
 
10:12 a.m. Social and Economic Impacts of Gambling in Massachusetts 
 The Commission reviewed a PowerPoint presentation and report authored by 

researchers from the University of Massachusetts School of Public Health. The 
report was to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission and the Massachusetts 
Department of Public Health, and contains the findings regarding 
social/health and economic impacts of gambling in the state. 

 
 Dr. Rachel Volberg, Research Associate Professor in the School of Public 

Health and Health Sciences at the University of Massachusetts Amherst, 
presented to the Commission the team’s findings and analyses from several 
studies they conducted.    

 

https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=127
https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=663


DRAFT 

3 
 

11:07 a.m. Commissioner Stebbins noted that as there is a wealth of information 
collected in these studies that will benefit policymakers and stakeholders.  
There is a lot of that information is generated locally around these facilities 
and proposed that some information could be shared back with local 
stakeholders to see how this information could benefit them.  He also 
reiterated his interest in seeing new topics of research with the opening of the 
Class 1 casinos.  Dr. Volberg then distributed fact sheets to the Commissioners 
that summarize their research findings and could be distributed to people at 
the community level.  

 
Racing Division 
See transcript pages 18 – 25  
 
11:22 a.m. 2017 Annual Report 
 Dr. Alexandra Lightbown thanked her team for their considerable time and 

effort that went into creating the 2017 Annual Report for the Racing Division.  
She also thanked the IT Department for working on installing new computers 
for the Racing Division this year. 

 
 The Commission reviewed the 5th Annual Report of the Division of Racing for 

the year ending on December 31, 2017.  The report covered the Division of 
Racing’s financials, to include a statement of the program’s revenue and 
expenses, handle comparison, a financial variance report with regard to 
handles, and an analysis of purses paid in 2017.  The report also included 
Suffolk Downs’ financial report, Plainridge Park Casino’s financial report, and 
the status of greyhound racing in 2017 with financial reports for each track.  

 
 There was a significant increase in revenue as well as distributions from the 

Racehorse Development Fund. 
 
 There will be a correction made to the expenditure numbers, as well as some 

other corrections.  The report will then be re-submitted to the Commission.  
 
Legal Division 
See Transcript Pages 25 – 28  
 
11:49 p.m. Non-Disclosure Agreement (NDA) Template 
  The Legal Division requested the Commission’s approval of newly proposed 

language in the Non-Disclosure agreement template that would be used for 
licensees, moving forward.  

 
 Generally, in the NDA, the gaming licensee declares by way of application that 

it considers specific information and materials identified in their NDA 
application to contain a trade secret and/or that it would be detrimental to 
the gaming licensee if those materials were made public. The Commission can 

https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=3856
https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=4251
https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=5917


DRAFT 

4 
 

then agree to enter into an NDA to protect the information and materials from 
public disclosure.  

 
 Deputy General Counsel Todd Grossman summarized the proposed change by 

explaining that under the existing language, the Commission notifies the 
licensee that it has been contacted by a governmental agency seeking 
information that is subject to the coverage of the agreement, in order to afford 
the licensee an opportunity to seek a protective order or other means to stop 
the release of this information.  With the new proposed language, that 
function would be made discretionary on the part of the Commission if it were 
determined that the integrity of a governmental investigation could be 
compromised by notifying the gaming licensee. 

 
11:53 p.m. Commissioner O’Brien requested that the Commissioners be alerted to any 

instances of disclosure to a public entity.  Interim Chairwoman Cameron 
suggested that Commissioner O’Brien provide guidance in the matter, or 
simply that notification is given to Commissioner O’Brien. 

 
11:57 a.m. Commissioner O’Brien moved that the Commission approve the Non-Disclosure 

Agreement Template as presented to the Commission subject to the caveat that was 
discussed in terms of notification to Commissioner O’Brien as the designated 
Commissioner, to the extent that the discretion is not exercised.  Commissioner 
Zuniga seconded the motion.   

 The motion was approved 4 – 0. 
  
11:58 a.m. Adoption of Emergency Regulation 205 CMR 146: Gaming Equipment 
 The Commission reviewed a draft version of amendments throughout 205 

CMR 146, as well as the Small Business Impact Statement for 205 CMR 146.00: 
Gaming Equipment.  The proposed changes are administrative in nature, to 
make the language uniform with respect to the number of seats permitted at 
gaming tables.  The Legal Division requested approval for emergency 
promulgation of this regulation. 

  
12:00 a.m. Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Small Business Impact Statement 

for the amendments to 205 CMR 146.00: Gaming Equipment, as included in the 
packet.  Commissioner Zuniga seconded the motion. 

 The Motion passed 4 – 0. 
 
 Commissioner Stebbins then moved to approve the amendments to 205 CMR 

146.00 as included in the packet and authorize the staff to file the regulation on 
an emergency basis pursuant to G.L. chapter 23K § 5(b) and further to take the 
steps necessary to file the regulation with the Secretary of the Commonwealth 
and to proceed with the formal regulation promulgation process.  Commissioner 
Zuniga seconded the motion. 

 The Motion Passed 4 – 0.  
 

https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=6233
https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=6344
https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=6380
https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=6532


DRAFT 

5 
 

Ombudsman 
See transcript pages 29 – 36  
 
1:00 p.m. 2019 Community Mitigation Fund Application Guidelines 
 Joseph Delaney, Construction Oversight Manager, requested that the 

Commission approve the Ombudsman’s draft of the 2019 Community 
Mitigation Fund Application Guidelines.   

 
 In the proposal, the guidelines identified recommendations for 2019 target 

spending amounts, regional target spending allocations, the potential for 
accepting additional applications after the February 1 deadline, the 
continuation/modification of the prior year’s priorities, and the proposed 
Transit Project(s) of Regional Significance.  

 
12:11 p.m. Additionally, the issue of any flexibility to the statutory application deadline of 

February 1, 2019 was discussed.  It was stated that without a legislative 
change, the Commission cannot have a rolling admission process.  A remedy 
to this could be to set up a reserve fund that would have to be applied for by 
some entity that could reserve that money for potential emergency 
expenditures.  Mr. Delaney asked that the Commission allow the staff to create 
some guidelines around this.  The issue regarding communities creating 
emergency funds, and any potential for an emergency related to this fund was 
discussed.   

 
 It was determined that within the existing regulations and framework, the 

Commission can possibly move forward with allowing a host community, 
should an emergency arise, to request reimbursement through the 
Community Mitigation Fund and the Commission could review that through 
the Community Mitigation Fund in the normal course. 

 
12:20 p.m. Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission approve the 2019 

Community Mitigation Fund guidelines as provided in the packet, subject to any 
grammatical changes or immaterial changes.  Commissioner O’Brien seconded 
the motion. 

 The Motion passed 4 – 0. 
 
Commissioner’s Updates 
See transcript page 36  
 
12:21 p.m. There are no updates to report. 
 
Executive Session 
See transcript pages 36 – 37  
 
12:29 p.m. Interim Chairwoman Cameron stated that the Commission will now go into an 

executive session pursuant to MGL Chapter 30(a), § 21(a)(3) for the purpose 

https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=6599
https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=6886
https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=8219
https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=8265
https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=8276


DRAFT 

6 
 

of discussing litigation strategy in the case of Stephen A. Wynn vs. Karen 
Wells, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission, and Wynn Resorts, when a 
discussion in an open session would have a detrimental effect on litigation 
position for the Commission. The Commission will not reconvene in open 
session at the end of the executive session. 

 
12:30 p.m.  Commissioner Zuniga moved to go into executive session.  Commissioner 

Stebbins seconded the motion.  Roll call vote: 
 Commissioner Stebbins: Yes. 
 Commissioner Zuniga: Yes. 
 Commissioner O’Brien: Yes. 
 Chairwoman Cameron: Yes. 
 
 Chairwoman Cameron then stated that the Commission is now in executive 

session pursuant to the Open Meeting Law, and that all members of the public 
and any staff members not involved in this matter to be discussed must leave the 
room.  Chairwoman Cameron also asked that all live audio and video recording 
and livestreaming be shut off and the doors to the room be closed. 

 
             

List of Documents and Other Items Used 
 
1. Notice of Meeting and Agenda, dated December 6, 2018 
2. Draft Commission Meeting Minutes, dated November 8, 2018 
3. Power Point Presentation – Social & Economic Impacts of Gambling in 

Massachusetts: 2018 
4. SEIGMA Fact Sheets 
5. Power Point Presentation - 2018 Socioeconomic Impacts of Expanded Gambling 

in Massachusetts: 2018 
6. Annual Racing Report 2017 
7. Draft Non-Disclosure Agreement Template  
8. Small Business Impact Statement for 205 CMR 146.00: Gaming Equipment 
9. Draft Regulation Amendments for 205 CMR 146.00: Gaming Equipment 
10. Memo on Community Mitigation Fund Guidelines dated December 3, 2018 
11. Draft 2019 Community Mitigation Fund Guidelines dated November 29, 2018 
12. Comparison of October 2018 to November 2018 Guidelines dated November 29, 

2018 

     /s/ Catherine Blue 
     Assistant Secretary 

https://youtu.be/HJ2CPMu8t98?t=8313


 

David J. Apfel 
617.570.1970 
dapfel@goodwinlaw.com 

Roberto M. Braceras 
617.570.1895 
rbraceras@goodwinlaw.com 

Goodwin Procter LLP 
100 Northern Avenue 
Boston, MA 02210 

goodwinlaw.com 
+1 617 570 1000 

 

 
 

November 30, 2018 

VIA E-MAIL AND HAND DELIVERY 
mgccomments@state.ma.us 
 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
101 Federal Street, 12th Floor 
Boston, MA 02210 

Re: Region C: Response of Mass Gaming & Entertainment to Request for Public Comments 

Dear Commissioners: 

We write on behalf of Mass Gaming & Entertainment (“MG&E”) in response to the Commission’s 
request for public comments regarding MG&E’s request for reconsideration of its application for the 
award of a Category 1 gaming license in Region C.  As we have previously explained to the 
Commission’s Executive Director Ed Bedrosian and General Counsel Catherine Blue, we are 
concerned that the questions that the Commission is now asking appear designed to further delay the 
Region C re-opening process and to create unnecessary roadblocks with respect to reconsideration of 
MG&E’s proposal.  See, e.g., our letter to Mr. Bedrosian and Ms. Blue, dated October 16, 2018, a copy 
of which is attached as Exhibit A.  In this regard, we note that, when the state legislature debated and 
ultimately passed the Expanded Gaming Act in 2011, a significant factor for many legislators in their 
decision to vote in favor of the legislation was the fact that the southern border of Massachusetts was 
already exposed to two Connecticut casinos, which were taking substantial tax revenue out of the 
Commonwealth.  Today, seven years later, matters have taken a turn for the worse.  We have 
approved casinos in greater metropolitan Boston and Springfield and a slot parlor in Plainville, but 
nothing in southeastern Massachusetts.  In the meanwhile, just months ago, a new Rhode Island 
casino opened in Tiverton, mere steps from the Fall River line.  And Rhode Island is about to 
commence sports betting in its casinos, which will take even more tax dollars out of Massachusetts.  
Instead of providing protection for our southeastern border, these past seven years have seen erosion.  
We ask that you stem the tide, and take the long delay that has already plagued Region C into account 
in determining how and when to reopen the commercial application process in that Region.   

We also ask that you take public sentiment into account.  Over the course of the past eight weeks, we 
have spoken with several state legislators and other public officials, including Brockton Mayor Bill 
Carpenter, and we have been approached by a number of Brockton citizens, all of whom have voiced 
strong support for MG&E’s effort to have its casino license application reconsidered.  Based on our 
discussions, we understand that numerous Brockton citizens, including union representatives, small 
business owners, teachers, and many others have either signed petitions or sent letters or emails 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 2 
 
 
 
directly to the Commission asking for the prompt reopening of the Region C process and 
reconsideration of MG&E’s application.  As far as we can tell, Brockton citizens and many Brockton 
elected and appointed officials have recognized the potential for MG&E’s proposed resort casino to 
revitalize and rebrand their city, improve public safety, rebuild Brockton’s schools, and provide 
thousands of well-paying permanent jobs to Brockton natives and others from southeastern 
Massachusetts.  We hope the Commission will recognize this same potential, listen to the call of 
Brockton’s citizens for prompt action, and reconsider MG&E’s application without further delay.   

We address each of your questions directly.  As you will see, the answers make clear that there is no 
financial, equitable, or legal reason to further postpone the reconsideration of MG&E’s Region C 
application: 

1. What is the status of the gaming market in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic?  What are the 
existing gaming options?  What plans exist to increase the number of gaming options, both 
in states that currently allow casino gaming and states where casino gaming does not 
currently exist?  What revenues have been collected by states that have gaming over the last 
five (5) years and what are their projected future revenues?1 

The Innovation Group notes that, as a general rule, gaming revenue across the Northeast and Mid-
Atlantic states was strong in 2017, and has only gotten stronger in 2018 with the introduction of new 
casinos across both regions, and legal sports betting in New Jersey and Delaware.  See 11/18 IG 
Report (Ex. C) at 1-8, 10-12.  The following tables, which were prepared by the Innovation Group, 
depict, state-by-state, all existing gaming options, in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic states:   

 
 

                                                
 
1 Our answers to significant components of Questions 1-4 & 11 were included in a report by the Innovation Group, 
dated September 2018, which we provided to General Counsel Catherine Blue and Executive Director Ed 
Bedrosian on September 16, 2018 (“9/18 IG Report”).  A copy of the 9/18 IG Report is attached as Exhibit B to 
this letter for the Commission’s convenience.  After the Commission requested public comments regarding 
Region C, MG&E requested that the Innovation Group refresh its prior report, and very specifically and 
comprehensively address Questions 1-4 & 11.  The new report, dated November 30, 2018, which the Innovation 
Group prepared, is attached as Exhibit C, and incorporated herein (“11/18 IG Report”).  The answers in this letter 
to Questions 1-4 & 11 are summaries of the more complete answers provided in the 11/18 IG Report.   



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 3 
 
 
 

Northeast Casinos by State 
    City Machines Tables Positions 
Connecticut     

 
Mohegan Sun Montville 5,613 350 7,713 

 
Foxwoods Ledyard 4,145 428 6,713 

Maine     
 Hollywood Bangor Bangor 921 16 1,017 

 Oxford Casino Oxford 811 22 943 
Massachusetts     
 Plainridge Plainville 1,250 0 1,500 

 
MGM Springfield Springfield 2,550 120 3,270 

New York*     

 

Saratoga Springs Saratoga 
Springs 1,782 0 1,782 

 
Monticello Raceway Monticello 1,110 0 1,110 

 
Empire City at Yonkers Yonkers 5,349 0 5,349 

 
Jake's 58 Islandia 1,000 0 1,000 

 
Rivers Casino & Resort Schenectady 1,150 82 1,642 

 
Resorts World Aqueduct Jamaica 5,005 0 5,005 

 
Resorts World Catskills Monticello 2,153 125 2,903 

Rhode Island     

 
Twin River Casino Lincoln 4,220 80 4,700 

  Tiverton Casino Hotel Tiverton 1,000 37 1,222 
Regional Total   38,059  1,260  45,869  

 
Sources: State Lotteries and Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group.  

 
* Per the Innovation Group, only casinos in the eastern part of New York are included in this chart because those in the western part of New York are not 

considered relevant to the Massachusetts/New England market. 
 
 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 4 
 
 
 

Mid-Atlantic Casinos by State 
    City Machines Tables Positions 
Delaware     

 
Delaware Park Wilmington 2,250 39 2,484 

 
Dover Downs Hotel and Casino Dover 2,177 40 2,417 

 Harrington Raceway and Casino Harrington 1,787 31 1,973 
Maryland     
 Hollywood Casino Perryville Perryville 822 22 954 

 Horseshoe Casino  Baltimore 2,200 168 3,208 

 Live! Casino & Hotel Hanover 3,997 198 5,185 

 
MGM National Harbor Oxon Hill 2,961 180 4,041 

 Ocean Downs Berlin 888 0 888 

 
Rocky Gap Casino Resort Flintstone 665 17 767 

New Jersey     

 
Bally's Atlantic City Atlantic City 1,776 164 2,760 

 
Borgata Atlantic City 1,994 268 3,602 

 
Caesars Atlantic City Atlantic City 1,889 132 2,681 

 
Golden Nugget Atlantic City Atlantic City 1,454 99 2,048 

 
Hard Rock Atlantic City Atlantic City 2,063 152 2,975 

 Harrah's Resort Atlantic City Atlantic City 2,109 133 2,907 

 
Oceans Resort Atlantic City 1,937 107 2,579 

 
Resorts Casino Hotel Atlantic City 1,475 68 1,883 

 
Tropicana Atlantic City Atlantic City 2,476 130 3,256 

Pennsylvania*     

 
Harrah's Philadelphia Chester 2,450 118 3,158 

 

Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race 
Course Grantville 2,170 75 2,620 

 
Mohegan Sun Pocono Wilkes-Barre 2,325 89 2,859 

 
Mount Airy Casino Resort  Mt. Pocono 1,863 81 2,349 

 
Parx Casino and Racing Bensalem 3,331 190 4,471 

 
Sands Casino Resort Bethlehem Bethlehem 3,073 252 4,585 

 
SugarHouse Casino Philadelphia 1,809 141 2,655 

 
Valley Forge Casino Resort King of 

Prussia 600 50 900 

West Virginia**     
  Hollywood Casino at Charles Town Races Ranson 2,284 90 2,824 

Regional Total   54,825  3,034  73,029  
Source: State Lotteries and Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group.  * Per the Innovation Group, this chart only includes casinos in the eastern 

part of Pennsylvania, as those in the west are not considered relevant to the Massachusetts/New England market. 
** Per the Innovation Group, the only West Virginia casino deemed potentially relevant, and thus included in the chart, is Charles Town.  The Innovation 

Group has not included the casino in Greenbrier because of its far southern location and lack of relevance to the gaming market in Massachusetts. 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 5 
 
 
 
In addition to the above-listed casinos, there are at least six additional casinos that are currently 
planned or under development that could open within the next two years:   
 
 
 
 
 

Proposed Northeast Casino Locations by State 

  Name Location Proposed Positions Note 

Connecticut    

 

- East 
Windsor* 

2,000 Slot Machines 
60 Tables 

Unprecedented joint venture between tribes 
operating Mohegan Sun and Foxwoods.  
Facing legal challenge; undetermined at this 
time if it will proceed. 

Massachusetts    

 
Encore Boston 
Harbor Everett* 4,250 Total Gaming 

Positions 
Reported over $2 Billion property. License 
currently under review. Scheduled opening 
June 2019. 

Pennsylvania    

 
Category 4 
Casinos - 300-750 Slot Machines 

up to 30 Table Games  
Three casinos on the eastern side of the 
state: York, Shippensburg, and Morgantown.  

New York    

  - Medford 1,000 VLT Machines 
 

Previous Medford OTB site. OTB would 
consider building a casino in Medford with 
up to 1,000 machines if state allows Suffolk 
County to expand to 2,000 terminals.  

           Source: The Innovation Group. 
* Of the casinos currently under consideration, only East Windsor and Everett are regarded as relevant to the Massachusetts market. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 6 
 
 
 
The following Innovation Group chart shows, state-by-state within the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic 
regions, tax revenue collected every year since 2013.  The overall region has experienced annual tax 
revenue growth of 2.6% over the past five years, although Connecticut, Delaware, Rhode Island, and 
West Virginia have been impacted by new casinos in adjacent states.  

 
 
 

New England and Mid-Atlantic State Tax Revenue 
State FY-2013/14 FY-2014/15 FY-2015/16 FY-2016/17 FY-2017/18 CAGR 
Maine $50.8  $51.7  $53.1  $54.0  $56.0  1.9% 
Massachusetts - - $61.5  $62.7  $67.6  3.2% 
Rhode Island $326.4  $333.5  $320.1  $318.3  $318.6  -0.5% 
Connecticut $279.9  $268.0  $265.9  $270.7  $272.2  -0.6% 
New York $871.7  $866.9  $906.0  $928.3  $993.2  2.6% 
Pennsylvania $879.4  $890.7  $915.0  $915.5  $926.0  1.0% 
New Jersey $208.1  $196.8  $201.0  $210.5  $211.5  0.3% 
Delaware $157.5  $155.0  $156.8  $153.6  $157.1  -0.1% 
West Virginia* $426.1  $371.6  $349.5  $335.5  $321.6  -6.8% 
Maryland $272.2  $310.0  $385.7  $441.4  $526.1  14.1% 
Total $3,472.1  $3,444.2  $3,614.6  $3,690.5  $3,849.9  2.6% 

Source: State Lotteries and Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group. 
Note: Excludes horse industry payments.  FY=July-June except NY April-March. 

*WV tax revenues are estimates using reported effective tax rates for table games (35%) and VLTs (53.5%) 
 
 
 
 
The following Innovation Group chart shows, state-by-state within the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic 
regions, gaming revenue since 2013 as well as high-level projected revenues for 2018 and for the next 
three years: With recent casino additions in Maryland, New York, New Jersey and Massachusetts, 
some of the states in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic regions have felt a negative impact while others 
have grown. As shown below, the inclusion of the proposed Boston casino potentially bolsters the 
revenues in Massachusetts while reducing the revenues in surrounding states like Connecticut and 
Rhode Island.  Overall, the total gaming market in these regions can be expected to continue growing 
with the inclusion of additional gaming properties.  We are not yet near the point of saturation.  
 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 7 
 
 
 

State by State Gaming Revenue ($MMs) 
  CT DE MA MD ME NJ NY* PA* RI WV** Total 
2013 $1,144.9  $432.1  - $749.0  $126.3  $2,863.6  $1,567.5  $2,339.2  $558.1  $456.5  $9,780.5  
2014 $1,067.5  $403.7  - $931.1  $127.3  $2,619.3  $1,563.4  $2,313.1  $611.1  $391.9  $9,636.3  
2015 $1,044.5  $404.6  - $1,098.4  $129.8  $2,414.2  $1,609.8  $2,407.9  $615.8  $396.2  $9,725.0  
2016 $1,053.5  $398.7  $155.0  $1,203.3  $133.1  $2,405.9  $1,644.5  $2,462.0  $619.1  $368.6  $10,075.2  
2017 $1,075.0  $409.3  $164.8  $1,615.0  $136.7  $2,413.4  $1,738.4  $2,480.1  $624.9  $339.4  $10,657.5  
CAGR -1.6% -1.3% 6.3% 21.2% 2.0% -4.2% 2.6% 1.5% 2.9% -7.1% 2.2% 
2018 $1,010.5  $403.9  $280.1  $1,655.3  $138.1  $2,715.1  $1,764.5  $2,517.3  $649.8  $337.7  $11,134.7  
2019 $909.4  $410.0  $896.4  $1,696.7  $135.3  $2,783.0  $1,790.9  $2,555.1  $617.4  $341.1  $11,794.3  
2020 $864.0  $416.2  $1,075.7  $1,739.1  $138.0  $2,852.5  $1,817.8  $2,593.4  $586.5  $344.5  $12,083.3  
2021 $881.2 $422.4 $1,280.1 $1,782.6 $140.8 $2,923.8 $1,845.1 $2,632.3 $595.3 $347.9 $12,525.2 

Source: State Lotteries and Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group. 
*New York and Pennsylvania statistics only include the revenues from the Eastern part of the two states. 

**West Virginia statistics only include the revenues from the Charlestown Races casino. 
 
 
 

2. What is the expected demand for gaming and the value of the overall gaming market in 
Massachusetts? 

As empirically illustrated by the track-record to date of the Plainville slots parlor, and the early success 
of MGM’s casino in Springfield, there is high demand for gaming in Massachusetts.  As shown in the 
following chart, the Innovation Group estimates that over the next five years gaming revenues in 
Massachusetts, exclusive of additional revenues that would be derived if sports betting is legalized 
within the state, would reach $1.31 billion by 2022 without a Region C casino. As the chart also 
indicates, if MG&E’s proposed Brockton resort casino were to open in 2021 (which is when it would be 
expected to open if MG&E’s application was reconsidered and approved in 2019), other Massachusetts 
casinos would experience a decline in total revenues, but the Massachusetts casinos in the aggregate 
would achieve a significant increase.   It is estimated that during the first full year of operation of an 
MG&E casino in Brockton (2022), aggregate Massachusetts gaming revenue would increase by $270 
MM.   

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 8 
 
 
 

Est. Total Gaming Revenue in MA. as of 2022  
 Without Region C With Region C 
Plainridge $122,616,795 $94,581,694 
Springfield $379,650,509 $372,380,374 
Everett $807,886,414 $711,695,058 
Brockton 

 
$403,843,949 

Massachusetts Total $1,310,153,718 $1,582,501,074 
Source: The Innovation Group. 

 
With the addition of MG&E’s proposed Brockton casino, the Innovation Group estimates that 
Massachusetts tax revenues derived from gaming (again exclusive of additional tax revenues that 
would be derived from legalized sports betting) would be about $410MM by 2022, with an incremental 
increase in tax revenue of almost $64MM derived from the proposed MG&E casino in Brockton: 

 
Est. MA. Gaming Tax Revenue as of 2022  

 Without Region C With Region C 
Plainridge $49,046,718 $37,832,678 
Springfield $94,912,627 $93,095,093 
Everett $201,971,603 $177,923,764 
Brockton 

 
$100,960,987 

Total $345,930,949 $409,812,523 
Incremental 

 
$63,881,574* 

                                             Source: The Innovation Group. 
* In addition to this incremental tax revenue benefit, the state would also receive an additional 

$1,260,000 in license fees in 2022 if the proposed Brockton casino opens in 2021. 
 

3. Should the Commission review the status of online gaming, sports betting and daily fantasy 
sports and their potential impact on casino gaming? 

In our view, the Commission need not review the status and potential impact of online gaming, sports 
betting, and/or DFS before making a decision to reconsider MG&E’s casino application.  From our 
vantage point, the only reason the Commission would want or need to review the status and potential 
impact of online gaming, sports betting and DFS would be to assess whether or not those forms of 
gaming could or would detrimentally affect the prospect for success of a brick and mortar casino in 
Region C.  But MG&E has already made this assessment, and is prepared to spend more than $700 
million based on its confidence that there will be no adverse impacts.   



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 9 
 
 
 
Moreover, existing empirical evidence suggests that, if anything, the rise of online gaming, sports 
betting, and DFS will drive traffic to casinos, introduce a younger demographic to casinos, and 
ultimately increase traditional casino revenues: 

• Online Gaming: In the Northeast, online gaming is currently legal in New Jersey, Pennsylvania, 
and Delaware, but only up and running in New Jersey and Delaware.  As discussed in the 
attached 11/18 IG Report, it is not possible to definitively isolate the impact to date of online 
gaming in these two states, since the implementation of online gaming coincided with new 
casino development in neighboring Pennsylvania and Maryland.  That said, industry analysts 
generally believe that online gaming has helped New Jersey become more competitive in the 
face of growing regional casino expansion, and that online gaming has already helped and will 
continue to help increase revenues in Delaware’s casinos.  As the following chart shows, the 
recent brick and mortar casino revenue trend in both Delaware and New Jersey is on the rise, 
which shows, at a minimum, that online gaming has not negatively impacted casino revenue 
growth in either state:   

 
Brick and Mortar and Online Gaming Revenues in Delaware and New Jersey 

  Delaware  New Jersey 

Year Online  
B&M 

Locations 
Total State 

Revenue 
% 

Growth Online  
B&M 

Locations 
Total State 

Revenue 
% 

Growth 
2011 

 
$547,872,433 $547,872,433 

  
$3,298,860,680 $3,298,860,680 

 2012 
 

$520,548,891 $520,548,891 -4.99% 
 

$3,051,874,667 $3,051,874,667 -7.5% 
2013* $251,397 $432,058,442 $432,309,839 -17.00% $8,371,486 $2,863,568,572 $2,871,940,058 -6.2% 
2014 $2,098,532 $403,695,364 $405,793,896 -6.56% $123,096,896 $2,619,250,907 $2,742,347,803 -8.5% 
2015 $1,798,931 $404,581,100 $406,380,031 0.22% $149,029,795 $2,414,335,959 $2,563,365,754 -7.8% 
2016 $2,906,886 $398,657,403 $401,564,289 -1.5% $196,858,746 $2,405,323,367 $2,602,182,113 -0.4% 
2017 $2,391,942 $409,264,911 $411,656,853 2.7% $246,018,441 $2,413,221,069 $2,659,239,510 0.3% 

Source: State Gaming Commissions, The Innovation Group. 
*2013 marked the first year of legalized online gaming in Delaware and New Jersey. 

 
• Sports Betting: This past year, in the immediate wake of the Supreme Court’s decision in 

Murphy v. NCAA, et al., 138 S. Ct. 1461 (2018), New Jersey, Mississippi, and West Virginia 
implemented laws legalizing sports betting, and Delaware expanded an existing law that had 
previously allowed for very limited sports gambling.  As illustrated in the table below, sports 
betting, which has only been in place for a portion of the year,2 has increased overall casino 

                                                
 
2 Legal sports betting first went live in New Jersey and Mississippi in August 2018, and in West Virginia in 
September 2018.  Expanded sports betting was introduced in Delaware in June 2018. 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 10 
 
 
 

revenues in all four of these states.  In Mississippi and New Jersey, casino revenues exclusive 
of sport betting have increased, with New Jersey experiencing the highest year-over-year 
gaming revenue growth of any state in the country,3 and Mississippi experiencing the third 
highest rate of growth.4  Experts generally agree that sports betting has helped to drive these 
numbers by attracting more individuals to the New Jersey and Mississippi casinos than would 
have gambled otherwise.  In West Virginia, while casino revenues, exclusive of sports betting 
revenues, have declined slightly year-over-year, that decline is largely attributable to increased 
competition resulting from the opening of new casinos in New Jersey, Maryland, and Ohio, and 
likely would have been far greater but for the introduction of sports betting, given the positive 
effect it has had on other gaming revenue.  See 11/18 IG Report at 12.  As for Delaware, the 
slots’ revenues for September 2018 was about the same as September 2017, though slightly 
down when one takes into account the manner in which Delaware calculates months (counting 
the last Sunday of the calendar month as the end of its “reporting” month) and the fact that, per 
Delaware’s method of calculation, September 2017 had 28 days in contrast to September 2018 
which had 35 days.  It is premature to assess whether Delaware’s total GGR, September v. 
September has changed, let alone if any such change is due to the introduction of sports 
betting, as Delaware has not yet reported its table revenues for September 2018.     

September 2018 v. September 2017 GGR ($MMs) Change 
In States that Introduced Sport Betting in 2018 

State Sept-17 GGR Sept-18 GGR Year-over-
Year Change  SB Rev Total GGR+ 

SB Rev 
Year-over-

Year Change  
Delaware*       -0.06% $3.2 n/a   
Mississippi   $168.2 $177.3 5.42% $5.5 $182.8 8.70% 
New Jersey   $215.2 $231.5 7.58% $16.7 $248.2 15.36% 
West Virginia   $59.4 $58.3 -1.83% $1.8 $60.1 1.26% 
Total USA**   $3,348.1 $3,386.5 1.15% - - - 

Total States without Sports $2,905.4 $2,919.4 0.48% - - - 
Source: UNLV and State Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group. 

*Trend is for daily slot revenue; table revenue not yet reported for September 2018.  Delaware reports months by last 
Sunday of the month—September 2017 was 28 days versus 35 days for 2018. 

**Excluding Delaware. 

                                                                                                                                                                   
 
   
3 At least a portion of New Jersey’s substantial growth is attributable to two new gaming properties having opened 
in Atlantic City in June 2018. 
 
4 Maryland experienced the second highest year-over-year gaming revenue growth in the country, due largely to 
recent expansions of large-scale gaming options, such as MGM National Harbor.  Over the past year, no other 
state had a gaming revenue increase comparable to that of New Jersey and Mississippi.   



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 11 
 
 
 
At bottom, the limited sports betting data available to date suggests that sports betting is having an 
overall positive impact on slot and table revenues, while also contributing new wagering revenue to 
casinos and states.  See 11/18 IG Report at 10-13. 

     

• Daily Fantasy Sports: Over the past three years, DFS has been legalized by statute in 16 
states in which casino gambling also exists.  These states are: Arkansas, Colorado, Delaware, 
Indiana, Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Mississippi, Missouri, New 
Jersey, New York, Ohio, and Pennsylvania.  Connecticut also approved DFS, subject to 
agreement with the tribes, which is in negotiation. The limited studies that have been done to 
date on the effects, if any, of DFS on casino gaming indicate that there is no apparent impact on 
casino revenue, and some potential to leverage DFS products to draw new patrons to casino 
gaming.   

4. Is there sufficient capacity to fill new casino jobs created by a Region C casino?  What 
impact will that have on existing business to replace experienced employees who move to a 
casino job?  

There is more than ample capacity to fill the approximately 1,800 permanent new jobs that would be 
created by MG&E’s proposed resort casino.  The combination of the unemployed and underemployed 
populations in Region C constitute a total population of more than 56,000 from which it would be 
relatively easy to find the 1,800 employees needed to fill the new jobs that MG&E will create.  See 
11/18 IG Report at 17.  In this regard, we note that the unemployment rate in Brockton is 3.8% (see 
Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development) which is higher than the state average.  We 
also note that, under the express terms of MG&E’s host community agreement with Brockton (a copy of 
which is attached as Exhibit D), MG&E is obligated to provide first preference for jobs to Brockton 
residents, and second preference to residents of the surrounding communities in southeastern 
Massachusetts.  See MG&E-Brockton Host Community Agreement (Ex. D) at 7.   
 
As for the potential impact that the filling of MG&E casino jobs will have on existing businesses that 
have to replace experienced employees, there is no hard, historic data indicating a negative impact of 
casino jobs on other businesses.  In fact, the empirical evidence to date in Massachusetts suggests 
that there has been, and would be, no such negative impact.  See, e.g., 6/26/18 IG Report at 58 
(https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/SEIGMApresentation6.26.18.pdf) which shows a greater 
increase in the number of businesses in Plainville from 2009-2016 (13%) than in its surrounding 
communities (10.6%) or in the control counties of Norfolk and Bristol (9%). 

5. Should the Commission revise its process for determining or updating the suitability of a 
prior applicant for a category 1 or category 2 gaming license who wishes to apply for a 
category 1 gaming license in Region C? 

There is no reason for the Commission to revise its process for updating its positive suitability 
determination regarding MG&E.  The Commission’s existing regulations provide the Commission with 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 12 
 
 
 
broad discretion to update its assessment of MG&E’s suitability.  Indeed, the regulations impose an 
obligation on MG&E and its qualifiers to maintain their suitability.  See 205 CMR 115.03(1) (a suitability 
“investigation may be conducted at any time after a qualifier is granted a positive determination of 
suitability to ensure that they continue to meet the suitability standards”; 205 CMR 115.01(4) (“Once 
issued a positive determination of suitability, the gaming licensee and all qualifiers shall have a 
continuing duty to maintain suitability . . . .”). 

MG&E and its qualifiers were an open book in 2015 when they were first deemed suitable.  All have 
maintained their suitability, and welcome any update the Commission may deem appropriate.   

As for updating and potentially changing prior negative determinations of suitability, the Commission’s 
regulations provide no such mechanism.  To the contrary, negative determinations of suitability are final 
and unreviewable as a matter of law.  See 205 CMR 115.05(5) (“No Appeal from Commission's 
Determination of Suitability. Pursuant to M.L.G. c. 23K, § 17(g), the applicant or qualifier shall not be 
entitled to any further review.”).  Furthermore, in view of the care with which the Commission has 
always made negative suitability decisions, we see no reason why the law or the Commission’s process 
in this regard should be revised.  

6. Should the Commission review and/or revise its RFA-2 application to determine if additional 
or different information should be requested from gaming license applicants in Region C? 

We see no reason why the RFA-2 application, which was already revised for Region C applicants in 
2015, needs to be further revised.  The current application is comprehensive and well designed to elicit 
all of the information necessary for the Commission to make informed decisions regarding the 
qualifications of applicants to develop and operate casinos in keeping with the mandates of the 
Expanded Gaming Act.  In fact, any further revision to the application would risk creating inequities 
between the requirements that were imposed on applicants in Regions A and B versus those imposed 
on Region C applicants.   
 
The revisions to the RFA-2 application which were promulgated in 2015 streamlined and removed 
ambiguity from the application that had been previously used for applicants in Region A and B without 
in any way changing the 55 substantive categories as to which all applicants in those regions had been 
required to supply detailed information.  See, e.g., M.G.L. c. 23K, § 9; 205 CMR 119.01.  For instance, 
the current application’s “Overview of Project” section includes four questions in contrast to the nine 
questions which were included in the prior application, but the information that is required is exactly the 
same as in the old application.  There was no reason to change the overall requirements in 2015 and 
there is still no reason to change those requirements. 
 
MG&E provided complete and candid answers to all of the questions on the 2015 RFA-2 application, 
and it would be happy to update those answers upon request.  In addition, to the extent that the 
Commission has discovered anything over the course of the past three years, including during its 
recent and still ongoing investigation of Steve Wynn and Wynn Resorts, that in any way suggests there 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 13 
 
 
 
have been deficiencies in the RFA-2 application, MG&E would be happy to supplement its prior 
application answers to address any additional questions or concerns the Commission might have.   
 
7. Should agreements, such as host community agreements, surrounding agreements, 

impacted live entertainment venue (ILEV) agreements, mitigation agreements, gaming 
school agreements and other relationships previously established for former applicants for 
a category 1 gaming license in Region C be deemed to be valid or should such agreements 
be reviewed again and/or re-negotiated?  

As phrased, the question suggests that the Commission has the authority to deem otherwise binding 
and enforceable contracts invalid.  It does not.  The existing host community agreement and other 
pertinent agreements that MG&E has with Brockton and other communities are valid and enforceable 
contracts.  While the parties to those contracts could mutually agree to review or re-negotiate the terms 
of those agreements, the Commission does not have the authority or legal right to require any such 
review or re-negotiation.   

The power to invalidate a contract must be granted expressly by the legislature.  See, e.g., Regents of 
Univ. Sys. of Ga. v. Carroll, 338 U.S. 586, 602 (1950) (holding that an agency’s order could not “directly 
affect the validity of [a] contract because the agency’s enabling act did not “give [such] authority to the 
Commission”); see also Saccone v. State Ethics Comm’n, 395 Mass. 326, 335 (1985) (“Because the 
commission was created by the Legislature, it has only the powers, duties and obligations expressly 
conferred upon it by statute or such as are reasonably necessary to carry out the purpose for which it 
was established.”).  The Massachusetts legislature has granted no such power to the Commission.  
There is nothing in the Expanded Gaming Act or any other Massachusetts statute that affords the 
Commission the power on its own (i.e., without an express authorization provision in a third-party 
contract and/or absent a petition from a party to such a contract) to require gaming applicants to review 
and/or re-negotiate the terms of their host community or other pertinent third-party agreements, let 
alone to invalidate any such agreements.5 If anything, the Commission, through the regulations it has 
promulgated, has recognized the limitations on its authority vis-à-vis third-party contracting, and has 
encouraged casino applicants to enter into open-ended, long-term agreements.  See, e.g., 205 CMR 
125.01(3) (a surrounding community agreement “may be for any term necessary to satisfy the purposes 
for which the agreement is required by M.G.L. c. 23K”) (emphasis added).    

                                                
 
5 Even if the Commission possessed the independent power to sua sponte invalidate contracts related to gaming 
license applications, exercising that power here to invalidate MG&E’s existing agreements would violate the 
Contracts Clause of the federal Constitution.  See Campbell v. Boston Hous. Auth., 443 Mass. 574, 581 (2005) 
(the Clause “limits the power of the States to modify their own contracts as well as to regulate those between 
private parties”).   

 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 14 
 
 
 
All of MG&E’s pertinent third-party agreements, including its host community agreement with the City of 
Brockton, are, by their terms, still valid.  For example, the MG&E-Brockton host community agreement 
provides four conditions under which the Agreement may be terminated—none of which has occurred: 

• “MGE provides written notice that it elects to abandon efforts to obtain a Category 1 gaming 
license to be located in Brockton.” 

• “The Commission has issued a Category 1 gaming license for Region C to another applicant 
and MGE has provided written notice that it has decided to discontinue pursuit of a Category 1 
gaming license for the Project.” 

• “MGE provides written notice that it elects not to construct, or to permanently cease operations 
of, the Project.” 

• “The Category 1 gaming license previously issued to MGE for the Project is revoked, rescinded, 
or expires without having been renewed.” 

See MG&E-Brockton Host Community Agreement (Ex. D) at 13.  MG&E is still pursuing a Category 1 
gaming license and the Brockton Project.  As a result, its host community agreement with Brockton 
remains in place, and may not be invalidated.  Likewise, its other pertinent agreements remain 
enforceable.   

8. Should there be a new host community referendum vote in any host community where a 
prior vote was held? 

The short answer is NO.  There should not be a new host community referendum vote in Brockton, 
which already approved casino gaming. 

First, second votes on approved ballot questions are not permitted under the Expanded Gaming Act.  
While the Act allows for a second bite at the apple when a community ballot question regarding casino 
gaming is disapproved, it does not provide for a second vote in the event of approval.  Where 
disapproval occurs, the statute explicitly contemplates a second vote.  It specifically provides for a 
waiting period of at least 180 days before any such new vote may be taken, and mandates that before 
the new vote there must be a new “agreement between the applicant and host community signed after 
the previous election.”  M.G.L. c. 23K, § 15(13).  In contrast, the statute does not provide for a second 
vote when a host community has approved a casino referendum.  Rather, the statute asserts that, 
when a host community ballot question is approved, “the host community shall be taken to have voted 
in favor of the applicant’s license,” period.  Id.  By permitting a second referendum in the event of a 
negative vote but not a positive vote, the legislature implicitly excluded the option of a second 
referendum after an affirmative vote.  Cf. Skawski v. Greenfield Investors Property Dev. LLC, 473 
Mass. 580, 587-88 (2016) (under the statutory maxim of expressio unius est exclusio alterius, the 
legislature’s grant of jurisdiction in one court necessarily excluded jurisdiction in every other court by 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 15 
 
 
 
implication).  Simply put, the statute does not authorize, and the Commission has no power to compel, 
a new referendum, where, as in Brockton, a first referendum has been successful.     

Second, as a practical matter, any new referendum would take significant time and cause additional 
delay in the reconsideration process.  As a result, the first mover advantage that the Twin River and 
Tiverton casinos in Rhode Island have already obtained in Region C market would be increased.  And 
the current opportunity that exists for thousands of Massachusetts jobs, and tens of millions of dollars in 
tax revenue for Brockton and the Commonwealth, would be substantially reduced if not entirely 
eliminated. 

Third, MG&E should not be compelled to incur the inevitable expense and further delay of a new 
referendum, where it did not in any way cause or contribute to the long delay that has already 
transpired between the original referendum and today.   

Fourth, there appears to be far greater support for a resort casino in Brockton today than there was in 
2015 when the initial casino referendum passed.  The enthusiastic response we have received from 
legislators, local officials, and Brockton residents with whom we have spoken about the prospect of 
reconsideration of MG&E’s proposal, and the support for the MG&E project that has apparently been 
voiced to the Commission through numerous recent letters and petition signatures, make clear that 
there is broad support for a resort casino in Brockton, and for the enhanced safety, improved schools, 
thousands of well-paying jobs, and tens of millions of dollars in annual tax benefits that will come with it.  
Based on what we have been told about the scores of letters and petition signatures that have been 
sent to the Commission during the comment period, we would hope that the Commission is able to see 
first-hand that MG&E’s proposal now has, if anything, increased support from the people who will be 
most affected by the proposed resort casino development.   

9. Should the Commission consider any legislative changes to the Gaming Act? 

We strongly believe there is no need for the Commission to consider any legislative changes to the 
Expanded Gaming Act.  While we agree with the view of the Commission’s staff that a legislative 
change would be necessary if reconsideration of MGE’s application were precluded by statute, we 
disagree with the suggestion that the Act includes any such preclusion.  It does not.  The Commission 
has the inherent power to reconsider its own decisions.  See, e.g., Doe v. Sex Offender Registry Bd., 
478 Mass. 454, 457 (2017) (affirming the “broad inherent authority” of an administrative agency to 
“reopen [a prior] proceeding and reconsider its decision at any time”).  Nothing in the Act suggests 
otherwise.  

The Act accords the Commission broad and expansive powers, without any restriction whatsoever on 
the reconsideration of decisions denying casino license applications.  While the statute expressly states 
that an applicant “shall not be entitled to any further review if denied by the commission,” M.G.L. c. 23K, 
§ 17(g), that provision applies exclusively to judicial review, and not to review or reconsideration by the 
Commission itself.  Lest there were any doubt, the Supreme Judicial Court made this clear in City of 
Revere v. Mass. Gaming Comm’n, 476 Mass. 591, 597 (2017), where it expressly held that the bar on 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 16 
 
 
 
“further review” in § 17(g) is a bar on judicial review only, without any limitation on the Commission’s 
“full discretion as to whether to issue a license,” whether upon initial consideration or reconsideration.   

The Commission’s “full discretion” on licensing decisions, as well as the corresponding grant of “all 
powers necessary or convenient to carry out and effectuate [the Commission’s] purposes,” M.G.L. c. 
23K, § 4(13), gives the Commission “considerable leeway in interpreting a statute it is charged with 
enforcing, unless a statute unambiguously bars the agency’s approach.”  Goldberg v. Bd. of Health of 
Granby, 444 Mass. 627, 633 (2005); see also Zachs v. Dep’t of Pub. Utilities, 406 Mass. 217, 227 
(1989) (“In general, administrative agencies have broad discretion over procedural aspects of matters 
before them.  The decision whether to reopen hearings is one such procedural matter on which we 
have accorded agencies a great deal of flexibility.”).  Here, in light of City of Revere’s interpretation of 
§ 17(g)’s “further review” language—i.e., that it bars only judicial review—nothing in the Expanded 
Gaming Act prevents the Commission from exercising its discretion to reconsider a previously denied 
application.  And no legislative fix is needed to clarify the Commission’s authority to reconsider MG&E’s 
Brockton proposal. 

10. Should there be changes to the Commission’s regulations, for example, changes to 
regulations setting forth the license award process and the calculation of minimum capital 
investment required under chapter 23K in order to reopen Region C? 

If, as we have requested, the Commission reconsiders MG&E’s prior application, there would be no 
need to change any of its current regulations.  We would anticipate that any such reconsideration would 
require the submission of certain updated information, as well as modifications of MG&E’s earlier 
proposal.  But the current regulations provide the Commission ample means to obtain updated and 
supplemental information from applicants, including information regarding the applicants’ ability to meet 
minimum capital requirements.  See, e.g., 205 CMR 118.04(1)(f) (during the RFA-2 review process, 
“the commission may, at such times and in such order as the commission deems appropriate, . . . 
[r]equire or permit the applicant to provide additional information and documents pursuant to 205 CMR 
112.00.”); 205 CMR 112.01(1) (“The commission . . . may request additional information and 
documents from an applicant . . . throughout the application review process. . . .”).   

In contrast to a decision to reconsider MG&E’s application (which could be done without any change in 
the Commission’s regulations), any decision to reopen the application process in Region C more 
broadly (i.e., reopen to other applicants) would either create undue delay and prejudice to Region C 
and MG&E, or run afoul of the Commission’s current regulations, or both.   

In their current form, the Commission’s regulations do not permit RFA-1 applications to proceed 
simultaneously with RFA-2 applications.  See 205 CMR 110.01(1) (“The application process for both a 
category 1 license and a category 2 license shall proceed in two phases.”).  An applicant may not 
submit an RFA-2 application without first receiving a positive determination of suitability through the 
RFA-1 application process.  See 205 CMR 110.01(2) (“Only those applicants that are found by the 
commission to be qualified pursuant to a determination of suitability at the conclusion of RFA-1 . . . shall 
be permitted to proceed to the second phase, RFA-2.”).  The regulations do not allow for the possibility 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 17 
 
 
 
of parallel tracks—i.e., allowing applicants previously found to be “suitable” at the RFA-1 stage to 
submit RFA-2 applications, while allowing new applicants to start from scratch at the RFA-1 
stage.  Under current regulations, the Commission may only proceed one phase at a time.   

Here, MG&E is the only prior applicant in Region C that cleared the RFA-1 hurdle and that would be in 
a position to proceed forthwith with a new RFA-2 application.  Without a change in the regulations that 
would allow MG&E to proceed through the RFA-2 process while others are first proceeding through the 
RFA-1 process, the entire process will be unnecessarily delayed to the severe and ongoing prejudice of 
both Region C (which necessarily suffers from delay) and MG&E.  As a matter of efficiency and simple 
fairness, any broad reopening of the Region C application process must allow MG&E to proceed with 
the RFA-2 application without first allowing others to play catch-up.   

While other would-be applicants – to the extent any exist – could argue that a reopened process would 
give MG&E an unfair head-start, such purported “unfairness” would be of their own making.  Indeed, 
there is a strong argument that those who failed to go through the RFA-1 process in Region C the first 
time around should not be permitted, as a matter of law, to participate in a reopened process.  See, 
e.g., MCI Telecommc'ns Corp. v. United States, 878 F.2d 362, 365 (Fed. Cir. 1989) (“[O]pportunity to 
qualify either as an actual or prospective bidder” ends “when the proposal period ends.”).  Likewise, 
there is a strong legal argument that those who surmounted the RFA-1 hurdle during the original 
Region C RFA process, but who dropped out during the RFA-2 process (i.e., KG Urban and  
Crossroads) also should be precluded from participation in a reopened process.  See, e.g., Federal 
Data Corp. v. United States, 911 F.2d 699, 703-04, 705 (Fed. Cir. 1990) (finding bidder “abandoned any 
[legal interest] it had” in agency’s reopened proceedings when it “knowingly took itself out of the bidding” and 
by that action “affirmatively relinquished any chance of receiving the [bid]”).  See also our June 6, 2018 
letter to the Commission (attached hereto as Ex. E) at 10-12. 
   
At bottom, the only process for moving forward in Region C without undoing the Commission’s current 
regulations, and without running afoul of the law and basic principles of equity, is the reconsideration 
process that we have proposed.  That process also happens to be consistent with the interest of 
Region C in obtaining the benefits of a resort casino development (e.g., thousands of permanent, well-
paying jobs, and tens of millions of dollars in tax revenues) without further delay.         

11. What role should horse racing have in considering a category 1 region C gaming license 
application? 

We do not believe horse racing should play any role in the reconsideration of MG&E’s application for a 
Category 1 gaming license in Region C.  Based on the information set forth in the 11/18 IG Report at 
19-20,  the contributions that the Plainridge slots parlor has already made to the Race Horse 
Development Fund (“RHDF” or the “Fund”) have left the Fund with a surplus.  The MGM casino in 
Springfield, and the Encore casino in Everett, will only add to that surplus.  To the extent that the horse 
racing industry in the Commonwealth is already unable to make use of existing casino contributions, it 
is unclear why the state’s casinos should even continue to contribute to the Fund.  Regardless, the 
Region C casino would have hardly any effect on the RHDF, as it is estimated (see 11/18 IG Report at 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 18 
 
 
 
18) that the gain to the Fund from the proposed Brockton casino would be counteracted virtually dollar 
for dollar by the loss to the Fund from Brockton’s impact on Plainridge.  

 
RHDF Net Impact from Brockton Casino 

Loss from Plainridge -$2,523,159 
Gain from Brockton $2,524,025 

 
12. Should the Commission review the status of the Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe’s litigation 

regarding land in trust, and the status of proposed federal legislation on the issue? 

The short answer is NO.  The Commission put Region C well behind Regions A and B when it waited 
years (2012-2015) to open Region C to a commercial RFA process out of deference to the initial efforts 
of the Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe (the “Mashpee” or the “Tribe”) to obtain land in trust status.  Then, 
after United States District Court Judge William Young found that the Mashpee’s land in trust 
designation had been granted in violation of the operative statute, the Commission again waited years 
(2015-2018) to reopen the Region C RFA process to see how the Mashpee fared in an appeal to the 
First Circuit Court of Appeals and on remand to the Department of the Interior (“DOI” or the 
“Department”).   

Notably, the DOI under President Obama understood that the Mashpee faced an insurmountable 
hurdle in proving they were under federal jurisdiction in 1934 (see, e.g., U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 
Record of Decision, Trust Acquisition for 151 Acres in the City of Taunton, Massachusetts, and 170 
Acres in the Town of Mashpee, Massachusetts, for the Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe (Sept. 18, 2015) at 
79-80), but granted the Tribe land in trust status anyway by reading the operative statute in a novel 
manner – specifically, in a manner that Judge Young dismissed as “not a close call.”  Littlefield v. 
United States Dep't of Interior, 199 F. Supp. 3d 391, 396 (D. Mass. 2016).  Now, after remand, the DOI 
has concluded that there is no legal path forward for the Mashpee to obtain land in trust status.  Still, 
the Commission suggests through its question that it is prepared to wait additional years while it 
“reviews” the status of the Mashpee’s litigation challenge of the recent DOI opinion, and the status of 
the federal legislation that the Mashpee have proposed as part of a futile last-ditch effort to build a 
casino in Taunton.   

The wait up until now has been too long.  It has been inconsistent with the mandate of the Expanded 
Gaming Act to expand jobs and tax revenues in all three statutory designated regions within the 
Commonwealth, and in conflict with the expressed desires and needs of the people of Brockton and 
southeastern Massachusetts more generally.  And, as the First Circuit has observed, the wait has 
implicated constitutional equal protection concerns.  See KG Urban Enters., LLC v. Patrick, 693 F.3d 1, 
25 (1st Cir.2012).  Indeed, former Commissioner McHugh echoed the First Circuit’s concerns in April 2013, 
when he noted that “the longer we wait [for the Mashpee] without some kind of a plan for allowing events 
to proceed to a predetermined point . . . the more the wait is simply undefined, the more it looks like it 
may be in violation of the equal protection clause.”  Transcript of April 18, 2013 Commission Hearing at 



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 19 
 
 
 
93-94.  The wait as of 2012 and early 2013 was enough to raise equal protection concerns.  But here 
we are over five and one-half years later.   

Any further wait to “review” litigation and legislation status would only exacerbate each of these 
problems, at the expense of Brockton, southeast Massachusetts, and the Commonwealth as a whole.  
The waiting game is over.  The time for the Commission to take action in Region C is now.   
 
All this having been said, we can report that the Mashpee’s efforts to obtain land in trust status are 
currently pending in three different arenas.  Those arenas, and the status of the efforts in each as of 
today’s date, November 30, 2018, are as follows: 

• United States District Court for the District of Columbia: On September 27, 2018, the 
Mashpee filed a Complaint, styled Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe v. Ryan Zinke and the United 
States Department of the Interior, Civ. Action No. 1:18-cv-02242, in federal district court in 
Washington, D.C., seeking review under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) of Interior’s 
September 7, 2018 decision.  DOI’s answer was due in early December, but government 
attorneys have requested an extension until January 9, 2019.  After DOI files its answer, the 
administrative record will have to be assembled before the district court can resolve the case.  
The timeline for the district court to reach the merits of the Tribe’s APA action will depend on 
how quickly the DOI assembles and certifies the administrative record.  In other Indian law 
cases, DOI has taken many months (and in some cases more than a year) to assemble and 
certify the full record.  Indeed, in the Littlefield litigation before Judge Young, the DOI took over 
five months to assemble what was then a very thin, simple record.  Now the record that must be 
assembled is substantially larger.  Once the record is produced, the district court will apply a 
highly deferential standard of review, a standard that credits DOI’s expertise in weighing 
historical evidence and determining whether or not a tribe was under Federal jurisdiction in 
1934.  We anticipate that the Tribe’s APA challenge will be turned aside as a matter of course 
as a permitted exercise of agency discretion.  See Upstate Citizens for Equal., Inc. v. Jewell, 
5:08-cv-0633 (LEK/DEP) (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 26, 2015) at 8-9, aff’d Upstate Citizens for Equal., Inc. 
v. United States, 841 F.3d 556, 574-577 (2d Cir. 2016).  But it will inevitably require at least 
another year or two before that inevitable conclusion is reached. 

• First Circuit Court of Appeals: On December 12, 2016, the Mashpee filed a notice of appeal 
before the United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit, Littlefield et al. v. Mashpee 
Wampanoag Indian Tribe, No. 16-2484, seeking review of Judge Young’s district court 
decision.  On April 27, 2017, the Federal Defendants, including the DOI and Bureau of Indian 
Affairs, voluntarily dismissed their related appeals of Judge Young’s decision.  The Tribe did not 
join in this dismissal.  Nor has it pursued the appeal.  Instead, for the past two years, the Tribe 
has asked for and received extensions to allow other proceedings in other venues to proceed.  
Currently pending before the First Circuit is another motion by the Tribe to further stay its appeal 
indefinitely, until after the APA action is decided both at the district court and circuit court levels.  
If granted, the Tribe’s current motion would put the First Circuit appeal into hibernation for 2-4 
years.  The Littlefield plaintiffs have opposed the Tribe’s most recent request to stay.   



 
 
 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
November 30, 2018 
Page 20 
 
 
 

• United States Congress: The Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe Reservation Reaffirmation Act (HR 
5244) was introduced in a subcommittee of the House Natural Resources Committee (HNRC) 
by Massachusetts Representative William Keating on March 9, 2018.  Today, over eight months 
later, the proposed bill has not yet been reported out of the subcommittee.  The prospect of the 
bill ever getting out of the subcommittee is low, and the prospect that it would then get out of the 
HNRC and receive a favorable vote in both chambers of Congress, is at best remote.  Indeed, 
even Representative Keating, the bill’s chief proponent, is not optimistic about the bill’s chance 
of success.  See Shirley Leung, In Taunton, A Gamble That Has Yet to Pay Off, Boston Globe 
(Apr. 6, 2018), https://www.bostonglobe.com/business/2018/04/05/taunton-gamble-that-has-yet-
pay-off/hGTMYcxB6AXCPx9NrLv6fM/story.html.  The bill has come in for severe criticism 
because of the Tribe’s $425 million debt to Genting Corporation, a fact that makes the  
proposed legislation look like a Genting bail-out bill.  Further, the extraordinary amount of debt 
has raised red flags as it is unclear where the money has gone.  Notwithstanding these issues, 
and the bill’s tiny chance of success in Congress, if it were somehow approved and then signed 
into law by the President, it would immediately result in a court challenge based on the theory 
that the bill violates the Constitution’s separation of powers provision.  Congress cannot usurp a 
judicial function, which is exactly what HR 5244 would do by overturning the decision of Judge 
Young, as if Congress were sitting as a panel of the First Circuit Court of Appeals.  As the 
Supreme Court stated in Bank Markazi v. Peterson, 136 S. Ct. 1310, 1323 & n.17 (2016), 
“Congress could not pass a law directing that, in the hypothetical pending case of Smith v. 
Jones, ‘Smith wins.’”  Furthermore, with Judge Young’s decision final as to DOI, and DOI having 
concluded on remand that it has no authority to take land into trust for the Tribe, the judgment in 
the litigation is final, and Congress cannot re-open a final judgment through legislative fiat.  At 
bottom, both practically and legally, the proposed federal legislation will not give the Tribe what 
it wants or needs to engage in tribal gaming.  The legislative initiative is just the latest “Hail 
Mary” on top of the Tribe’s previous “Hail Marys.”  It is designed to achieve delay, which once 
again is coming at the expense of Region C.  And, as we wait, the constitutional equal 
protection concerns articulated by the First Circuit in 2012 and Judge McHugh in 2013 loom 
larger.  

*   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   * 

We ask that the Commission expedite its consideration of all the comments it has received regarding 
Region C, and then reconsider MG&E’s application to build a casino in Brockton as soon as possible. If 
you have questions or otherwise want to discuss any of our above-responses, please contact either or 
both of us directly.  We would welcome the opportunity for a dialogue aimed at moving the Region C 
process forward.   





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

 











 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit B 
 
 
 

 



 

 
 
 

 
Gaming Market Assessment: 

Brockton Fairgrounds Casino 
Brockton, Massachusetts 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared for: 
 

Rush Street Gaming, LLC 
 

September 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 
 

The Innovation Group 
400 North Peters Street 

Suite 206 
New Orleans, LA  70130 

504.523.0888 
www.theinnovationgroup.com 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page i 

Gaming Market Assessment, Brockton, MA 
 

 

Table of Contents 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .......................................................................................................... 1 

QUESTION 1: NORTHEAST AND MID-ATLANTIC GAMING MARKETS ............................................ 1 

QUESTION 2: MASSACHUSETTS GAMING DEMAND ...................................................................... 2 
QUESTION 3: ONLINE GAMING, SPORTS BETTING, AND DFS IMPACTS ........................................ 4 
QUESTION 4: MASSACHUSETTS UNEMPLOYMENT ........................................................................ 4 

QUESTION 5: CASINO SKILLED LABOR SUPPLY............................................................................ 6 

INTRODUCTION......................................................................................................................... 7 

SITE ANALYSIS ............................................................................................................................ 8 

ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS .................................................................. 9 

POPULATION ................................................................................................................................ 9 
Total Population ..................................................................................................................... 9 

Gamer Population ................................................................................................................. 11 
2018 Population by Race and Ethnicity................................................................................ 11 

INCOME ...................................................................................................................................... 12 

National and Regional Trends .............................................................................................. 12 
Local Ring Income ................................................................................................................ 14 

EMPLOYMENT ............................................................................................................................ 16 
National Trends .................................................................................................................... 16 

Regional Labor Force ........................................................................................................... 17 
UNEMPLOYMENT ....................................................................................................................... 19 

Major Employers .................................................................................................................. 21 
TOURISM .................................................................................................................................... 22 
TRAFFIC ..................................................................................................................................... 24 

COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT .......................................................................................... 26 

EXISTING ................................................................................................................................... 27 
Connecticut ........................................................................................................................... 27 

Rhode Island ......................................................................................................................... 29 
Massachusetts ....................................................................................................................... 30 

New York ............................................................................................................................... 31 
Maine .................................................................................................................................... 34 

PROPOSED .................................................................................................................................. 35 
Massachusetts ....................................................................................................................... 35 
Connecticut ........................................................................................................................... 35 

SPORTS BETTING AND ONLINE ANALYSIS .................................................................... 37 

Massachusetts ....................................................................................................................... 37 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page ii 

Connecticut ........................................................................................................................... 37 
Rhode Island ......................................................................................................................... 38 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................................ 38 

GAMING MARKET ANALYSIS ............................................................................................. 39 

METHODOLOGY ......................................................................................................................... 39 
MARKET CARVE-OUT ................................................................................................................ 41 
MODEL CALIBRATION ................................................................................................................ 43 

LOCAL MARKET FUTURE BASELINE .......................................................................................... 44 
BASE FORECAST WITH NEW PROPERTIES ................................................................................... 45 
BASE FORECAST WITH BROCKTON ............................................................................................. 46 
FIVE YEAR FORECAST ................................................................................................................ 48 
SOURCE OF REVENUE AND REPATRIATION ANALYSIS................................................................ 48 

INCREMENTAL IMPACT SUMMARY ............................................................................................. 49 
TOTAL EMPLOYMENT EFFECTS .................................................................................................. 50 

HIGH-LOW ANALYSIS ........................................................................................................... 51 
NEW CASINO MARKET TRAINING STRATEGIES ......................................................... 52 

DISCLAIMER............................................................................................................................. 55 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 1 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Innovation Group was retained by Rush Street Gaming, LLC to complete a Gaming Market 

Analysis for the proposed casino in Brockton.  Specifically, this analysis includes top-line gaming 

revenue projections for the first five years of operations.  The casino is to be developed at the site 

of the Brockton Fairgrounds.   

 

This Executive Summary covers the following five questions raised by the Massachusetts Gaming 

Commission: 

   

1. A review of the gambling market in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic, including the 

number of existing gambling options and plans to increase the number of gambling 

options, both in states that currently allow casino gambling and states where casino 

gambling does not yet exist.  This review should include an analysis of the revenues 

collected by state governments over the last (5) years and an analysis of projected future 

revenues. 

  
2. A review of the gaming market in Massachusetts in terms of expected demand for 

gaming and an estimate of the value of the overall gaming market in Massachusetts. 
  

3. A review of the status of on-line gaming, sports betting and daily fantasy sports and the 

potential impact on casino gaming. 

  

4. A review of the unemployment rate in Massachusetts, by region. 

  

5. A review of the availability of person with the skills desired by casinos in order to 

determine whether the employment marketplace can fill a significant number of new 

casino jobs and whether a new casino will impact the ability of existing casinos to fill 

their jobs. 

 

Question 1: Northeast and Mid-Atlantic Gaming Markets 
The Competitive Environment section takes a detailed look at the gaming jurisdictions in New 

England and New York.  In general, gaming revenue in calendar year 2017 was strong across the 

region. Revenue increased at all casinos in New England except the Hollywood Casino in Bangor, 

Maine.  Both Connecticut casinos experienced slot revenue growth in 2017, after the lingering 

effects of the Great Recession and impacts from Rhode Island and Plainridge had caused multi-

year declines.  Twin River (TR) has experienced growth every year since 2010; although there is 

some apparent impact on TR’s slot revenue from the opening of Plainridge the last week of June 

2015, total gaming revenue continued to climb. 

 

Plainridge also exhibited strong growth in 2017, of 6.3%.   Further, its impacts on Rhode Island 

and Connecticut appear to have been minimal, suggesting that the large majority of Plainridge’s 

first-year revenue came from market growth.  Looking at Plainridge’s impact on its two main 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 2 

competitors, Twin River and Foxwoods, it is apparent that as much as 75% of Plainridge’s revenue 

resulted from market growth.   

 

 
Plainridge First Year Impacts 

 Twin River Foxwoods Subtotal Plainridge Market Total 

FY 2014 $470,766,020  $467,970,116  $938,736,136  $6,137,976*  $944,874,112  

FY 2015 $443,747,069  $462,215,501  $905,962,570  $159,908,961  $1,065,871,531  

Change ($27,018,951) ($5,754,615) ($32,773,566) $153,770,984  $120,997,418  

     Source: State Lotteries and Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group. *Note: one week’s data.  FY=July-June. 

 

 

Looking at state tax revenue and including Mid-Atlantic states, we see that tax revenues overall 

have grown.  Where states have declined, mostly that has resulted from the impact of new casinos 

in neighboring states.  In the case of Rhode Island, it has partially resulted from the growth in table 

revenue, which is taxed at a substantially lower rate than slot machines.  The overall region has 

experienced annual tax revenue growth of 3% over the past five years. 

 

 
New England and Mid-Atlantic State Tax Revenue 

State FY-2013/14 FY-2014/15 FY-2015/16 FY-2016/17 FY-2017/18 CAGR 

Maine $50.8  $51.7  $53.1  $54.0  $56.0  1.9% 

Massachusetts - - $61.5  $62.7  $67.6  3.2% 

Rhode Island $326.4  $333.5  $320.1  $318.3  $318.6  -0.5% 

Connecticut $279.9  $268.0  $265.9  $270.7  $272.2  -0.6% 

New York $871.7  $866.9  $906.0  $928.3  $993.2  2.6% 

Pennsylvania $879.4  $890.7  $915.0  $915.5  $926.0  1.0% 

New Jersey $208.1  $196.8  $201.0  $210.5  $211.5  0.3% 

Delaware $157.5  $155.0  $156.8  $153.6  $157.1  -0.1% 

Maryland $272.2 $310.0 $385.7 $441.4 $526.1 14.1% 

Total $3,046.1  $3,072.7  $3,265.1  $3,354.9  $3,528.1  3.0% 

     Source: State Lotteries and Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group. Note: Excludes horse industry payments.  FY=July-June except 
NY April-March. 

 

 

Question 2: Massachusetts Gaming Demand 
The Gaming Market Analysis section takes a detailed look at the gaming market in Massachusetts 

and the forecast for Brockton and the other Massachusetts casinos.  Also included is a detailed 

description of the methodology utilized in the gravity model calibration to current conditions and 

future forecasts. 

 

The following table represents the impact on total gaming revenue the Brockton casino would have 

when introduced to the Massachusetts competitive casino set. While the existing casinos would 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 3 

see a drop in total revenues, the overall total increases by over $270 million, showing potential for 

market growth.  

 

Total Gaming Revenue Market Impact  

 Without Brockton With Brockton 

Plainridge $122,616,795 $94,581,694 

Springfield $379,650,509 $372,380,374 

Everett $807,886,414 $711,695,058 

Brockton  $403,843,949 

Massachusetts Total $1,310,153,718 $1,582,501,074 

Source: The Innovation Group 

 

The following table shows the growth in gaming tax revenue to the state of Massachusetts with 

the addition of the Brockton Casino.  

 

 

Total Gaming Tax Revenue Market Impact  

 Without Brockton With Brockton 

Plainridge $49,046,718 $37,832,678 

Springfield $94,912,627 $93,095,093 

Everett $201,971,603 $177,923,764 

Brockton  $100,960,987 

Total $345,930,949 $409,812,523 

Incremental  $63,881,574 

Source: The Innovation Group 

 

Additionally, Massachusetts would see an increase in slot license fee revenue due to Brockton. 

The following table details the incremental revenue to the state from slot license fees. Total 

incremental revenue to Massachusetts would be $65.1 million with the inclusion of the Brockton 

property.  

 

Total Slot License Fee Market Impact  

 Without Brockton With Brockton 

Plainridge $750,000 $750,000 

Springfield $1,530,000 $1,530,000 

Everett $1,945,200 $1,945,200 

Brockton  $1,260,000 

Total $4,225,200 $5,485,200 

Incremental  $1,260,000 

Source: The Innovation Group 
 

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 4 

Question 3: Online Gaming, Sports Betting, and DFS Impacts 
The Sports Betting and Online Analysis section discusses the New England landscape for these 

issues.  Connecticut and Rhode Island are in the process of making sports betting available to the 

public.  Connecticut has passed enabling legislation but not a regulatory framework.  Additionally, 

the issue of tribal gaming exclusivity could delay implementation.  Rhode Island has passed 

legislation and sports betting is scheduled to be implemented by the Lottery in November 2018. 

 
Massachusetts passed legislation related to sports betting, but only a study bill (S 2273), compelling 

the state to research the impact of sports betting in the commonwealth. The (Senate) Committee on 

Economic Development and Emerging Technologies is currently acting on this bill. 

 

It is likely that all three states will have legalized sports betting available to the public in either a 

land-based or mobile format in the near future.  

 

Sports betting can be seen as opportunity to bring in additional revenue to casinos. It is important 

to note that while there is potential for some substitution effect in total spend between sports bettors 

and other casino patrons, the demographics of the average sports bettor skews younger than slot 

players and even table gamers. Studies have found that the average sports bettor is between the 

ages of 18-341. Additionally, these players tend to be familiar with casinos and have the potential 

to spend additional dollars once on the casino floor at a table or slot during a visit to a legal sports 

book.   

 

In addition to new sports betting ventures, Massachusetts and the competitive markets have the 

opportunity to pass legislation regarding online gambling and DFS. Recently, the Massachusetts 

House of Representatives passed an amendment removing the sunset clause on the laws regulating 

DFS, making a move in the direction towards permanent legalization of the gaming format. 

 

Rhode Island elected to hold off on allowing online betting; it is expected that the State will 

reconsider in the long run as Massachusetts and Connecticut consider legislation allowing online 

gaming. Using New Jersey as a precedent, online gaming is expected to cause minimal 

cannibalization of land-based casino revenues and foster potential international partnerships with 

existing online formats.    

 

Question 4: Massachusetts Unemployment 
The Economic and Demographic Analysis section details the employment and income trends in 

Massachusetts and the region.  The following table shows the unemployment statistics of each of 

the three gaming regions defined for Massachusetts. Region C, which includes the subject 

property, saw the highest levels of unemployment (9.8%) during the recession. However, the 

region has made a strong recovery with unemployment now equal to that of Region B and slightly 

                                                 

 

 
1 HUMPHREYS, BRAD R., PEREZ, LEVI, Who Bets on Sports? Characteristics of Sports Bettors and the 

Consequences of Expanding Sports Betting Opportunities. Estudios de Economía Aplicada, vol. 30, no. 2, 2012, pp. 

579-597 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 5 

below Region A. Region C also has the second highest labor force, including nearly 31,000 people 

still unemployed. 

 

 
Regional Unemployment Statistics 

Year 
Civilian labor 

force Employment Unemployment 
Unemployment 

rate (%) 

Region A     

2009   2,346,396       2,165,368               181,028                      7.7  

2010   2,390,487       2,205,195               185,292                      7.8  

2011   2,388,063       2,228,518               159,545                      6.7  

2012   2,405,584       2,257,518               148,066                      6.2  

2013   2,428,922       2,278,217               150,705                      6.2  

2014   2,468,292       2,338,069               130,223                      5.3  

2015   2,488,537       2,378,669               109,868                      4.4  

2016   2,510,349       2,420,852                 89,497                      3.6  

2017   2,544,821       2,458,120                 86,701                      3.4  

Region B     

2009      426,331          390,982                 35,349                      8.3  

2010      414,298          376,632                 37,666                      9.1  

2011      410,677          377,150                 33,527                      8.2  

2012      410,067          379,085                 30,982                      7.6  

2013      410,362          378,791                 31,571                      7.7  

2014      414,139          386,310                 27,829                      6.7  

2015      414,579          391,153                 23,426                      5.7  

2016      413,380          394,216                 19,164                      4.6  

2017      416,702          398,287                 18,415                      4.4  

Region C     

2009      697,661          632,658                 65,003                      9.3  

2010      675,300          608,990                 66,310                      9.8  

2011      670,574          612,091                 58,483                      8.7  

2012      669,511          615,929                 53,582                      8.0  

2013      673,548          619,788                 53,760                      8.0  

2014      683,811          637,434                 46,377                      6.8  

2015      685,122          646,050                 39,072                      5.7  

2016      687,687          656,044                 31,643                      4.6  

2017      695,649          665,073                 30,576                      4.4  

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, The Innovation Group 
 

 

 

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 6 

Question 5: Casino Skilled Labor Supply  
A survey of Plainridge employees conducted in 2017 demonstrates that casino employment is 

comprised mainly of workers already residing within commuting distance: a mixture of previously 

employed local residents looking for a better opportunity or the ability to work closer to home, 

along with previously unemployed local residents.  The percentage of workers who moved to take 

the position with Plainridge was a small percentage of the staff.  Furthermore, most casino workers 

had not had prior casino work experience.   

 

 
Plainridge Casino Source of Workforce 

 # of Responses Percentage 

Prior Employment status:   

Unemployed 162 15.5% 

Employed Part-time 363 34.7% 

Underemployed 189 18.1% 

Employed Full-time 522 49.9% 

Total 1,047 100.0% 

   

Reason for taking the position   

Job closer to home 305 29.1% 

Other results   
No prior casino experience 902 86.2% 

Moved to take the position 75 7.2% 

New Employee Survey at Plainridge Park Casino: Analysis of First Two Years of Data Collection 
University of Massachusetts Donahue Institute, Economic and Public Policy Research Group, May 10, 2017 

 

 

This suggests the need for training strategies as new casinos enter the regional market.  The New 

Casino Market Training Strategies section at the end of this report discusses training strategies for 

new gaming markets, with emphasis on markets that may require specialized training to reach 

employment forecast targets.  The strategies include: 

 

• Work force research 

• Early-stage job fairs 

• Partnering with local universities and vocational schools 

• Intensive “on-the-job” training 

 

 

 

 

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 7 

INTRODUCTION 
The Innovation Group was retained by Rush Street Gaming, LLC to complete a Gaming Market 

Analysis for the proposed casino in Brockton.  Specifically, this analysis includes top-line gaming 

revenue projections for the first five years of operations.  The casino is to be developed at the site 

of the Brockton Fairgrounds.  The findings and conclusions in this report are based, in part, on the 

following major assumptions:   

  

• The proposed property will be developed as a quality facility with 250 hotel rooms and 

complementary amenities; 

• The Brockton casino shall feature 2,100 Class III slots, 100 house-banked games and a 24-

table poker room; 

• The level of competition in the local gaming market will remain static with no new 

developments anticipated to come online throughout the projection period unless otherwise 

noted in this report; 

• An aggressive marketing program will be employed at the proposed casino targeting 

certain-appropriate gamers in the region; 

• An experienced and professional management team will operate the gaming facility; and 

• Economic conditions remain stable in line with current trends as discussed herein. 

  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 8 

Site Analysis 
The proposed casino is located in City of Brockton approximately 25 miles south of Boston in 

southeastern Massachusetts.  The site is situated along Belmont Street, West Street, and Forest 

Avenue at the Brockton Fairgrounds on the outskirts of the city.   

 

The development is 1.5 miles from Route 24, a six-lane expressway connecting to south Boston 

via I-93 in the north and the Cape Cod via I-495 in the south.  The casino will be situated on a 45-

acre property facing the intersection of Belmont and West Streets.  There are other commercial 

developments adjacent to the property including shopping centers and a few stand-alone 

restaurants.   

 

 

 
 

  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 9 

ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS  
This section assesses specific economic and demographic characteristics within the Brockton that 

have the ability to affect future demand for gaming and hospitality.  The analysis will evaluate the 

area’s potential to draw new sources of leisure demand as well as continuing its support of existing 

facilities in the area.    

 

Some of the factors we analyzed, including population, income, and employment trends, have 

implications for the participation rates and growth forecasts utilized in the gaming market analysis. 

Massachusetts and National statistics were used as benchmarks to provide context for local trends. 

Population 
For the purposes of the economic/demographic analysis, we assessed the population within a two-

hour driving distance of the Brockton location in Massachusetts in four time bands: 0-30 minutes, 

30-60 minutes, 60-90 minutes, and 90-120 minutes. Drive times were used as opposed to simple 

concentric rings because the site’s adjacency to interstates will create market areas that extend 

beyond those of a regular ring pattern.  

Total Population 

The 0-30 minute drive ring for Brockton is least populated of the four drive rings. The largest 

population base belongs to the 30-60-minute drive ring which includes the City of Boston.  While 

the other drive rings have larger population bases, the 0-30-minute drive ring has the largest 

Compound Annual Growth rate (CAGR) over the next five years of the studied areas and is the 

only one expected to outpace the growth rate of Massachusetts. The national growth rate has been 

largely driven by Hispanic immigration, a trend Massachusetts was mostly immune to.  

 

 
Total Population 

Ring 2010 2018 2023 
CAGR           

2010-2018 
CAGR        

2018-2023 

0-30 min 1,139,101 1,203,030 1,243,492 0.7% 0.7% 

30-60 min 4,092,163 4,296,886 4,422,384 0.6% 0.6% 

60-90 min 2,131,964 2,191,609 2,235,002 0.3% 0.4% 

90-120 min 2,183,469 2,192,451 2,206,736 0.1% 0.1% 

Area Total 9,546,697 9,883,976 10,107,614 0.4% 0.4% 

Massachusetts 6,547,629 6,864,966 7,071,748 0.6% 0.6% 

National 308,745,538 326,533,070 337,947,861 0.7% 0.7% 

                       Source: IXPRESS/Nielsen Claritas; The Innovation Group 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 10 

Brockton Area Dot Density Map 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 11 

Gamer Population 

People aged 21 and over account for 75.3% of the population within the 0-30-minute drive ring.  

This is slightly above the state average of 75.2% and the national average of estimated 73.2%.  The 

County of Plymouth is more in the line with state and national figures at 73.6%.  The adult 

population within two hours of the Brockton site is expected to increase by 0.7% from 2018-2023. 

On average, the study area’s adult population will grow at a rate slightly below the national and 

statewide averages. Notably, the adult population in the innermost ring is the smallest in terms of 

total population, however it is expected to grow at the highest rate of the studied areas from 2018-

2023.  
 
 

Population Over 21 Yrs. 

Ring 2018 
% of Total 

Population 
2023 

% of Total 
Population 

CAGR  
2018-2023 

0-30 min 905,875 75.3% 948,107 76.3% 0.9% 

30-60 min 3,227,669 75.1% 3,350,788 75.8% 0.8% 

60-90 min 1,659,045 75.7% 1,716,830 76.8% 0.7% 

90-120 min 1,643,858 75.0% 1,679,019 76.1% 0.4% 

Area Total 7,436,447 75.2% 7,694,744 76.1% 0.7% 

Massachusetts 5,160,872 75.2% 5,374,411 76.0% 0.8% 

National 239,003,144 73.2% 249,303,590 73.8% 0.8% 

    Source: IXPRESS/Nielsen Claritas, The Innovation Group  

2018 Population by Race and Ethnicity 

The racial composition of the population in the City of Brockton is fairly distinct from that of the 

national population.  68% of the population in the immediate drive ring around Brockton identifies 

as White Alone as compared to a national average of 70%, and over 16% of the population 

identifies as Black or African American compared to 12.8% in the nation. This drive ring also 

differs from the remaining three areas where as much as 87% of the total population identifies as 

White Alone in the instance of the 60-90- minute drive ring area.  The State of Massachusetts is 

generally in line with the total Area Total demographics, where both rank below national averages 

for all races except Asian Alone.  Although the 0-30-minute drive ring is diverse, those who 

identified as Native American and Alaska Native, Asian Alone and Hispanic or Latino all ranked 

lower than national averages.  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 12 

2018 Population by Single Race Classification or Ethnicity 

Ring Total Pop 
White 
Alone 

Black or 
African 

American 
Alone 

American 
Indian and 

Alaska 
Native 
Alone 

Asian 
Alone 

Native 
Hawaiian 

& Other 
Pacific 

Islander 
Alone 

Some 
Other 
Race 

Alone 

Two or 
More 

Races 
Hispanic 
or Latino 

0-30 min 1,203,030 68.1% 16.1% 0.3% 7.6% 0.0% 4.5% 3.4% 8.2% 

30-60 min 4,296,886 75.2% 6.3% 0.4% 7.6% 0.0% 6.8% 3.6% 14.2% 

60-90 min 2,191,609 86.8% 3.3% 0.3% 4.0% 0.0% 2.9% 2.6% 7.8% 

90-120 min 2,192,451 78.1% 8.6% 0.4% 3.9% 0.1% 6.0% 2.9% 13.9% 

Area Total 9,883,976 77.5% 7.4% 0.4% 6.0% 0.0% 5.5% 3.2% 12.0% 

Massachusetts 6,864,966 76.5% 7.5% 0.3% 6.9% 0.0% 5.6% 3.2% 12.0% 

National 326,533,070 70.0% 12.8% 1.0% 5.7% 0.2% 6.8% 3.4% 18.2% 

Source: IXPRESS/Nielsen Claritas; The Innovation Group  

Income  
Income is an important indicator of a region’s economic well-being and the discretionary spending 

power of its residents.  The following section analyzes national, regional, and local trends in 

income and discusses their potential impact on Brockton’s development options.   

 

National and Regional Trends  

During the past decade household income lagged far behind gains in productivity.  The widening 

gap in the following chart illustrates that American households effectively have not been earning 

enough to purchase the goods and services they have been producing.  Consumer expenditures on 

gaming and other leisure activities remained strong into 2007 largely on the basis of rising home 

values; however, gaming revenues started a steady and pronounced decline once the housing 

bubble burst and the financial sector collapsed.  Although 2013 saw a slight uptick in real income 

(0.35%), the first since 2007, GDP grew by over 2%, thereby increasing the gap.    

 

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 13 

 
Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics 

 

Median household income declined for the better part of a decade, even before the recession hit in 

2008, real median income was lower than it was ten years earlier, as incomes declined from 2000 

through 2004 and then again from 2007 to 2012. However, starting in 2014 income has grown at 

a rate faster than GDP per Capita, a positive sign.  

 

Massachusetts is one of the wealthier states in the U.S.  The following graph shows that real 

median income in Massachusetts has exceeded that of the national average for the past 25 years.   

 

 

0.8

0.9

1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

19
89

19
90

19
91

19
92

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

Real Growth in GDP and HH Income
(Indexed to 1989)

Med HH Income GDP per Cap



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 14 

 
Source: US Census Bureau, Current Population Survey, 1990-2016, Annual Social and Economic Supplements 

 

Local Ring Income  

Average Household Income 

Average household income (A.H.I) in the Brockton region is generally aligned with Massachusetts 

averages and well above the nation as a whole. Of all the drive-time rings surrounding the subject 

property, the 90-120-minute ring had the lowest AHI as of 2018, although it was still well above 

the national average. The 0-30 and 30-60-minute drive rings had the highest AHI with incomes 

higher than the statewide averages. Additionally, these two drive rings have seen the largest growth 

from 2000-2018 and are expected to have the highest growth over the next 5 years. Every has an 

expected growth rate from 2018-2023 above the national averages.  
 

$51,116

$59,039

$60,206

$70,836
$72,266

$40,000

$45,000

$50,000

$55,000

$60,000

$65,000

$70,000

$75,000

Real Median Income (1990-2016)

2016 Dollars

Recession United States Massachusetts



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 15 

Average Household Income 

Ring 2000 2018 2023 
CAGR  

2000-2018 
CAGR 

2018-2023 

0-30 min $66,718 $111,279 $124,307 2.9% 2.2% 

30-60 min $67,531 $111,421 $123,912 2.8% 2.1% 

60-90 min $65,705 $105,823 $117,109 2.7% 2.0% 

90-120 min $58,401 $91,817 $101,641 2.5% 2.1% 

Area Total $64,969 $105,813 $117,594 2.7% 2.1% 

Massachusetts $66,671 $109,430 $121,656 2.8% 2.1% 

National $56,644  $86,278  $95,107  2.4% 2.0% 

    Source: IXPRESS/Nielsen Claritas, The Innovation Group  

 

2018 Median Income by Race and Ethnicity 

Race and/or ethnicity play a role in the gaming environment. Some, such as Asians, have a high 

propensity to gamble, while others may fall into the other end of the spectrum. The Census Bureau 

defines race as a person’s self-identification with one or more social groups. An individual can 

report as White, Black or African American, Asian, American Indian and Alaska Native, Native 

Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander, or some other race. Ethnicity is a population group whose 

members identify with each other on the basis of common nationality or shared cultural traditions. 

Meaning a person that is Hispanic or Latino can also identify as a race. 

 

The following table shows median household income by race and ethnicity, as it compares to total 

median incomes in the area. Median income is typically lower than average income but is often a 

better indicator because it is less vulnerable to statistical outliers, such as extremely high incomes 

in a small number of households.  

 

Nationally, Asian households have the highest median income at 39.2% higher than the national 

median income of $61,045. White households have incomes 6.8% higher than the national median 

income, while African American, American Indian, and Hispanic households have considerably 

lower household income than other groups.   

 

Discrepancies exist in the median household incomes in the Brockton area for certain ethnicities 

compared to the national averages, but generally remain in line with Massachusetts trends. Black 

or African American households have incomes just 64% of the average vs. 67% nationally, while 

Asian households have incomes 18.4% higher than the average. White Alone households have 

incomes 7.8% higher than the area average, which is both above the national average but slightly 

below that of Massachusetts. Hispanic or Latino households have median incomes that are in line 

with the statewide average of 54.3% but are considerably lower than the national average of 78.7%.  

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 16 

2018 Median Household Income by Single Race Classification or Ethnicity (Indexed) 
Ring Total White 

Alone 
Black or 
African 

American 
Alone 

American 
Indian 

and 
Alaska 
Native 
Alone 

Asian 
Alone 

Native 
Hawaiian 

and 
Other 

Pacific 
Islander 

Alone 

Some 
Other 
Race 

Alone 

Two or 
More 

Races 

Hispanic 
or 

Latino 

Not 
Hispanic 

or 
Latino 

0-30 min $82,283 111.5% 67.6% 54.3% 106.0% 100.7% 52.3% 80.0% 57.0% 103.4% 

30-60 min $77,099 109.2% 58.4% 50.1% 119.1% 76.0% 51.9% 72.7% 56.5% 107.5% 

60-90 min $78,525 103.5% 64.2% 59.1% 121.4% 88.3% 52.1% 68.9% 54.6% 103.6% 

90-120 min $68,783 107.2% 69.1% 59.8% 115.7% 89.8% 44.3% 78.9% 49.4% 106.3% 

Area Total $75,715 107.8% 64.1% 54.4% 118.4% 83.9% 49.9% 74.8% 54.3% 106.2% 

Massachusetts $77,248 108.1% 63.5% 54.8% 118.7% 88.0% 49.4% 75.1% 54.3% 106.3% 

National $61,045 106.8% 66.8% 70.2% 139.2% 97.8% 75.4% 91.5% 78.7% 103.7% 

    Source: IXPRESS/Nielsen Claritas, The Innovation Group  

 

Employment  
In a white paper assessment of the impact that the Great Recession has had on the gaming industry 

nationwide, the Innovation Group concluded that employment decline is the single greatest factor 

impacting gaming revenues.  Therefore, it is critical to evaluate the employment and income trends 

in the regional market to assess the prospects for gaming spending in the market area.     

National Trends  

CES occasionally updates historical employment numbers. The following numbers are correct as 

of July 2018. 

 

The unemployment rate is useful in comparing a state with the national average.  However, a 

declining unemployment rate can result from workers dropping out of the labor force altogether, 

so it does not necessarily equal economic recovery.  Employment is the better measure of recovery.    

 

In terms of employment the Great Recession began at the national level in February 2008, with 

employment peaking in January 2008.  Since then, the U.S. suffered 24 months of declining 

employment; during the five-month period of November 2008-March 2009 the average monthly 

decline was 604,000.  Employment bottomed out in February 2010 at a low of 129.3 million. Since 

then it has steadily grown, and now stands at 149.1 million, above (7.7%) its pre-recession peak.  

However, the working age population has grown by 4% over the same period.   

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 17 

 
Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, CES series; most recent month data is preliminary 

 

 

Regional Labor Force 

The Innovation Group analyzed employment in two significant regions: Massachusetts as a 

benchmark and Plymouth County.  

 

The recession hit distinct geographic areas at different times, and recovery has not been consistent 

in terms of scope or timing. The Bureau of Labor and Statistics provided non-seasonally adjusted 

employment data for these areas, and therefore the information was analyzed on a yearly basis. In 

Massachusetts, the recession began in 2008, the same year it occurred on the national level. The 

chart below illustrates that Massachusetts began to recover in 2009, prior to the time the Nation 

began to recover in 2010. The recovery in Massachusetts began with a slow and steady climb from 

2009 to 2013; however, the recovery has increased more dramatically from 2013 to the current 

year.  July 2013 marked the first month that employment reached the pre-recession levels that 

existed in Massachusetts. 2017 employment figures were 6.4% higher than those of the pre-

recession peak.  

128,000

130,000

132,000

134,000

136,000

138,000

140,000

142,000

144,000

146,000

148,000

150,000

Jan-07 Jan-08 Jan-09 Jan-10 Jan-11 Jan-12 Jan-13 Jan-14 Jan-15 Jan-16 Jan-17 Jan-18

Total Nonfarm Employment 
Seasonally adjusted, in thousands.  January 2007 - July 2018

Recession Employment



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 18 

 
Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, LAUS series 

 

The recession in Plymouth County occurred around the same time as the Massachusetts statewide, 

but the recovery, as determined by employment, showed a slower rebound. The recession caused 

a decline in jobs from 2008 to 2010 in Plymouth County.  However, once Plymouth County began 

to recover from the recession, the growth in employment mimicked the growth statewide with a 

steady increase until 2013 and a more dramatic increase from 2013-2017. As of 2017, employment 

figures in Plymouth County are 12.5% higher than those of the pre-recession peak.    

 

 
Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, LAUS series 

 

 

 3,000.0

 3,100.0

 3,200.0

 3,300.0

 3,400.0

 3,500.0

 3,600.0

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Massachusetts Employment
In Thousands, Not Seasonally Adjusted, 2007-2017

220,000

230,000

240,000

250,000

260,000

270,000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Plymouth County Employment
Not Seasonally Adjusted, 2007-2017



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 19 

Unemployment  
The table below depicts historical unemployment statistics for Plymouth County and 

Massachusetts.  The annual unemployment rate continually increased from 2009 through to 2010, 

peaking at 8.3% in Massachusetts and 8.9% in Plymouth County, but they have since recovered. 

Currently, both unemployment rates sit below 4% while labor force statistics continue to increase.  

 
Average Annual Unemployment Statistics 

Year 
Civilian labor 

force Employment Unemployment 
Unemployment 

rate (%) 

Plymouth County    

2009      263,807       241,447         22,360               8.5  

2010      262,176       238,720         23,456               8.9  

2011      260,735       240,474         20,261               7.8  

2012      260,295       242,063         18,232               7.0  

2013      262,695       244,330         18,365               7.0  

2014      266,779       250,756         16,023               6.0  

2015      268,191       254,630         13,561               5.1  

2016      270,417       259,364         11,053               4.1  

2017      274,224       263,530         10,694               3.9  

Massachusetts     

2009   3,470,382    3,189,010       281,372               8.1  

2010   3,480,083    3,190,818       289,265               8.3  

2011   3,469,308    3,217,754       251,554               7.3  

2012   3,485,161    3,252,531       232,630               6.7  

2013   3,512,827    3,276,792       236,035               6.7  

2014   3,566,237    3,361,811       204,426               5.7  

2015   3,588,241    3,415,874       172,367               4.8  

2016   3,611,418    3,471,112       140,306               3.9  

2017   3,657,173    3,521,482       135,691               3.7  

                                Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics; The Innovation Group 

 

Additionally, the Expanded Gaming Act of 2011 allowed the Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

to oversee up to three casinos across the state. The act divided the 14 counties into three regions. 

Region A includes the counties of Suffolk, Middlesex, Essex, Norfolk, and Worcester. Region B 

includes the counties of Hampshire, Hampden, Franklin, and Berkshire, and Region C includes 

Bristol, Plymouth, Nantucket, Dukes, and Barnstable counties.  The following map shows the 

layout of the three regions.  

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 20 

Massachusetts Gaming Regions 

 
Source: Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

 

The following table includes the unemployment statistics of each region. Region C, which includes 

the subject property, saw the highest levels of unemployment (9.8%) during the recession. 

However, the region has made a strong recovery with unemployment now equal to that of Region 

B and slightly below Region A. Region C also has the second highest labor force.  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 21 

Regional Unemployment Statistics 

Year 
Civilian labor 

force Employment Unemployment 
Unemployment 

rate (%) 

Region A     

2009   2,346,396       2,165,368               181,028                      7.7  

2010   2,390,487       2,205,195               185,292                      7.8  

2011   2,388,063       2,228,518               159,545                      6.7  

2012   2,405,584       2,257,518               148,066                      6.2  

2013   2,428,922       2,278,217               150,705                      6.2  

2014   2,468,292       2,338,069               130,223                      5.3  

2015   2,488,537       2,378,669               109,868                      4.4  

2016   2,510,349       2,420,852                 89,497                      3.6  

2017   2,544,821       2,458,120                 86,701                      3.4  

Region B     

2009      426,331          390,982                 35,349                      8.3  

2010      414,298          376,632                 37,666                      9.1  

2011      410,677          377,150                 33,527                      8.2  

2012      410,067          379,085                 30,982                      7.6  

2013      410,362          378,791                 31,571                      7.7  

2014      414,139          386,310                 27,829                      6.7  

2015      414,579          391,153                 23,426                      5.7  

2016      413,380          394,216                 19,164                      4.6  

2017      416,702          398,287                 18,415                      4.4  

Region C     

2009      697,661          632,658                 65,003                      9.3  

2010      675,300          608,990                 66,310                      9.8  

2011      670,574          612,091                 58,483                      8.7  

2012      669,511          615,929                 53,582                      8.0  

2013      673,548          619,788                 53,760                      8.0  

2014      683,811          637,434                 46,377                      6.8  

2015      685,122          646,050                 39,072                      5.7  

2016      687,687          656,044                 31,643                      4.6  

2017      695,649          665,073                 30,576                      4.4  

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, The Innovation Group 
 

Major Employers 

The following is list of largest employers in Brockton/Plymouth County.  Largest employers 

include those in the private sectors such as WB Mason as well as government agencies, healthcare 

facilities and education facilities such as the City of Brockton, Signature Healthcare and Massasoit 

Community College. 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 22 

Largest Employers - Brockton 

Company Industry 

Barbour Corporation Manufacturer 

Baypointe Rehabilitation Center Healthcare 

Brockton Area Transit Authority Transportation 

Brockton Housing Authority Housing 

City of Brockton Government 

Columbia Gas of Massachusetts Energy 

Concord Foods Food/Retail 

Good Samaritan Medical Center Healthcare 

Massasoit Community College Education 

Montello Heel Manufacturing Manufacturer 

Old Colony YMCA Recreation 

Pharmerica Pharmaceutical 

Signature Healthcare Healthcare 

T.F. Kinneaely & Co., Inc. Food/Retail 

UPS Postal Service 

V.A. Medical Center Healthcare 

W.B. Mason Co., Inc. Retail 

Westgate Mall Retail 

Source: Metro South Chamber of Commerce 

Tourism  
The City of Brockton is located in Plymouth County between two major tourist destinations in 

Massachusetts, Cape Cod and Boston.  As a result, the casino is strategically located to capture 

existing tourism to the region.   

 

Boston has seen overseas visitation increase by nearly 100% since 2005 and it is currently ranked 

one of the top ten international tourist destinations in North America.  In 2017, the Boston region 

received around 20 million tourists, of which 1.6 million were international tourists. 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 23 

Boston Overseas Visitation Trends 2008-2017 

 
Source: Greater Boston Convention and Visitors Bureau 

 
The following table highlights overseas visitation to Boston in 2017.  While overseas visitors 

account for only 8% of overall visitation to the Boston area, they account for nearly 15% of tourism 

spending. Although a majority of international trips to the region tend to be for leisure purposes, 

Boston does benefit from a relatively balanced market mix between commercial, group, and leisure 

visitors.  

 

China has become the largest source of international visitors to the Boston area, at over 250 

thousand and accounted for 38% of overseas expenditures in 2017. Additionally, Chinese visitors 

spend over double the amount per stay of all international visitors at nearly $5,000.  
 

2017 Overseas Visitation to Boston 

 China  
United 

Kingdom Germany 
Total 

Overseas 

Visitors  251,000 205,000 110,000 1,600,000 

Visitor Spend (MM’s) $1,249.7 $274.4 $121.5 $3,285.0 

Average Spend Per Stay $4,979 $1,339 $1,105 $2,053 

Source: Greater Boston Convention and Visitors Bureau 
 

Boston is renowned for its historical and cultural facilities as well as world-class educational 

institutions.  The greater Boston area also has a thriving theater scene, several museums and art 

galleries, and four major league sports teams.  The following table lists the top museum attractions 

in Boston for 2017, ranked by visitation.  The top two destinations, Museum of Science and New 

England Aquarium, are both located in central Boston on the waterfront.   
 

1,115 1,140 1,186
1,311

1,250 1,282
1,415

1,609
1,526

1,600

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

V
is

it
o

rs
 (

0
0

0
's

)

Calendar Year



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 24 

Top Ranked Museums by Attendance 

Rank    Name     2017 Attendance 

 1 New England Aquarium 1,418,949 

 2 Museum of Science 1,381,490 

 3 Museum of Fine Arts, Boston 1,226,431 

 4 Zoo New England 584,073 

 5 Boston Children's Museum 578,632 

 6 Old North Church 547,385 

Source: Greater Boston Convention and Visitors Bureau 
 

The greater Boston area also receives a significant amount of domestic tourism, with roughly 63% 

originating from the New England region.  The following table summarizes the economic impact 

of domestic tourism to the Greater Boston area and Plymouth County. Domestic tourism has a 

total tax receipt impact of $650 million between the two areas.  

 
Impact of Domestic Tourism- 2017 

  Greater Boston Plymouth County 

Expenditures (MM's) $10,946.2  $604.9  

Payroll (MM's) $2,426.5  $127.1  

Employment (000's) 65.9 4.0  

State Tax Receipts (MM's) $367.6  $31.2  

Local Tax Receipts (MM's) $222.5  $28.7  

Source: Massachusetts Office of Travel and Tourism 
 

Plymouth County is included in the Boston Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) and stretches 

south along the coast to Cape Cod.  The county was established over 300 years ago and is home 

to some of the earliest settlements and historically significant properties in the United States.   

 

Brockton is the county seat and also the most populated city in Plymouth County.  Brockton's 

largest attractions are Campanelli Stadium and the Westgate Mall shopping center.  The stadium 

opened in 2002 for the Brockton Rox baseball team with a capacity of 6,000, making it an ideal 

venue for other large scale events and concerts.  The city also paid tribute to its most famous 

resident, undefeated heavyweight boxer Rocky Marciano, by erecting a 20ft statue of the fighter 

at Champion Park near Brockton High School and Campanelli Stadium. 

Traffic  
As previously noted, the proposed site is located 1.5 miles east from Exit 17 off Route 24, a six-

lane expressway that connects to Interstates I-93 and I-495.   The Massachusetts Department of 

Transportation listed the most current data for these routes as 2015. Route 24 is generally a north-

south roadway that provides the greatest access to the site and will likely account for the majority 

of trips.  As seen in the table below, the AADT (Average Annual Driving Traffic) on Route 24 has 

increased slightly from 102,744 in 2014 to 105,152 in 2015 and is still significantly higher than 

traffic on I-495 to the south.  The AADT on I-93 in southern Boston grew by 7% in 2015 reaching 

172,586 near the Route 24 interchange.  

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 25 

AADT Near Brockton 

Street 2014 2015 Growth 

Route 24 north of Belmont 102,744 105,152 2.3% 

I-93 near MA-24 Interchange 172,586 174,090 0.9% 

I-495 near MA-24 Interchange 69,877 74,703 6.9% 

Source: Massachusetts Department of Transportation 

  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 26 

COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT 
Existing competition for the proposed casino in Brockton will come mainly from casinos in 

neighboring states, specifically Rhode Island and Connecticut.  Twin River and Newport casinos 

are less than an hour from Brockton, and the Newport casino will be closed as of August 28th, 2018 

and the license will transfer to Tiverton Casino Hotel which is slightly closer to Brockton. 

Additionally, Foxwoods and Mohegan are twice the distance but two of the largest casinos in the 

U.S. outside of Las Vegas, NV.   

 

More distant competitors include casinos in New York and Maine.   

 

In addition to the existing facilities, for the purposes of this analysis, two facilities in the 

Catskill/Hudson Valley region and two casinos in Massachusetts, as well as a proposed casino in 

East Windsor, Connecticut have also been included as competitors for the proposed casino in 

Brockton.  

 

Gaming revenue described in this section is net of free play.   

 

The following table presents all of the existing competitive casinos in the Brockton region: 

 
Existing Competitive Casinos 

Location Name  Machines Tables Positions 

Ledyard, CT  Foxwoods Casino 6,088 441 8,734 

Montville, CT  Mohegan Sun Resort 5,613 350 7,713 

Yonkers, NY Empire City at Yonkers Raceway 5,349 0 5,349 

Jamaica, NY Resorts World Casino at Aqueduct 5,005 0 5,005 

Lincoln, RI Twin River Casino 4,220 80 4,700 

Saratoga Springs, NY Saratoga Gaming and Raceway 1,782 0 1,782 

Schenectady, NY Rivers Casino and Resort 1,150 82 1,642 

Plainville, MA Plainridge Park Casino 1,250 0 1,500* 

Monticello, NY Monticello Casino and Raceway 1,110 0 1,110 

Newport, RI Newport Grand Slots Casino 1,097 0 1,097 

Bangor, ME Hollywood Casino Hotel & Raceway Bangor 921 16 1,017 

Oxford, ME Oxford Casino 811 22 943 

Total 12 34,396 991 40,592 

Source: The Innovation Group, Various Gaming Boards and Commissions, CasinoCity.com; *Note: Plainridge has electronic tables that count 
as one machine but that bring its seat count to approximately 1,500 positions. 

  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 27 

Existing  
This section details the eleven existing competitors within Brockton's gaming market categorized 

by state. 

Connecticut  

Mohegan Sun Casino 

The Mohegan Sun Casino and Entertainment complex opened in October 1996.  The Mohegan 

Sun is located on a 185-acre site on the Tribe’s reservation overlooking the Thames River with 

direct access from Interstate 395 and Connecticut Route 2A.  Mohegan Sun is approximately 100 

miles from Brockton, Massachusetts.  In fiscal 2002, the property completed a major expansion of 

Mohegan Sun known as Project Sunburst, which included increased gaming, restaurant and retail 

space, an entertainment arena, an approximately 1,200-room luxury Sky Hotel Tower and 

approximately 100,000 square feet of convention space.  In fiscal 2007 and 2008, the Sunrise 

Square and Casino of the Wind components of Project Horizon expansions were completed.  The 

property now boasts 3.1 million square feet of gaming, food and beverage, and entertainment 

space. 

 

Mohegan Sun’s gaming revenues have been declining due to a combination of the effects from the 

national economic recession and the development of competitive facilities in Pennsylvania and the 

New York VLTs.  The property currently offers 4,145 machines and 300 table games.  

 
Mohegan Sun Casino Resort, Montville, CT Slot Performance Statistics 

 Year Gaming Revenue Change Machines Change 
Win per 
Position 

Change 

2008 $728,024,927   7,734  $257   
2009 $684,424,106  -6.0% 7,641 -1.2% $245  -4.6% 

2010 $649,020,622  -5.2% 6,964 -8.9% $255  4.0% 

2011 $633,815,234  -2.3% 6,440 -7.5% $270  5.6% 

2012 $576,794,502  -9.0% 6,276 -2.5% $252  -6.6% 

2013 $530,572,312  -8.0% 5,921 -5.7% $246  -2.5% 

2014 $483,559,414  -8.9% 5,693 -3.9% $233  -5.2% 

2015 $465,010,320  -3.8% 4,695 -17.5% $271  16.6% 

2016 $456,156,085  -1.9% 4,466 -4.9% $279  2.9% 

2017 $468,048,004  2.6% 4,145 -7.2% $309  10.8% 

Source: Connecticut Gaming Board; The Innovation Group 

 

Table revenue is not subject to revenue sharing and therefore is not reported through the 

Connecticut Gaming Board.  However, the Mohegan Tribal Gaming Authority (MTGA) releases 

table game revenues in its reporting to the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Altogether, 

gaming revenues at Mohegan Sun are approximately $910 million in 2016, with table revenue 

accounting for about 35% of win.   
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 28 

Mohegan Sun Total Gaming Revenues ($MMs) 

  FY2016 FY2015 FY2014 FY2013 FY2012 

Slot rev $592.1  $582.5  $582.1  $618.7  $675.1  

Table rev $317.8  $297.2  $293.3  $310.0  $302.6  

Total gaming rev $909.9  $879.7  $875.4  $928.6  $977.7  

# of slots 5,267 5,268 5,470 5,553 6,038 

# of tables 325 325 330 327 353 

Table rev ratio 34.9% 33.8% 33.5% 33.4% 31.0% 

Fiscal years ending Sept. 30 

Foxwoods Casino 

The Foxwoods Casino is located near the town of Ledyard, Connecticut along the Thames River 

in New London County approximately 95 miles from Brockton, Massachusetts.  Foxwoods was 

founded in 1986 as a bingo hall and was later converted to a casino in 1993.  The property features 

over 4.7 million square feet of gaming, food and beverage and entertainment space and is one of 

the largest casino resorts in the world.  Foxwoods latest expansion, the MGM Grand at Foxwoods 

was a $700 million addition in 2008.   

 

Slot revenues continued to decline to $728 million in the year 2008 from a total of $783 million in 

the year 2007 despite the expansion; however, the expansion at the facility coincided with the 

national economic recession.  Gaming revenues continued to decrease at the resort given the 

opening of competitive facilities and their amenities in Pennsylvania and the VLTS racinos in New 

York and the soft economy.  However, 2017 saw its first year of growth in gaming revenue in over 

a decade. Foxwoods currently offers about 4,100 machines, and over 250 table games.  

 
Foxwoods Casino, Ledyard, CT Slot Performance Statistics 

 Year Gaming Revenue Change Machines Change 
Win per 
Position 

Change 

2008 $728,024,927   7,734  $257   

2009 $684,424,106  -6.0% 7,641 -1.2% $245  -4.6% 

2010 $649,020,622  -5.2% 6,964 -8.9% $255  4.0% 

2011 $633,815,234  -2.3% 6,440 -7.5% $270  5.6% 

2012 $576,794,502  -9.0% 6,276 -2.5% $252  -6.6% 

2013 $530,572,312  -8.0% 5,921 -5.7% $246  -2.5% 

2014 $483,559,414  -8.9% 5,693 -3.9% $233  -5.2% 

2015 $465,010,320  -3.8% 4,695 -17.5% $271  16.6% 

2016 $456,156,085  -1.9% 4,466 -4.9% $279  2.9% 

2017 $468,048,004  2.6% 4,145 -7.2% $309  10.8% 

Source: Connecticut Gaming Board; The Innovation Group 

 

The following table shows fiscal years so slot revenue does not match the previous calendar-year 

tables above. 

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 29 

Foxwoods Total Gaming Revenues ($MMs) 

  FY2016 FY2015 

Slot rev $481.4  $483.1  

Table rev $245.1  $234.4  

Total gaming rev $726.5  $717.5  

# of slots 5,807 5,808 

# of tables 428 429 

Table rev ratio 33.7% 32.7% 

Fiscal years ending Sept. 30 

Rhode Island 

Twin River Casino 

The Twin River Casino in Lincoln, Rhode Island is approximately 50 miles southwest of Brockton, 

located at the former Lincoln Greyhound Park off State Highway 146.  The racetrack, just 10 

minutes from downtown Providence, began offering video lottery terminals in 1992 and completed 

a $220 million expansion in 2007 under new ownership.  In 2012 voters approved a state 

referendum to allow live table games at the Twin River Casino. 

 

The facility includes a 190,000 square foot gaming floor, 9 food and beverage options and a 29,000 

square foot event center frequently hosting national acts and live boxing/MMA fights.  The facility 

has a 135-room on-site hotel.  The casino at Twin River currently offers guest over 4,200 slots, 80 

gaming tables with a separate poker room and a simulcast racebook betting room.   

 
 

Twin River Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines 
Table 

Revenue 
Table 

Games 
Total 

Revenue 
Change 

Win per 
Position 

2008 $407,503,857  4,748   $407,503,857   $234.5  

2009 $399,662,955  4,741   $399,662,955  -1.9% $231.0  

2010 $423,660,592  4,749   $423,660,592  6.0% $244.4  

2011 $462,793,306  4,748   $462,793,306  9.2% $267.1  

2012 $477,827,613  4,751   $477,827,613  3.2% $274.8  

2013 $470,391,984  4,592 $41,322,389  66 $511,714,373  7.1% $281.1  

2014 $466,015,784  4,537 $99,886,924  80 $565,902,708  10.6% $309.0 

2015 $456,830,932  4,408 $114,446,240  80 $571,277,172  0.9% $320.2  

2016 $438,054,054  4,258 $135,048,433  80 $573,102,487  0.3% $330.5  

2017 $434,829,065  4,212 $143,855,958  80 $578,685,023  1.0% $337.9 

Source: Rhode Island Lottery; The Innovation Group 

Newport Grand Casino 

Newport Grand Casino was located off the exit from the Claiborne Pell Newport Bridge on 

Aquidneck Island, approximately 50 miles south of Brockton.  Formerly known as Newport Grand 

Slot parlor, Twin River Management Group finalized the purchase of this casino in July 2015 with 

intentions of relocating the gaming license to Tiverton, RI.  Newport closed as of August 28th, 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 30 

2018 and Tiverton opened on September 1st, 2018. Tiverton will be the closest competitor in terms 

of distance to Brockton.  

 

The current facility has a 50,000 square foot gaming floor, two dining options and one lounge.  

The casino currently offers 1,097 slots and simulcast racebook betting for greyhound, horse and 

jai alai races across the country.  Slot revenues at Newport Grand have declined over the last 

decade and while Twin River has expanded into table games, voters refused the state referendum 

to allow table games at this facility.  However, the Tiverton Casino hotel will feature 32 table 

games and an 84-room hotel.    
 

Newport Property Statistics 

Year Machines Slot Revenue Change 
Win per 

Position 

2008 1,244 $67,546,725   $148.4  

2009 1,484 $61,505,924  -8.9% $113.5  

2010 1,182 $53,297,539  -13.3% $123.6  

2011 1,097 $50,071,495  -6.1% $125.0  

2012 1,093 $50,131,054  0.1% $125.3  

2013 1,093 $46,350,614  -7.5% $116.2  

2014 1,097 $45,179,615  -2.5% $112.9  

2015 1,097 $44,543,308  -1.4% $111.3  

2016 1,096 $46,006,384  3.3% $114.7  

2017 1,097 $46,166,038  0.3% $115.3  

Source: Rhode Island Lottery; The Innovation Group 

Massachusetts 

Plainridge Park Casino 

Plainridge Park Casino, owned by Penn National Gaming, is the newest competitor in the market 

having opened in late June 2015 at the Plainridge harness-racing track on Route 1 about 20 miles 

west of Brockton.  The racetrack became the first and only slot parlor and live harness racing venue 

in the state.   The $225 million facility includes 8 food and beverage options, one live entertainment 

lounge bar and parking garage.  The casino offers gamers over 1,250 slots, video table games and 

simulcast and live harness racebook betting.  Plainridge generated revenue of $165 million in its 

first full year of operation.  

 
Plainridge Property Statistics 

Year Machines Slot Revenue Change 
Win per 

Position 

2016 1,250 $155,041,918   $338.9  

2017 1,250 $164,786,230  6.3% $361.2  

Source: Massachusetts Gaming Commission; The Innovation Group 

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 31 

New York 

Saratoga Springs 

Saratoga Gaming and Raceway is a ½-mile standardbred harness racing dirt track located in 

Saratoga Springs, New York, just across Nelson Avenue from Saratoga Race Course which hosts 

thoroughbred racing each August.  Saratoga Raceway aka The Saratoga Equine Sports Center – 

otherwise known as the Saratoga Gaming and Raceway – was opened in 1941 as a facility for 

American harness racing and was the third racetrack in the State of New York to feature pari-

mutuel wagering.  The casino opened in January 2004 featuring approximately 1,300 video lottery 

terminals.  The casino now features 1,700 video lottery terminals. 

 
Saratoga Springs Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year 
Gaming 
Revenue 

Change Machines Change 
Win per 
Position 

Change 

2008 $134,373,560   1,770  $207   

2009 $136,038,290  1.2% 1,770 0.0% $211  1.5% 

2010 $139,721,687  2.7% 1,775 0.3% $216  2.4% 

2011 $150,420,830  7.7% 1,782 0.3% $231  7.3% 

2012 $159,751,975  6.2% 1,780 -0.1% $245  6.0% 

2013 $159,594,798  -0.1% 1,782 0.1% $245  0.1% 

2014 $158,765,338  -0.5% 1,782 0.0% $244  -0.5% 

2015 $160,919,293  1.4% 1,763 -1.0% $250  2.4% 

2016 $167,212,392  3.9% 1,718 -2.6% $266  6.4% 

2017 $137,438,160  -17.8% 1,707 -0.6% $221  -17.1% 

Source: New York Lottery, The Innovation Group 

 

Monticello Raceway  

The Monticello Gaming and Raceway originally opened in June 1958 featuring the “Mighty M” 

half mile track featuring standard bred horse races.  The casino portion opened in June 2004 

featuring 1,700 video lottery terminals, but it has since scaled back to 1,110. Gaming revenue has 

fluctuated up and down, but roughly stayed flat over the last decade at $58 million.  

 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Standardbred
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Harness_racing
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Saratoga_Springs,_New_York
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Saratoga_Race_Course


 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 32 

Monticello Raceway Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year 
Gaming 
Revenue 

Change Machines Change 
Win per 
Position 

Change 

2008 $58,109,181   1,587  $100   

2009 $53,751,367  -7.5% 1,401 -11.7% $105  5.0% 

2010 $57,394,484  6.8% 1,089 -22.3% $144  37.3% 

2011 $60,918,062  6.1% 1,110 1.9% $150  4.2% 

2012 $63,873,596  4.9% 1,110 0.0% $157  4.6% 

2013 $62,821,386  -1.6% 1,110 0.0% $155  -1.4% 

2014 $59,142,393  -5.9% 1,110 0.0% $146  -5.9% 

2015 $59,326,309  0.3% 1,110 0.0% $146  0.3% 

2016 $61,086,135  3.0% 1,110 0.0% $150  2.7% 

2017 $58,508,310  -4.2% 1,110 0.0% $144  -4.0% 

Source: New York Lottery, The Innovation Group 

Empire City at Yonkers Raceway 

Yonkers Raceway, founded in 1899 in Yonkers as the Empire City Race Track, is a one-half-mile 

standardbred harness racing dirt track.  The casino opened in October 2006 after a $225 million 

renovation and featured only 1,870 video lottery terminals.  The casino now features 

approximately 5,200 video lottery terminals.  

 
Yonkers Raceway Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year 
Gaming 
Revenue 

Change Machines Change 
Win per 
Position 

Change 

2008 $486,459,681   5,339  $249   

2009 $540,495,929  11.1% 5,320 -0.4% $278  11.8% 

2010 $582,229,271  7.7% 5,309 -0.2% $300  7.9% 

2011 $624,432,033  7.2% 5,351 0.8% $320  6.4% 

2012 $544,698,569  -12.8% 4,987 -6.8% $298  -6.7% 

2013 $559,946,387  2.8% 5,327 6.8% $288  -3.5% 

2014 $537,491,608  -4.0% 5,344 0.3% $276  -4.3% 

2015 $558,287,537  3.9% 5,277 -1.3% $290  5.2% 

2016 $589,716,723  5.6% 5,232 -0.8% $308  6.2% 

2017 $599,218,590  1.6% 5,221 -0.2% $314  2.1% 

Source: New York Lottery; The Innovation Group 

 

Resorts World Casino at Aqueduct Racetrack 

The Aqueduct Racetrack is a horse racing facility in Jamaica, New York with three tracks that 

feature thoroughbred racing. The Resorts World casino opened in October of 2011, and features 

over 5,000 gaming machines, including electronic table games that are extremely popular with the 

Asian population in Queens and Brooklyn.  

 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Standardbred
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Harness_racing


 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 33 

Aqueduct Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year 
Gaming 
Revenue 

Change Machines Change 
Win per 
Position 

Change 

2011* $89,293,498   2,919  $471   

2012 $672,570,324   4,954 69.7% $371  -21.2% 

2013 $785,128,863  16.7% 5,004 1.0% $430  15.9% 

2014 $807,988,805  2.9% 5,003 0.0% $442  2.9% 

2015 $831,222,582  2.9% 5,060 1.1% $450  1.7% 

2016 $826,486,601  -0.6% 5,423 7.2% $416  -7.5% 

2017 $702,120,545  -15.0% 5,207 -4.0% $369  -11.3% 

Source: New York Lottery; *2011 has 65 Days, The Innovation Group 
 

Rivers Casino & Resort 

Rivers Casino & Resort is a $330 gaming and entertainment venue located in Schenectady, New 

York, which is roughly 200 miles west of Brockton.  Rivers Casino opened in February of 2017. 

The venue opened its hotel in the second quarter of operations. The property offers roughly 1,150 

slot machines and 80 table games. In its first complete Fiscal Year in operation, Rivers Casino 

reported approximately $140 million in GGR.  

 
Rivers Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year 
Slot 

Revenue 
Machines 

Table 
Revenue 

Table 
Games 

Total Revenue Change 
Win per 
Position 

2017 $82,016,111  1,150 $40,611,458  67 $122,627,569   $216  

Last 12 Months $97,537,310  1,150 $44,947,233  67 $142,484,543  n/a $252  

Source: New York Lottery; *2017 has 327 Days, The Innovation Group 

 

Resorts World Catskills 

Resorts World Catskills was the last of the four nontribal casinos licensed by the state of New 

York in 2014 to open. Gaming operations at this $900 million hotel casino located at the old 

Concord Hotel near Monticello started in February of 2018. The hotel has 332 rooms and the 

casino floor has over 2,150 slot machines and 150 table games including poker. In its first full 

month of operations, the casino generated $12.4 million in GGR.  

 
Resorts World Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year 
Slot 

Revenue 
Machines 

Table 
Revenue 

Table 
Games 

Total Revenue Change 
Win per 
Position 

2018* $31,727,284  2,153 $23,814,682  125 $55,541,966  n/a $233  

Source: New York Lottery; *2018 has 82 Days of data, The Innovation Group 

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 34 

 

Maine 

Hollywood Casino Hotel & Raceway Bangor 

Hollywood Casino is located at the junction of Interstates I-95 and I-395 next to the Penobscot 

River in Bangor, central Maine.  The facility is almost 5 hours or 275 miles north of Brockton, 

MA and is not considered a strong competitor.  The casino first opened in 2005 at a temporary 

location before building the current facility at an existing racetrack in 2008.  The casino is operated 

by Penn National Gaming, who expanded casino operations in 2012 to include the state's first table 

games.  The facility currently includes a 152-room hotel, three dining options, one live 

entertainment lounge, banquet facilities, live-harness racetrack and 10,000 square foot gaming 

floor currently offering 784 slots and 16 poker and table games. 

 
Hollywood Casino Bangor Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines 
Table 

Revenue 
Tables 

Total 
Revenue 

Change 
Win per 
Position 

2008 $50,515,382  740   $50,515,382   $187  

2009 $59,224,270  1,000   $59,224,270  17.2% $162  

2010 $61,667,214  1,000   $61,667,214  4.1% $169  

2011 $59,453,078  1,000   $59,453,078  -3.6% $163  

2012 $56,212,925  936 $6,470,964  16 $62,683,888  5.4% $166  

2013 $47,269,709  909 $7,388,848  16 $54,658,557  -12.8% $149  

2014 $46,410,579  877 $8,026,814  16 $54,437,393  -0.4% $153  

2015 $44,274,063  763 $8,966,225  16 $53,240,288  -2.2% $170  

2016 $43,494,044  779 $9,133,204  17 $52,627,248  -1.2% $163  

2017 $41,698,800  773 $8,730,574  18 $50,429,374  -4.2% $157  

Source: Maine Gaming Board; The Innovation Group 

 

Oxford Casino 

The Oxford Casino opened in 2012 as Black Bear Four Season Resort & Casino but changed its 

name before being sold to Churchill Downs Inc. the following year.  The facility is located 20 

miles off Interstate I-95 just outside of Oxford in southwest Maine.  The casino currently has three 

dining options and a 30,281 square foot gaming floor with over 850 slots, 28 table games and 12-

seat video poker bar.  A 107-room hotel as opened in November of 2017.  

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 35 

Oxford Casino Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines 
Table 

Revenue 
Tables 

Total 
Revenue 

Change 
Win per 
Position 

2012 $29,887,262  688 $6,652,279  16 $36,539,541   $218  

2013 $58,353,948  811 $13,261,868  23 $71,615,816  96.0% $207  

2014 $58,368,047  858 $14,464,188  26 $72,832,235  1.7% $197  

2015 $62,091,956  855 $14,475,213  26 $76,567,169  5.1% $208  

2016 $64,856,476  857 $15,637,882  27 $80,494,358  5.1% $218  

2017 $68,722,796  852 $17,564,142  28 $86,286,938  7.2% $234  

Source: Maine Gaming Board; *2012 has 213 Days, The Innovation Group 

 

Proposed 

Massachusetts 

In November 2011, Massachusetts gaming legislation approved three resort casinos.  The bill 

establishes three different regions for casinos, including one that encompasses the four Western 

Massachusetts counties – Hampshire, Hampden, Franklin and Berkshire – known as region B. 

Suffolk, Middlesex, Essex, Norfolk and Worcester counties are in region A, and Bristol, Plymouth, 

Barnstable, Nantucket and Dukes counties are in region C.  For the three resorts, the bill also calls 

for a minimum investment of $500 million, not including land costs, license fee, or off-site 

infrastructure mitigation.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission awarded licenses to MGM Resorts 

International for Region B and Wynn Resorts for Region A.  

Springfield 

MGM opened its nearly $1 billion integrated resort in Springfield on August 24th, 2018.  The 

property includes a 250-room hotel tower and 125,000 square feet of gaming space with 2,550 slot 

machines and 120 gaming tables. Additionally, it provides typical amenities found in such resort 

properties such as restaurants, spas, retail shops, and meeting space in addition to an 8,000-seat 

entertainment venue, TopGolf swing suite, and a bowling alley.  

Everett 

Wynn Resorts plans to develop a $2.5 billion casino at the former Monsanto Chemical Plant site 

on the Mystic River in Everett, a northern suburb of Boston.  Development of the 33-acre 

waterfront property is to be complete in one phase starting with the environmental clean-up and 

transportation infrastructure improvements.  The proposed resort, named Encore Boston Harbor, 

will focus on open-space amenities to reconnect the public to the waterfront through a harborwalk, 

park, pavillion and docking facilities for ferry operations to Boston.  The project also includes 670 

hotel accommodations, spa, retail, multiple food and beverage options, convention space and 

parking garage.  The casino gaming floor is estimated to offer patrons over 3,000 slots and 150 

table games and is expected to open in June 2019.   

Connecticut 

MMCT Venture LLC, the joint venture formed by the Mashantucket Pequot and Mohegan tribes, 

plans to develop a $300-$400 million venue with 100,000 square feet of gaming space in East 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 36 

Windsor, Connecticut. The Native American tribes that own Foxwoods Resort Casino and 

Mohegan Sun say they plan a fall 2018 groundbreaking at their planned East Windsor casino, 

which would suggest an opening date in 2020. The expansion casino would be roughly a 20-minute 

drive south of MGM Springfield and its opening is aimed at keeping gambling dollars and 

preserving jobs tied to the gambling industry in Connecticut. This proposed casino would not have 

a material effect on the Eastern Massachusetts market. 

 

Additionally, MGM Resorts International plans to continue fighting the expansion in court where 

MGM has argued that Connecticut wrongly denied them an opportunity to compete for the 

commercial gaming license. MMCT said the proposed casino would have roughly 2,000 slot 

machines and 60 table games.   



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 37 

SPORTS BETTING AND ONLINE ANALYSIS 
In May, the Supreme Court of the United States ruled in favor of New Jersey in Murphy v. NCAA, 

overturning PASPA, the Professional and Amateur Sports Protection Act. PASPA was the 

legislation that effectively rendered sports betting illegal in most of the United States. This 

SCOTUS ruling puts the legislation and regulation of sports wagering in the hands of the states. 

In addition to Nevada, many states, such as New Jersey, Delaware, Pennsylvania, Mississippi, 

New York, and West Virginia, have already passed legislation legalizing sports wagering, and 

several other states have bills being considered in their legislatures. 

 

Additionally, casinos in other states, like New Jersey, are in markets that allow with online 

gambling and Daily Fantasy Sports (DFS) options. This section gives a brief overview of the 

markets in the immediate area around Massachusetts.   

Massachusetts 

Massachusetts passed legislation related to sports betting, but only a study bill (S 2273), compelling 

the state to research the impact of sports betting in the commonwealth. The (Senate) Committee on 

Economic Development and Emerging Technologies is currently acting on this bill, which states that:  

 

[Should PASPA be repealed…] there shall be a special commission to conduct a 

comprehensive study and offer proposed legislation relative to the regulation of online sports 

betting. The commission shall convene within 30 calendar days following any decision by the 

United States Supreme Court, and shall review all aspects of online sports betting including, 

but not limited to: economic development, consumer protection, taxation, legal and regulatory 

structures, burdens and benefits to the commonwealth and any other factors the commission 

deems relevant.  

  

And specifically that the commission:  

 

shall submit recommendations for legislation with the clerks of the senate and the house of 

representatives not later than 120 calendar days following the decision by the United States 

Supreme Court.  

 

This gives the commission until 9/11/2018 to develop recommendations for legislation. And, we 

remark that this mandate specifically includes a directive to include recommendations around online 

sports wagering. With MGM Springfield and Encore Boston Harbor opening this year, we believe 

Massachusetts is very likely to legalize sports wagering online, or at minimum on offsite mobile 

devices, sometime in 2019.  

Connecticut 

Connecticut passed sports betting legislation in 2017. This bill authorizes sports betting in the state of 

Connecticut, subject to the development of a regulatory framework. In other words, sports betting is 

legal, but there is no mechanism by which either of the operators in the state – the Mashantucket Pequot 

Tribe (Foxwoods) or the Mohegan Tribe (Mohegan Sun) – can actually offer it. Further complicating 

matters are tribal compacts and exclusivity agreements. Since sports betting is a class III game, current 

compacts would need to be renegotiated in order for Foxwoods or Mohegan Sun to allow sports betting. 

The tribes also argue that their exclusivity agreements extend to sports wagering and that having legal 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 38 

sports wagering in CT anywhere except at Foxwoods and Mohegan Sun would be in violation of their 

exclusivity agreement (and grounds to withhold hundreds of millions of dollars in exclusivity fees paid 

annually to the state). The legislature is adjourned until January 2019, so it appears very unlikely that 

Connecticut will develop regulations this year.  

Rhode Island 

Rhode Island is one of the six states that has legal sports betting but is also one of the three states 

in that group that is still in the preparation stages. The State of Rhode Island passed legislation that 

legalized sports betting in June 2018 and is expected to start operations in November of 2018. The 

legislation has put the Rhode Island Lottery in charge of overseeing sports betting within the state. 

Additionally, the bill imposes a revenue sharing system where the state of Rhode Island receives 

51% of GGR, the operator receives 32% of GGR, and the casino receives the remaining 17% of 

GGR. This revenue sharing system, in effect, operates as a heavy tax on sports betting, and 

therefore produced only a sole bidder, IGT, for the sports betting technology vendor for Rhode 

Island. Recently, it was announced that William Hill would partner with IGT to operate as the risk 

management services for the sports betting operations.  

Conclusion 

Sports betting can be seen as opportunity to bring in additional revenue to existing casinos. While 

Connecticut and Rhode Island are in the process of making sports betting available to the public, 

it is the belief of The Innovation Group that all three states will have legalized sports betting 

available to the public in either a land-based or mobile format in the near future.  

 

It is important to note that while there is potential for some substitution effect in total spend 

between sports bettors and other casino patrons, the demographics of the average sports bettor 

skews younger than slot players and even table gamers. Studies have found that the average sports 

bettor is between the ages of 18-342. Additionally, these players tend to be familiar with casinos 

and have the potential to spend additional dollars once on the casino floor at a table or slot during 

a visit to a legal sports book.   

 

In addition to new sports betting ventures, Massachusetts and the competitive markets have the 

opportunity to pass legislation regarding online gambling and DFS. Recently, the Massachusetts 

House of Representatives passed an amendment removing the sunset clause on the laws regulating 

DFS, making a move in the direction towards permanent legalization of the gaming format. 

 

Rhode Island elected to hold off on allowing online betting; it is expected that the State will 

reconsider in the long run as Massachusetts and Connecticut consider legislation allowing these 

wagers. Using New Jersey as a precedent, online gaming is expected to cause minimal 

cannibalization of land-based casino revenues and foster potential international partnerships with 

existing online formats.    

   

                                                 

 

 
2 HUMPHREYS, BRAD R., PEREZ, LEVI, Who Bets on Sports? Characteristics of Sports Bettors and the 

Consequences of Expanding Sports Betting Opportunities. Estudios de Economía Aplicada, vol. 30, no. 2, 2012, pp. 

579-597 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 39 

GAMING MARKET ANALYSIS 

Methodology 
In developing this analysis, a gravity model was employed.  Gravity models are commonly used 

in location studies for commercial developments, public facilities and residential developments.  

First formulated in 1929 and later refined in the 1940s, the gravity model is an analytical tool that 

defines the behavior of a population based on travel distance and the availability of goods or 

services at various locations.  The general form of the equation is that attraction is directly related 

to a measure of availability such as square feet and inversely related to the square of the travel 

distance.  Thus the gravity model quantifies the effect of distance on the behavior of a potential 

patron, and considers the impact of competing venues.   

 

The basic formulation is that the interaction between two or more gaming venues is based on 

Newton's Law of Universal Gravitation: two bodies in the universe attract each other in proportion 

to the product of their “masses” – here, gaming positions – and inversely as the square distance 

between them. Thus, expected interaction between gaming venue i and market area j is shown as: 

 

𝑘 ×
𝑁𝑖 × 𝑃𝑗

𝑑𝑖𝑗
2  

 

where 𝑁𝑖 = the number of gaming positions in gaming venue 𝑖, 𝑃𝑗  = the population (21+) in market 

area 𝑗, 𝑑𝑖𝑗  = the distance between market area 𝑗 and gaming venue 𝑖, and 𝑘 = an attraction factor 

relating to the quality and amenities to be found at each gaming venue in comparison to the 

competing set of venues. When this formulation is applied to each gaming venue gaming trips 

generated from any given zip code are then distributed among all the competing venues. 

 

The gravity model included the identification of 16 discrete market areas based on drive times and 

other geographic features and the competitive environment.  Using our GIS software and 

CLARITAS database3, the adult population (21 and over), latitude and longitude, and average 

household income is collected for each zip code.   

 

Each of these market areas is assigned a unique set of propensity and frequency factors.  Gamer 

visits are then generated from zip codes within each of the areas based on these factors.  The gamer 

visits thus generated are then distributed among the competitors based upon the size of each 

                                                 

 

 
3The GIS software used was MapInfo.  This software allows for custom data generally in a tabular format with a 

geographic identification code (census tract, zip code, latitude and longitude, or similar identifier) to be mapped or 

displayed and integrated with other geographic census based information such as location of specific population or 

roadways.  MapInfo is one of the most widely used programs in the geographic information systems industry.  

Nielsen Claritas is a vendor of demographic information located in the United States.  Nielsen Claritas provides 

census demographic and psychographic data on a variety of geographic levels of detail ranging from census block 

groups and counties to postal zip codes.  Their information is updated every six months and includes a current year 

estimate and provides a five year forecast for the future.  The Innovation Group has utilized this data for inputs to its 

models for the last six years and has purchased full access to their demographic database for the entire United States. 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 40 

facility, its attractiveness and the relative distance from the zip code in question.  The gravity 

model then calculates the probabilistic distribution of gamer visits from each market area to each 

of the gaming locations in the market.   

 

Each travel distance/time is evaluated to determine the likely alternative gaming choices for 

residents of the region.  The model is constructed to include only those alternative venues that are 

considered to be within a reasonable travel time.  These include competing casinos that have the 

potential to attract patrons, or siphon off visits from the market.  Travel distances and time have 

been developed through use of our GIS system.    

 

The following section provides a description and definition of the various components of the 

model. 

Gamer Visits 

This measure is used to specify the number of patron trips to a gaming market, where an individual 

can make any number of separate visits in the course of a year.  In order to estimate the gamer 

visits, market penetration rates, made up of the separate measures of propensity and frequency, are 

applied to the adult population in each zip code.  A gamer visit can include more than one visit to 

a casino.  

Propensity  

Propensity measures the percentage of adults who will participate in casino gaming within the zip 

code.  This varies based upon a number of factors, which includes the number of gaming venues, 

their type (i.e. landbased versus cruising riverboat versus dockside riverboat), games permitted, 

availability of other entertainment and leisure options, and most importantly distance from a 

gaming venue.  Propensity in the inner market areas from 0-50 miles can vary between the high 

thirty per cent range in a single cruising riverboat market to the fifty percent range, or more, for 

multiple land-based casinos with a well-developed array of amenities. 

Frequency 

This measures the average number of visits that an adult will make annually to casinos in the 

subject market.  Frequency is a function of annual gaming budget as indicated by income 

variations, the number of venues in the market, the type of gaming facility and most importantly 

distance from a gaming venue. 

MPI (Market Potential Index) 

Propensity also varies as a function of each market’s average market potential index (MPI) score. 

MPI scores are generated by Simmons Survey, a respected consumer research firm that conducts 

a nationwide survey of consumer behavior, including propensity to gamble at a casino.  This score 

is an indication of the degree of likelihood that a person will participate in gaming based upon 

their lifestyle type.  The MPI score inflates or discounts the participation rate of each zip code.  

For example, if a market area has an overall participation rate of 4.0 (propensity of 40% times 

frequency of 10), an MPI score of 120 for a particular zip code would effectively inflate the 

participation rate of that zip code to 4.8 (4.0 times 120%).  The overall MPI score for the market 

area is a weighted average of all the zip codes within the area. 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 41 

Win per Visit 

Win per visit varies not only by gaming jurisdiction, but also in some cases by individual facilities.  

Normatively, win per visit is a function of distance and income.  Gamers traveling greater distances 

tend to spend more per visit, typically making fewer gamer visits on average.    

Attraction Factors 

Attraction factors measure the relative attraction of one gaming venue in relation to others in the 

market.  Attraction factors are applied to the size of the gaming venue as measured by the number 

of positions it has in the market.  Positions are defined as the number of gaming machines plus the 

number of seats at gaming tables.  A normative attraction factor would be one.  When this is applied 

to the number of positions in a gaming venue there is no change in the size of the gaming venue 

as calculated by the model and hence its attraction to potential patrons.  A value of less than one 

adjusts the size of the gaming venue downwards and conversely a value greater than one indicates 

that the gaming venue has characteristics that make it more attractive.  Attraction factors can be 

based on a number of components including branding, the level and effectiveness of marketing 

efforts, and the level of quality and amenities of a facility.  Attraction factors are also adjusted to 

model the presence of natural and man-made boundaries which impact ease of access and 

convenience of travel in the market area.   

 

The sensitivity of the model to changes in these factors is not in the nature of a direct 

multiplication.  For example, a doubling of the attraction factor will not lead to a doubling of the 

gamer visits attracted to the site.  It will however cause a doubling of the attractive power of the 

gaming venue, which is then translated via non-linear equations into an increase in the number of 

gamer visits attracted to the gaming venue.  This is based upon the location, size and number of 

competing gaming venues and their relationship to the market area to which the equation is applied.  

The variation of these factors is based upon The Innovation Group’s experience in developing and 

applying these models, and consideration of the existing visitation and revenues.  The latter 

represents the calibration of the model and has been accomplished by adjusting attraction factors 

to force the model to recreate the existing revenues and patron counts.  In this case attraction 

factors have been adjusted for each casino for each market area.  This is based upon known 

visitation patterns. 

 

Market Carve-out 
The Brockton market has been carved into 16 distinct market areas, from which it could be 

expected that different participation rates may be expected depending on the level and location of 

competition that is present in the market currently and in the future.  The following map and table 

show the market areas and their respective adult population (21 and over) and average household 

income. 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 42 

Brockton Market Carve With Casino Competition 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 43 

Market Carveout Area Demographics 

 Adult (21+) Population Average Annual Household Incomes 

 2018 2023 
C.A.G.R. 

2018-2023 2018 2023 
C.A.G.R. 

2018-2023 

Brockton Primary 437,855 457,374 0.9% $100,078 $111,306 2.1% 

Plainridge 253,009 265,885 1.0% $142,112 $159,587 2.3% 

South Shore  154,351 163,022 1.1% $136,879 $150,085 1.9% 

Southern Mass 262,451 270,177 0.6% $76,462 $85,829 2.3% 

Cape Cod 176,839 179,565 0.3% $94,521 $104,502 2.0% 

Worcester 476,631 496,726 0.8% $108,822 $120,034 2.0% 

West of Boston 316,588 333,018 1.0% $166,100 $183,514 2.0% 

Boston South 638,642 671,171 1.0% $110,263 $122,852 2.2% 

Boston North 888,202 920,751 0.7% $116,264 $130,318 2.3% 

North Shore 681,586 715,698 1.0% $111,721 $122,832 1.9% 

Leominster 196,828 205,378 0.9% $101,935 $112,665 2.0% 

NW Mass 81,065 82,680 0.4% $80,107 $89,429 2.2% 

Springfield 493,646 509,212 0.6% $81,681 $91,382 2.3% 

Connecticut 1,571,305 1,587,550 0.2% $101,857 $112,566 2.0% 

Rhode Island 796,603 809,100 0.3% $86,941 $95,939 2.0% 

Tertiary North 817,785 843,341 0.6% $106,359 $119,693 2.4% 

Average/Total 8,243,386 8,510,648 0.6% $106,162 $118,110 2.2% 

Source: iXPRESS, Nielsen Claritas, Inc.; MapInfo: The Innovation Group; CAGR= Compound Annual Growth Rate 

 

The 2-hour market area contains nearly 8.2 million adults (21 and over).  Population growth, 

although estimated to be marginally lower than the national average, is projected to be 0.6%.  At 

$106,162, household income is significantly higher than the national average, and has a projected 

annual growth of 2.2%.  

 

Model Calibration 
The following table shows the rates for propensity, frequency, MPI, and win per visit by market 

area that were used to re-create the actual conditions in the Base 2018 model.  Win has been varied 

based on differences between market areas in average household income and travel time.   

 

The following table shows gravity model gaming visits and revenues for the base calibration.  

These revenues reflect the total potential gaming revenue from the defined market area in 2018.   



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 44 

Gravity Model Calibration Base 2018 

Market Segment  Gamer Pop. Propensity Frequency MPI Gaming Visits WPV GGR ($M) 

Brockton Primary 437,855 33.1% 11.0 103 1,648,133 $78 $128.7  

Plainridge 253,009 34.4% 12.6 101 1,099,301 $84 $92.4  

South Shore  154,351 27.7% 9.4 98 393,452 $87 $34.1  

Southern Mass 262,451 30.8% 10.3 101 836,105 $75 $62.6  

Cape Cod 176,839 20.4% 7.1 93 238,112 $81 $19.4  

Worcester 476,631 29.7% 10.0 100 1,417,784 $81 $114.8  

West of Boston 316,588 23.7% 10.0 101 753,881 $93 $69.7  

Boston South 638,642 25.3% 10.6 109 1,868,473 $82 $152.8  

Boston North 888,202 23.0% 9.7 109 2,144,877 $84 $179.7  

North Shore 681,586 19.0% 8.1 103 1,079,422 $84 $91.0  

Leominster 196,828 23.5% 8.1 99 369,295 $82 $30.2  

NW Mass 81,065 15.3% 5.4 94 63,354 $80 $5.1  

Springfield 493,646 19.7% 6.8 100 665,787 $79 $52.7  

Connecticut 1,571,305 33.0% 11.1 101 5,839,293 $78 $457.4  

Rhode Island 796,603 35.8% 11.8 107 3,614,698 $75 $270.0  

Tertiary North 817,785 17.3% 6.1 98 844,121 $84 $71.1  

Total 8,243,386       22,876,091 $80  $1,831.6  

Source: The Innovation Group 
 

Local Market Future Baseline  
The next step in the analysis was to create a baseline model for 2022 using projected population 

and income growth and looking at historical revenue trends. The following table therefore details 

the local market gaming revenue projected out to 2022 and segregated by market segment 

assuming without the subject property.   

 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 45 

Gravity Model Forecast– 2022 Baseline 

Market Segment  Gamer Pop. Propensity Frequency MPI Gaming Visits WPV GGR ($M) 

Brockton Primary 453,392 33.1% 11.0 103 1,706,086 $81 $139.0  

Plainridge 263,255 34.4% 12.6 101 1,143,524 $87 $100.0  

South Shore  161,249 27.7% 9.4 98 410,976 $90 $37.0  

Southern Mass 268,607 30.8% 10.3 101 855,578 $78 $66.9  

Cape Cod 179,013 20.4% 7.1 93 241,056 $85 $20.4  

Worcester 492,622 29.7% 10.0 100 1,464,908 $84 $123.6  

West of Boston 329,656 23.7% 10.0 101 784,701 $96 $75.3  

Boston South 664,518 25.3% 10.6 109 1,945,014 $85 $165.7  

Boston North 914,136 23.0% 9.7 109 2,207,699 $87 $192.5  

North Shore 708,730 19.0% 8.1 103 1,122,233 $88 $98.4  

Leominster 203,631 23.5% 8.1 99 382,008 $85 $32.6  

NW Mass 82,352 15.3% 5.4 94 64,354 $83 $5.4  

Springfield 506,050 19.7% 6.8 100 682,372 $83 $56.3  

Connecticut 1,584,261 33.0% 11.1 101 5,886,525 $82 $481.1  

Rhode Island 806,563 35.8% 11.8 107 3,657,971 $78 $285.6  

Tertiary North 838,140 17.3% 6.1 98 865,101 $88 $75.8  

Total 8,456,174       23,420,103 $84  $1,955.7  

Source: The Innovation Group 

Base Forecast with New Properties  
The next step for the 2022 model was to account for additions to the regional market. One slots-

only facility was assumed in Plainville, MA, the Newport casino location would be transferred to 

become the Tiverton Casino Hotel with table games, and two additional Class III facilities were 

assumed for Massachusetts (Springfield and Everett). Propensity and frequency would be expected 

to increase in market areas affected by these developments.   

 

Gravity Model Forecast with Additional Casinos- 2022 

Market Segment  Gamer Pop. Propensity Frequency MPI Gaming Visits WPV GGR ($M) 

Brockton Primary 453,392 33.1% 11.0 103 1,706,086 $81 $139.0  

Plainridge 263,255 38.2% 12.6 101 1,270,582 $86 $109.8  

South Shore  161,249 29.1% 9.8 98 452,134 $90 $40.5  

Southern Mass 268,607 37.7% 12.4 101 1,260,951 $75 $95.2  

Cape Cod 179,013 23.1% 7.9 93 304,406 $84 $25.6  

Worcester 492,622 31.2% 10.5 100 1,615,061 $84 $135.3  

West of Boston 329,656 33.7% 11.2 101 1,250,308 $93 $116.0  

Boston South 664,518 33.4% 11.0 109 2,660,010 $83 $221.4  

Boston North 914,136 34.3% 11.2 109 3,822,112 $84 $320.8  

North Shore 708,730 28.1% 9.4 103 1,913,965 $86 $163.7  

Leominster 203,631 26.4% 9.0 99 476,822 $84 $40.2  

NW Mass 82,352 24.6% 8.3 94 157,790 $81 $12.8  

Springfield 506,050 37.5% 12.4 100 2,357,173 $76 $180.1  

Connecticut 1,584,261 35.7% 12.1 101 6,908,491 $80 $556.1  

Rhode Island 806,563 35.8% 11.8 107 3,657,971 $78 $285.6  

Tertiary North 838,140 19.8% 6.8 98 1,094,755 $87 $95.4  

Total 8,456,174       30,908,617 $82  $2,537.5  

Source: The Innovation Group 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 46 

Base Forecast with Brockton 
Finally, the subject property in Brockton, Massachusetts was added to the gravity model. The 

following table shows the market factors during the first full year of operations for the Brockton 

casino with the additional properties added to the market.   

 

Gravity Model Forecast with Brockton- 2022 

Market Segment  Gamer Pop. Propensity Frequency MPI Gaming Visits WPV GGR ($M) 

Brockton Primary 453,392 38.2% 12.6 103 2,237,775 $79 $177.4  

Plainridge 263,255 38.2% 12.6 101 1,270,582 $86 $109.8  

South Shore  161,249 32.6% 10.9 98 563,139 $88 $49.6  

Southern Mass 268,607 37.7% 12.4 101 1,260,951 $75 $95.2  

Cape Cod 179,013 23.1% 7.9 93 304,406 $84 $25.6  

Worcester 492,622 31.2% 10.5 100 1,615,061 $84 $135.3  

West of Boston 329,656 33.7% 11.2 101 1,250,308 $93 $116.0  

Boston South 664,518 35.4% 11.6 109 2,982,157 $82 $245.6  

Boston North 914,136 34.7% 11.3 109 3,912,573 $84 $327.7  

North Shore 708,730 28.3% 9.4 103 1,936,548 $85 $165.6  

Leominster 203,631 26.4% 9.0 99 476,822 $84 $40.2  

NW Mass 82,352 24.6% 8.3 94 157,790 $81 $12.8  

Springfield 506,050 37.5% 12.4 100 2,357,173 $76 $180.1  

Connecticut 1,584,261 35.7% 12.1 101 6,908,491 $80 $556.1  

Rhode Island 806,563 35.8% 11.8 107 3,657,971 $78 $285.6  

Tertiary North 838,140 19.8% 6.8 98 1,094,755 $87 $95.4  

Total 8,456,174       31,986,502 $82  $2,617.9  

Source: The Innovation Group 
 

Overall, the market is projected to generate approximately 32 million visits. The following table 

shows gaming revenue for the Brockton scenario. We estimate that the facility will capture 14.3% 

of the local market or an estimated 4.6 million gamer visits and generate $376 million in gaming 

revenue in the first stabilized year of operation. It should be noted that the gravity model has been 

calibrated to revenue data from Connecticut, Rhode Island, Maine and New York that is net of free 

play.  Therefore the projection below is for net gaming revenue.  The table below details the subject 

property’s local market gaming revenue by market segment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 47 

Brockton Local Market Gaming Revenue Forecast - First Stabilized Year  

Market Segment 
Total Market 

Visits 
Brockton 

Capture Rate 
Brockton 

Gamer Visits 
Brockton 

WPV 
Brockton Gaming 

Revenue (MMs)  

Brockton Primary 2,237,775 66.4% 1,485,205 $79.3  $117.7  

Plainridge 1,270,582 22.5% 285,784 $86.4  $24.7  

South Shore  563,139 43.8% 246,870 $88.1  $21.8  

Southern Mass 1,260,951 17.4% 219,970 $75.5  $16.6  

Cape Cod 304,406 32.9% 100,188 $84.0  $8.4  

Worcester 1,615,061 11.2% 181,349 $83.8  $15.2  

West of Boston 1,250,308 17.6% 219,879 $92.8  $20.4  

Boston South 2,982,157 31.2% 930,221 $82.4  $76.6  

Boston North 3,912,573 4.0% 157,765 $83.8  $13.2  

North Shore 1,936,548 13.0% 252,205 $85.5  $21.6  

Leominster 476,822 11.1% 52,804 $84.3  $4.5  

NW Mass 157,790 4.0% 6,343 $80.9  $0.5  

Springfield 2,357,173 1.4% 32,561 $76.4  $2.5  

Connecticut 6,908,491 1.9% 128,589 $80.5  $10.4  

Rhode Island 3,657,971 5.0% 181,716 $78.1  $14.2  

Tertiary North 1,094,755 7.9% 86,016 $87.1  $7.5  

Total: 31,986,502 14.3% 4,567,465 $82.2  $375.7  

Source: The Innovation Group 

 

In addition to the local market revenue generated through the gravity model, the subject property 

is anticipated to generate out-of-market revenue. This out-of-market gaming demand represents 

visits driven by reasons other than proximity of permanent residence, such as tourism, visiting 

friends and family, seasonal residence, variety of gaming experience, and pass-through traffic 

intercept.  This typically ranges between 4% and 10% of a casino’s revenue depending upon 

location, amenities and tourism market relative to the size of the local population.  For this estimate 

we have assumed the completion of a 250-room hotel in conjunction with additional amenities at 

the Brockton casino.  Combined, total gaming revenue in stabilized operations at the proposed 

Brockton Casino is projected to be $404 million.  

 

 

Brockton Casino Gaming Revenue Summary   
Stabilized Operations 

   Gaming Revenue 

Local Gravity Model Market $375,668,790  

Out-of-Market $28,175,159  

Total $403,843,949  

Source: The Innovation Group 

 

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 48 

Five Year Forecast 
The following presents five year forecasted gaming revenue for the proposed property.  As noted 

above, the revenue forecast is for stabilized operations in year two.   Ramp-up of approximately 

6% in year two and 2.5% in year three is projected to allow for marketing efforts to take effect and 

player database growth.  Normative growth of 2.0% is estimated thereafter.  

 

Brockton Five Year Revenue Forecast 

  Year One Year Two Year Three Year Four Year Five 

Gaming Revenue (MMs) $381.1  $403.8  $413.8  $422.0  $430.5  

Visitation (MMs) 4.62 4.86 4.91 4.94 4.96 

Win per Visit $82.57  $83.03  $84.22  $85.48  $86.76  

Number of Units 2,844 2,844 2,844 2,844 2,844 

Win/Unit/Day $367  $389  $399  $407  $415  

Source: The Innovation Group 

 

Source of Revenue and Repatriation Analysis 
This section assesses the repatriation of gaming spending by Massachusetts residents that would 

otherwise accrue to casinos in neighboring states as well as the capture of spending by out-of-state 

residents.  This analysis is based on the gravity model analysis, which as discussed distributes 

gaming visits from each zip code in the market area to each casino in the model.  By comparing 

the Baseline with the Brockton Forecast model, an assessment of repatriation can be generated.   

As noted, the Baseline model included the other two approved casinos in Regions A and B as well 

as Plainridge.  In the Baseline gravity model, it is estimated that Massachusetts residents would 

contribute nearly $608 million dollars to gaming revenues at casinos in Connecticut, Rhode Island, 

New York, and Maine.  Brockton is estimated to repatriate approximately $140 million of this, as 

shown in the following table.   

 
Capture of MA Resident Spending by Out-of-State Casinos: Stabilized Year  

Baseline $608,290,189 

With Brockton $467,786,519 

Brockton Repatriation (Gravity Model) $140,503,670 

Source: The Innovation Group 

 

In addition to this repatriation, the Brockton Casino is estimated in the gravity model to capture 

approximately $27 million from residents of neighboring states on a net basis (minus impact on 

existing Massachusetts), as shown in the following table.  It is also estimated that $28 million of 

out-of-market gaming revenues will represent a net gain to Massachusetts.    

 
Brockton Casino Net Gain: Stabilized Year 

  Gravity Model Out-of-Market Total 

In-state Repatriation $140,503,670   $140,503,670  

Out-of-State Net $26,732,527  $28,175,159  $54,907,686  

Total Net Gain in Spending in MA $167,236,197  $28,175,159  $195,411,356  

% of Total Gaming Revenue     48.4% 

Source: The Innovation Group 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 49 

 

Repatriation is estimated to total nearly $141 million at the Brockton Casino, and net gain of out-

of-state revenue $55 million.  In total, the net gain to Massachusetts from the Brockton Casino is 

approximately $195 million in gaming revenue, or 48% of its total gaming revenue forecast.  This 

represents revenue that otherwise would not accrue to Massachusetts; since it excludes spending 

by Massachusetts residents except for repatriated dollars, it would not be subject to any substitution 

effect in an economic impact analysis.     

 

Incremental Impact Summary 
The following table represents the impact on total gaming revenue the Brockton casino would have 

when introduced to the Massachusetts competitive casino set. While the existing casinos would 

see a drop in total revenues, the overall total increases by over $270 million, showing potential for 

market growth.  

 

Total Gaming Revenue Market Impact  

 Without Brockton With Brockton 

Plainridge $122,616,795 $94,581,694 

Springfield $379,650,509 $372,380,374 

Everett $807,886,414 $711,695,058 

Brockton  $403,843,949 

Massachusetts Total $1,310,153,718 $1,582,501,074 

Source: The Innovation Group 

 

The following table shows the growth in gaming tax revenue to the state of Massachusetts with 

the addition of the Brockton Casino.  

 

Total Gaming Tax Revenue Market Impact  

 Without Brockton With Brockton 

Plainridge $49,046,718 $37,832,678 

Springfield $94,912,627 $93,095,093 

Everett $201,971,603 $177,923,764 

Brockton  $100,960,987 

Total $345,930,949 $409,812,523 

Incremental  $63,881,574 

Source: The Innovation Group 

 

Additionally, Massachusetts would see an increase in slot license fee revenue due to Brockton. 

The following table details the incremental revenue to the state from slot license fees. Total 

incremental revenue to Massachusetts would be $65.1 million with the inclusion of the Brockton 

property.  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 50 

Total Slot License Fee Market Impact  

 Without Brockton With Brockton 

Plainridge $750,000 $750,000 

Springfield $1,530,000 $1,530,000 

Everett $1,945,200 $1,945,200 

Brockton  $1,260,000 

Total $4,225,200 $5,485,200 

Incremental  $1,260,000 

Source: The Innovation Group 
 

Total Employment Effects 
The following section details the direct impacts with regards to employment the Brockton facility 

would have, as assessed through a multi-regional analysis utilizing IMPLAN software.  The multi-

regional analysis results in impacts for the host county (Plymouth), the remaining counties in 

Region C, and the rest of Massachusetts (termed “Balance of State” in the table headings in this 

report). The following tables show the results of the IMPLAN multiplier analysis in the Base 

Forecast. 

 

In addition to the 1,797 direct jobs in Plymouth County, the operation of the resort casino will 

generate 1,070 indirect jobs and 642 induced jobs for a total of 3,508 in the county in year two of 

operations. The spending from stable year ongoing operations will have an indirect and induced 

impact on other communities supporting an additional 24 jobs within Region C and another 64 

jobs across the state. In total, resort casino operations are estimated to support 3,596 jobs 

throughout Massachusetts with direct, indirect and induced employment in year two of operations.   

 

Operating Impacts— Employment 

  
Plymouth 

County 
Region C 

Balance of 
State 

Total 
Massachusetts 

Direct Effect 1,797 0 0 1,797 

Indirect Effect 1,070 14 41 1,124 

Induced Effect 642 9 24 675 

Total 3,508 24 64 3,596 

IMPLAN Group, LLC, IMPLAN System (data and software); The Innovation Group 

 

 

 

  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 51 

HIGH-LOW ANALYSIS  
The following sensitivity analysis assesses the impact on gaming revenue resulting from high and 

low estimates for gaming demand.  This analysis examines a 10% variance from the Base Case, 

or a total high-low spread of 20%.   

 

The resulting five-year forecasts are shown in the tables below.  

 

 
Brockton Casino Five-Year Revenue Forecast: High Case  

  Year One Year Two Year Three Year Four Year Five 

Gaming Revenue (MMs) $419.2  $444.2  $455.1  $464.2  $473.5  

Visitation (MMs) 5.08 5.35 5.40 5.43 5.46 

Win per Visit $82.57  $83.03  $84.22  $85.48  $86.76  

Number of Units 2,844 2,844 2,844 2,844 2,844 

Win/Unit/Day $404  $428  $438  $447  $456  

Source: The Innovation Group 

 
Brockton Casino Five-Year Revenue Forecast: Low Case  

  Year One Year Two Year Three Year Four Year Five 

Gaming Revenue (MMs) $343.0  $363.5  $372.4  $379.8  $387.4  

Visitation (MMs) 4.15 4.38 4.42 4.44 4.47 

Win per Visit $82.57  $83.03  $84.22  $85.48  $86.76  

Number of Units 2,844 2,844 2,844 2,844 2,844 

Win/Unit/Day $330  $350  $359  $366  $373  

Source: The Innovation Group 

 

 

 

   

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 52 

NEW CASINO MARKET TRAINING STRATEGIES 
A survey of Plainridge employees conducted in 2017 demonstrates that casino employment is 

comprised mainly of workers already residing within commuting distance: a mixture of previously 

employed local residents looking for a better opportunity or the ability to work closer to home, 

along with previously unemployed local residents.  The percentage of workers who moved to take 

the position with Plainridge was a small percentage of the staff.  Furthermore, most casino workers 

had not had prior casino work experience.   

 
Plainridge Casino Source of Workforce 

 # of Responses Percentage 

Prior Employment status:   

Unemployed 162 15.5% 

Employed Part-time 363 34.7% 

Underemployed 189 18.1% 

Employed Full-time 522 49.9% 

Total 1,047 100.0% 

   

Reason for taking the position   

Job closer to home 305 29.1% 

Other results   
No prior casino experience 902 86.2% 

Moved to take the position 75 7.2% 

New Employee Survey at Plainridge Park Casino: Analysis of First Two Years of Data Collection 
University of Massachusetts Donahue Institute, Economic and Public Policy Research Group, May 10, 2017 

 

Other studies show similar impacts on employment.  The Rappaport Institute for Greater Boston 

and the John F. Kennedy School of Economics at Harvard University (Baxandall and Sacerdote 

2005) in a national, county-level study of Native American casinos found a slight decrease in 

unemployment rates after casinos opened.  From their total sample of 156 casino counties, the 

Rappaport study isolated out 57 counties with large casinos and relatively low population and nine 

counties with both large casinos and large populations to see if there were statistical differences in 

terms of community impacts.  The authors compared the county unemployment rate averaged for 

the year before and after a casino opens in a county, and then subtracted that number from the 

average state change in unemployment to isolate the county-specific effect.  The following table 

shows their results: 

 

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 53 

Rappaport Study Employment Results 

  
All Casino-

Counties1  
Counties with Large-

Capacity Casinos2  
Populous Casino 

Counties3  

Population Growth (%)  +5*  8.6 +8.1*  

Total Employment (%)  +6.7*  +14.9*  5.7 

Unemployment (%)  -0.3 -1.2*  0.5 
*Statistically significant results at 99% confidence interval.   

1. Reports how adjusted outcomes in 156 counties that introduced Indian-run casinos during the 1990s differed from the other 2,959 
that did not. 

2. The effect for 21 counties in the top 10th percentile in terms of number of slot machines (over 1,760). 

3. The effect for the 57 casino counties in the top population quartile (over 55,000 residents). 

 
 

All this data suggests the need for training strategies as new casinos enter the regional market, 

since it cannot be assumed that the unemployed finding jobs will have hospitality or casino skills.   

 

As a part of The Innovation Group’s Gaming Market Analysis for the proposed casino in Brockton, 

we have been asked to review training strategies for new gaming markets, with emphasis on 

markets that may require specialized training to reach employment forecast targets. The following 

key strategies were discovered in our research, followed by several case studies: 
 

Industry Tactics:  
 

• Work force research 

As new casino markets are developed through enabling legislation, the Gaming Industry 

has historically performed socio-economic research, initially for the purposes of demand 

feasibility. However, such information soon becomes critical in the econometric analysis 

performed to gauge the economic and employment impacts of a project. This body of data 

also includes information related to employment and socio-economic status, which 

operators can begin to use to assess the job market and prepare to engage the community 

in fulfilling employment needs and project training requirements to meet practical and 

legislative employment targets.  

• Early-stage job fairs 

Even before a gaming license is awarded it is not uncommon for developers and operators 

to hold job fairs. The purpose of these events is multi-fold. First, there is a community-

relations component where the operator is able to meet the broader community that may 

not have been involved in a casino project during the pre-development phase. Organized 

labor relations, where relevant, are often established through this period as well. Finally, 

the practical aspects of the hiring process begin here through the development of lists of 

potential employees form the community. As the background of potential workers begins 

to be vetted the operator can begin to prepare for training and preparedness programs which 

are often customized for the subject host community. 

• Partnering with local universities and vocational schools 

Developing partnerships with local academic and vocational institutions is another 

common way for operators to get ahead in the employment process. This is a particularly 

important tactic in brand new markets, including international markets where training 

infrastructure are lacking, and language barriers may need to be overcome.  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 54 

• Intensive “on-the-job” training 

Given the importance of technical capabilities and customer service in casinos, operators 

are known to maintain deep training resources in their corporate organizations. Trainers 

are deployed to sites in new markets well ahead of the completion of construction of new 

facilities using trailers or converting underutilized buildings to begin early training in all 

areas of the casino operation.   

 

Case Study Markets:  
 

• The Bahamas 

The initial development of the Bahamas casino market, and the re-development of Resorts 

International into Atlantis on Paradise Island in particular, proved challenging given the 

small population base of the Bahamas and a poor record of leisure industry training 

historically. In response Sun International, the developer of Atlantis, launched a massive 

effort to prepare the local work force. While initially workers were brought to The Bahamas 

from other casino markets the market is currently predominantly served by local residents. 

• Micronesia 

Casino development on the Islands of Tinian and Saipan in Micronesia (near Guam) were 

some of the least prepared work forces in the history of the gaming industry. However, a 

low population base with a traditional pacific island education have been overcome by 

intensive training and preparedness work by local operators. Although a large portion of 

the work force is attracted from the international market local employment is on the rise. 

• Mexico 

Over the last decade Mexico has gradually introduced casinos and very successfully trained 

thousands of local residents for all types of positions. Only upper management tends to be 

introduced from outside jurisdictions, a trend that will be reversed over time as line 

employees are promoted.  

• Emerging US Casino Markets (1990’s) 

We should not leave out the large number of United States and Native American gaming 

markets that have been justified largely by the promise of work-force development. From 

underprivileged communities in urban and rural areas, and Indian reservations with low 

levels of education and social challenges, the US casino industry has thrived. Promotion in 

commercial casinos and self-sufficiency including high level management roles in many 

Tribal casinos has become the norm.  

 

 

  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18 September 2018  Page 55 

DISCLAIMER 
Certain information included in this report contains forward-looking estimates, projections and/or 

statements.  The Innovation Group has based these projections, estimates and/or statements on our 

current expectations about future events. These forward-looking items include statements that 

reflect our existing beliefs and knowledge regarding the operating environment, existing trends, 

existing plans, objectives, goals, expectations, anticipations, results of operations, future 

performance and business plans. 

  

Further, statements that include the words "may," "could," "should," "would," "believe," "expect," 

"anticipate," "estimate," "intend," "plan," “project,” or other words or expressions of similar 

meaning have been utilized. These statements reflect our judgment on the date they are made and 

we undertake no duty to update such statements in the future.  

 

Although we believe that the expectations in these reports are reasonable, any or all of the estimates 

or projections in this report may prove to be incorrect. To the extent possible, we have attempted 

to verify and confirm estimates and assumptions used in this analysis.  However, some 

assumptions inevitably will not materialize as a result of inaccurate assumptions or as a 

consequence of known or unknown risks and uncertainties and unanticipated events and 

circumstances, which may occur.  Consequently, actual results achieved during the period covered 

by our analysis will vary from our estimates and the variations may be material.  As such, The 

Innovation Group accepts no liability in relation to the estimates provided herein. 

 

   



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit C 
 
 
 

 



 

 
 
 

 
Response to Public Comments: 

Proposed Region C Gaming Development 
Massachusetts 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for: 
 

Rush Street Gaming, LLC 
 

November 30, 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 
 

The Innovation Group 
400 North Peters Street 

Suite 206 
New Orleans, LA  70130 

504.523.0888 
www.theinnovationgroup.com 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page i 

Region C Massachusetts Gaming Market  
 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 

REGION C: REQUEST FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS ............................................................ 1 

QUESTION 1: NORTHEAST AND MID-ATLANTIC GAMING MARKETS ............................................ 1 
QUESTION 2: MASSACHUSETTS GAMING DEMAND ...................................................................... 8 
QUESTION 3: STATUS AND POTENTIAL IMPACT ON CASINO GAMING OF ONLINE GAMING, 
SPORTS BETTING, AND DFS ....................................................................................................... 10 

Online Gaming (iGaming) .................................................................................................... 10 
Sports Betting ........................................................................................................................ 11 
Daily Fantasy Sports............................................................................................................. 14 
Summary ............................................................................................................................... 15 

QUESTION 4: CASINO STAFFING AVAILABILITY AND LABOR MARKET IMPACT ......................... 15 
QUESTION 11: MASSACHUSETTS HORSE RACING ...................................................................... 19 

APPENDIX A: COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT ............................................................... 22 

EXISTING ................................................................................................................................... 24 
Connecticut ........................................................................................................................... 24 
Rhode Island ......................................................................................................................... 26 
Massachusetts ....................................................................................................................... 27 
New York ............................................................................................................................... 28 
Maine .................................................................................................................................... 31 
New Jersey ............................................................................................................................ 32 
Pennsylvania ......................................................................................................................... 37 

PROPOSED NEW ENGLAND ......................................................................................................... 41 
Encore Boston Harbor .......................................................................................................... 41 
Connecticut ........................................................................................................................... 42 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 1 

REGION C: REQUEST FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS 
The Innovation Group was retained by Rush Street Gaming, LLC to provide comments on the 
following five items in response to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission’s request for public 
comments: 
   

1. What is the status of the gaming market in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic? What are the 
existing gaming options? What plans exist to increase the number of gaming options, 
both in states that currently allow casino gaming and states where casino gaming does not 
currently exist? What revenues have been collected by states that have gaming over the 
last five (5) years and what are their projected future revenues? 

2. What is the expected demand for gaming and the value of the overall gaming market in 
Massachusetts? 

3. Should the Commission review the status of online gaming, sports betting and daily 
fantasy sports and their potential impact on casino gaming? 

4. Is there sufficient capacity to fill new casino jobs created by a Region C casino? What 
impact will that have on existing casinos to fill their jobs and on existing business to 
replace experienced employees who move to a casino job? 

11. What role should horse racing have in considering a category 1 region C gaming license 
application? 

 

Question 1: Northeast and Mid-Atlantic Gaming Markets 
The gaming industry in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic region is strong and expanding, with 
several new casinos having opened in 2017 and 2018 in Massachusetts, Maryland, New York, 
and Rhode Island.  Appendix A takes a detailed look at all existing and potential competitors 
within Brockton’s gaming market.  In this section, we examine the gaming offerings and revenue 
trends, by state, in New England and in the Mid-Atlantic states.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 2 

The following table shows the existing gaming options in the Northeast region by state: 
 

Northeast Casinos by State 
    City Machines Tables Positions 
Connecticut     

 
Mohegan Sun Montville 5,613 350 7,713 

 
Foxwoods Ledyard 4,145 428 6,713 

Maine     
 Hollywood Bangor Bangor 921 16 1,017 

 Oxford Casino Oxford 811 22 943 
Massachusetts     
 Plainridge Plainville 1,250 0 1,500 

 
MGM Springfield Springfield 2,550 120 3,270 

New York*     

 

Saratoga Springs Saratoga 
Springs 1,782 0 1,782 

 
Monticello Raceway Monticello 1,110 0 1,110 

 
Empire City at Yonkers Yonkers 5,349 0 5,349 

 
Jake's 58 Islandia 1,000 0 1,000 

 
Rivers Casino & Resort Schenectady 1,150 82 1,642 

 
Resorts World Aqueduct Jamaica 5,005 0 5,005 

 
Resorts World Catskills Monticello 2,153 125 2,903 

Rhode Island     

 
Twin River Casino Lincoln 4,220 80 4,700 

  Tiverton Casino Hotel Tiverton 1,000 37 1,222 
Regional Total   38,059  1,260  45,869  

     Source: State Lotteries and Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group. Only casinos in the eastern part of New York are considered 
relevant to the Massachusetts/New England market. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 3 

The following table shows the existing gaming options in the Mid-Atlantic region by state: 
 

Mid-Atlantic Casinos by State 
    City Machines Tables Positions 
Delaware     

 
Delaware Park Wilmington 2,250 39 2,484 

 
Dover Downs Hotel and Casino Dover 2,177 40 2,417 

 Harrington Raceway and Casino Harrington 1,787 31 1,973 
Maryland     
 Hollywood Casino Perryville Perryville 822 22 954 

 Horseshoe Casino  Baltimore 2,200 168 3,208 

 Live! Casino & Hotel Hanover 3,997 198 5,185 

 
MGM National Harbor Oxon Hill 2,961 180 4,041 

 Ocean Downs Berlin 888 0 888 

 
Rocky Gap Casino Resort Flintstone 665 17 767 

New Jersey     

 
Bally's Atlantic City Atlantic City 1,776 164 2,760 

 
Borgata Atlantic City 1,994 268 3,602 

 
Caesars Atlantic City Atlantic City 1,889 132 2,681 

 
Golden Nugget Atlantic City Atlantic City 1,454 99 2,048 

 
Hard Rock Atlantic City Atlantic City 2,063 152 2,975 

 Harrah's Resort Atlantic City Atlantic City 2,109 133 2,907 

 
Oceans Resort Atlantic City 1,937 107 2,579 

 
Resorts Casino Hotel Atlantic City 1,475 68 1,883 

 
Tropicana Atlantic City Atlantic City 2,476 130 3,256 

Pennsylvania*     

 
Harrah's Philadelphia Chester 2,450 118 3,158 

 
Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course Grantville 2,170 75 2,620 

 
Mohegan Sun Pocono Wilkes-Barre 2,325 89 2,859 

 
Mount Airy Casino Resort  Mt. Pocono 1,863 81 2,349 

 
Parx Casino and Racing Bensalem 3,331 190 4,471 

 
Sands Casino Resort Bethlehem Bethlehem 3,073 252 4,585 

 
SugarHouse Casino Philadelphia 1,809 141 2,655 

 
Valley Forge Casino Resort King of Prussia 600 50 900 

West Virginia**     
  Hollywood Casino at Charles Town Races Ranson 2,284 90 2,824 

Regional Total   54,825  3,034  73,029  
     Source: State Lotteries and Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group, *Only casinos in the eastern part of Pennsylvania, **Only 
Charles Town was considered relevant due to location within the state; Greenbrier has not been included because of its far southern location 
and lack of relevance to Massachusetts 
 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 4 

The strength of the Northeast gaming market is prompting a number of proposed developments. 
The following table shows the proposed gaming options and expected openings in the region.  
Only Encore Boston Harbor and East Windsor are of any direct relevance to Massachusetts. 
 
 

Proposed Casino Locations by State 

  Name Location Proposed Positions Note 

Connecticut    

 

- East 
Windsor 

2,000 Slot Machines 
60 Tables 

Joint venture between Mohegan Sun and 
Foxwoods.  Facing legal challenge; 

undetermined at this time if it will proceed. 
Massachusetts    

 
Encore Boston 
Harbor Everett 4,250 Total Gaming 

Positions 
Reported over $2 Billion property. License 

currently under review. Scheduled opening 
June 2019. 

Pennsylvania    

 
Category 4 
Casinos - 300-750 Slot Machines 

up to 30 Table Games  
Three casinos in the eastern side of the 

state: York, Shippensburg, and Morgantown.  

New York    

  - Medford 1,000 VLT Machines 
 

Previous Medford OTB site. OTB would 
consider building a casino in Medford with 

up to 1,000 machines if the state allows 
Suffolk County to expand to 2,000 terminals.  

     Source: The Innovation Group 
 
In general, gaming revenue in calendar year 2017 was strong across the region. Revenue 
increased at all casinos in New England except the Hollywood Casino in Bangor, Maine.  Both 
Connecticut casinos experienced slot revenue growth in 2017, after the lingering effects of the 
Great Recession and impacts from Rhode Island and Plainridge had caused multi-year declines.  
Twin River (TR) has experienced growth every year since 2010; although there is some apparent 
impact on TR’s slot revenue from the opening of Plainridge the last week of June 2015, total 
gaming revenue continued to climb. 
 
Plainridge also exhibited strong growth in 2017, of 6.3%.   Further, its impacts on Rhode Island 
and Connecticut appear to have been minimal, suggesting that the large majority of Plainridge’s 
first-year revenue came from market growth.  Looking at Plainridge’s impact on its two main 
competitors, Twin River and Foxwoods, it is apparent that as much as 75% of Plainridge’s 
revenue resulted from market growth.   
 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 5 

Plainridge First Year Impacts 
 Twin River Foxwoods Subtotal Plainridge Market Total 
FY 2014 $470,766,020  $467,970,116  $938,736,136  $6,137,976*  $944,874,112  
FY 2015 $443,747,069  $462,215,501  $905,962,570  $159,908,961  $1,065,871,531  
Change ($27,018,951) ($5,754,615) ($32,773,566) $153,770,984  $120,997,418  
     Source: State Lotteries and Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group. *Note: one week’s data.  FY=July-June. 

 
 
A similar effect can be seen from the recent openings of MGM Springfield (late August 2018) in 
Massachusetts and Tiverton, Rhode Island (September 1, 2018).  Looking at slot revenue only, 
since Plainridge is a slot-only casino and in Connecticut only slot revenue is reported by the 
State, impacts on existing facilities in September ranged from 4% to 8.8%.  Mohegan Sun, which 
is the closest of the four to MGM Springfield, showed the largest impact.    
   
 

CT, MA, and RI Slot Revenue Impact 

  Plainridge 
Slot Revenue 

Twin River 
Slot Revenue 

Mohegan Sun 
Slot Revenue 

Foxwoods 
Slot Revenue 

Sep-17 $14,895,275  $36,259,349  $51,755,254  $40,062,545  
Sep-18 $14,319,232  $34,709,583  $47,201,802  $37,986,949  
Change -3.9% -4.3% -8.8% -5.2% 
Source: Massachusetts Gaming Commission; Rhode Island Lottery; The Innovation Group 

 
The losses at these four existing facilities were more than surpassed by the slot revenue at the 
two new casinos, as shown in the following table.  Using slot revenues for the above properties 
and the former Newport Casino (roughly $4 million), the total market slot revenue reached 
$146.9 million in September of 2017. With the inclusion of the Tiverton and MGM Springfield 
revenues below, slot revenues totaled $162.2 million in September of 2018, showing a growth of 
10.4%.  
 

September 2018 Slot Revenue 
  Slot Revenue 
MGM Springfield $18,149,752 
Tiverton $9,837,048 

Source: Massachusetts Gaming Commission; Rhode Island Lottery; The Innovation Group 
 
Similarly, the opening in June of 2018 of two casinos—Hard Rock Casino and Oceans Resort—
have increased gaming revenue in Atlantic City without impacting competing facilities in the 
important feeder market of Philadelphia. Additionally, while the previous Atlantic City casinos 
saw a 7.7% decrease in gaming revenues from July-September 2018 as compared to the previous 
year, the addition of the Hard Rock and Oceans grew the total market revenues by $86.7 million 
or 12.6%.  
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 6 

Atlantic City Gaming Revenue Impact 
  AC Casinos Hard Rock Oceans AC Market Total 

Jul-Sept 2017 $685,984,805  $0  $0  $685,984,805  
Jul-Sept 2018 $633,491,325  $89,070,843  $50,136,606  $772,698,774  
% Change -7.7% -  -  12.6% 

Source: Massachusetts Gaming Commission; Rhode Island Lottery; The Innovation Group 
 
As shown in the table below, Philadelphia casinos saw a minimal impact in the first full month of 
operations (July 2018) of the two new Atlantic City casinos, a drop in total gaming revenue of 
just 0.8%. However, in the following two months, Philadelphia gaming revenue exceeded the 
previous monthly totals of 2017 by 6.6% in August and 4.1% in September.  
 

AC Impact on Philadelphia Gaming Statistics 

  Slot 
Revenue 

Table 
Revenue 

Total 
Revenue 

Win per 
Position 

Jul-17 $73,531,560  $33,822,380  $107,353,940  $309  
Jul-18 $73,871,810  $32,583,725  $106,455,535  $307  
Change 0.5% -3.7% -0.8% -0.7% 

     Aug-17 $68,741,290  $33,266,655  $102,007,944  $293  
Aug-18 $73,198,425  $35,536,320  $108,734,745  $314  
Change 6.5% 6.8% 6.6% 7.2% 

     Sep-17 $70,172,983  $32,351,545  $102,524,528  $305  
Sep-18 $72,699,091  $34,067,310  $106,766,402  $319  
Change 3.6% 5.3% 4.1% 4.7% 

Source: Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board; The Innovation Group 
 
In February of 2018, Resorts World Catskills opened at the former location of the Concord Hotel 
in Monticello, New York. The new gaming property introduced over 2,150 slot machines and 
roughly 150 table games to the market. The casino is averaging over $13 million in total GGR 
per month since March.  
 
This opening had a negative effect on nearby casinos in northeastern Pennsylvania. The three 
closest casinos are the Mohegan Sun Pocono, Mount Airy, and Sands Bethlehem. Each casino 
saw a decrease in total Win, with Mount Airy being impacted the largest. The table below shows 
the combined total win for the three casinos by month. June was the only month that saw an 
increase in win from 2017 to 2018.      
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 7 

Resorts World Impact on Eastern Pennsylvania 

  2017 Total Win 
(MMs) 

2018 Total Win 
(MMs) Change 

February $79.5  $75.6  -4.9% 
March $86.7  $85.0  -1.9% 
April  $87.6  $80.8  -7.8% 
May $86.1  $82.5  -4.1% 
June  $78.0  $79.1  1.3% 
July $89.4  $83.6  -6.5% 
August $83.1  $81.7  -1.7% 
September $85.6  $79.1  -7.6% 
Total $676.0 $647.4 -4.2% 

Source: Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board; The Innovation Group 
 
 
Looking at state tax revenue and including Mid-Atlantic states, we see that tax revenues overall 
have grown.  Where states have declined, mostly that has resulted from the impact of new 
casinos in neighboring states.  In the case of Rhode Island, it has partially resulted from the 
growth in table revenue, which is taxed at a substantially lower rate than slot machines.  The 
overall region has experienced annual tax revenue growth of 2.6% over the past five years. 
 
 

New England and Mid-Atlantic State Tax Revenue 
State FY-2013/14 FY-2014/15 FY-2015/16 FY-2016/17 FY-2017/18 CAGR 
Maine $50.8  $51.7  $53.1  $54.0  $56.0  1.9% 
Massachusetts - - $61.5  $62.7  $67.6  3.2% 
Rhode Island $326.4  $333.5  $320.1  $318.3  $318.6  -0.5% 
Connecticut $279.9  $268.0  $265.9  $270.7  $272.2  -0.6% 
New York $871.7  $866.9  $906.0  $928.3  $993.2  2.6% 
Pennsylvania $879.4  $890.7  $915.0  $915.5  $926.0  1.0% 
New Jersey $208.1  $196.8  $201.0  $210.5  $211.5  0.3% 
Delaware $157.5  $155.0  $156.8  $153.6  $157.1  -0.1% 
West Virginia* $426.1  $371.6  $349.5  $335.5  $321.6  -6.8% 
Maryland $272.2  $310.0  $385.7  $441.4  $526.1  14.1% 
Total $3,472.1  $3,444.2  $3,614.6  $3,690.5  $3,849.9  2.6% 

     Source: State Lotteries and Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group. Note: Excludes horse industry payments.  FY=July-June except 
NY April-March, *WV tax revenues are estimates using reported effective tax rates for table games (35%) and VLTs (53.5%) 

 
With recent casino additions in Maryland, New York, New Jersey and Massachusetts, some of 
the states in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic regions have felt a negative impact while others 
have grown. The following table details the last full five years of state gaming revenue for each 
state in these two regions that allow gaming. Additionally, the table provides high-level 
estimates for the next three years of gaming revenue by state using estimated annualized 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 8 

revenues for 2018, previous growth rates, expected impacts of newly opened casinos, and 
potential impacts from the proposed Encore Boston Harbor casino.  
 
As shown below, the inclusion of the proposed Boston casino potentially bolsters the revenues in 
Massachusetts while reducing the revenues in surrounding states like Connecticut and Rhode 
Island.  Overall, the total gaming market in these regions can be expected to continue growing 
with the inclusion of additional gaming properties.  
 

State by State Gaming Revenue ($MMs) 
  CT DE MA MD ME NJ NY* PA* RI WV** Total 
2013 $1,144.9  $432.1  - $749.0  $126.3  $2,863.6  $1,567.5  $2,339.2  $558.1  $456.5  $9,780.5  
2014 $1,067.5  $403.7  - $931.1  $127.3  $2,619.3  $1,563.4  $2,313.1  $611.1  $391.9  $9,636.3  
2015 $1,044.5  $404.6  - $1,098.4  $129.8  $2,414.2  $1,609.8  $2,407.9  $615.8  $396.2  $9,725.0  
2016 $1,053.5  $398.7  $155.0  $1,203.3  $133.1  $2,405.9  $1,644.5  $2,462.0  $619.1  $368.6  $10,075.2  
2017 $1,075.0  $409.3  $164.8  $1,615.0  $136.7  $2,413.4  $1,738.4  $2,480.1  $624.9  $339.4  $10,657.5  
CAGR -1.6% -1.3% 6.3% 21.2% 2.0% -4.2% 2.6% 1.5% 2.9% -7.1% 2.2% 
2018 $1,010.5  $403.9  $280.1  $1,655.3  $138.1  $2,715.1  $1,764.5  $2,517.3  $649.8  $337.7  $11,134.7  
2019 $909.4  $410.0  $896.4  $1,696.7  $135.3  $2,783.0  $1,790.9  $2,555.1  $617.4  $341.1  $11,794.3  
2020 $864.0  $416.2  $1,075.7  $1,739.1  $138.0  $2,852.5  $1,817.8  $2,593.4  $586.5  $344.5  $12,083.3  
2021 $881.2 $422.4 $1,280.1 $1,782.6 $140.8 $2,923.8 $1,845.1 $2,632.3 $595.3 $347.9 $12,525.2 

Source: State Lotteries and Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group. 
*New York and Pennsylvania statistics only includes the revenues from the Eastern part of the state 

**West Virginia statistics only include the revenues from Charlestown Races casino.   
   

Question 2: Massachusetts Gaming Demand 
Given the Commonwealth’s large population base, the fact that the gaming licenses have been 
well distributed geographically, and the level of capital being invested, gaming demand in 
Massachusetts is expected to be strong.  Two casinos are already in operation, producing 
substantial revenues and economic impacts.  Once the Region A casino is open and statewide 
revenue has stabilized, the Innovation Group estimates that by 2022 gaming revenue will reach 
$1.3 billion.1   Adding the Region C casino, the overall total increases by over $270 million, 
showing potential for market growth, as shown in the following table: 
 

                                                 
 
 
1 The Innovation Group prepared a Gaming Market Analysis for a proposed casino in Region C, in Brockton. 
Included in that analysis is a detailed description of the methodology utilized in the gravity model calibration to 
current conditions and future forecasts. 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 9 

Total Gaming Revenue Market Impact  
 Without Region C With Region C 

Plainridge $122,616,795 $94,581,694 
Springfield $379,650,509 $372,380,374 
Everett $807,886,414 $711,695,058 
Brockton 

 
$403,843,949 

Massachusetts Total $1,310,153,718 $1,582,501,074 
Source: The Innovation Group 

 
Given the projected gaming-age population for 2022, the revenue forecast with Brockton implies 
a win per capita of $294, well within the ranges experienced in other jurisdictions.  Win per 
capita reaches well over $500 in several U.S. markets. In 2017, win per capita reached over $336 
in Pennsylvania as detailed below.  

Win per Capita 
  PA 2017 MA 2022 
GGR $3,226,917,156 $1,582,501,074 
Gamer Population 9,587,688 5,386,879 
Win per capita $336.57  $293.77  

Source: The Innovation Group 
 
The following table shows the growth in gaming tax revenue to the state of Massachusetts with 
the addition of the Region C Casino.  
 
 

Total Gaming Tax Revenue Market Impact  
 Without Region C With Region C 

Plainridge $49,046,718 $37,832,678 
Springfield $94,912,627 $93,095,093 
Everett $201,971,603 $177,923,764 
Brockton 

 
$100,960,987 

Total $345,930,949 $409,812,523 
Incremental 

 
$63,881,574 

Source: The Innovation Group 
 
Additionally, Massachusetts would see an increase in slot license fee revenue due to the Region 
C casino. The following table details the incremental revenue to the state from slot license fees. 
Total incremental revenue to Massachusetts would be $65.1 million with the inclusion of the 
Region C casino.  
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 10 

Total Slot License Fee Market Impact  
 Without Region C With Region C 

Plainridge $750,000 $750,000 
Springfield $1,530,000 $1,530,000 
Everett $1,945,200 $1,945,200 
Brockton 

 
$1,260,000 

Total $4,225,200 $5,485,200 
Incremental 

 
$1,260,000 

Source: The Innovation Group 
 

 

Question 3: Status and Potential Impact on Casino Gaming of 
Online Gaming, Sports Betting, and DFS 
While there has been concern in the casino industry that online gambling, sports betting, and 
DFS wagering will cannibalize GGR at bricks-and-mortar casinos, the data available do not 
support that concern.  In fact, these products can be seen as an opportunity to bring in additional 
revenue to existing casinos.  The following section discusses the landscape for these non-
traditional gambling products and the data that is available for each.   

Online Gaming (iGaming) 
Online gaming is legal in New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Delaware. Nevada has legal online 
poker. In New Jersey, licenses are issued to casinos in the state, and the casinos can partner with 
an online operator or software company to provide the games. This revenue is taxed at 15%. In 
Pennsylvania, there is a $10 million interactive license fee for the combined online poker, slots, 
and table games license. Table game and poker revenue are taxed at 16%, while slots are taxed at 
54%. While several partnerships have been announced, no iGaming has launched in 
Pennsylvania. Delaware taxes iGaming at 15.5%.  
 
Several states have expressed interest in iGaming. Bills were considered in Louisiana, Michigan, 
Illinois, New York, New Hampshire, Massachusetts, and West Virginia. Additional states 
considered online lottery, and there is a form of legal online lottery in Georgia, Illinois, 
Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, Michigan, New Hampshire, New York, North Carolina, North 
Dakota, Pennsylvania, and Virginia. 
 
It is not possible to definitively isolate the impact to date of online gaming, since in the two 
states for which data is available—Delaware and New Jersey—the implementation of online 
gaming coincided with new casino development in Pennsylvania and Maryland, which had a 
substantial negative impact on bricks-and-mortar gaming revenues in both states. However, 
industry analysts generally consider that online gaming has helped New Jersey become more 
competitive in the face of growing regional competition.  Since online gaming is currently 
limited to intra-state activity, Delaware’s small population has limited the product’s potential.   
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 11 

Brick and Mortar and Online Gaming Trends- Before and After 
  Delaware  New Jersey 

Year Online  
B&M 

Locations 
Total State 

Revenue 
% 

Growth Online  
B&M 

Locations 
Total State 

Revenue 
% 

Growth 
2011 

 
$547,872,433 $547,872,433 

  
$3,298,860,680 $3,298,860,680 

 2012 
 

$520,548,891 $520,548,891 -4.99% 
 

$3,051,874,667 $3,051,874,667 -7.5% 
2013* $251,397 $432,058,442 $432,309,839 -17.00% $8,371,486 $2,863,568,572 $2,871,940,058 -6.2% 
2014 $2,098,532 $403,695,364 $405,793,896 -6.56% $123,096,896 $2,619,250,907 $2,742,347,803 -8.5% 
2015 $1,798,931 $404,581,100 $406,380,031 0.22% $149,029,795 $2,414,335,959 $2,563,365,754 -7.8% 
2016 $2,906,886 $398,657,403 $401,564,289 -1.5% $196,858,746 $2,405,323,367 $2,602,182,113 -0.4% 
2017 $2,391,942 $409,264,911 $411,656,853 2.7% $246,018,441 $2,413,221,069 $2,659,239,510 0.3% 

Source: State Gaming Commissions, The Innovation Group, *2013 marks the first year of legalized online gaming in 
DE and NJ   
 

Sports Betting 
Today, six states in the US have legal sports betting. Nevada has offered sports betting legally 
since 1949. The other five states have launched single-event sports wagering since the repeal of 
PASPA in May. They are: New Jersey, Delaware, West Virginia, Mississippi, and New Mexico. 
Tax rates are as follows: 

• Nevada: 6.75% 
• New Jersey: 9.75% (includes 1.5% to Redevelopment Fund), Online is 15% 
• Delaware: 43.75% (as part of a revenue share agreement between lottery, casinos, and 

horsemen) 
• West Virginia: 10% 
• New Mexico: No tax, implemented as part of a tribal compact authorizing Class III 

gaming 

New Jersey and Nevada have mobile sports betting, and West Virginia plans to follow in the 
coming months. 
 
Rhode Island legalized sports betting in June 2018, with the Rhode Island Lottery having 
regulatory and oversight responsibilities. Through an RFP process, the Lottery selected IGT as 
the sports betting provider for Rhode Island’s two casinos. There are currently no provisions for 
mobile or online betting, though the RFP suggested that these initiatives are likely. IGT 
announced a partnership with William Hill in this endeavor. The targeted launch date was 
October 2018, but delays have pushed the expected launch into November or December 2018. 
The tax rate (technically a revenue share) on sports betting revenue in Rhode Island is 51%. 
 
Pennsylvania legalized sports betting as part of an omnibus gaming legislation overhaul in late 
2017, pending the overturn of PASPA.  As of this writing, of five casinos which have applied to 
engage in sports betting, Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course just began taking bets 
this month.  The tax rate in Pennsylvania is 36% (34% to the state + 1% each to the county and 
municipality). 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 12 

In November 2018, Arkansas authorized sports betting via ballot initiative at the state’s four 
authorized casinos, two of which are not built yet. The state legislature now must pass legislation 
consistent with the referendum.  
 
New York and Connecticut have passed legislation legalizing sports wagering in the state, but 
the states still have not developed a regulatory framework. Tribal compacts in both states present 
hurdles. 
 
More than a dozen other states had bills considered during the most recent legislative session, 
and several are likely to pass legislation in 2019. 
 
To assess the impact that sports betting has had on casinos, we look at year over year growth by 
market and compare 2018 to 2017 results in sports betting states versus states without. The 
following GGR excludes sports betting revenue so it is comparable on a same-store basis.  New 
Jersey also excludes on-line gaming revenue.  States in blue had legal sports betting in 
September 2018, but not in September 2017. 
 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 13 

September 2018 vs September 2017 GGR Growth by State ($MMs) 

State Sept-17 GGR Sept-18 GGR Year-over-
Year Change  SB Rev Total GGR+ 

SB Rev 
Year-over-

Year Change  
Colorado   $73.9 $72.5 -1.80%  $72.5  
Delaware*       -0.06% $3.2 n/a   
Illinois   $227.4 $231.3 1.73%  $231.3  
Indiana   $176.1 $169.6 -3.65%  $169.6  
Iowa   $122.2 $122.6 0.32%  $122.6  
Kansas   $32.4 $32.7 0.79%  $32.7  
Louisiana   $247.0 $251.2 1.67%  $251.2  
Maine   $12.2 $12.6 3.50%  $12.6  
Maryland   $134.5 $143.8 6.87%  $143.8  
Michigan   $113.6 $115.2 1.39%  $115.2  
Mississippi   $168.2 $177.3 5.42% $5.5 $182.8 8.70% 
Missouri   $145.7 $144.1 -1.10%  $144.1  
Nevada   $935.0 $934.9 -0.01%  $934.9  
New Jersey   $215.2 $231.5 7.58% $16.7 $248.2 15.36% 
New Mexico   $19.7 $20.2 2.37%  $20.2  
New York   $170.8 $170.1 -0.42%  $170.1  
Ohio   $146.4 $152.2 3.98%  $152.2  
Oklahoma   $11.0 $11.3 2.94%  $11.3  
Pennsylvania   $271.0 $268.5 -0.92%  $268.5  
Rhode Island   $56.9 $57.1 0.41%  $57.1  
South Dakota   $9.6 $9.5 -1.54%  $9.5  
West Virginia   $59.4 $58.3 -1.83% $1.8 $60.1 1.26% 

Total USA**   $3,348.1 $3,386.5 1.15% - - - 

Total States without Sports $2,905.4 $2,919.4 0.48% - - - 
 Source: UNLV and State Gaming Commissions; The Innovation Group. 

*Trend is for daily slot revenue; table revenue not yet reported for September 2018.  Delaware reports months by last Sunday of 
the month—September 2017 was 28 days versus 35 days for 2018.   **Excluding Delaware. 

 
 
Delaware, Mississippi, West Virginia, and New Jersey all had legal sports betting in 2018 but not 
2017. While Delaware and West Virginia show declines in traditional gaming revenue, New 
Jersey and Mississippi both show significant gains.  It should also be noted that New Jersey had 
two new properties open in June.   
 
Delaware and West Virginia both faced increased competition in adjacent states (Atlantic City, 
Maryland, and Ohio), but the declines in slots and tables are very small even if it attributable to 
diversion of spending to sports betting.  In fact, sports betting put West Virginia in the positive in 
total gambling revenue.    
 
In conclusion, the limited data available to date would suggest that sports betting is having an 
overall positive impact on slot and table revenues, as well as contributing new wagering revenue 
to casinos and states.   
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 14 

The following table shows recent trends in Nevada, which as noted has had sports betting since 
1949.  Sports betting is volatile, so year-over-year trends fluctuate highly. 
 
 

Nevada GGR and Sports Betting Trends 
 Gaming % Growth Sports Betting  % Growth Total % Growth 

2013 $10,942,549,000  
 

$202,838,000 
 

$11,145,387,000  
 2014 $10,789,009,000  -1.40% $227,045,000 11.93% $11,016,054,000  -1.16% 

2015 $10,882,043,000  0.86% $231,787,000 2.09% $11,113,830,000  0.89% 
2016 $11,037,171,000  1.43% $219,174,000 -5.44% $11,256,345,000  1.28% 
2017 $11,323,151,000  2.59% $248,777,000 13.51% $11,571,928,000  2.80% 
Source: Nevada Gaming Commission  

 

Daily Fantasy Sports 
Daily fantasy sports (DFS) has been explicitly legalized in many states, including: Arkansas, 
Colorado, Delaware, Indiana, Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Mississippi, Missouri, New 
Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Vermont, and Virginia. 
Michigan and Illinois have active legislation. Connecticut approved DFS, subject to agreement 
with the tribes, which is in negotiation. Tax rates vary, but we don’t see the same high tax rates 
as we do on slots in many states. Not all states have defined tax rates – for example, DFS was 
passed by ballot initiative in 47 of Louisiana’s 64 parishes in the 2018 election, so this is an 
agenda item for the next legislative term. But those who have are in the range of 8-15% on GGR. 
New York and Pennsylvania, for example, have a 15% tax on DFS.  
 
Data on DFS wagering is limited.  The New York Gaming Commission produces a report 
showing national spending and a breakdown of New York residents.  Nationwide, DFS 
generated revenue of $335 million in FY 2018 (through March), with $31 million originating in 
New York, or less than 1% of bricks-and-mortar casino revenue if all casinos—commercial, 
VLT, and tribal—are included.   
 
A Rutgers University survey showed that 22% of DFS players also participate in casino gaming, 
bingo, or wagering on sports and horse racing.  A Fantasy Sports Trading Association survey 
shows that DFS players skew younger and male and have higher than average income.2  
 
Given the small amount of revenue generated by DFS wagering compared to casino revenue, if 
any substitution effect occurs it is likely not measurable.  In fact, casino GGR nationally 
generally increased in 2017, which would tend to suggest limited if any negative effect from 
DFS wagering.  Further, the demographics of DFS players suggest that casinos could potentially 
utilize the DFS product to increase traditional gaming revenue by drawing in new gamers.   
 

                                                 
 
 
2 https://www.playnj.com/news/nj-casino-dfs-partnerships/14193/ 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 15 

 

Summary 
Sports betting can be seen as opportunity to bring in additional revenue to existing casinos. 
While there is potential for some substitution effect in total spending between sports bettors and 
other casino patrons, the demographics of the average sports bettor skews younger than slot 
players and even table gamers. Studies have found that the average sports bettor is between the 
ages of 18-343. Additionally, these players tend to be familiar with casinos and have the potential 
to spend additional dollars once on the casino floor at a table or slot during a visit to a legal 
sports book. Results from September 2018 provide empirical support for the potential for sports 
betting to drive growth. 
 
In addition to new sports betting ventures, Massachusetts and the competitive markets have the 
opportunity to pass legislation regarding online gambling and DFS. Recently, the Massachusetts 
House of Representatives passed an amendment removing the sunset clause on the laws 
regulating DFS, making a move in the direction towards permanent legalization of the gaming 
format. 
 
Rhode Island elected to hold off on allowing online betting; it is expected that the State will 
reconsider in the long run as Massachusetts and Connecticut consider legislation allowing these 
wagers. Using New Jersey as a precedent, online gaming is expected to cause minimal 
cannibalization of land-based casino revenues and foster potential international partnerships with 
existing online formats.    
   

Question 4: Casino Staffing Availability and Labor Market 
Impact 
Jurisdictions sometimes have concern over supplying staffing to new casinos, and the potential 
for collateral impact on other businesses.  However, given the surplus of underemployed labor in 
Plymouth County and Region C, and the long history of gaming in the Northeast, staffing of the 
Brockton casinos is not expected to be problematic, and collateral impacts on other 
Massachusetts casinos or businesses are expected to be minimal, if any.  In fact, development 
and operation of the Brockton casino would be beneficial to the Massachusetts labor force.   
 
A survey of Plainridge employees conducted in 2017 on behalf of the Massachusetts Gaming 
Commission demonstrates that casino employment is comprised mainly of workers already 
residing within commuting distance: a mixture of previously employed local residents looking 
for a better opportunity or the ability to work closer to home, along with previously unemployed 
local residents.  The percentage of workers who moved to take the position with Plainridge was a 

                                                 
 
 
3 HUMPHREYS, BRAD R., PEREZ, LEVI, Who Bets on Sports? Characteristics of Sports Bettors and the 
Consequences of Expanding Sports Betting Opportunities. Estudios de Economía Aplicada, vol. 30, no. 2, 2012, pp. 
579-597 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 16 

small percentage of the staff.  Furthermore, most casino workers had not had prior casino work 
experience.   
 
 

Plainridge Casino Source of Workforce 
 # of Responses Percentage 
Prior Employment status:   
Unemployed 162 15.5% 
Employed Part-time 363 34.7% 

Underemployed 189 18.1% 
Employed Full-time 522 49.9% 
Total 1,047 100.0% 
   
Reason for taking the position 

  Job closer to home 305 29.1% 
Other results 

  No prior casino experience 902 86.2% 
Moved to take the position 75 7.2% 

New Employee Survey at Plainridge Park Casino: Analysis of First Two Years of Data Collection 
University of Massachusetts Donahue Institute, Economic and Public Policy Research Group, May 10, 2017 

 
 
This suggests the need for training strategies as new casinos enter the regional market.  The New 
Casino Market Training Strategies section at the end of this report discusses training strategies 
for new gaming markets, with emphasis on markets that may require specialized training to reach 
employment forecast targets.  The strategies include: 
 

• Work force research 

• Early-stage job fairs 

• Partnering with local universities and vocational schools 

• Intensive “on-the-job” training 
 
 
Region C has a civilian labor force of nearly 700,000 persons, with more than 30,000 
unemployed.  Region C has a higher rate of unemployment (4.4%) than Region A (3.4%), 
suggesting that there is more potential for elasticity in Region C.  
 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 17 

Regional Unemployment Statistics 

Year 
Civilian labor 

force Employment Unemployment 
Unemployment 

rate (%) 
Region A     
2009   2,346,396       2,165,368               181,028                      7.7  
2010   2,390,487       2,205,195               185,292                      7.8  
2011   2,388,063       2,228,518               159,545                      6.7  
2012   2,405,584       2,257,518               148,066                      6.2  
2013   2,428,922       2,278,217               150,705                      6.2  
2014   2,468,292       2,338,069               130,223                      5.3  
2015   2,488,537       2,378,669               109,868                      4.4  
2016   2,510,349       2,420,852                 89,497                      3.6  
2017   2,544,821       2,458,120                 86,701                      3.4  
Region B     
2009      426,331          390,982                 35,349                      8.3  
2010      414,298          376,632                 37,666                      9.1  
2011      410,677          377,150                 33,527                      8.2  
2012      410,067          379,085                 30,982                      7.6  
2013      410,362          378,791                 31,571                      7.7  
2014      414,139          386,310                 27,829                      6.7  
2015      414,579          391,153                 23,426                      5.7  
2016      413,380          394,216                 19,164                      4.6  
2017      416,702          398,287                 18,415                      4.4  
Region C     
2009      697,661          632,658                 65,003                      9.3  
2010      675,300          608,990                 66,310                      9.8  
2011      670,574          612,091                 58,483                      8.7  
2012      669,511          615,929                 53,582                      8.0  
2013      673,548          619,788                 53,760                      8.0  
2014      683,811          637,434                 46,377                      6.8  
2015      685,122          646,050                 39,072                      5.7  
2016      687,687          656,044                 31,643                      4.6  
2017      695,649          665,073                 30,576                      4.4  

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, The Innovation Group 
 

 
 
 
The table below depicts historical unemployment statistics for Plymouth County and 
Massachusetts.  The annual unemployment rate continually increased from 2009 through to 
2010, peaking at 8.3% in Massachusetts and 8.9% in Plymouth County, but they have since 
recovered. Currently, both unemployment rates sit below 4% while labor force statistics continue 
to increase.  
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 18 

Average Annual Unemployment Statistics 

Year 
Civilian labor 

force Employment Unemployment 
Unemployment 

rate (%) 
Plymouth County    
2009      263,807       241,447         22,360               8.5  
2010      262,176       238,720         23,456               8.9  
2011      260,735       240,474         20,261               7.8  
2012      260,295       242,063         18,232               7.0  
2013      262,695       244,330         18,365               7.0  
2014      266,779       250,756         16,023               6.0  
2015      268,191       254,630         13,561               5.1  
2016      270,417       259,364         11,053               4.1  
2017      274,224       263,530         10,694               3.9  
Massachusetts     
2009   3,470,382    3,189,010       281,372               8.1  
2010   3,480,083    3,190,818       289,265               8.3  
2011   3,469,308    3,217,754       251,554               7.3  
2012   3,485,161    3,252,531       232,630               6.7  
2013   3,512,827    3,276,792       236,035               6.7  
2014   3,566,237    3,361,811       204,426               5.7  
2015   3,588,241    3,415,874       172,367               4.8  
2016   3,611,418    3,471,112       140,306               3.9  
2017   3,657,173    3,521,482       135,691               3.7  

                                Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics; The Innovation Group 
 
 
The Brockton casino is estimated to require staffing of 1,800 people, which represents 0.26% of 
the labor force of Region C and 0.66% of Plymouth County.  
 
Underemployment records the number of workers placed in jobs that are below their 
qualifications, and also includes the unemployed. According to the United Health Foundation’s 
annual report of America’s Health Rankings, Massachusetts has an underemployment rate of 
8.1% of the civilian labor force, approximately double that of the unemployment rate. This 
suggests that for every unemployed worker in Massachusetts, there is an employed person 
working below his/her qualifications or desire for full-time hours. Using the figures from the 
Bureau of Labor Statistics above, Plymouth County has an underemployed work force of 22,212 
and Region C has an underemployed work force of 56,348, sufficient to supply the casino with 
the staffing required.  
 
As for the potential impact that the filling of MG&E casino jobs will have on existing businesses 
that have to replace experienced employees, there is no hard data showing a direct negative 
impact on other businesses.  However, there is indirect evidence from Plainridge that no such 
negative impact took place.  We would refer to a MGC presentation dated June 26, 2018 
(https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/SEIGMApresentation6.26.18.pdf) which shows a 
greater increase in the number of businesses in Plainville from 2009-2016 (13%) than in other 

https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/SEIGMApresentation6.26.18.pdf


 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 19 

surrounding communities (10.6%) or the control counties of Norfolk and Bristol Counties (9%). 
 

Question 11: Massachusetts Horse Racing 
The Region C casino would not a significant effect on the Race Horse Development Fund 
(RHDF or “Fund”), and thus there does not appear to be justification for considering horse racing 
in the decision regarding the Region C license.  As discussed below, 9% of Plainridge’s gaming 
revenue goes to the Fund, whereas 2.5% of Brockton’s tax revenue (ergo 2.5% of 25% of GGR) 
would go toward the Fund.  The gain to the Fund from Brockton is estimated to counteract nearly 
precisely the loss to the Fund from Brockton’s impact on Plainridge.  
 

RHDF Net Impact from Brockton 
Loss from Plainridge -$2,523,159 
Gain from Brockton $2,524,025 

 
 
Further, the horse racing industry has not been able to fully utilize the existing Fund since the 
Commonwealth’s Thoroughbred track has dramatically reduced operations. 
 
Massachusetts has two established horse racecourses. Located in East Boston, Suffolk Downs 
Horse Racing Track (Thoroughbred) was established in 1935, at the time when pari-mutuel 
wagering had just been legalized in Massachusetts. The other, Plainridge Racecourse, opened in 
1999 as a harness (Standardbred) horse racing track in Plainville, offering both live and 
simulcast racing.  
 
The Massachusetts State Racing Commission oversees Thoroughbred and harness racing, 
ensuring that rules are adhered to, for the welfare of the horses, as well as to protect the integrity 
of the horse racing industry. The following table details the racing and purse statistics of the two 
racecourses as reported by the Racing Commission in their annual reports.  
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 20 

Massachusetts Historical Racecourse Statistics 
    Suffolk Downs % Share Plainridge % Share Total 

Total Purses 2013 $8,375,400  80.8% $1,988,055  19.2% $10,363,455  

 
2014 $6,929,400  72.9% $2,581,552  27.1% $9,510,952  

 
2015 $1,620,200  27.8% $4,210,636  72.2% $5,830,836  

 
2016 $2,735,902  25.6% $7,954,092  74.4% $10,689,994  

  2017 $3,844,306  27.9% $9,912,523  72.1% $13,756,829  
Number of Races 2013 720 48.0% 780 52.0% 1,500 

 
2014 560 43.2% 736 56.8% 1,296 

 
2015 34 3.5% 949 96.5% 983 

 
2016 63 5.5% 1,092 94.5% 1,155 

  2017 92 7.2% 1,182 92.8% 1,274 
Number of Race Days 2013 80  46.5% 92  53.5% 172 

 
2014 62  43.7% 80  56.3% 142 

 
2015 3  2.8% 105  97.2% 108 

 
2016 6  5.0% 115  95.0% 121 

  2017 8  6.0% 125  94.0% 133 
Source: Massachusetts State Racing Commission Annual Reports; *2017 numbers have not been audited 

 
Suffolk Downs has scaled back live racing since failing to secure the Region A resort casino 
license.  Inversely, Plainridge has increased live racing since opening a slot machine casino.  The 
Commonwealth levies a 9% tax on slot revenues at Plainridge that goes towards the Race Horse 
Development Fund (RHDF). The RHDF was created by the Legislature’s 2011 expanded gaming 
law to increase purses, assist the breeding industry, and help pay for benefits for riders, trainers 
and others who work in the business. Of the RHDF totals, 80% is designated for purses, 16% 
goes to breeders, and 4% is allocated to backstretch welfare.  
 
The following table shows the annual RHDF contributions since the Plainridge casino opened in 
late June 2015.   
 

Massachusetts RHDF 
2015 $7,940,749  
2016 $13,953,773  
2017 $14,830,761  

Source: Massachusetts Gaming Commission  
 
 
The RHDF is split between the Thoroughbred and Standardbred sectors.  Originally, the 
Thoroughbred sector received 75% of the RHDF, but after Suffolk Downs reduced live racing 
starting in 2015, the share was shifted 55%-45% in favor of the Standardbred (harness) sector. 
The increases in purses at Plainridge show the impact of the RHDF on the harness industry.  
However, the Thoroughbred sector has not utilized its full share of the RHDF and a surplus 
resulted. 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 21 

In 2017, the Massachusetts State Senate proposed a budget for fiscal 2018 that would have 
repurposed the balance of the RHDF to other state departments. The fund had a balance of 
$15,543,988.88 as of mid-April 2017, according to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 
Ultimately, the $15.5 million was maintained within the RHDF.  
 
    



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 22 

APPENDIX A: COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT 
Existing competition for the proposed casino in Brockton will come mainly from casinos in 
neighboring states, specifically Rhode Island, Massachusetts, New York and Connecticut. Two 
of the existing competitors, MGM Springfield and Tiverton, opened in late August/early 
September.  More distant competitors include casinos in New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Maine.  
Additionally, Foxwoods and Mohegan are twice the distance but two of the largest casinos in the 
U.S. outside of Las Vegas, NV.   
 
More distant competitors include casinos in New Jersey and Pennsylvania.   
 
In addition to the existing facilities, for the purposes of this analysis, two facilities in the 
Catskill/Hudson Valley region and two casinos in Massachusetts, as well as a proposed casino in 
East Windsor, Connecticut have also been included as competitors for the proposed casino in 
Brockton.  
 
Gaming revenue described in this section is net of free play.   
 
The following table presents all of the existing competitive casinos in the Northeast and Mid-
Atlantic region: 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 23 

Existing Competitive Casinos 
Location Name  Machines Tables Positions 
Montville, CT  Mohegan Sun Resort 5,613 350 7,713 
Yonkers, NY Empire City at Yonkers Raceway 5,349 0 5,349 
Hanover, MD Live! Casino & Hotel 3,997 198 5,185 
Jamaica, NY Resorts World Casino at Aqueduct 5,005 0 5,005 
Lincoln, RI Twin River Casino 4,220 80 4,700 
Bethlehem, PA Sands Casino Resort Bethlehem 3,073 252 4,585 
Bensalem, PA Parx Casino and Racing 3,331 190 4,471 
Oxon Hill, MD MGM National Harbor 2,961 180 4,041 
Atlantic City, NJ Borgata 1,994 268 3,602 
Springfield, MA MGM Springfield 2,550 120 3,270 
Atlantic City, NJ Tropicana Atlantic City 2,476 130 3,256 
Baltimore, MD Horseshoe Casino  2,200 168 3,208 
Chester, PA Harrah's Philadelphia 2,450 118 3,158 
Atlantic City, NJ Hard Rock Atlantic City 2,063 152 2,975 
Atlantic City, NJ Harrah's Resort Atlantic City 2,109 133 2,907 
Monticello, NY Resorts World Catskills 2,153 125 2,903 
Wilkes-Barre, PA Mohegan Sun Pocono 2,325 89 2,859 
Atlantic City, NJ Bally's Atlantic City 1,776 164 2,760 
Atlantic City, NJ Caesars Atlantic City 1,889 132 2,681 
Philadelphia, PA SugarHouse Casino 1,809 141 2,655 
Grantville, PA Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course 2,170 75 2,620 
Atlantic City, NJ Oceans Resort 1,937 107 2,579 
Wilmington, DE Delaware Park 2,250 39 2,484 
Dover, DE Dover Downs Hotel and Casino 2,177 40 2,417 
Mt. Pocono, PA Mount Airy Casino Resort  1,863 81 2,349 
Atlantic City, NJ Golden Nugget Atlantic City 1,454 99 2,048 
Harrington, DE Harrington Raceway and Casino 1,787 31 1,973 
Atlantic City, NJ Resorts Casino Hotel 1,475 68 1,883 
Saratoga Springs, 
NY Saratoga Gaming and Raceway 1,782 0 1,782 

Schenectady, NY Rivers Casino and Resort 1,150 82 1,642 
Plainville, MA Plainridge Park Casino 1,250 0 1,500* 
Monticello, NY Monticello Casino and Raceway 1,110 0 1,110 
Tiverton, RI Tiverton Casino Hotel 1,097 0 1,097 
Bangor, ME Hollywood Casino Hotel & Raceway Bangor 921 16 1,017 
Islandia, NY Jake’s 58 Hotel & Casino 1,000 0 1,000 
Perryville, MD Hollywood Casino Perryville 822 22 954 
Oxford, ME Oxford Casino 811 22 943 
King of Prussia, PA Valley Forge Casino Resort 600 50 900 
Berlin, MD Ocean Downs 888 0 888 
Flintstone, MD Rocky Gap Casino Resort 665 17 767 
Total 40 86,552 3,739 109,236 

Source: The Innovation Group, Various Gaming Boards and Commissions, CasinoCity.com; *Note: Plainridge has electronic tables that count 
as one machine but that bring its seat count to approximately 1,500 positions. 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 24 

Existing  
This section details the eleven existing competitors within Brockton's gaming market categorized 
by state. 

Connecticut  

Foxwoods Casino 
The Foxwoods Casino is located near the town of Ledyard, Connecticut along the Thames River 
in New London County.  Foxwoods was founded in 1986 as a bingo hall and was later converted 
to a casino in 1993.  The property features over 4.7 million square feet of gaming, food and 
beverage and entertainment space and is one of the largest casino resorts in the world.  
Foxwoods latest expansion, the MGM Grand at Foxwoods was a $700 million addition in 2008.   
 
Slot revenues continued to decline to $728 million in the year 2008 from a total of $783 million 
in the year 2007 despite the expansion; however, the expansion at the facility coincided with the 
national economic recession.  Gaming revenues continued to decrease at the resort given the 
opening of competitive facilities and their amenities in Pennsylvania and the VLTS racinos in 
New York and the soft economy.  However, 2017 saw its first year of growth in gaming revenue 
in over a decade. Foxwoods currently offers about 4,100 machines, and over 250 table games.  
 

Foxwoods Casino, Ledyard, CT Slot Performance Statistics 

 Year Gaming Revenue Change Machines Change Win per 
Position Change 

2008 $728,024,927   7,734  $257   
2009 $684,424,106  -6.0% 7,641 -1.2% $245  -4.6% 
2010 $649,020,622  -5.2% 6,964 -8.9% $255  4.0% 
2011 $633,815,234  -2.3% 6,440 -7.5% $270  5.6% 
2012 $576,794,502  -9.0% 6,276 -2.5% $252  -6.6% 
2013 $530,572,312  -8.0% 5,921 -5.7% $246  -2.5% 
2014 $483,559,414  -8.9% 5,693 -3.9% $233  -5.2% 
2015 $465,010,320  -3.8% 4,695 -17.5% $271  16.6% 
2016 $456,156,085  -1.9% 4,466 -4.9% $279  2.9% 
2017 $468,048,004  2.6% 4,145 -7.2% $309  10.8% 

Source: Connecticut Gaming Board; The Innovation Group 
 
The following table shows fiscal years so slot revenue does not match the previous calendar-year 
tables above. 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 25 

Foxwoods Total Gaming Revenues ($MMs) 
  FY2016 FY2015 

Slot rev $481.4  $483.1  
Table rev $245.1  $234.4  
Total gaming rev $726.5  $717.5  
# of slots 5,807 5,808 
# of tables 428 429 
Table rev ratio 33.7% 32.7% 

Fiscal years ending Sept. 30 

Mohegan Sun Casino 
The Mohegan Sun Casino and Entertainment complex opened in October 1996.  The Mohegan 
Sun is located on a 185-acre site on the Tribe’s reservation overlooking the Thames River with 
direct access from Interstate 395 and Connecticut Route 2A.  Mohegan Sun is approximately 10 
miles from Foxwoods.  In fiscal 2002, the property completed a major expansion of Mohegan 
Sun known as Project Sunburst, which included increased gaming, restaurant and retail space, an 
entertainment arena, an approximately 1,200-room luxury Sky Hotel Tower and approximately 
100,000 square feet of convention space.  In fiscal 2007 and 2008, the Sunrise Square and 
Casino of the Wind components of Project Horizon expansions were completed.  The property 
now boasts 3.1 million square feet of gaming, food and beverage, and entertainment space. 
 
Mohegan Sun’s gaming revenues have been declining due to a combination of the effects from 
the national economic recession and the development of competitive facilities in Pennsylvania 
and the New York VLTs.  The property currently offers 4,511 machines and over 300 table 
games.  
 

Mohegan Sun Casino Resort, Montville, CT Slot Performance Statistics 

  Gaming 
Revenue Change Machines Change Win per 

Position Change 

2008 $842,873,026  
 

6,300 
 

$366  
 2009 $763,879,790  -9.4% 6,752 7.2% $310  -15.2% 

2010 $736,157,773  -3.6% 6,405 -5.1% $315  1.6% 
2011 $712,346,164  -3.2% 6,318 -1.4% $309  -1.9% 
2012 $652,780,377  -8.4% 5,880 -6.9% $303  -1.8% 
2013 $614,364,394  -5.9% 5,533 -5.9% $304  0.3% 
2014 $583,912,203  -5.0% 5,426 -1.9% $295  -3.1% 
2015 $579,495,965  -0.8% 5,216 -3.9% $304  3.2% 
2016 $597,383,584  3.1% 5,111 -2.0% $319  4.9% 
2017 $606,937,856  1.6% 4,939 -3.4% $337  5.4% 

Source: Connecticut Gaming Board; The Innovation Group 
 
Table revenue is not subject to revenue sharing and therefore is not reported through the 
Connecticut Gaming Board.  However, the Mohegan Tribal Gaming Authority (MTGA) releases 
table game revenues in its reporting to the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Altogether, 
gaming revenues at Mohegan Sun are approximately $910 million in 2016, with table revenue 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 26 

accounting for about 35% of win.   
 

Mohegan Sun Total Gaming Revenues ($MMs) 
  FY2016 FY2015 FY2014 FY2013 FY2012 
Slot rev $592.1  $582.5  $582.1  $618.7  $675.1  
Table rev $317.8  $297.2  $293.3  $310.0  $302.6  
Total gaming rev $909.9  $879.7  $875.4  $928.6  $977.7  
# of slots 5,267 5,268 5,470 5,553 6,038 
# of tables 325 325 330 327 353 
Table rev ratio 34.9% 33.8% 33.5% 33.4% 31.0% 

Fiscal years ending Sept. 30 

Rhode Island 

Twin River Casino 
The Twin River Casino in Lincoln, Rhode Island is approximately 50 miles southwest of 
Brockton, located at the former Lincoln Greyhound Park off State Highway 146.  The racetrack, 
just 10 minutes from downtown Providence, began offering video lottery terminals in 1992 and 
completed a $220 million expansion in 2007 under new ownership.  In 2012 voters approved a 
state referendum to allow live table games at the Twin River Casino. 
 
The facility includes a 190,000 square foot gaming floor, 9 food and beverage options and a 
29,000 square foot event center frequently hosting national acts and live boxing/MMA fights.  
The facility has a 135-room on-site hotel.  The casino at Twin River currently offers guest over 
4,200 slots, 80 gaming tables with a separate poker room and a simulcast racebook betting room.   
 

 
Twin River Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue 

Table 
Games 

Total 
Revenue Change Win per 

Position 
2008 $407,503,857  4,748 

  
$407,503,857  

 
$234.5  

2009 $399,662,955  4,741 
  

$399,662,955  -1.9% $231.0  
2010 $423,660,592  4,749 

  
$423,660,592  6.0% $244.4  

2011 $462,793,306  4,748 
  

$462,793,306  9.2% $267.1  
2012 $477,827,613  4,751 

  
$477,827,613  3.2% $274.8  

2013 $470,391,984  4,592 $41,322,389  66 $511,714,373  7.1% $281.1  
2014 $466,015,784  4,537 $99,886,924  80 $565,902,708  10.6% $309.0 
2015 $456,830,932  4,408 $114,446,240  80 $571,277,172  0.9% $320.2  
2016 $438,054,054  4,258 $135,048,433  80 $573,102,487  0.3% $330.5  
2017 $434,829,065  4,212 $143,855,958  80 $578,685,023  1.0% $337.9 

Source: Rhode Island Lottery; The Innovation Group 

Newport Grand Casino/Tiverton Casino 
Newport Grand Casino was located off the exit from the Claiborne Pell Newport Bridge on 
Aquidneck Island, approximately 50 miles east of Foxwoods.  Formerly known as Newport 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 27 

Grand Slot parlor, Twin River Management Group finalized the purchase of this casino in July 
2015 with intentions of relocating the gaming license to Tiverton, RI.  Newport closed as of 
August 28th, 2018 and Tiverton opened on September 1st, 2018.  
 
The current facility has a 33,600 square foot gaming floor, three dining options and one lounge.  
Slot revenues at Newport Grand had declined over the last decade and while Twin River 
expanded into table games, voters refused the state referendum to allow table games at the 
Newport facility.  However, the Tiverton Casino features 32 table games, 1,000 slot machines, 
and an 84-room hotel.    

 
Newport Property Statistics 

Year Machines Slot Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 1,244 $67,546,725  
 

$148.4  
2009 1,484 $61,505,924  -8.9% $113.5  
2010 1,182 $53,297,539  -13.3% $123.6  
2011 1,097 $50,071,495  -6.1% $125.0  
2012 1,093 $50,131,054  0.1% $125.3  
2013 1,093 $46,350,614  -7.5% $116.2  
2014 1,097 $45,179,615  -2.5% $112.9  
2015 1,097 $44,543,308  -1.4% $111.3  
2016 1,096 $46,006,384  3.3% $114.7  
2017 1,097 $46,166,038  0.3% $115.3  

Source: Rhode Island Lottery; The Innovation Group 

Massachusetts 

Plainridge Park Casino 
Plainridge Park Casino, owned by Penn National Gaming, is the newest competitor in the market 
having opened in late June 2015 at the Plainridge harness-racing track on Route 1 about 20 miles 
west of Brockton.  The racetrack became the first and only slot parlor and live harness racing 
venue in the state.   The $225 million facility includes 8 food and beverage options, one live 
entertainment lounge bar and parking garage.  The casino offers gamers over 1,250 slots, video 
table games and simulcast and live harness racebook betting.  Plainridge generated revenue of 
$165 million in its first full year of operation.  
 

Plainridge Property Statistics 
Year Machines Slot Revenue Change Win per 

Position 
2016 1,250 $155,041,918  

 
$338.9  

2017 1,250 $164,786,230  6.3% $361.2  
Source: Massachusetts Gaming Commission; The Innovation Group 

 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 28 

MGM Springfield 
MGM opened its nearly $1 billion integrated resort in Springfield on August 24th, 2018.  The 
property includes a 250-room hotel tower and 125,000 square feet of gaming space with 2,550 
slot machines and 120 gaming tables. Additionally, it provides typical amenities found in such 
resort properties such as restaurants, spas, retail shops, and meeting space in addition to an 
8,000-seat entertainment venue, TopGolf swing suite, and a bowling alley.  
 

MGM Springfield Property Statistics 

  Slot GGR Table GGR Total GGR 

Aug-18* $7,347,491  $2,109,486  $9,456,977  
Sep-18 $18,149,752  $8,802,344  $26,952,096  
YTD $25,497,243.51 $10,911,829.78 $36,409,073.29 

Source: Massachusetts Gaming Commission; The Innovation Group; *August 2018 had 7 days in it 
 

New York 

Saratoga Springs 
Saratoga Gaming and Raceway is a ½-mile standardbred harness racing dirt track located in 
Saratoga Springs, New York, just across Nelson Avenue from Saratoga Race Course which hosts 
thoroughbred racing each August.  Saratoga Raceway aka The Saratoga Equine Sports Center – 
otherwise known as the Saratoga Gaming and Raceway – was opened in 1941 as a facility for 
American harness racing and was the third racetrack in the State of New York to feature pari-
mutuel wagering.  The casino opened in January 2004 featuring approximately 1,300 video 
lottery terminals.  The casino now features 1,700 video lottery terminals. 
 

Saratoga Springs Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Gaming 
Revenue Change Machines Change Win per 

Position Change 

2008 $134,373,560   1,770  $207   
2009 $136,038,290  1.2% 1,770 0.0% $211  1.5% 
2010 $139,721,687  2.7% 1,775 0.3% $216  2.4% 
2011 $150,420,830  7.7% 1,782 0.3% $231  7.3% 
2012 $159,751,975  6.2% 1,780 -0.1% $245  6.0% 
2013 $159,594,798  -0.1% 1,782 0.1% $245  0.1% 
2014 $158,765,338  -0.5% 1,782 0.0% $244  -0.5% 
2015 $160,919,293  1.4% 1,763 -1.0% $250  2.4% 
2016 $167,212,392  3.9% 1,718 -2.6% $266  6.4% 
2017 $137,438,160  -17.8% 1,707 -0.6% $221  -17.1% 

Source: New York Lottery, The Innovation Group 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 29 

Monticello Raceway  
The Monticello Gaming and Raceway originally opened in June 1958 featuring the “Mighty M” 
half mile track featuring standard bred horse races.  The casino portion opened in June 2004 
featuring 1,700 video lottery terminals, but it has since scaled back to 1,110. Gaming revenue 
has fluctuated up and down, but roughly stayed flat over the last decade at $58 million.  
 

Monticello Raceway Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Gaming 
Revenue Change Machines Change Win per 

Position Change 

2008 $58,109,181   1,587  $100   
2009 $53,751,367  -7.5% 1,401 -11.7% $105  5.0% 
2010 $57,394,484  6.8% 1,089 -22.3% $144  37.3% 
2011 $60,918,062  6.1% 1,110 1.9% $150  4.2% 
2012 $63,873,596  4.9% 1,110 0.0% $157  4.6% 
2013 $62,821,386  -1.6% 1,110 0.0% $155  -1.4% 
2014 $59,142,393  -5.9% 1,110 0.0% $146  -5.9% 
2015 $59,326,309  0.3% 1,110 0.0% $146  0.3% 
2016 $61,086,135  3.0% 1,110 0.0% $150  2.7% 
2017 $58,508,310  -4.2% 1,110 0.0% $144  -4.0% 

Source: New York Lottery, The Innovation Group 

Empire City at Yonkers Raceway 
Yonkers Raceway, founded in 1899 in Yonkers as the Empire City Race Track, is a one-half-
mile standardbred harness racing dirt track.  The casino opened in October 2006 after a $225 
million renovation and featured only 1,870 video lottery terminals.  The casino now features 
approximately 5,200 video lottery terminals.  
 

Yonkers Raceway Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Gaming 
Revenue Change Machines Change Win per 

Position Change 

2008 $486,459,681   5,339  $249   
2009 $540,495,929  11.1% 5,320 -0.4% $278  11.8% 
2010 $582,229,271  7.7% 5,309 -0.2% $300  7.9% 
2011 $624,432,033  7.2% 5,351 0.8% $320  6.4% 
2012 $544,698,569  -12.8% 4,987 -6.8% $298  -6.7% 
2013 $559,946,387  2.8% 5,327 6.8% $288  -3.5% 
2014 $537,491,608  -4.0% 5,344 0.3% $276  -4.3% 
2015 $558,287,537  3.9% 5,277 -1.3% $290  5.2% 
2016 $589,716,723  5.6% 5,232 -0.8% $308  6.2% 
2017 $599,218,590  1.6% 5,221 -0.2% $314  2.1% 

Source: New York Lottery; The Innovation Group 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 30 

Resorts World Casino at Aqueduct Racetrack 
The Aqueduct Racetrack is a horse racing facility in Jamaica, New York with three tracks that 
feature thoroughbred racing. The Resorts World casino opened in October of 2011, and features 
over 5,000 gaming machines, including electronic table games that are extremely popular with 
the Asian population in Queens and Brooklyn.  
 

Aqueduct Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Gaming 
Revenue Change Machines Change Win per 

Position Change 

2011* $89,293,498   2,919  $471   
2012 $672,570,324   4,954 69.7% $371  -21.2% 
2013 $785,128,863  16.7% 5,004 1.0% $430  15.9% 
2014 $807,988,805  2.9% 5,003 0.0% $442  2.9% 
2015 $831,222,582  2.9% 5,060 1.1% $450  1.7% 
2016 $826,486,601  -0.6% 5,423 7.2% $416  -7.5% 
2017 $702,120,545  -15.0% 5,207 -4.0% $369  -11.3% 

Source: New York Lottery; *2011 has 65 Days, The Innovation Group 
 

Rivers Casino & Resort 
Rivers Casino & Resort is a $330 gaming and entertainment venue located in Schenectady, New 
York, which is roughly 200 miles west of Brockton.  Rivers Casino opened in February of 2017. 
The venue opened its hotel in the second quarter of operations. The property offers roughly 
1,150 slot machines and 80 table games. In its first complete Fiscal Year in operation, Rivers 
Casino reported approximately $140 million in GGR.  
 

Rivers Historical Gaming Revenues 
Year Slot 

Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue 

Table 
Games Total Revenue Change Win per 

Position 
2017 $82,016,111  1,150 $40,611,458  67 $122,627,569  

 
$216  

Last 12 Months $97,537,310  1,150 $44,947,233  67 $142,484,543  n/a $252  
Source: New York Lottery; *2017 has 327 Days, The Innovation Group 

 

Resorts World Catskills 
Resorts World Catskills was the last of the four nontribal casinos licensed by the state of New 
York in 2014 to open. Gaming operations at this $900 million hotel casino located at the old 
Concord Hotel near Monticello started in February of 2018. The hotel has 332 rooms and the 
casino floor has over 2,150 slot machines and 150 table games including poker. In its first full 
month of operations, the casino generated $12.4 million in GGR.  
 

Resorts World Historical Gaming Revenues 
Year Slot 

Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue 

Table 
Games Total Revenue Change Win per 

Position 
2018* $31,727,284  2,153 $23,814,682  125 $55,541,966  n/a $233  

Source: New York Lottery; *2018 has 82 Days of data, The Innovation Group 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 31 

 

Maine 

Hollywood Casino Hotel & Raceway Bangor 
Hollywood Casino is located at the junction of Interstates I-95 and I-395 next to the Penobscot 
River in Bangor, central Maine.  The facility is almost 5 hours or 275 miles north of Brockton, 
MA and is not considered a strong competitor.  The casino first opened in 2005 at a temporary 
location before building the current facility at an existing racetrack in 2008.  The casino is 
operated by Penn National Gaming, who expanded casino operations in 2012 to include the 
state's first table games.  The facility currently includes a 152-room hotel, three dining options, 
one live entertainment lounge, banquet facilities, live-harness racetrack and 10,000 square foot 
gaming floor currently offering 784 slots and 16 poker and table games. 
 

Hollywood Casino Bangor Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $50,515,382  740 
  

$50,515,382  
 

$187  
2009 $59,224,270  1,000 

  
$59,224,270  17.2% $162  

2010 $61,667,214  1,000 
  

$61,667,214  4.1% $169  
2011 $59,453,078  1,000 

  
$59,453,078  -3.6% $163  

2012 $56,212,925  936 $6,470,964  16 $62,683,888  5.4% $166  
2013 $47,269,709  909 $7,388,848  16 $54,658,557  -12.8% $149  
2014 $46,410,579  877 $8,026,814  16 $54,437,393  -0.4% $153  
2015 $44,274,063  763 $8,966,225  16 $53,240,288  -2.2% $170  
2016 $43,494,044  779 $9,133,204  17 $52,627,248  -1.2% $163  
2017 $41,698,800  773 $8,730,574  18 $50,429,374  -4.2% $157  

Source: Maine Gaming Board; The Innovation Group 
 

Oxford Casino 
The Oxford Casino opened in 2012 as Black Bear Four Season Resort & Casino but changed its 
name before being sold to Churchill Downs Inc. the following year.  The facility is located 20 
miles off Interstate I-95 just outside of Oxford in southwest Maine.  The casino currently has 
three dining options and a 30,281 square foot gaming floor with over 850 slots, 28 table games 
and 12-seat video poker bar.  A 107-room hotel as opened in November of 2017.  
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 32 

Oxford Casino Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2012 $29,887,262  688 $6,652,279  16 $36,539,541   $218  
2013 $58,353,948  811 $13,261,868  23 $71,615,816  96.0% $207  
2014 $58,368,047  858 $14,464,188  26 $72,832,235  1.7% $197  
2015 $62,091,956  855 $14,475,213  26 $76,567,169  5.1% $208  
2016 $64,856,476  857 $15,637,882  27 $80,494,358  5.1% $218  
2017 $68,722,796  852 $17,564,142  28 $86,286,938  7.2% $234  

Source: Maine Gaming Board; *2012 has 213 Days, The Innovation Group 
 

New Jersey 

Bally’s Atlantic City 
Bally's Atlantic City is a hotel and casino on the Boardwalk in Atlantic City, New Jersey that 
opened in 1979. The property has grown to feature over 1,700 slot machines, and 171 table and 
poker games. The hotel, Bally’s Park Place is located adjacent to the casino and features 1,251 
rooms and suites, a large fitness center, pool and spa. The property features 13 food and 
beverage facilities including seven “quick bite” locations, five casual dining restaurants, and a 
flagship Guy Fieri Steakhouse. The property features five additional bars including a beach bar 
and a nightclub while also offering frequent live shows managed by Caesars Entertainment. 
There have been several small-scale renovations to some of the rooms and suites with no major 
renovations planned.  
 

Bally’s Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $394,629,796  4,914 $173,440,327  212 $568,070,123  
 

$251  
2009 $314,338,881  3,818 $160,007,217  204 $474,346,098  -16.5% $258  
2010 $283,638,705  3,511 $142,366,290  204 $426,004,995  -10.2% $247  
2011 $264,441,156  3,319 $113,869,996  207 $378,311,152  -11.2% $227  
2012 $198,656,540  2,464 $98,112,689  147 $296,769,229  -21.6% $242  
2013 $163,416,180  2,250 $81,034,095  135 $244,450,275  -17.6% $219  
2014 $150,319,270  1,921 $74,578,853  163 $224,898,123  -8.0% $212  
2015 $140,223,513  1,867 $70,334,072  169 $210,557,585  -6.4% $200  
2016 $135,577,882  1,835 $75,132,527  171 $210,710,409  0.1% $201  
2017 $138,812,736  1,774 $72,211,812  165 $211,024,548  0.1% $209  

Source: New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement, The Innovation Group 
 

Borgata 
Borgata is one of the most prominent casinos in Atlantic City, originally featuring 1,700 video 
lottery terminals, and has grown to host 3,000 gaming machines and over 250 table and poker 
games. The Borgata features 2,000 standard rooms while the Water Club at Borgata features 800 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 33 

standard rooms. The hotels also feature five separate specialty pools, large fitness center, two 
spas, and retail center with five featured brand names including Hugo Boss and Misura. The 
casino as experienced several internal lobby renovations while the hotel has experienced 
renovated rooms and pool areas. Borgata hosts two nightclubs and the Borgata Beer Garden as 
well as three separate bars.   
 

Borgata Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $441,443,988  3,956 $297,334,851  274 $738,778,839  
 

$360  
2009 $431,395,370  3,928 $263,935,199  274 $695,330,569  -5.9% $342  
2010 $422,852,611  3,600 $224,817,026  276 $647,669,637  -6.9% $338  
2011 $430,412,456  3,475 $221,401,551  275 $651,814,007  0.6% $348  
2012 $417,234,016  3,368 $195,457,441  270 $612,691,457  -6.0% $336  
2013 $419,907,236  3,200 $198,562,125  273 $618,469,361  0.9% $350  
2014 $433,410,358  3,113 $209,561,815  273 $642,972,173  4.0% $371  
2015 $468,397,051  3,051 $227,820,100  274 $696,217,151  8.3% $406  
2016 $491,483,634  3,025 $231,288,615  276 $722,772,249  3.8% $422  
2017 $508,152,357  3,029 $246,943,501  279 $755,095,858  4.5% $440  

Source: New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement, The Innovation Group 

Caesars Atlantic City 
Caesars opened in 1979 and is Atlantic City’s second casino.  The casino and hotel have been 
recently renovated with updated lobbies, pool areas, and nightclubs.  The casino now features 
more than 2,000 slot machines, and 137 table and poker games. The Hotel features 1,141 
updated rooms and suites, a rooftop pool, spa, salon, meeting rooms, and the Playground Mall. 
The property features three nightclubs and bars with 12 additional restaurants. Restaurants 
include five casual options, two buffets, one “quick bite” location, and three upscale restaurants.    
 

Caesars Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $327,475,136  3,113 $216,293,908  166 $543,769,044  
 

$361  
2009 $284,752,454  2,860 $175,456,897  168 $460,209,351  -15.4% $326  
2010 $248,514,994  2,610 $160,215,001  180 $408,729,995  -11.2% $304  
2011 $241,776,432  2,404 $162,606,717  181 $404,383,149  -1.1% $318  
2012 $229,462,232  2,245 $129,102,488  178 $358,564,720  -11.3% $296  
2013 $209,421,964  2,131 $127,025,395  180 $336,447,359  -6.2% $287  
2014 $210,635,652  1,947 $119,977,272  144 $330,612,924  -1.7% $323  
2015 $197,709,639  1,881 $112,604,162  146 $310,313,801  -6.1% $308  
2016 $195,049,635  1,854 $106,954,998  137 $302,004,633  -2.7% $308  
2017 $205,240,148  1,853 $119,821,259  137 $325,061,407  7.6% $333  

 Source: New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement; The Innovation Group 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 34 

Golden Nugget Atlantic City 
The Golden Nugget is one of the largest casinos in Atlantic City and features over 1,450 gaming 
machines and 88 table and poker games. The casino is located within the hotel which currently 
has 545 standard rooms and 171 suites. The hotel hosts a fitness center, marina, salon, spa, and 
rooftop pool. The hotel currently has ten restaurant options, featuring a Chart House Steakhouse, 
Grotto Italian Restaurant and the Deck Bayfront Bar & Restaurant. Within the hotel is the Haven 
Nightclub, Rush Lounge, and Bar 46 as well as a shopping center with eleven shops.  
 

Golden Nugget Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table Revenue Tables Total Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $155,075,095  1,971 $48,568,409  74 $203,643,504  
 

$231  
2009 $125,270,157  1,876 $37,329,676  72 $162,599,833  -20.2% $193  
2010 $113,359,416  1,779 $34,027,123  70 $147,386,539  -9.4% $184  
2011 $97,553,342  1,512 $27,645,876  71 $125,199,218  -15.1% $177  
2012 $97,915,534  1,473 $33,171,681  89 $131,087,215  4.7% $178  
2013 $95,605,199  1,430 $29,266,019  93 $124,871,218  -4.7% $171  
2014 $128,332,077  1,339 $46,427,593  92 $174,759,670  40.0% $254  
2015 $146,000,772  1,380 $54,260,282  92 $200,261,054  14.6% $284  
2016 $150,548,958  1,449 $59,135,210  92 $209,684,168  4.7% $286  
2017 $159,736,626  1,453 $59,940,049  93 $219,676,675  4.8% $299  

 Source: New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement; The Innovation Group 
 

Taj Mahal/Hard Rock Atlantic City  
The previous Taj Mahal, which closed in 2016, has reopened on June 28th, 2018 as the Hard 
Rock Casino. The property has undergone substantial renovations with both the hotel and casino 
obtaining new designs. The casino features over 2,100 gaming machines and 120 table and poker 
games. The hotel is separated to two towers with the North tower hosting 708 standard rooms 
and 74 suites, and the south tower hosting 1012 standard rooms and 216 suites. The hotel 
currently has 20 food and beverage options including the Council Oak Fish Restaurant, Kuro 
Restaurant, Song, and Il Mulino. Amenities include a full-service pool, spa, and gym, meeting 
rooms, mercantile shops, and full nightclub. The property features the Etess Arena which hosts 
live performances and shows. Gaming revenue totaled $32.4 in the Hard Rock’s first full month 
of operation.   
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 35 

Taj Mahal Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table Revenue Tables Total Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $296,075,931  3,235 $48,568,409  74 $186,331,878  
 

$298  
2009 $274,660,169  3,029 $37,329,676  72 $172,268,053  -7.5% $287  
2010 $258,070,652  2,912 $34,027,123  70 $144,327,704  -16.2% $267  
2011 $228,837,319  2,788 $27,645,876  71 $119,720,880  -17.0% $243  
2012 $206,902,415  2,592 $33,171,681  89 $88,589,664  -26.0% $217  
2013 $186,424,133  2,529 $29,266,019  93 $73,490,148  -17.0% $197  
2014 $159,928,015  2,522 $46,427,593  92 $55,934,907  -23.9% $166  
2015 $142,221,456  2,518 $54,260,282  92 $38,047,795  -32.0% $151  
2016* $96,787,797  2,510 $59,940,049  93 $28,593,940  -24.8% $137  

 Source: New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement; *2016 Closed October 10th, The Innovation Group 
 

Harrah’s Resort Atlantic City 
Harrah’s Resort opened in 1980 and has since established itself as one of the top-grossing 
casinos in the city. The current property has seen a resent renovation to the hotel lobbies and 
rooms in addition to the casino being recently renovated. The hotel hosts 890 rooms and 281 
suites, two pools, a fitness center, spa, meeting centers, and shopping center. The hotel also hosts 
three bars, an additional pool bar, and thirteen food and beverage options. Restaurants include 
four casual dining options, four “quick bite” options, one buffet, and four upscale restaurants 
including the Gordon Ramsay Steakhouse.   
 

Harrah’s Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table Revenue Tables Total Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $446,455,951  3,677 $98,268,682  132 $544,724,633  
 

$333  
2009 $388,327,533  3,244 $100,151,362  149 $488,478,895  -10.3% $323  
2010 $350,535,636  2,955 $102,935,424  162 $453,471,060  -7.2% $316  
2011 $345,374,645  2,855 $94,436,900  170 $439,811,545  -3.0% $311  
2012 $297,684,341  2,682 $101,356,469  179 $399,040,810  -9.3% $290  
2013 $269,851,423  2,412 $86,515,519  179 $356,366,942  -10.7% $280  
2014 $273,238,828  2,305 $92,119,539  178 $365,358,367  2.5% $297  
2015 $283,102,384  2,224 $91,212,679  177 $374,315,063  2.5% $312  
2016 $266,299,345  2,179 $91,769,157  176 $358,068,502  -4.3% $302  
2017 $280,339,059  2,152 $83,366,378  176 $363,705,437  1.6% $311  

 Source: New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement; The Innovation Group 
 

Resorts Casino Hotel 
Resorts Casino Hotel was the first casino to open in Atlantic City. The hotel has 942 standard 
rooms and the casino floor has over 1,553 slot machines and 74 table and poker games. The hotel 
offers a pool, spa & health club, salon, and boardwalk. The hotel is comprised of two towers, the 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 36 

Rendezvous Tower, and the recently renovated Ocean Tower. The property host six bars, an 
event center, and ten restaurants, including four fine dining restaurants, four casual dining 
restaurants, a quick-bites food court, and coffee shop.     
 

Resorts World Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table Revenue Tables Total Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $174,294,678  2,584 $58,921,514  89 $233,216,192  
 

$204  
2009 $142,390,803  2,419 $49,285,001  85 $191,675,804  -17.8% $179  
2010 $122,010,528  2,292 $41,034,133  83 $163,044,661  -14.9% $160  
2011 $115,757,070  2,163 $38,346,133  82 $154,103,203  -5.5% $159  
2012 $99,136,427  2,057 $31,691,937  84 $130,828,364  -15.1% $140  
2013 $104,551,454  1,664 $26,251,715  72 $130,803,169  0.0% $171  
2014 $110,222,299  1,723 $29,167,535  73 $139,389,834  6.6% $177  
2015 $128,183,105  1,617 $34,049,911  71 $162,233,016  16.4% $218  
2016 $135,090,368  1,555 $38,038,452  74 $173,128,820  6.7% $237  
2017 $146,001,303  1,502 $44,507,005  75 $190,508,308  10.0% $268  

 Source: New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement; The Innovation Group 
 

Tropicana Atlantic City 
Tropicana Hotel and Casino opened in 1981 and currently hosts over 2,300 gaming machines, 
125 table and poker games, and a hotel with 2047 business suites. The hotel recently saw 
renovations to their hotel rooms and lobbies. The hotel offers two full-service spas, salon, fitness 
center, pool, and business center. In addition to the four bars and nightclub, the property also 
hosts 29 different food and beverage options including the Pal Restaurant, Il Verdi, and Golden 
Dynasty. The property is known for its “Quarter” which features a large selection of shops in a 
Havana-style street setting.        
 

Tropicana Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table Revenue Tables Total Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $252,178,402  3,606 $104,808,388  178 $356,986,790  
 

$209  
2009 $221,775,764  3,322 $91,822,325  172 $313,598,089  -12.2% $197  
2010 $205,543,341  3,054 $94,899,480  159 $300,442,821  -4.2% $205  
2011 $191,905,012  2,739 $85,247,531  141 $277,152,543  -7.8% $212  
2012 $190,371,544  2,639 $59,622,147  141 $249,993,691  -9.8% $196  
2013 $180,858,101  2,609 $47,163,837  132 $228,021,938  -8.8% $184  
2014 $221,010,199  2,530 $53,617,131  130 $274,627,330  20.4% $227  
2015 $225,618,527  2,294 $54,451,928  129 $280,070,455  2.0% $250  
2016 $241,439,840  2,246 $62,709,449  130 $304,149,289  8.6% $274  
2017 $281,390,455  2,268 $66,944,924  126 $348,335,379  14.5% $316  

 Source: New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement; The Innovation Group 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 37 

Revel/Oceans Resort 
Opened in June of 2018, Oceans Resort is one of the newest casinos in Atlantic City and features 
1,399 rooms and suites, over 2,000 gaming machines, and 100 table and poker games. The 
property was formerly the Revel Casino which was only open between March 2012 and 
September 2014. The new hotel building features ocean view rooms, fitness center, Exhale Spa, 
Top Golf Swing Suites, and retail district. The property features six food and beverage options 
including Harper’s and American Cut. Oceans is known for its large variety of nightclub options 
including Ovation Hall, HQ2, Villain and Saint, and Ivan Kane’s Royal Jelly Burlesque 
Nightclub. In its first full month of operation, Oceans Resort had a gaming revenue of $15.7 
million.  
 

Revel Historical Gaming Revenues 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table Revenue Tables Total Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2012 $80,264,208  2,409 $42,051,867  150 $122,316,075  
 

$133  
2013 $96,835,844  2,360 $58,316,675  139 $155,152,519  26.8% $135  
2014 $64,140,024  2,201 $34,013,219  113 $98,153,243  -36.7% $103  

 Source: New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement; The Innovation Group 
 

Pennsylvania 

Sands Casino Resort Bethlehem 
Sands Bethlehem Casino is located west of New York City in Bethlehem, PA. The casino 
location is off Interstate 78 and is over four hours away from Foxwoods casino. The casino 
opened May 22, 2009. In the winter of 2009–2010, the casino was granted a license for table 
games which allowed the casino to expand to include 180 table games which began operations in 
July of 2010. The Sands Hotel opened its 282-room facility in May of 2011. The casino has 
139,000 square feet of gaming space and operates roughly 3,000 slots and 240 table games.   
 

Sands Bethlehem Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2009* $142,267,867  2,964   $142,267,867   $212  
2010 $258,735,860  3,099 $27,366,916  89 $286,102,776  101.1% $216  
2011 $270,967,159  3,022 $106,380,000  118 $377,347,159  31.9% $277  
2012 $291,547,632  3,015 $146,492,966  151 $438,040,597  16.1% $305  
2013 $288,378,796  3,014 $176,577,739  181 $464,956,535  6.1% $311  
2014 $280,979,456  3,013 $188,974,141  201 $469,953,597  1.1% $305  
2015 $299,528,646  3,013 $214,409,351  207 $513,937,997  9.4% $331  
2016 $305,036,579  3,013 $230,151,256  222 $535,187,835  4.1% $337  
2017 $302,568,558  2,996 $243,170,902  240 $545,739,460  2.0% $337  

Source: Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board; The Innovation Group; *2009 Has 226 Days 
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 38 

Mount Airy Casino Resort 
Mount Airy Casino Resort is in Mount Pocono, Pennsylvania roughly 4 hours west of Foxwoods. 
The casino and 188-room hotel opened in October of 2007.  Mount Airy Casino and Resort is 
one of two AAA 4 Diamond Casino Resorts in Pennsylvania, the other being the Sands Casino 
Resort Bethlehem. The facility includes 62,000 square feet of gaming space, seven F&B options 
including a Guy Fieri restaurant, a golf club, and a spa. The casino has roughly 1,900 slots and 
starting in 2010 started offering table games that now number over 80.  
 

Mount Airy Casino Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $176,389,714  2,521   $176,389,714  
 

$191  
2009 $164,634,128  2,506   $164,634,128  -6.7% $180  
2010 $143,811,645  2,415 $19,466,397  75 $163,278,042  -0.8% $156  
2011 $145,776,853  2,296 $39,607,114  73 $185,383,967  13.5% $186  
2012 $149,842,697  2,076 $39,670,415  72 $189,513,113  2.2% $207  
2013 $142,856,720  1,930 $40,523,390  73 $183,380,110  -3.2% $212  
2014 $140,635,829  1,869 $43,028,021  79 $183,663,850  0.2% $215  
2015 $139,765,235  1,870 $46,582,339  80 $186,347,574  1.5% $217  
2016 $141,953,231  1,868 $42,584,186  81 $184,537,417  -1.0% $214  
2017 $147,803,674  1,865 $50,084,907  81 $197,888,581  7.2% $231  

Source: Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board; The Innovation Group 
 

Mohegan Sun Pocono 
Located in Wilkes-Barre, PA, Mohegan Sun Pocono was the first slots casino in operations in the 
state of Pennsylvania in 2006. Formerly known as the Pocono Downs Racetrack, Mohegan Sun 
acquired the racetrack on January 25, 2005 in a $280 million purchase from Penn National 
Gaming. In November 2013, Mohegan Sun opened a 238-room hotel connected to the casino 
floor. The facility includes notable F&B options, such as Ruth’s Chris Steakhouse, shopping 
center, comedy club, horse racing track, and more. The casino currently operates 2,300 slot 
machines and 90 table games including poker.  
 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 39 

Mohegan Sun Pocono Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $185,583,564  1,798   $185,583,564  
 

$282  
2009 $220,808,247  2,466   $220,808,247  19.0% $245  
2010 $224,762,570  2,350 $18,453,735  78 $243,216,305  10.1% $236  
2011 $232,814,363  2,356 $42,021,546  84 $274,835,909  13.0% $263  
2012 $232,175,872  2,332 $42,747,972  84 $274,923,844  0.0% $265  
2013 $219,667,892  2,332 $43,764,894  84 $263,432,787  -4.2% $254  
2014 $217,175,321  2,331 $45,644,444  87 $262,819,765  -0.2% $252  
2015 $216,419,629  2,333 $48,851,817  91 $265,271,446  0.9% $252  
2016 $216,247,247  2,325 $45,441,506  91 $261,688,752  -1.4% $249  
2017 $204,461,556  2,332 $42,413,840  91 $246,875,395  -5.7% $235  

Source: Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board; The Innovation Group 

Parx Casino and Racing 
Parx Casino is located just outside of Philadelphia and four hours from Foxwoods. Originally 
called the Keystone Racetrack, the facility operated solely as a horse racetrack until the facility 
was granted a slots license by the Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board in December 2006. The 
facility now operates over 3,400 slot machines and 180 table games.  
 

Parx Casino Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $345,502,693  2,816   $345,502,693  
 

$335  
2009 $359,274,246  2,904   $359,274,246  4.0% $339  
2010 $398,155,075  3,385 $34,447,042  69 $432,602,118  20.4% $312  
2011 $376,668,692  3,454 $114,763,592  169 $491,432,284  13.6% $301  
2012 $384,566,137  3,462 $109,959,936  175 $494,526,073  0.6% $300  
2013 $368,423,345  3,363 $119,244,192  165 $487,667,537  -1.4% $307  
2014 $360,755,915  3,276 $129,884,887  157 $490,640,802  0.6% $319  
2015 $379,077,877  3,268 $144,401,468  162 $523,479,345  6.7% $338  
2016 $389,843,195  3,446 $161,821,309  174 $551,664,504  5.4% $336  
2017 $388,220,901  3,428 $178,297,138  180 $566,518,039  2.7% $344  

Source: Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board; The Innovation Group 

SugarHouse Casino 
SugarHouse is the only casino located in Philadelphia and is just 2.6 miles from the city center. 
This casino received one of the five original gaming licenses from the Pennsylvania Gaming 
Control Board in 2006; however, due to legal complications, the casino was not able to open 
until September of 2010. SugarHouse, located on the site of a former sugar refinery, is a 1.3 
million square foot complex with 45,000 square feet of gaming space. A recent $164 million 
expansion project included new amenities, featuring six new restaurants, a new event space, a 
seven-story parking garage and more. The casino currently operates over 1,800 slot machines 
and roughly 140 table games.  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 40 

 
SugarHouse Casino Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2010* $37,076,304  1,601 $17,118,033  41 $54,194,337   $288  
2011 $170,967,818  1,587 $74,212,407  47 $245,180,225  352.4% $360  
2012 $190,192,054  1,604 $83,941,815  55 $274,133,869  11.8% $388  
2013 $180,760,342  1,603 $84,797,895  58 $265,558,237  -3.1% $373  
2014 $174,368,864  1,605 $90,755,766  64 $265,124,630  -0.2% $365  
2015 $174,263,728  1,605 $94,747,202  84 $269,010,931  1.5% $349  
2016 $181,187,600  1,865 $116,492,823  129 $297,680,423  10.7% $308  
2017 $177,837,718  1,825 $119,869,572  139 $297,707,290  0.0% $307  

Source: Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board; The Innovation Group; *2010 has 102 Days 
 

Harrah’s Philadelphia Casino & Racetrack 
Harrah’s Philadelphia is located in Chester, PA on the Delaware River and roughly 30 minutes 
south of Philadelphia and five hours from Foxwoods. The racino, formerly known as Harrah’s 
Chester, changed its name in 2012 to appeal to a broader market. The racetrack held its first race 
in 2006 and slot machine only casino opened in early 2007. Currently, the gaming facility 
includes 100,000 square feet of gaming space, 2,500 slot machines, and a 14,000 square foot 
event center. Additional amenities include a Krispy Kreme, a Guy Fieri restaurant, shopping 
center, and more.  Harrah’s Philadelphia started offering live table games in July of 2010.   
 

Harrah’s Philadelphia Casino Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008 $328,443,772  2,816   $328,443,772  
 

$319  
2009 $315,938,366  2,915   $315,938,366  -3.8% $297  
2010 $296,491,721  2,912 $30,019,768  106 $326,511,489  3.3% $252  
2011 $268,113,984  2,957 $80,971,453  121 $349,085,437  6.9% $259  
2012 $259,799,107  2,832 $81,004,213  124 $340,803,319  -2.4% $260  
2013 $233,875,716  2,786 $77,285,609  123 $311,161,325  -8.7% $242  
2014 $217,836,232  2,794 $68,989,732  124 $286,825,965  -7.8% $222  
2015 $218,365,368  2,800 $68,233,556  116 $286,598,924  -0.1% $224  
2016 $206,845,371  2,740 $65,296,774  107 $272,142,145  -5.0% $220  
2017 $198,193,939  2,451 $65,270,571  117 $263,464,509  -3.2% $229  

Source: Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board; The Innovation Group 
 

Valley Forge Casino Resort 
Valley Forge Resort Casino, located in the town of King of Prussia 35-minutes west of 
Philadelphia, became the eleventh casino to operate in Pennsylvania when it opened in March of 
2012. Valley Forge operates with a Category 3 gaming license limiting the number of slot 
machines to 600 and tables to 50. This property has two hotels offering 486 hotel rooms and 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 41 

suites. The Valley Forge Casino Resort has over 100,000 square feet of meeting space including 
the Valley Forge Convention Center. The complex also includes a spa, fitness center, and two 
stores. In September 2018, Boyd Gaming Corporation finalized its purchase of Valley Forge for 
a reported price of $280.5 million.  
  

Valley Forge Casino Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2012* $36,466,250  600 $21,419,727  50 $57,885,978   $210  
2013 $63,207,408  600 $33,046,232  50 $96,253,639  66.3% $293  
2014 $73,495,317  600 $33,209,169  50 $106,704,486  10.9% $325  
2015 $78,059,250  600 $34,819,102  50 $112,878,352  5.8% $344  
2016 $77,801,417  600 $37,059,368  50 $114,860,785  1.8% $349  
2017 $82,760,824  599 $34,419,700  50 $117,180,524  2.0% $357  

Source: Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board; The Innovation Group; *2012 Has 306 Days 
 

Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course 
Located 110 miles west of Philadelphia and 300 miles southwest of Foxwoods, Hollywood 
Casino originally started as a racetrack in 1972. The casino began operations in February of 2008 
and began offering table games in July of 2010. The facility includes meeting and event space, 
five F&B options, and live entertainment. The casino currently operates over 2,300 slot machines 
and 74 table games.  
 

Hollywood Casino Property Statistics 

Year Slot Revenue Machines Table 
Revenue Tables Total 

Revenue Change Win per 
Position 

2008* $171,117,626  2,120   $171,117,626  
 

$247  
2009 $237,721,830  2,318   $237,721,830  38.9% $281  
2010 $253,403,976  2,433 $15,062,128  54 $268,466,104  12.9% $267  
2011 $248,924,977  2,466 $38,410,926  62 $287,335,903  7.0% $277  
2012 $244,021,769  2,472 $38,579,543  69 $282,601,312  -1.6% $267  
2013 $230,334,692  2,458 $36,427,141  69 $266,761,833  -5.6% $254  
2014 $213,954,040  2,437 $33,396,373  70 $247,350,413  -7.3% $237  
2015 $215,578,964  2,406 $34,761,184  69 $250,340,147  1.2% $243  
2016 $209,885,267  2,392 $34,361,514  71 $244,246,780  -2.4% $237  
2017 $209,014,353  2,347 $35,758,641  74 $244,772,994  0.2% $240  

Source: Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board; The Innovation Group; *2008 Has 327 Days 
 

Proposed New England 
Encore Boston Harbor 
Wynn Resorts is developing a $2.5 billion casino at the former Monsanto Chemical Plant site on 
the Mystic River in Everett, a northern suburb of Boston.  The proposed resort, named Encore 



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 42 

Boston Harbor, will focus on open-space amenities to reconnect the public to the waterfront 
through a harborwalk, park, pavilion and docking facilities for ferry operations to Boston.  The 
project also includes 670 hotel accommodations, spa, retail, multiple food and beverage options, 
convention space and parking garage.  The casino gaming floor is estimated to offer patrons over 
3,000 slots and 150 table games and is expected to open in June 2019. 
 
In January of 2018, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission launched an investigation into Steve 
Wynn and what Wynn Resorts executives knew of sexual misconduct allegations against him 
when the company obtained a Massachusetts casino license.  The investigation is intended to 
determine the suitability of Wynn Resorts holding a gaming license in Massachusetts. The 
Gaming Commission agreed to remove Steve Wynn, who resigned from the company and 
divested his holdings, from the list of people who must be deemed individually suitable for 
Wynn Resorts to continue to hold its casino license. The Commission is expected to make its 
findings public in December 2018. No details have been made clear as to what would happen to 
the Encore resort property if the commission determines that Wynn will no longer hold one of 
the state’s casino licenses. 

Connecticut 
MMCT Venture LLC, the joint venture formed by the Mashantucket Pequot and Mohegan tribes, 
have plans to develop a $300-$400 million venue with 100,000 square feet of gaming space in 
East Windsor, Connecticut. MMCT said the proposed casino would have roughly 2,000 slot 
machines and 60 table games.  MGM Resorts International has fought the project, and a recent 
federal court ruling has suspended the project.  The ultimate legal outlook for the project is 
unknown at this time.    
 

 

  



 

The Innovation Group Project #054-18-2 November 2018  Page 43 

APPENDIX B: SIGNATURE PAGE 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 

 
Thomas Zitt 
Executive Vice President 
The Innovation Group 
 
November 30, 2018 



Exhibit D





































Exhibit E



























































































































































































































































































































































































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REGION C COMMENTS 

FROM 9/27/18 Meeting 

Materials 



























ASSESSMENT: 
MGM OPENING ACTIVITIES 

DECEMBER 20, 2018 



AGENDA 

• Overview

• Best Practices

• Key Highlights

• Conclusion



OVERVIEW 
SECTION ONE 



OPENING MGM 

Challenges 
• Full-Resort vs. Slot Parlor

• Table Games
• Hotel/Retail/Entertainment/Outdoor Plaza

• Staffing
• New Gaming Agents
• MGC Boston
• Gaming Enforcement Unit

• Full operations continue at PPC, including horse racing season

Resources 
• MGM Experienced a recent opening (National Harbor)
• Technology

• LMS/CMS operational, JIRA implemented for activity tracking



PARTICIPANTS 

•Businesses
•Economic Development

•Non-profits
•Higher Ed

•Host
•Surrounding

• Compliance
• Construction

• Human Resources
•Operations

•Construction Oversight
• IEB
•Operations
• Licensing
•Responsible Gaming
•Regulation

MGC MGM 

Other Communities 



KEY ACTIVITIES 

CONSTRUCTION 

•MONITORING/OVERSIGHT
•MULTI-AGENCY ENGAGEMENT: MEPA, MASSDOT, CITY OF SPRINGFIELD
•AFFIRMATIVE MARKETING GOALS

EMPLOYMENT 

•SCALING TO 3,000 MGM EMPLOYEES 
•MEASURING AGAINST MULTIPLE DEMOGRAPHIC COMMITMENTS
•RE-DEPLOYING AND INCREASING MGC STAFF

OPERATIONS 

•COMPLIANCE: INTERNAL CONTROLS/GAMING TECHNOLOGY
•LICENSING: EMPLOYEES, VENDORS
•REVENUE: MONITORING, COLLECTION, RECONCILATION, REPORTING
•ENFORCEMENT: PUBLIC SAFETY, SECURITY, SURVEILLANCE

COMPLIANCE 

•COMMUNITY AGREEMENTS
•CASINO LICENSE COMPLIANCE
•GAMING SCHOOLS 
•PROGRAMS: SUPPLIER, WORKFORCE, AND DIVERSITY DEVELOPMENT; RESPONSIBLE GAMING
•TABLE GAME REGULATIONS: 205 CMR 146 GAMING EQUIPMENT; 147 RULES OF THE GAME (44 GAMES)



BEST PRACTICES 
SECTION TWO 



ACTIVITIES AND ASSESSMENT 

7 |  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

M
ik

e 
M

at
hi

s 

JOINT MEETINGS 

Ed Bedrosian 

MGC MGM Springfield 

G
M

 
Ge

ne
ra

l 
Co

un
se

l 
VP

 H
R 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

Security 

Surveillance 

Table Games 

Slots 

Dir. 
Licensing 

O
m

budsm
an 

CPO
M

 

CPM
 

Dir. 
SW

DD 

Asst. Dir. 
Gam

ing 
Agents 

Internal 
Controls 

MGC Operational 
Readiness 

CIO
 

CAFO
 

General 
Counsel 

Construction 
Compliance 

Certificate of Operations 
Compliance 

Communications 

Federal, State, 
Local Permitting 

Supplier, Workforce and 
Diversity Commitments 

Responsible Gaming 

All Agreements 

Construction 

Staffing 



METHODOLOGY 

ENGAGE 

ASSESS 

ADJUST ENGAGE 

ASSESS 

ADJUST 

ENGAGE 

ASSESS 

ADJUST 

START 
EARLY 



KEY HIGHLIGHTS 
SECTION THREE 



AREAS OF INTEREST 

• Construction: Joe Delaney, P.E., Construction Project Oversight Manager 

• All Non-Gaming Compliance: John Ziemba, Ombudsman 

• Gaming: Burke Cain, IEB Field Manager of Casino Operations/Gaming Agents Division                   

     Assistant Chief   

• Licensing: Paul Connelly, Director of Licensing 

• Statistics: Ed Bedrosian, Executive Director 

 



CONSTRUCTION SITE OVERVIEW APRIL 2016 

12 |  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 



CONSTRUCTION 

Challenge: Full resort in the heart of a major city, significant off-site 

infrastructure improvements, historical preservation commitments, 

diversity commitments 

Keys to Success 

• Weekly on-site coordination with MGM construction team 

• Early and effective engagement across participants 

- MEPA, MassDOT, City of Springfield, MGM Springfield, Aecom Tishman 

• Monthly oversight of diversity commitments through AOC meetings 

• Development of tracking systems to verify compliance with project 

commitments 

 



OPENING DAY 

14 |  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 



OMBUDSMAN GRANULAR TRACKING 

15 |  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 



OMBUDSMAN 

Challenge: Full resort integrating with a major city, extensive license 

conditions, and multiple agreements 

Keys to Success 

• Early and effective engagement with the City of Springfield leadership 

• Proactive coordination with MassDOT  and City of Springfield officials on 

infrastructure commitments 

• Commitment to community engagement by MGM Springfield executive staff 

• Participation in bi-weekly construction and opening day traffic planning 

meetings 



OMBUDSMAN HIGH-LEVEL TRACKING 

17 |  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 



GAMING FLOOR DELIVERY DAY 

18 |  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 



GAMING AGENTS 

Challenge: Scaling the casino floor and adding table games 

Keys to Success 

• Early and effective engagement with the MGM Compliance Officer for internal 

controls 

• MGC GA Supervisor on-site at MGM 8 months prior to opening 

• MGC GA staff who had opened PPC were deployed to MGM 

• Familiarity with the MGC Central Monitoring System for slot machines 

• Early engagement with the gaming schools and table game supervisors to 

manage the learning curve 



GAMING FLOOR COMPLETED 

20 |  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 



LICENSING SYSTEM BEFORE 

21 |  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 



LICENSING 

Challenge: Scaling from a casino with 700 employees to MGM’s 3,000+ 

Keys to Success 

• Implementation of Internet-based, customer accessible licensing system 

• Regulatory amendment eliminated low-risk positions subject to licensure 

• Early and effective engagement with MGM Springfield HR Director 

• Coordination around MGM hiring events 

• Re-engineering of the MGC process for efficiency 

• On-Site MGC Licensing staff member 



LICENSING SYSTEM NOW 

23 |  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 



BY THE NUMBERS 

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n >$960 M 

>2.1 M square feet 

Food/Beverage/Retail: 96 K 
Convention/Meeting: 46 K 

Cinema / Bowling / Arcade / Armory: 65 K  

~3,300 Gaming Positions 
252 Hotel Rooms 

3,500-Space Parking Garage 



BY THE NUMBERS 

O
m

bu
ds

m
an

 > 35,000  
Individual Commitments 

25 High-level License 
Conditions 

AGREEMENTS 
1 Host Community  

8 Surrounding Communities 
1 MPAC Live Entertainment Cooperation 



BY THE NUMBERS 

Ga
m

in
g 

2,500 Slot Machines  
Inspect, coin-test, verify settings and serial 

numbers 

93 Table Games and 23 Poker Tables 
 Inspect and verify layouts 

Roulette & Big 6 Wheels  
and other gaming equipment 

Inspect and verify 

Chips, Cards, Dice 
Review and Approve Designs 

Gaming Floor, 12 Cages and Count Room 
Inspect and verify adequate surveillance 

Test physical security of cages, man-traps and 
45 gaming panic alarms 



BY THE NUMBERS 

Li
ce

ns
in

g >6,000 applications 

> 2,100 individual  
licenses or registrations 

~40 fingerprinting sessions  
in coordination with  

Mass State Police GEU 
MGM Career Center 



CONCLUSION 
SECTION FOUR 



CONCLUSION 

• Acknowledgements 

• Questions/Follow-Up 



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

Administrative Support Teams 
Janice Reilly, Chief of Staff 
Elaine Driscoll, Director of Communications 
MGC Operations 
 Derek Lennon, CAFO 
 Katrina Jagroop-Gomes, CIO 
IEB/Gaming Agents 
Mass State Police GEU 
Commissioners 



QUESTIONS/FOLLOW-UP 

Thank you 



THE COMMONWEALTH OF 
MASSACHUSETTS 

 

 
 
 
 

IEB Plaza Audits: 
First 90 Days 

 
 
 
 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
 
 

Gayle Cameron, Acting Chairperson 
 Eileen O’Brien, Commissioner  
Bruce Stebbins, Commissioner 
Enrique Zuniga, Commissioner 

 
 

12/8/18 



IEB Plaza Audit Report                First 90 Days 2 | P a g e  
 

 
 

First 90 Days Plaza Audit Report: 
 
TO: Bruce Band – Assistant Director IEB 
 Burke Cain – Field Manager IEB 
 Investigations & Enforcement Bureau 
 
FROM:  Angela Smith 
 Senior Supervising Gaming Agent 
 Investigations & Enforcement Bureau 

 
SCOPE:  The following is a 90 day audit of the outdoor plaza at MGM Springfield. This report is intended 

to provide a better understanding of how MGM utilizes the outdoor plaza area for special 
events. In addition, this report will give a clear picture of the security staffing, sale and 
distribution of alcohol, surveillance coverage, and how special events are handled at the MGM 
Plaza.  All observations and incidents are documented by the IEB. 

 
 
 



IEB Plaza Audit Report                First 90 Days 3 | P a g e  
 

Table of Contents 
 
 
 
 

Scope ................................................................................................. 2 

Events ................................................................................................ 4 

Special Events .................................................................................... 5 

Alcohol Sale and Distribution ............................................................ 6 

Summary ........................................................................................... 7 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



IEB Plaza Audit Report                First 90 Days 4 | P a g e  
 

MGM Springfield Outdoor Plaza 
 
Events  
 
The Armory 
 
Originally planned to be used as a restaurant, the Armory has served for several events 
during the first three months. During opening, guests used the building to sign-up for an 
MLife card. Currently, it is used as a holiday village. There have been no related issues 
observed by the IEB.  
 
Kringle Emporium 
 
In addition to selling candles, the Emporium also offers food and drinks (as well as 
alcoholic beverages). There have been no related issues observed by the IEB. 
 
Fire Pits 
 
As the winter weather approached, MGM placed fire pits in the plaza. There have been 
no related issues observed by the IEB.  
 
Ice Skating Rink 
 
Towards the conclusion of the 90 day audit, MGM began to open the ice skating rink to 
the public. Prior to the opening of the ice rink, the open area was used for several events 
including an arts & crafts show and live entertainment.  
 
Tree Lighting 
 
After the 90 day audit had concluded, MGM placed a holiday tree and held a lighting 
ceremony in the plaza.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



IEB Plaza Audit Report                First 90 Days 5 | P a g e  
 

Special Events Schedule on the MGM Plaza 
 

 
 
 
 



IEB Plaza Audit Report                First 90 Days 6 | P a g e  
 

Glassware in the Plaza 
 
The picture below shows a sign MGM uses to help prevent patrons from taking 
glassware outside on to the plaza. The IEB has observed patrons using these tables and 
found no issues of glassware taken past this point.  
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



IEB Plaza Audit Report                First 90 Days 7 | P a g e  
 

Summary 
 
 

 
 
In summary, the IEB documented 80 plaza inspections during the first three months. 
Additionally, the IEB performed undocumented reviews of the plaza daily during 
routine patrols. IEB gaming agents conducted security staffing audits, surveillance 
camera coverage inspections, and monitored the sale and distribution of alcoholic 
beverages. During this time, MGM was found to be out of compliance on six 
occurrences. 
 
On three occasions, IEB found surveillance camera coverage of the plaza to be 
insufficient. Cameras were immediately added by MGM 
 
IEB also observed security staffing fail to meet the regulated requirements for the plaza. 
On Fridays and Saturdays after 16:00, additional security officers are required for the 
late afternoon and evenings. MGM addressed these incidents immediately.  



THE COMMONWEALTH OF 
MASSACHUSETTS 

 

 
 
 
 

IEB Crosswalk Review 
First 90 Days: 

 
 
 
 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
 
 

Gayle Cameron, Acting Chairperson 
 Eileen O’Brien, Commissioner  
Bruce Stebbins, Commissioner 
Enrique Zuniga, Commissioner 

 
 

12/8/18 



 
 

 
 

  

 
 

MGM Crosswalk Review: 
 

TO: Bruce Band – Assistant Director IEB 
 Burke Cain – Field Manager IEB 
 Investigations & Enforcement Bureau 
 
FROM:  Angela Smith 
 Senior Supervising Gaming Agent 
 Investigations & Enforcement Bureau 

SCOPE:  The following is a review conducted by IEB of the Crosswalk at MGM Springfield. This report is 
intended to provide a better understanding of how MGM intended to use the Crosswalk along 
with a chronological timeline of how this crosswalk has evolved. In addition, this report will 
give a clear picture of the initial use of the Crosswalk and how MGM’s management plan 
evolved with regard to its practical use as operational information was gathered. All 
observations and incidents are documented by the IEB. 



 
 

 
   

MGM Springfield Interior Crosswalk (“X” 
Pathway) on Gaming Floor  
 
 

On August 24th, 2018, MGM Springfield opened a casino complex to the public and 

welcomed families with children to attend plaza events, movie theaters, restaurants, public art, 

and history displays.  Minors and patrons under the age of 21 were restricted by Massachusetts 

law from entering the casino gaming area. The casino gaming area contained a non-gaming 

interior pathway that roughly formed an “X”. This interior crosswalk or pathway initially was 

intended to allow families with underage patrons to travel the complex more easily. 

Additionally, if underage or minors were found to stray into the gaming area this interior 

crosswalk would assist getting these folks moving directly to their destination without 

hesitation or redirection. 

Exhibit A.  

          



 
 

 
   

On April 26th, 2018, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission (MGC) temporarily 

approved the “X” crosswalk as a non-gaming area pending a 90 day review. The 90 day review 

was established to determine how the “X” crosswalk affected the presence of underage patrons 

and minors on the casino gaming floor. During this 90 day review, Gaming Agents assigned to 

the Investigation and Enforcement Bureau (IEB) conducted routine audits of underage patrons 

and minors to determine if any were observed on the gaming floor during their assigned shifts.  

This data was collected and shared with MGM when challenges arose throughout this 90 day 

review.  

 

During the first two weeks of opening, IEB observed instances where the presence of 

underage patrons and minors entering the gaming area at MGM Springfield was from the 

crosswalk. Because of this MGM initiated steps to combat the presence of underage and minors 

on the crosswalk 

 

On September 4, 2018, MGM Springfield instituted a late-night age restriction policy 

requiring that all guests on the resort property between the hours of between 12:00 am 

(midnight) to 8:00 am be 21 and over.   

 
          
             On October 29th, 2018, MGM Springfield instituted a policy requiring a Security Officer 

and M Life Representative to rove the slot banks between 6 pm – 2 am asking ID’s for anyone 

appearing under the age of 30.   

 
 

 

 

 



 
 

 
   

Upon conclusion of the 90 day review, IEB confirmed and acknowledged the challenges 

of underage and minors accessing and attempting to access the casino floor from the crosswalk. 

These challenges were discussed with MGM several times throughout this 90 day review.  

MGM acknowledged the challenges.  

 

 On December 6th, 2018, MGC Executive Director Ed Bedrosian officially advised MGM 

Springfield effective immediately, the modified “X” crosswalk is now considered gaming area 

and patrons under the age of 21 are prohibited from entering the specified area.    



Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

Quarterly Report Presentation: 

3rd Quarter 2018 

December 20, 2018 



Mike Mathis 
President & COO - MGM Springfield 



Welcome and 

Opening Overview 



GRAND OPENING 

4 

4  

To Be Inserted  



FIRST SIX WEEKS FACTS & FIGURES 

5 

5  

• Visitors = 1,000,000 

• Meals served = ~11,500 

• GGR = ~$36.5M 

• Taxes paid = ~$9.125M 



HIRING UPDATE 

6 

6  

As of 10/10/2018, reflective of 2,865 active employees 



OS&E RECAP 

7 

7  

Group Goals Payments Variance 
Company 

Count 
Value 

WBE 15.0% 12.94% (2.06%) 17 $4.62M 

MBE 10.0% 16.63% 6.63% 15 $5.94M 

VBE 2.0% 2.10% .10% 1 $749K 

Notes: 

(1) Total Payments on Biddable Spend through November 30, 2018 are $35.7M.   

(2) Biddable Spend is inclusive of the following categories; 

 - Advertising, BUS Promotions, Biddable Entertainment, Legal, Purchasing, Rentals (Not Building), Warehouse Rentals, Retail, and Services. 

WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise. 



OS&E RECAP 

8 

8  

Segment Payments Company Count Value 

Springfield 10.20% 13 $4.60M 

Surrounding 

Communities 
15.04% 17 $6.78M 

Western Mass 6.39% 7 $2.88M 

Commonwealth 18.08% 28 $8.15M 

Notes: 

(1) Total Payments through November 30, 2018 are $45.1M.   



Alex Dixon 
General Manager 



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT 

10 

10  



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT 

11 

11  



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT 

12 

12  



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT 

13 

13  



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT 

14 

14  



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT 

15 

15  



Talia Spera 
Executive Director of Entertainment 

 



RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT UPDATE 

17 

17  



RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT UPDATE 

18 

18  



RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT UPDATE 

19 

19  



RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT UPDATE 

20 

20  



RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT UPDATE 

21 

21  



RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT UPDATE 

22 

22  



Brian Packer 
Vice President - Construction/Development 



Construction Update 



AERIAL PROGRESS 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

25 

Aerial View - August 20, 2018 



AERIAL PROGRESS 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

26 

Aerial View - August 20, 2018 



HOTEL EXTERIOR 

27 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

27  



PODIUM EXTERIOR 

28 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

28  



ARMORY 

29 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

29  



CHURCH 

30 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

30  



PARKING GARAGE 

31 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

31  



CHILD CARE 

32 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

32  



LOBBY 

33 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

33  



CASINO & VENUES 

34 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

34  



CASINO & VENUES 

35 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

35  



CASINO & VENUES 

36 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

36  



BALLROOM / PRE-FUNCTION 

37 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

37  



GUESTROOMS 

38 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

38  



GUESTROOMS 

39 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

39  



DESIGN UPDATE 
• Delta 8 to the Hotel Fit Out package was 

issued 

• Deltas 7 and 8 to the Armory Fit-Out package 

were issued 

• Delta1 to the Armory Terrace Fit-Out 

package was issued 

• Deltas 4 and 5 to the French Church/Kringle 

package were issued  

• Addendum 6 to the Civil Site Plans was 

issued  

• Delta 2 and the final Construction package 

for the Daycare was issued 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 5a. 

Notes: 

40 



• Final project schedule was submitted to MGC on November 6, 2015 

• The final schedule update was provided on July 11, 2018 

• The project grand opening took place on August 24, 2018 

• Regal Cinemas opened on September 27, 2018 

SCHEDULE 

(1) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 1a and Appendix A. 

Notes: 

41 



DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION COMMITMENTS 

42 

(1) Total Commitments through September 30, 2018 are $611.3M. 

(2) Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 

• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or  Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 

• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 

• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 

(3) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 2b and Appendix B. 

WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise. 

Notes: 

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 

Group 
Project 

 Goals 
Commitments Variance 

Company 

Count 
Value 

WBE 10.0% 20.9% 10.9% 82 $127.8M 

MBE 5.0% 7.8% 2.8% 49 $47.6M 

VBE 2.0% 6.5% 4.5% 25 $39.5M 



DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION PAYMENTS 

43 

(1) Total Payments through September 30, 2018 are $568.4M.  Total payments is inclusive of $116.5M in plan approved exemptions. 

(2) Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 

• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or  Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 

• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 

• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 

(3) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 2b and Appendix B. 

WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise. 

Notes: 

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 

Group 
Project 

 Goals 
Payments Variance 

Company 

Count 
Value 

WBE 10.0% 20.6% 10.6% 81 $117.4M 

MBE 5.0% 7.6% 2.6% 49 $43.0M 

VBE 2.0% 6.3% 4.3% 25 $36.1M 



WORKFORCE DIVERSITY STATISTICS - TOTAL 

44 

(1) Statistics include all workforce reports that were received by MGM as of September 30, 2018. 

(2) The Diversity plan approved by the MGC allows reporting to include hours allocated to multiple diversity categories. 5.23% of total workforce hours are included in two of the 

diversity categories and 0.29% of total workforce hours are included in three diversity categories. 

(3) Reference Quarter 3 2018 Status Report Section 2c and Appendix B and C. 

(4) While this is not a reporting requirement of the approved diversity plan, the total hours worked through 3rd quarter 2018 is as follows: 

• Approximately 35% are from Springfield/ Surrounding Communities 

• Approximately 55% are from Western Massachusetts 

• Approximately 71% are from Massachusetts 

Notes: 

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 

Group Project Goals Project To Date % 

Women 6.90% 8.55% 

Minority 15.30% 21.78% 

Veteran 8.00% 8.71% 



45 

Q3 2018 COST ESTIMATE ($mm) 
Ref Description Incurred To Date 

1 Construction / Design $660.3 

2 FF&E $25.8 

3 OSE $36.4 

Subtotal of Eligible Cap. Costs $722.5 

Notes:   

1.   Total estimate does not include $60.7mm for land and $75.5mm for capitalized interest.  

2.   The figures above are approximations to the nearest hundred thousand, which in some instances results in minor discrepancies ($100k or less) in sums. 

 

45 

4 License/ Application Fees $85.0 

5 Pre-opening Exp. / Host Comm. Costs $132.5 

6 Project Contingency  $0.0 

Subtotal of Ineligible Costs $217.5 

Total $940.0 



Todd Megrath 
Executive Director of Sustainable Development 

MGM Resorts International 



LEED & Solar Update 



LEED UPDATE 

48 

48  

Resort and Hotel (with garage) –  

 The project was registered in October 2016.  

 Design and construction review was combined and has been received by MGM. 

MGM is reviewing and is currently working with GBCI to clarify the currently 

anticipated points / certification level.  

 Currently anticipated to receive at minimum Gold-level award.  

 
o Armory –  

 Commercial interior was originally registered in October 2016.  

 Design review was completed and submitted in June 2018. Design review 

comments have been completed.  

 Construction submission is planned for before the end of December 2018. We 

anticipate 30 days of review and we should receive comment / possible award 

at the Gold-level by February 2019. 



LEED UPDATE (CONT.) 

49 

49  

Chapel (Kringle) –  

• Commercial Interior project was originally registered in October 2016.  

• Design review was completed and submitted in June 2018.  Points awarded. 

• Construction submission is planned for December 2018.  

• We anticipate 30 days of review and we should receive comment / possible 

award at the Gold-level by February 2019. 
 

MGM Daycare –  

• New Construction: project was originally registered in October 2016.  

• Design award was completed in February 2018.  

• Construction submission was completed in October 2018.  

• Construction review comments have been received and MGM is currently 

working to complete final review by December 2018.  

• The project is still on-track and anticipating a Platinum-level New Construction 

award in February 2019. 



GREENHOUSE GAS UPDATE 

50 

50  

• MGM Resorts, with the assistance of Epsilon Associates, has compiled 

all necessary backup documentation for all greenhouse gas attributes. 

 

• Internal review was completed on November 19. 2018.  

 

• The MEPA Self Certification was submitted in November 2018.  

 
 



SOLAR UPDATE 

51 

51  

• MGM, in partnership GE Solar 

has entered into a lease to move 

forward with completed design.  

• An interconnection agreement 

has been completed with the 

utility (Eversource) in April 2018.  

• MGM has submitted the 

appropriate site control 

documents with GE for the 

Massachusetts DOER in order to 

participate and register with the 

SMART incentive program.  



Mike Mathis 
President & COO - MGM Springfield 



LOOKING FORWARD 

53 

53  

• Residential Development  

• Wahlburgers Timeline 

• Future Site Development/Leasing 

• Economic Development Efforts 



 

 

 

M G M  S P R I N G F I E L D  

Q U A R T E R L Y  S T A T U S  R E P O R T  # 1 5  
  

Monitoring of Project Construction and  
Licensee Requirements  

205 CMR 135 
 

For the Period:  
July–September 2018 

 
  



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 

  Page 1  
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS ................................................................................................................................................. 1	

LIST OF APPENDICES ................................................................................................................................................. 1	

1	 PROJECT SCHEDULE ........................................................................................................................................... 2	

1a	 CURRENT SCHEDULE ................................................................................................................................. 2	

1b	 PROJECT SCHEDULE CHANGES ............................................................................................................... 2	

2	 CONSTRUCTION PHASE DIVERSITY PROGRAM FOR EQUAL OPPORTUNITY .............................................. 3	

2a	 DIVERSITY SUMMARY ................................................................................................................................. 3	

2b	 COMMITMENTS ............................................................................................................................................ 4	

2c	 WORKFORCE STATISTICS .......................................................................................................................... 5	

3	 COST OF CONSTRUCTION / CAPITALIZATION OF GAMING LICENSEE ......................................................... 6	

4	 DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS .......................................................................................................... 7	

5	 STATUS OF WORK COMPLETED / PROGRESS PHOTOGRAPHS .................................................................... 8	

5a	 STATUS OF WORK COMPLETED ............................................................................................................... 8	

5b	 PROGRESS PHOTOGRAPHS .................................................................................................................... 10	

6	 PERMITS ............................................................................................................................................................... 11	

7	 ORGANIZED LABOR LETTER ............................................................................................................................ 18	

8	 OPERATIONAL PHASE DIVERSITY PROGRAM FOR EQUAL OPPORTUNITY .............................................. 19	

 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
LEVEL 1 AND LEVEL 2 PROJECT SCHEDULES – DATA DATE JULY 1, 2018……..……….…..…...... APPENDIX A 

PRESENTATION OF DIVERSITY STATISTICS AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018………….…………….... APPENDIX B 

CONSTRUCTION WORKFORCE STATISTICS AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018………...……………….. APPENDIX C 

LETTER REGARDING COST OF CONSTRUCTION & CAPITALIZATION OF GAMING LICENSEE…. APPENDIX D 

CONSTRUCTION SITE PROGRESS IMAGES FOR Q3 2018…………………………....………………..... APPENDIX E 

 

 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 1  PROJECT SCHEDULE 

  Page 2
  

135.02.2 The commission shall, in accordance with M.G.L. c. 23K. §§ 10 and 11 approve for each gaming 
licensee, a project schedule for the gaming licensee’s capital investment in its gaming establishment and 
related infrastructure which includes: 
(a)  all major stages of design and construction; including all permitting and approvals, design deliverables, 
site preparation, foundation, structure, plumbing, electrical, mechanical, exterior finish and fenestration, 
long lead items, insulation, interior finish and furnishings and landscaping, building commissioning and 
commissioning of gaming equipment and information technology systems. 
(b) For a Category 1 gaming establishment, a timeline for commencement of the final stage of construction 
pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23K, § 10(a); and 
(c) a timeline for the stage of construction at which the gaming licensee shall be approved to open for 
business or operate a slot machine pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23K, §§10(c) and 11(a). 
 
135.02.4 If unforeseen and/or changed circumstances necessitate a change to a project schedule approved 
pursuant to 205 CMR 135.02(2) which will impact the completion date or requires a major change in the 
method or progress of construction, the gaming licensee may submit to the commission for its approval a 
revised project schedule, with a detailed statement of the unforeseen changed circumstances which justify the 
revised project schedule. If the commission approves such revised project schedule, it shall substitute and 
supersede the previously approved project schedule. 

 
 

1 PROJECT SCHEDULE 

1a CURRENT SCHEDULE 
 
On August 6, 2015, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission approved a revised opening date of thirty (30) days 
following a construction completion date of either August 6, 2018 or the date on which the I-91 Viaduct Project achieves 
Full and Beneficial Use (as defined in MassDOT project documents), whichever occurs later. MGM submitted a final 
project schedule for consideration on November 6, 2015. In accordance with our commitment to providing monthly 
schedule updates, the final schedule update was provided to MGC’s representative July 11, 2018 (data date July 1). 
The July 11th update is included in this document as Appendix A. The project grand opening took place on August 24, 
2018. 

 

1b PROJECT SCHEDULE CHANGES 
 
The project grand opening took place on August 24, 2018.  

 

 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 2  CONSTRUCTION PHASE DIVERSITY PROGRAM FOR EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 

  Page 3  
 

135.02.3 Within the time frame provided in the award of the gaming license, the licensee shall provide to 
the commission for commission approval an affirmative action program of equal opportunity whereby the 
licensee establishes specific goals for the utilization of minorities, women and veterans on construction 
jobs and for contracting with minority, women or veteran owned businesses during either design or 
construction; provided, however that such goals shall be equal to or greater than the goals contained in 
Executive Office of Administration and Finance Administrative Bulletin Number 14.  
 
135.02.5c To ensure adherence to the project schedule approved pursuant to 205 CMR 135.02(2) or (4), the 
gaming licensee shall submit to the commission in a media, format and level of detail acceptable to the 
commission, quarterly a status report including: 

(e) a detailed statistical report pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23K, §21(a)(23) on the number, gender and race, and 
veteran status of individuals by job classifications hired to perform labor as part of the construction of the 
gaming establishment and related infrastructure, and a comparison of this report with the goals established 
by the gaming licensee and commission pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23K, §21(a)(22). ). In the event the licensee’s 
hiring of the aforementioned entities does not comply with the goals established the licensee shall submit 
within 20 days of a request by the commission a response as to why the goals have not been achieved, 
identify any good faith efforts that have been undertaken to achieve those goals and provide a plan to bring 
the dollar amount contracted and spent into compliance with the goals. 
 
(f) a report describing the number of contracts, total dollar amounts contracted with and actually paid to 
minority business enterprises, women business enterprises and veteran business enterprises for design and 
construction of the gaming establishment and related infrastructure, and the total number and value of all 
subcontracts awarded to a minority, women and veteran owned business, and a comparison of these 
reports with the goals established by the gaming licensee and commission pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23K, 
§21(a)(21). In the event the licensee’s hiring of the aforementioned entities does not comply with the goals 
established the licensee shall submit within 20 days of a request by the commission a response as to why 
the goals have not been achieved, identify any good faith efforts that have been undertaken to achieve those 
goals and provide a plan to bring the dollar amount contracted and spent into compliance with the goals. 

 
 

2 CONSTRUCTION PHASE DIVERSITY PROGRAM FOR EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 

2a DIVERSITY SUMMARY 
 
The following is a snapshot of Construction and Design Diversity Commitments through September 30: 

GROUP PROJECT 
GOALS 

COMMITMENTS VARIANCE COMPANY 
COUNT 

VALUE 

WBE 10.00% 20.9% 10.9% 82 $127.8M 

MBE 5.00% 7.8% 2.8% 49 $47.6M 

VBE 2.00% 6.5% 4.5% 25 $39.5M 

Notes:  
1. Total Commitments through September 30, 2018 are $611.3M 
2. Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 
• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 
• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 
• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission.  
WBE = Women-owned Business Enterprise, MBE = Minority-owned business Enterprise; VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise 

 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 2  CONSTRUCTION PHASE DIVERSITY PROGRAM FOR EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 

  Page 4  
 

The following is a snapshot of Construction and Design Diversity Payments as of September 30: 
GROUP PROJECT 

GOALS 
PAYMENTS VARIANCE COMPANY 

COUNT 
VALUE 

WBE 10.00% 20.6% 10.6% 81 $117.4M 

MBE 5.00% 7.6% 2.6% 49 $43.0M 

VBE 2.00% 6.3% 4.3% 25 $36.1M 

Notes:  
• Total Payments through September 30, 2018 are $568.4M. Total payment is inclusive of $116.5M in plan approved exemptions.  
• Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 
• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 
• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 
• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission.  

WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE=Minority-owned Business Enterprise; VBE=Veteran-owned Business Enterprise. 

A presentation of the most recent statistics for the Third Quarter of 2018 is included as Appendix B.  
 

2b COMMITMENTS 
 
Design and Consulting Commitments 

The following is a snapshot of Design and Consulting Diversity Commitments through September 30, 2018: 
GROUP PROJECT GOALS COMMITMENTS CONSULTANT 

COUNT 
VALUE 

Women 10.00% 16.4% 22 $8.1M 

Minority 5.00% 13.1% 19 $6.5M 

Veteran 2.00% 6.6% 3 $3.3M 

Notes:  
1. Total Commitments through September 30, 2018 are $49.6M 
2. Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 
• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 
• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 
• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 

A listing of design and consulting companies included in the totals above is included in Appendix B. 

  



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 2  CONSTRUCTION PHASE DIVERSITY PROGRAM FOR EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 

  Page 5  
 

Construction Commitments 

The following is a snapshot of Construction Diversity Commitments through September 30: 
GROUP PROJECT GOALS COMMITMENTS CONSULTANT COUNT VALUE 

Women 10.0% 21.3% 60 $119.7M 

Minority 5.0% 7.4% 30 $41.1M 

Veteran (3) 2.0% 6.4% 22 $36.2M 

Notes:  
1. Total Commitments through September 30, 2018 are $561.6M  
2. Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 
• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 
• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 
• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 

 

A listing of construction companies included in the totals above is included in Appendix B. 

 

2c WORKFORCE STATISTICS 
 
Subcontractors have been submitting workforce tracking forms after each pay period. The most recent available 
results have been tallied and are included as Appendix C.  

Summary workforce statistics for the total Project as of September 30 are as follows:  
GROUP PROJECT GOALS PROJECT TO DATE % 

Women 6.90% 8.55% 

Minority  15.30% 21.78% 

Veteran 8.00% 8.71% 

Notes:  
1. Statistics include all workforce reports that were received by MGM as of September 30, 2018. 
2. The Diversity plan approved by the MGC allows reporting to include hours allocated to multiple diversity categories. 5.23% of total 

workforce hours are included in two of the diversity categories and 0.29% of total hours are currently reported within three diversity 
categories.  

3. While this is not a reporting requirement of the approved diversity plan, the total hours worked through 3rd Quarter 2018 is as follows:  
• Approximately 35% are from Springfield/Surrounding Communities  
• Approximately 55% are from Western Massachusetts  
• Approximately 71% are from Massachusetts  

Detailed workforce statistics for the reporting period are included in Appendix C. 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 3  COST OF CONSTRUCTION / CAPITALIZATION OF GAMING LICENSE 

  Page 6  
 

135.02.5a To ensure adherence to the project schedule approved pursuant to 205 CMR 135.02(2) or (4), the gaming 
licensee shall submit to the commission in a media, format and level of detail acceptable to the commission, quarterly a 
status report including: 
(a) the total estimated cost of construction of the project and related infrastructure improvements, including a sworn 
certification regarding costs incurred pursuant to 205 CMR  122.03: Costs Included in the Calculation of Capital 
Investment, and separately identifying detailed costs for design, land acquisition, site preparation and construction and 
off-site improvements 
(b) a sworn certification regarding the capitalization of the gaming licensee, sufficient for the commission to determine, 
pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23K §10(e) or 11(c), that the gaming licensee has adequate funds to complete the gaming 
establishment and related infrastructure improvements.  

 
 

3 COST OF CONSTRUCTION / CAPITALIZATION OF GAMING LICENSEE 
 
Pursuant to 205 CMR 135.02.5(a) and (b), please see Appendix D for a certification regarding (a) the total estimated 
cost of construction of the project and related infrastructure improvements, and (b) the capitalization of MGM 
Springfield. 

 

  



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 4  DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS 

  Page 7  
 

135.02.5c To ensure adherence to the project schedule approved pursuant to 205 CMR 135.02(2) or (4), the gaming 
licensee shall submit to the commission in a media, format and level of detail acceptable to the commission, quarterly a 
status report including: 
(c) a copy of all design and construction contracts executed within the prior quarter by the gaming licensee to design and 
construct the gaming establishment and related infrastructure improvements 

 
 

4 DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS 
 
The following contracts were executed in the Third Quarter of 2018: 
 

COMPANY CONTRACT MGC STATUS 

1. JKR Partners, LCC  Architect of Record – Cinema Registrant 

 
Copies of executed agreements are available to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission’s Representative for 
review. 

 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 5  STATUS OF WORK COMPLETED / PROGRESS PHOTOGRAPHS 

  Page 8  

135.02.5d To ensure adherence to the project schedule approved pursuant to 205 CMR 135.02(2) or (4), the gaming 
licensee shall submit to the commission in a media, format and level of detail acceptable to the commission, quarterly a 
status report including: 
(d) a status report reflecting the progress of construction and certifying compliance with the approved project schedule 
for major stages of construction. In the event that the progress of construction does not comply with the project schedule 
approved pursuant to 205 CMR 135.02, the licensee shall submit a detailed plan to bring the progress of construction 
into compliance with the approved project schedule or submit a request for a revised project schedule pursuant to 205 
CMR 135.02(4) 

 
 

5 STATUS OF WORK COMPLETED / PROGRESS PHOTOGRAPHS 

5a STATUS OF WORK COMPLETED 
 

The following onsite activities took place in the Third Quarter of 2018:   

Construction Progress 
 

• Parking Garage: Exterior signage and sitework around the garage was completed, and the garage opened 
to the public on August 24, 2018.  

• Hotel: Interior fit-out and exterior façade work was completed. The Temporary Certificate of Occupancy was 
received on July 20, 2018 and the building opened to the public on August 24, 2018.  

• Podium: Interior fit-out and exterior façade work was completed. The Temporary Certificate of Occupancy 
was received on July 20, 2018 and the building opened to the public on August 24, 2018.. 

• 95 and 101 State Street: The Certificate of Occupancy for 95 State Street was granted on September 12, 
2018. 

• Armory: Interior fit-out and exterior masonry work was completed. The Temporary Certificate of Occupancy 
was received on August 17, 2018 and the building opened to the public on August 24, 2018.  

• Dave’s Retail Corner: Wahlburgers was announced as the tenant and the construction fence was erected 
around the perimeter of the site.  

• Hardscape/Landscape: Landscape/hardscape work was completed.  
• Church: Interior fit-out and exterior work was completed. The temporary certificate of occupancy was 

received on August 17, 2018 and the building opened to the public on August 24, 2018..The Certificate of 
Occupancy was granted on September 12, 2018. 

• Entertainment Block: Interior fit-out and exterior façade work was completed. The Temporary Certificates of 
Occupancy for Top Golf, Indian Motorcycle and the Cinema were received on August 7, 2018. The retail 
venues opened to the public on August 24, 2018, and the cinema opened on  September 27, 2018.  

• Surrounding Streets:  
o Work was completed on Main Street, State Street, Union Street, and East Columbus Avenue. Work 

included reconstruction of sidewalks, curbing, signs, installation of wheelchair ramps, resetting of 
utility, sewer and drain casting in milled areas, installation of traffic sigs and posts, traffic signal 
timing, and final paving and striping.  

o Landscape and hardscape work was completed on Bliss Street, Howard Street and MGM Way. 
• Early Childhood Center: Interior fit-out, exterior façade, and landscape/hardscape work was completed. The 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 5  STATUS OF WORK COMPLETED / PROGRESS PHOTOGRAPHS 

  Page 9  

Temporary Certificate of Occupancy was received on July 20, 2018 and the Certificate of Occpancy was 
granted on July 23, 2018. The building was handed over to Head Start for operations.  

• Offsite Traffic: Work was completed at 37 locations in Springfield per agreements made as a part of 
community commitments. Work was also completed in West Springfield on the ITS (Intelligent Transportation 
System) installation at five intersections on the opposite side of the River. 
 

Design Progress 

• Delta 8 to the Hotel Fit Out package was issued. 
 

• Deltas 7 and 8 to the Armory Fit-Out package were issued. 
 

• Delta1 to the Armory Terrace Fit-Out package was issued. 
 

• Deltas 4 and 5 to the French Church/Kringle package were issued.  
 

• Addendum 6 to the Civil Site Plans was issued.  
 

• Delta 2 and the final Construction package for the Daycare was issued.  

 

 

  



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 5  STATUS OF WORK COMPLETED / PROGRESS PHOTOGRAPHS 

  Page 10  

5b PROGRESS PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
A set of construction site photographs showing progress in the Third Quarter of 2018 is included in this document as 
Appendix E. Current site aerial photos are included below.  

 
August 20, 2018  

 
 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 6  PERMITS 

  Page 11  
 

135.02.6 The licensee shall have a continuing obligation, pursuant to 205 CMR 120.01(2) to timely provide 
to the commission an updated permits chart and all documents and information listed in 205 CMR 120.01: 
Permitting Requirements, as well as any updates to the MEPA process such that the commission is 
continuously apprised of all material developments with respect to all permits and approvals required for 
the gaming establishment. Pursuant to 205 CMR 120.01(1)(h) the licensee shall provide to the commission 
copies of any appeal within 20 days of filing, whether to a municipal or state entity or for judicial review, 
filed with respect to any permit of approval listed in 205 CMR 120.01(1) along with a copy of the docket 
sheet and each decision on any appeal.  

 
 

6 PERMITS 
 
The following is the status of required permits and approvals, including local permits issued in the Third Quarter of 
2018:  
 

AGENCY OR GOVERNING 
LEGAL AUTHORITY 

PERMIT, REVIEW, OR 
APPLICATION 

DATE APPLICATION SUBMITTED OR 
ESTIMATED ANTICIPATED APPLICATION DATE 

FEDERAL 

1. US Environmental 
Protection Agency 
(EPA) 

USEPA Construction General 
Permit 

Permit received 2/23/15: USEPA MAR120000 

NPDES General Permit 
 

Permit for Main St. and East Columbus Ave. received 
3/9/15: MAR12B410 

NPDES Remediation General 
Permit (RGP) 

Based on foundation design, no permit is expected to 
be required.  

2. Federal Aviation 
Administration 

Determination of No Hazard 
to Air Navigation 

Approval letters received April 13, 2016:  
2016-ANE-471-OE for Hotel/Casino 
2016-ANE-471-OE for Parking Garage 

Approval letters received July 14, 2016 for Tower 
Crane and Liebherr 1250 Crawler Crane 

Form 7460-2: Notice of 
Actual Construction or 
Alteration 

2016-ANE-471-OE for Hotel/Casino-completion filed 
5/30/18 
2016-ANE-472-OE for Parking Garage-completion 
filed 7/19/18.  

STATE  

1. Massachusetts Gaming 
Commission 
 
 
 

Gaming License Received 11/7/14 

Findings issued pursuant to 
M.G.L. ch. 30 sec. 61 

Section 61 Findings issued by MGC on Dec. 17, 
2015.  

Site Plan Approval Final Design/Site Plan approved by unanimous vote at 
meeting on May 12, 2016. 
 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 6  PERMITS 

  Page 12  
 

2. Executive Office of 
Energy and 
Environmental Affairs 

Massachusetts 
Environmental Policy Act 
(MEPA) Review 

Certificate on Final Environmental Impact Report 
Received 12/31/14 (EEA 15033); Certificate on Notice 
of Project Change (NPC) finding no Supplement 
Environmental Impact Report required issued 
11/25/15. 

Request for Advisory Opinion Request for Advisory Opinion Submitted on 6/15/18 by 
Epsilon Associates 

3. Massachusetts 
Department of 
Environmental 
Protection (MA DEP)      
                                     

Underground Injection 
Control (UIC) BRP WS-06 

To be filed at project completion 

Construction Dewatering 
Permit 

Based on foundation design, no permit is required as 
groundwater can be managed internal to the site 
boundary.  

4. Massachusetts 
Historical Commission 
(MHC) 

Review of project relative to 
potential effects of State 
Register historic/ 
archeological resources 

Final Memorandum of Agreement Approved by MGC 
on December 17, 2015 and Signed by MHC on 
December 18, 2015.  

5. Massachusetts 
Department of 
Transportation 
(MassDOT) 

Findings pursuant to M.G.L c. 
30, sec. 61 

Section 61 Findings issued by MassDOT on March 28, 
2016. 

Category III Application for 
Permit to Access State 
Highway – Package 1 of 2 
 

Highway Access Permit #2-2016-0079 granted on 
11/9/16 for construction of multimodal roadway and 
traffic control improvements for all work affecting the 
State’s infrastructure. 
MassDOT Letter of Completion for permit-related 
construction issued 07/25/18 

Category III Application for 
Permit to Access State 
Highway – Package 2 of 2 

Highway Access Permit #2-2017-086 was granted on 
11/16/17 for construction of ITS enhancements and 
roadway lighting mitigation affecting the State’s 
infrastructure. 
MassDOT Letter of Completion for permit-related 
construction (ITS cameras) issued 07/25/18 
MassDOT Letter of Completion for permit-related 
construction (non-camera ITS work) issued 07/27/18 
MassDOT Letter of Completion for permit-related 
construction (ITS work except VMS and Light Pole at 
Location 2) issued 07/31/18 
MassDOT Letter of Completion of ITS Installations 
issued 08/14/18 

Work in the Towns of 
Agawam and West 
Springfield 

Work in the Towns of Agawam and West Springfield; 
Towns of Agawam and West Springfield, 11/16/2017:  
02-2017-0086 

6. Massachusetts Dept. of 
Housing & Community 

Chapter 121A Designation as 
an Urban Redevelopment 

Approval letter received 12/31/14 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 6  PERMITS 

  Page 13  
 

Development Project 

7. Massachusetts 
Department of Public 
Safety 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

New Elevator Construction 
Permit 
 

New installation of direct hydraulic freight elevators at 
1200 Main Street, 2/6/17: ELV17-0331 and EV17-0328 

New installation of direct hydraulic freight elevators at 
1200 Main Street, 2/28/17: ELV17-0493 and ELV17-
0494. 

New installation of traction passenger elevators at 
1200 Main Street-Parking Garage, 3/20/17: ELEV17-
0644, ELEV17-0645,  ELEV17-0646,  ELEV17-0648,  
ELEV17-0649,  ELEV17-0650,  ELEV17-0606,  
ELEV17-0607. 

Certificate For Use of 
Man/Material Hoist 
 

Certificate for Use of Elevator, 1441 Main Street, 
3/21/17: INS-088733 and INS-088738 

Certificate for Use of Elevator for Staff Elevator, 
Garage; 2/25/18: ID#281-F-16947; INS-110360 

Storage Permit Not required per 527 CMR 9.00. No fuel tanks in 
excess of 10,000 gallons are included in the project. 

8. Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts Division 
of Professional 
Licensure 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Certificate for Use of Elevator 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Permit to Use Elevator at 95 State Street, 9/12/17: 
INS-146454 

Certificate for use of elevator; 95 State Street, 
12/27/17: ID# 281-P-672; Ins# INS-175035 

Certificate to use Elevator; 95 State Street, 10/17/17, 
INS-127597 

Certificate to use Elevator; 95 State Street, 4/25/18,  
ID# 281-P-671; Ins# INS-127596 

Certificate to use Elevator; Garage, 4/25/18, ID# 281-
F-16946; INS-110357 

Certificate to use Elevator; Garage, 4/25/18, ID# 281-
F-16947; INS-110360 

Certificate to use Elevator; 34 MGM Way, 6/5/18, ID# 
281-P-16988; INS-114000 

Certificate to use Elevator; 34 MGM Way, 6/5/18, ID# 
281-P-16989; INS-113999 

Certificate to use Elevator; 24 MGM Way, 6/6/18, ID# 
281-P-17625; INS-210213 

Certificate to use Elevator; 24 MGM Way, 6/6/18, ID# 
281-P-17626; INS-210212 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 6  PERMITS 

  Page 14  
 

 
 

Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts Division 
of Professional 
Licensure, continued 

 
 
Certificate for Use of 
Elevator, continued 

Certificate to use Elevator; 24 MGM Way, 6/14/18, ID# 
281-P-17812; INS-211490 

Certificate to use Elevator; 24 MGM Way, 6/21/18, ID# 
281-P-17991; INS-211066 

Certificate to use Elevator; 24 MGM Way, 6/21/18, ID# 
281-P-17992; INS-211065 

Certificate for use of elevator;  24 MGM Way,  
7/23/2018: State ID#281-E-17813; INS-157914 

Certificate for use of elevator;  24 MGM Way,  
6/24/2018: State ID#281-E-17814; INS-218198 

Certificate for use of elevator;  24 MGM Way,  
7/27/2018:  State ID#281-P-17068; INS-119636 

Certificate for use of elevator;  24 MGM Way,  
7/27/2018: State ID#281-P-17069; INS-119638 

Certificate for use of elevator;  24 MGM Way,  
7/27/2018: State ID#281-P-17069; INS-119639 

Certificate for use of elevator;  24 MGM Way,  
7/27/2018: State ID#281-P-17071; INS-119641 

Certificate for use of elevator;  24 MGM Way,  
7/27/2018:  State ID#281-P-17072; INS-119643 

Certificate for use of elevator;  24 MGM Way,  
7/27/2018: State ID#281-P-17073; INS-119644 

Certificate for use of elevator;  24 MGM Way,  
7/26/2018: State ID#281-P-18291; INS-183317 

9. Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts-Dept. of 
Fire Services-Office of 
State Fire Marshall 

Storage Tank Removal 
Permit  

None this reporting period. 

10. Massachusetts Division 
of Fisheries and Wildlife 

Natural Heritage and 
Endangered Species Prog. 

Filing exemption for Memorial Bridge improvements 
received on 6/21/16. 

LOCAL PERMITS AND APPROVALS UPDATE FOR JULY-AUGUST 2018  

1. City of Springfield 
Department of Public 
Works Division 

Letter of Completion Substantial Completion approval for Offsite Mitigation: 
Approval Letter, 7/25/18, Permit 2-2016-0079 

2. City of Springfield –
Code 
Enforcement/Building 
Division 
 

Temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy 
 
 

Daycare TCO; Daycare, 7/20/2018: TCO Approval 
Letter Dated 07-20-18 

Kringle Candle TCO; Kringle Candle, 8/17/2018: TCO 
Approval Letter Dated 08-17-18 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 6  PERMITS 

  Page 15  
 

City of Springfield –
Code 
Enforcement/Building 
Division, continued 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy, continued 
 

Salon TCO; Salon, 8/17/2018: TCO Approval Letter 
Dated 08-17-18 

Armory TCO; Armory, 8/17/2018: TCO Approval Letter 
Dated 08-17-18 
Top Golf TCO; Top Golf, 8/7/2018: TCO Approval 
Letter Dated 08-07-18 

Indian Motorcycle TCO; Indian Motorcycle, 8/7/2018: 
TCO Approval Letter Dated 08-07-18 

Hannoush Jewelers TCO; Hannoush Jewelers, 
8/7/2018: TCO Approval Letter Dated 08-07-18 

Cinema TCO; Cinema: 8/7/2018: TCO Approval Letter 
Dated 08-07-18 

Hotel and Podium Fit out TCO; Hotel and Podium: 
7/20/2018: TCO Approval Letter Dated 07-20-18 

Certificate of Occupancy Certificate of Occupancy; 95 State Street / 1 MGM 
Way, 9/12/2018; 16BLDOT-00273AL 

Certificate of Occupancy; French Church-Kringle 
Emporium, 9/13/2018; 17BLDOT-00271AL 

Certificate of Occupancy; Daycare, 7/23/2018: 
18BDOT-00012SM  

Signage Permits 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Daycare signage 145 Union Street; Daycare,  
7/18/2018: 18BDOT-00187S 

Signage; Indian Motorcycle, 8/2/2018: 18BDOT-
00191SI 

Signage; Indian Motorcycle, 8/2/2018: 18BDOT-
00192SI 

Signage; Top Golf, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-00193SI 

Signage; Top Golf, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-00194SI 

Signage; Top Golf, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-00195SI 

Signage; Top Golf, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-00196SI 

Signage; Top Golf, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-00197SI 

Signage; Cal Mare, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-00198SI 

Signage; Cal Mare, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-00199SI 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 6  PERMITS 

  Page 16  
 

City of Springfield –
Code 
Enforcement/Building 
Division, continued 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Signage Permits, continued Signage; Cal Mare, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-00200SI 

Signage; Cal Mare, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-00201SI 

Signage; Cal Mare, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-00202SI 

Signage; Chandler Steakhouse, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-
00203SI 

Signage; Southend Market, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-
00204SI 

Signage; Multiple Window Signs, 8/2/2018:  18BDOT-
00205SI 

Signage; Multiple Historic Wall Plaques, 8/2/2018:  
18BDOT-00206SI 

Signage; Pole Historic Wall Plaques, 8/2/2018:  
18BDOT-00207SI 

Signage; Pole Historic Wall Plaques, 8/2/2018:  
18BDOT-00208SI 

3. City of Springfield 
Historical Commission 

MHC Review Concurring 
Party; Demolition Delay 

SHC approved changes to design for purposes of 
historic resources and revised MOU on 10/23/15.  

4. Springfield City Council 
 
 
 

Springfield City Council, 
continued 

 
 
 
 

Overlay District Special 
Permit 

Overlay District Special Permit approved by City 
Council on December 22, 2015. 

Site Plan Review 
 

MGM Site Plan submission deemed completed on 
November 23, 2015. The City Council voted to 
approve the plan on 2/22/16.     

Amendments to HCA Amendment No. 1 approved by Council vote on 
6/22/15. 
Amendment No. 2 approved by Council vote on 
2/22/16. 

Public Way Discontinuance 
Approval 

The City Council voted to approve street 
discontinuances of both Bliss and Howard Streets on 
1/26/16.  

5. City of Springfield 
Department of Health 
and Human Services 

Health and Human Services 
Licenses 

Licenses granted on June 27, 2018 for the following: 
Essentials, Main Kitchen, The Chandler Steakhouse, 
Starbucks, The Knox Bar, The Commonweath, Top 
Golf, Off Site Catering, Pump Room, Guac this Way, 
Employee Dining Room, Cal Mare, Casino Beverage, 
Lobby Bar, Walk Up Bar, TAP Sports Bar, South End 
Market, Banquet/Convention Space 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 6  PERMITS 

  Page 17  
 

 

6. City of Springfield – 
Forestry Division 

Tree Removal Permit None this reporting period. 

7. Springfield Water and 
Sewer Commission 

Infrastructure Commitment   Infrastructure commitment close out; MGM Springfield, 
July, 2018: MGM Letter Dated July, 2018   

8. City of Springfield – Fire 
Department 
 

Sprinkler System Inspection Final fire sprinkler system test, inspection dated 
10/3/17 

9. City of Springfield – Fire 
Prevention Bureau 
 

Installation of Above Ground 
Storage Tank Permit(s) 

See City of Springfield City Clerk Flammables and 
Explosives Registration, 4/18/17. 

Fuel Oil, Gasoline and Diesel 
Fuel Storage Permit  

See City of Springfield City Clerk Flammables and 
Explosives Registration, 4/18/17. 

10. City of Springfield – 
Conservation Comm. 

Wetlands Protection Act 
Filing Exemption 

None this reporting period.  

11. City of Springfield – City 
Clerk 

Open Air Parking License License to conduct and maintain open-air parking for 
3498 vehicles at 34 MGM Way, 5/23/17 

Flammables and Explosives 
Registration 

Registration for the lawful use of the building at 34 
MGM Way for the keeping, storing, manufacture or 
sales of flammables or explosives, 4/18/17 

Registration Registration authorization for flammables and 
explosives onsite; MGM Springfield:  7/11/2018 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 7  ORGANIZED LABOR LETTER 

  Page 18  
 

135.02.7 In furtherance of specific goals for the utilization of minorities, women and veterans on 
construction jobs, the licensee shall send and provide a copy to the commission, to each labor union or 
representative of workers with which the licesee has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract of 
understanding, a notice advising the labor union or workers representative of the licensee’s commitments 
pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23K §(15) and §§21(a)(21) and (22). 

 
 

7 ORGANIZED LABOR LETTER 
 
The Project Labor Agreement (PLA) was executed on February 26, 2015. Article XVIII on Page 25 of the Agreement 
states the construction manager and labor unions’ commitment to comply with Owner’s Diversity and Affirmative 
Marketing Program as adopted on January 22, 2015.  

A copy of the executed PLA is available to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission’s Representative for review. 

 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 8  OPERATIONAL PHASE DIVERSITY PROGRAM FOR EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 

  Page 19  
 

135.02.8 Prior to the gaming establishment opening for business, in furtherance of specific goals for the 
utilization of minority business enterprises, women business enterprises and veteran business enterprises as 
vendors in the provision of goods and services to the gaming establishment, the licensee shall provide to 
the commission an affirmative marketing plan in which the licensee identifies specific goals, expressed as 
an overall program goal applicable to the total dollar value of contracts entered into, for the utilization of 
minority business enterprises, women business enterprises and veteran business enterprises to participate 
as vendors in the provision of goods and services procured by the gaming establishment and any 
businesses operated as part of the gaming establishment; provided, however, that the specific goals for the 
utilization of such minority business enterprises, women business enterprises and veteran business 
enterprises shall be based on the availability of such minority business enterprises, women business 
enterprises and veteran business enterprises engaged in the type of work to be contracted by the gaming 
licensee.  

 
 

8 OPERATIONAL PHASE DIVERSITY PROGRAM FOR EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 
 
MGM’s Diversity and Affirmative Marketing Program was approved on January 22, 2015. MGM will comply with this 
program to meet goals for Diversity participation in the operational phase of the project.  



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 APPENDICES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

 

LEVEL 1 AND LEVEL 2 PROJECT SCHEDULES 

JULY 11, 2018 (DATA DATE JULY 1, 2018) 

 

 

 

  



Activity Name

MGM Springfield Aug 2018 Opening

ENABLING

FOUNDATIONS (Pod/Hotel)

PARKING GARAGE

CENTRAL ELECTRICAL FACILITY

CENTRAL UTILITY PLANT

PODIUM

ENTERTAINMENT BLOCK

HOTEL

UTILITIES

OFFSITE IMPROVEMENTS (per FEIR)

ARMORY

DAY CARE

CORNER RETAIL (Dave's)

FRENCH CHURCH FIT OUT

EXTERIOR ONSITE IMPROVEMENTS

A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J Jul A S O N D J F M A M J Jul A S O N D J F M A M J Jul A S O N D J F M A M J J A
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Run Date 6/28/18

Data Date 7/1/18 MGM Springfield Project Schedule Level 1 Exec Summary

Page 1 of 1



Activity Name Start Finish

MGM Springfield Aug 2018 Opening 9/19/14 A 7/8/19

PROJECT MANAGEMENT 11/4/14 A 8/24/18

Project Completion Milestones 8/6/18 8/24/18

Construction Turnover Milestones 2/12/18 A 8/22/18

Assist MGM with development of Project Criteria 1/2/15 A 7/3/16 A

Negotiate and Finalize Project Labor Agreement 1/7/15 A 2/26/15 A

Logistics Planning 11/4/14 A 6/15/17 A

ENABLING 9/19/14 A 7/3/18

Design 11/10/14 A 5/15/18 A

ENTITLEMENTS - BY OWNER 10/29/14 A 7/3/18

Procurement 12/8/14 A 4/28/17 A

Tenant Relocation 9/19/14 A 1/22/16 A

Abate / Demo Misc 2/26/15 A 8/15/16 A

Demoilition of Historic Structures 12/2/14 A 10/1/17 A

Site Prep / Construction 3/14/16 A 3/14/16 A

Temp Service 4/15/15 A 5/18/17 A

FOUNDATIONS (Pod/Hotel) 3/20/15 A 5/2/17 A

Design 3/20/15 A 8/1/16 A

Permit 3/14/16 A 5/26/16 A

Procurement 4/12/16 A 6/13/16 A

Mass Excavation 4/14/16 A 12/6/16 A

Mini Pile & Rock Anchors 6/8/16 A 12/5/16 A

Caps Footings & Grade Beams 6/20/16 A 11/15/16 A

Slab on Grade 8/16/16 A 5/2/17 A

PARKING GARAGE 12/21/15 A 7/31/18

Milestones 2/1/16 A 6/30/18 A

Enabling 12/21/15 A 7/8/16 A

Design 2/1/16 A 10/31/16 A

Permitting 3/4/16 A 8/18/16 A

Procurement 3/28/16 A 11/25/16 A

Fabrication 5/31/16 A 5/19/17 A

Construction 3/14/16 A 7/31/18

CENTRAL ELECTRICAL FACILITY 5/2/16 A 6/1/18 A

Procurement 5/2/16 A 7/31/17 A

Construction 8/1/16 A 8/3/17 A

Collins Electric 1/23/17 A 6/1/18 A

Testing & Commissioning 9/18/17 A 10/1/17 A

CENTRAL UTILITY PLANT 11/7/16 A 7/31/18

Procurement 11/7/16 A 8/1/17 A

Construction 1/5/17 A 5/25/18 A

Equipment Start Up 11/1/17 A 6/26/18 A

Testing & Commissioning 10/15/17 A 7/31/18

PODIUM 2/9/15 A 8/20/18

Design 2/9/15 A 5/1/17 A

Permit 4/6/16 A 2/16/18 A

Procurement 3/15/16 A 2/9/18 A

O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J JA

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Actual Work

Remaining Work

Critical Remaining Work

MGM Springfield Aug 2018 Opening Page 1 of 3

Level 2 Summary / Data Date 7/1/18 / Printed 6/28/18 



Activity Name Start Finish

Fabrication 5/16/16 A 9/1/17 A

Core & Shell 7/1/16 A 8/6/18

Podium Fit Out 2/20/17 A 8/20/18

ENTERTAINMENT BLOCK 7/7/17 A 8/22/18

Fit Out 7/7/17 A 8/22/18

HOTEL 2/9/15 A 8/8/18

Design 2/9/15 A 7/30/17 A

Procurement 4/1/16 A 2/27/18 A

Fabrication 6/1/16 A 7/2/18

Guest Room Mockup 7/11/16 A 9/11/17 A

Core & Shell 10/12/16 A 8/8/18

Fit Out 2/14/17 A 8/3/18

UTILITIES 2/26/15 A 7/9/18

Design 2/26/15 A 5/20/16 A

Permitting 6/3/15 A 10/9/15 A

Procurement 2/26/15 A 1/26/16 A

Construction 5/4/15 A 7/9/18

Eversource 2/1/16 A 9/1/17 A

OFFSITE IMPROVEMENTS (per FEIR) 9/19/16 A 8/20/18

Procurement 9/19/16 A 9/30/16 A

Coordination Pts from Casino Schedule 10/10/17 A 5/11/18 A

Northern Summary 10/1/16 A 7/31/18

Plainfield 6/8/18 A 6/8/18 A

I-291 / Dwight Street 6/8/18 A 6/8/18 A

Union Street 4/27/18 A 7/2/18

East Columbus 4/27/18 A 7/2/18

State Street 4/27/18 A 7/2/18

Main Street 4/27/18 A 7/2/18

Boland Way 4/27/18 A 7/2/18

Memorial Bridge 4/27/18 A 7/26/18

Misc 4/27/18 A 7/20/18

ITS - Intelligent Transportation System 7/31/17 A 8/20/18

ARMORY 11/1/16 A 8/15/18

MGM Issue Notice to Proceed 8/11/17 A

Armory Demo & Exterior Restoration 11/1/16 A 8/15/18

DAY CARE 11/1/16 A 7/31/18

A/E Selection 11/1/16 A 12/2/16 A

Design 1/9/17 A 6/15/17 A

Construction 8/1/17 A 7/31/18

CORNER RETAIL (Dave's) 7/31/17 A 7/8/19

Civil Site Developemnt 7/31/17 A 2/16/18 A

Retail Center Design & Construction 2/19/18 A 7/8/19

FRENCH CHURCH FIT OUT 7/31/17 A 8/1/18

Design 7/31/17 A 2/2/18 A

Construction 2/2/18 A 8/1/18

Exterior Restoration 9/1/17 A 11/30/17 A

O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J JA

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Actual Work

Remaining Work

Critical Remaining Work

MGM Springfield Aug 2018 Opening Page 2 of 3

Level 2 Summary / Data Date 7/1/18 / Printed 6/28/18 



Activity Name Start Finish

EXTERIOR ONSITE IMPROVEMENTS 5/1/17 A 8/16/18

I. French Church Patio 2/12/18 A 7/31/18

II. MGM Way / Howard St (adjacent to E Columbus) 3/1/18 A 8/3/18

III. State Street Sidewalk 4/12/18 A 8/3/18

IV. Howard Street Plaza 5/1/17 A 8/7/18

V. Ice Rink (Plaza) 5/19/18 A 7/30/18

VI. Howard St / Main St Walks 7/2/18 8/8/18

VII. Armory / Marketplace Plaza 11/3/17 A 7/27/18

VIII. DaVinci Park Reconstruction 8/9/17 A 8/16/18

Union St 10/23/17 A 7/9/18

O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J JA

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Actual Work

Remaining Work

Critical Remaining Work

MGM Springfield Aug 2018 Opening Page 3 of 3

Level 2 Summary / Data Date 7/1/18 / Printed 6/28/18 



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 APPENDICES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

PRESENTATION OF DIVERSITY STATISTICS AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 

 

 

 

  



Access and Opportunity Committee
October 9, 2018



Agenda

1. Construction Workforce 

2. Design & Construction Payments 

3. Design Commitments 

4. Construction Commitments



Construction 
Workforce



WORKFORCE DIVERSITY STATISTICS - UNION

!4

(1) Statistics include all workforce reports that were received by MGM as of September 30, 2018.
Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

Group Project Goals Project To Date %

Women 6.90% 7.53%

Minority 15.30% 22.49%

Veteran 8.00% 8.33%



WORKFORCE DIVERSITY STATISTICS - TOTAL

!5

(1) Statistics include all workforce reports that were received by MGM as of September 30, 2018. 
(2) The Diversity plan approved by the MGC allows reporting to include hours allocated to multiple diversity categories. 5.23% of total workforce hours are included in two of the 

diversity categories and 0.29% of total workforce hours are included in three diversity categories. 
(3) While this is not a reporting requirement of the approved diversity plan, the total hours worked through 3rd quarter 2018 is as follows: 

• Approximately 35% are from Springfield/ Surrounding Communities 
• Approximately 55% are from Western Massachusetts 
• Approximately 71% are from Massachusetts

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

Group Project Goals Project To Date %

Women 6.90% 8.55%

Minority 15.30% 21.78%

Veteran 8.00% 8.71%



Design & Construction 
Payments



DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION PAYMENTS

!7

(1) Total Payments through August 31, 2018 are $552.3M.  Total payments is inclusive of $112.7M in plan approved exemptions. 
(2) Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 

• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or  Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 
• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 
• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 

WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.

Notes:

AS OF AUGUST 31, 2018

Group Project 
Goals Payments Variance Company 

Count Value

WBE 10.0% 20.5% 10.5% 80 $113.1M

MBE 5.0% 7.4% 2.4% 49 $41.0M

VBE 2.0% 6.3% 4.3% 25 $34.7M



Design & Construction 
Commitments



DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION COMMITMENTS

!9

(1) Total Commitments through September 30, 2018 are $611.3M. 
(2) Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 

• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or  Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 
• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 
• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 

WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

Group Project 
Goals Commitments Variance Company 

Count Value

WBE 10.0% 20.9% 10.9% 82 $127.8M

MBE 5.0% 7.8% 2.8% 49 $47.6M

VBE 2.0% 6.5% 4.5% 25 $39.5M



Design & Consulting 
Commitments



DESIGN & CONSULTING COMMITMENTS

!11

(1) Total Commitments through September 30, 2018 are $49.6M. 
(2) Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 

• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or  Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 
• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 
• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 

WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

Group Project 
Goals Commitments Company Count Value

WBE 10.0% 16.4% 22 $8.1M

MBE 5.0% 13.1% 19 $6.5M

VBE 2.0% 6.6% 3 $3.3M



DESIGN & CONSULTING COMMITMENTS

!12

Ref Company Scope Location Diversity 
Status

1 AAC Investments, LLC Interior Design Los Angeles, CA WBE
2 AFO Project Consulting, LLC Construction Consulting Las Vegas, NV VBE
3 Akal Engineering, Inc. Project Commissioning - MEP Services Boylston, MA MBE
4 American Project Management Signage Installation Management Las Vegas, NV MBE
5 Andelman & Lelek Engineering, Inc. Energy Modeling Norwood, MA WBE
6 Blackford, LLC Construction Management Las Vegas, NV VBE
7 Black Hawk Group Consulting Engineer Services Philadelphia, PA MBE
8 C&C Consulting Engineers, LLC Structural Peer Review Allston, MA MBE
9 Calvin Consulting Services, LLC Construction Consulting Las Vegas, NV WBE
10 Clayton, LLC Sign Procurement and Installation Woburn, MA MBE
11 Communications for Design LLC Design and Project Management Support Services Northfield, MN WBE
12 Convergent Technologies 

Design Group, Inc.
Acoustics/ Audio Visual/ IT/ Low Voltage Lockport, NY WBE

13 Copley Wolff Design Group, Inc. Full Landscape Architectural Services Boston, MA WBE
14 Desert Construction Consulting, Ltd Estimating and Contractor Bidding Services Henderson, NV MBE
15 Desman, Inc. Parking Garage Bridging Documents (LOA) Boston, MA MBE

(1) Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 
• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 
• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 
• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission.  

(2) Green highlighted companies have been paid as of August 31, 2018. 
WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018



DESIGN & CONSULTING COMMITMENTS

!13

Ref Company Scope Location Diversity 
Status

16 Dietz & Company Architects, Inc. Full Service Architecture and Interior Design Springfield, MA WBE
17 Engineers Design Group, Inc. Structural Engineering Consulting Services Malden, MA MBE
18 Erin Chrusciel Photography, LLC Photography East Longmeadow, MA WBE
19 Fernandez & Associates Fire Protection Design and Code Consulting Services Byfield, MA MBE
20 Hamilton Anderson Associates, Inc. Architectural Services Detroit, MI MBE
21 Hi-Rise Graphics, Inc. Signage Design Lawrence, MA MBE
22 Hyde Business Services, LLC Permit and Community Commitment Coordination Medina, MN WBE
23 Independent Design, LLC Historical MOA Research/ Signage Design Quincy, MA WBE
24 JoAnn Jones Administrative Services Henderson, NV WBE
25 KLM Revolution Project Management Henderson, NV WBE
26 Marshall Moya Design, LLC Architectural Services Washington, DC MBE
27 Maryann Thompson Architects Architectural Design Services Henderson, NV WBE
28 MCLA, Inc. Lighting Washington, DC WBE
29 Moya Design Partners Interior Design Henderson, NV WBE
30 Nitsch Engineering, Inc. Engineering Services Boston, MA WBE

(1) Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 
• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 
• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 
• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission.  

(2) Green highlighted companies have been paid as of August 31, 2018. 
WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018



DESIGN & CONSULTING COMMITMENTS

!14

Ref Company Scope Location Diversity 
Status

31 Pristine Engineers, Inc. MEP Peer Review Services Raynham, MA MBE
32 Pro Cure, LLC FFE Project Management National Harbor, MD WBE
33 Renderready, LLC Rendering and Graphic Design Albuquerque, NM MBE
34 RSE Associates, Inc. Engineering Design Watertown, MA MBE
35 Sign Design, Inc. Signage Design Brockton, MA WBE
36 Soden Sustainability Consulting, LLC LEED Winchester, MA WBE
37 Spec's Design Group, LLC Interior Design Springfield, MA WBE
38 Stevens & Associates Façade Stabilization Design Brattleboro, VT VBE
39 Timothy Haahs & Associates, Inc. Architect and Engineer of Record/ Parking Consultant Blue Bell, PA MBE
40 Two Twelve Graphic Designer New York, NY WBE
41 US Inspection & Consulting, LLC Construction Inspections Lake Havasu City, AZ MBE
42 VAV International, Inc. Mechanical Consulting Woburn, MA MBE
43 WA Architects, Inc. Architectural Services Cleveland, OH MBE
44 YA Construction Services, LLC MEP Peer Review St. Louis, MO WBE

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(1) Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 
• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 
• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 
• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission.  

(2) Green highlighted companies have been paid as of August 31, 2018. 
WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.

Notes:



Construction 
Commitments



CONSTRUCTION COMMITMENTS

!16

(1) Total Commitments through September 30, 2018 are $561.6M. 
(2) Includes companies that are certified with the following agencies: 

• MBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council. 
• WBE - Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office or Women’s Business Enterprise National Council. 
• VBE - United States Department of Veteran Affairs or Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 

WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

Group Project 
Goals Commitments Company Count Value

WBE 10.0% 21.3% 60 $119.7M

MBE 5.0% 7.4% 30 $41.1M

VBE 2.0% 6.4% 22 $36.2M



DIVERSE CONSTRUCTION COMPANIES

!17

Ref Company Scope Location Diversity 
Status

1 84 Lumber Material Supplier Hampden, MA WBE
2 Aces Enterprises, LLC Steel Plate Supplier Dunlap, IL VBE
3 AeroSage, LLC Fire Protection Material Supplier Tampa, FL VBE
4 Alares, LLC Commissioning and Construction Services Quincy, MA VBE
5 All American Signs Signage Plymouth, MA VBE
6 Alonzee Consulting Construction Consulting Las Vegas, NV WBE
7 American Environmental, Inc. Abatement Holyoke, MA MBE 
8 American Stair Corporation Stair Supplier Romeoville, IL VBE
9 Architectural Products, Inc. Glass and Glazing Burlington, CT WBE
10 Argent Associates, Inc. Material Vendor Burlington, CT WBE
11 Arrow Security Corporation Security Guard Services Springfield, MA VBE
12 Ayala Excavating and Trucking, LLC Trucking Springfield, MA MBE 
13 Baron Industries, Inc Coiling Doors Woburn, MA VBE
14 Beacon Light & Supply, Co. Electrical Supplier Burlington, CT MBE
15 BECO Electrical Contractors, Inc. Electrical Monson, MA VBE
16 Berkshire Concrete Cutting, LLC Saw Cutting Torrington, CT WBE
17 Brican, Inc. General Contracting Services Springfield, MA VBE
18 C&C Contractors, LLC Trucking Services Springfield, MA MBE 
19 C&D Electronics, Inc. Cabling, Wiring, Electronics Supplier Holyoke, MA MBE

(1) Green highlighted companies have worked on site and been paid as of August 31, 2018. 
WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018



DIVERSE CONSTRUCTION COMPANIES

!18

Ref Company Scope Location Diversity 
Status

20 C4 Cables Hotel Electrical Material Supplier Taunton, MA WBE
21 Capasso Restoration, Inc. 95 State Masonry Contractor North Haven, CT WBE
22 Carl-Louis & Co, Inc. Plumbing, Pipe Fitting, Heating Dorchester, MA MBE
23 Carol’s Lighting & Supply Company Electrical Supplies Canton, MA MBE
24 Certified Connection, Inc. Podium Electrical Material Supplier Worcester, MA MBE
25 Central Ceilings, Inc. Drywall Contractor South Easton, MA VBE
26 Chabot & Burnett Construction Co., Inc. Masonry Contractor Agawam, MA WBE
27 Charle George Companies, Inc. Solid Waste Disposal, Recycling, Trucking Londonberry, NH WBE
28 CK Flooring Solutions, Inc. Carpet Installer Chicopee, MA WBE
29 CMJ, LLC Property Management/Maintenance Springfield, MA MBE
30 Connecticut Drywall Finishing, Inc. Drywall West Springfield, MA WBE
31 Connecticut Temperature Controls, LLC Controls Newington, CT VBE
32 Consolidated Brick & Building Supplies, Inc. Brick, Stone & Masonry Distributor Avon, MA WBE
33 Construction Labor Unlimited Labor/Clean-Up West Springfield, MA WBE
34 Coghlin Electrical Contractors, Inc. Electrical Services Worcester, MA WBE
35 C.R. Levesque Trucking Corp. Hauling & Equipment Transportation Monson, MA WBE
36 Critical Power Testing and Maintenance, Inc. Commissioning Amesbury, MA VBE
37 CSL, Inc. Daycare Landscaping Ludlow, MA WBE

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(1) Green highlighted companies have worked on site and been paid as of August 31, 2018. 
WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.



DIVERSE CONSTRUCTION COMPANIES

!19

Ref Company Scope Location Diversity 
Status

38 Dagle Electrical Construction Corp. Offsite Improvements - Electrical Melrose, MA WBE
39 Davenport Advisors, LLC Property Management/ Maintenance Boston, MA MBE
40 Dependable Masonry Construction Company, Inc. Masonry and Brickpaving North Reading, MA MBE
41 Duray/J.F. Duncan Industries, Inc. Food Service Equipment Packages Downey, CA MBE
42 D & W Construction, LLC Drywall Finishing, Material & Labor Winchester, MA MBE
43 Eagle Elevator Company, Inc. Elevator Repairs, Service, Maintenance Boston, MA VBE
44 East Coast Air Barrier & Restoration, Inc. Waterproofing Services Pittsfield, MA WBE
45 EDI Landscape, LLC Landscaping Services Hartford, CT WBE
46 EDM Construction, Inc. Carpentry & Structural Steel Erection Merrimac, MA WBE
47 E L Waterman, Inc. Pipe Supplier Foxboro, MA WBE
48 Evermore Light & Power, Inc. Electrical Somerville, MA WBE 
49 Fabiano Oil Corp. Fuel & Oil Supplier Wrentham, MA WBE 
50 Federal Concrete, Inc. Concrete Services Hopedale, MA WBE
51 Fisher Contracting Corporation General Contracting Services Worcester, MA WBE
52 Fletcher Sewer & Drain, Inc. Inspection - FEIR Ludlow, MA WBE
53 Folan Waterproofing and Construction Company, Inc. Masonry Contractors & Waterproofing South Easton, MA WBE
54 Frisoli Electric, Inc. Electrical Holbrook, MA VBE 
55 Front Line, Inc. Final Cleaning Hopedale, MA WBE
56 Gomes Construction Co. Inc. Utility Connections Ludlow, MA WBE

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(1) Green highlighted companies have worked on site and been paid as of August 31, 2018. 
WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.



!20

DIVERSE CONSTRUCTION COMPANIES

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(1) Green highlighted companies have worked on site and been paid as of August 31, 2018. 
WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.

Ref Company Scope Location Diversity 
Status

57 Granite City Electric Supply Company, Inc. Electrical Supplier Quincy, MA WBE 
58 Great In Counters, Inc. Natural Stone & Quarts Fabrication Smithfield, RI WBE
59 Green Insulation, Inc. Insulation Adams, MA WBE
60 H B Welding, Inc. Steel, Welding, Iron Work Johnston, RI WBE
61 Hiway Safety Systems, Inc Offsite Improvements - Traffic line striping Rockland, MA WBE
62 Homeland Mechanical, LLC Pipe Supplier Quincy, MA VBE
63 Industrial Flame Cutting, Inc. Steel Plate Supplier Beacon Falls, CT VBE
64 J.J. Curran & Sons, Inc. Specialty Flooring Albany, NY WBE
65 JMK Building Supply, Inc Drywall Colchester, CT WBE
66 JRL Construction, Inc. General Contractor - Demolition Springfield, MA VBE
67 Kittredge Equipment Company, Inc. Kitchen Equipment Agawam, MA WBE 
68 L.K. Sheet Metal, Inc. Sheet Metal East Hartford, CT WBE 
69 Larry's Trucking Co. Trucking Springfield, MA MBE
70 Lindon Group Piping Materials East Providence, RI WBE 
71 Liquore Sand & Gravel, LLC Trucking and Materials Enfield, CT VBE
72 M. Frank Higgins & Co., Inc. Casino Tile and Stone Newington, CT WBE
73 Mastercraft Floor Covering, Inc. Carpet Installation Glenpool, OK WBE
74 McElroy Scenic Service, LLC Millwork Fabricator Ashley Falls, MA WBE
75 Medeiros Hydroseeding & Landscaping Construction, Inc. Trucking and Soil Materials Monson, MA MBE 
76 Moor Metals, Inc. Sales and Distribution of Metals Holliston, MA MBE



Ref Company Scope Location Diversity 
Status

77 Ms. Pipe, LLC Procurement of Valves, Pipes and Fittings South Windsor, CT WBE
78 Multi-Residential Kitchens Cabinetry, Countertops, Millwork, Install Hagerstown, MD WBE
79 New Bedford Floor Covering Sales Company, Inc Floor Covering Supplier New Bedford, MA MBE
80 New England Foundation Company, Inc. Helical Piles Boston, MA WBE
81 Northeastern Steel Corporation Steel Distributor Revere, MA MBE
82 Orissa, LLC Cleaning Service Rocky Hill, CT MBE
83 Performance Testing & Balancing LLC Testing & Balancing South Hampton, MA VBE 
84 Piping Systems, Inc. HVAC Assonet, MA WBE
85 Protocol Management Services, Inc. Raised Access Floors Material Supplier North Attleboro, MA WBE
86 Quinette King Consulting Blackout Paint Supplier Las Vegas, NV MBE
87 Rebars & Mesh, Inc. Concrete Haverhill, MA WBE 
88 Regis Steel Corporation Steel Erection/ Reinforcing Fall River, MA MBE
89 S&F Concrete Contractors, Inc. Concrete Hudson, MA MBE
90 S-Cel-O, LLC 95 State Painting Springfield, MA MBE
91 Security Construction Services, Inc. Fencing Hudson, MA WBE 
92 SOS Corporation Construction Cleaning, Selective Interior Demolition Milford, MA WBE
93 Steere Engineering, Inc. Engineering Services Warwick, RI WBE
94 Strategic Environmental Services, Inc. Environmental Consultants Sutton, MA WBE

!21

DIVERSE CONSTRUCTION COMPANIES

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(1) Green highlighted companies have worked on site and been paid as of August 31, 2018. 
WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.



Ref Company Scope Location Diversity 
Status

95 Sullivan and Narey Construction, Inc. Armory Building Masonry Holyoke, MA VBE
96 Superior Caulking & Waterproofing Caulking & Waterproofing Palmer, MA VBE
97 Supplies Exchange Systems Materials Supplier Dorchester, MA MBE
98 T & M Equipment Corporation Excavating Contractor Springfield, MA VBE
99 Tango Construction Inc. Paving, Catch Basin, Manhole Adjustment Fitchburg, MA MBE

100 Tavares, LLC Fireproofing Providence, RI MBE
101 Titan Roofing Company Roofing Springfield, MA MBE 
102 Total Mechanical Service Corp. Pool Mechanical Contractor Plymouth, MA MBE
103 Triton Leasing and Rental, Inc. Demolition & Abatement Feeding Hills,MA WBE 
104 Turtle & Hughes, Inc. Podium Unistrut Supplier Linden, NJ WBE
105 United Personnel Services, Inc. Kitchen Equipment Labor Springfield, MA WBE
106 Ultimate Abatement Company, Inc. Abatement Plainfield, MA WBE 
107 Wallco Installations, LLC Operable Partition Installation Fairfield, CT WBE
108 Welch Associates Land Surveyors, Inc. Land Surveying West Bridgewater, MA WBE
109 West Floor Covering, Inc. Sales and Installation of Floor Coverings Pembroke, MA WBE
110 Willow Tree Outdoor, LLC Landscape Springfield, MA WBE 
111 Woodchuck’s Building & Hone Center Construction Supplier Rockland, MA MBE
112 Younger Brothers Construction, LLC Materials Supplier Watertown, MA MBE

!22

DIVERSE CONSTRUCTION COMPANIES

Notes:

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(1) Green highlighted companies have worked on site and been paid as of August 31, 2018. 
WBE = Woman-owned Business Enterprise; MBE = Minority-owned Business Enterprise;  VBE = Veteran-owned Business Enterprise.



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 APPENDICES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

 

CONSTRUCTION WORKFORCE STATISTICS AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 

 

  



MGM Springfield
Workforce Diversity Report (By Company)
As of: September 30, 2018

Reference Company
Employee 

Count
This Month's Total 

Hours Hours % Hours % Hours %
Employee 

Count
Project To Date 

Total Hours Hours % Hours % Hours %

1 Acoustics, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6                   596.50 0.00 0.00% 224.00 37.55% 224.00 37.55%
2 Acranom Masonry Enterprises, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 13                 1,580.50 0.00 0.00% 824.50 52.17% 0.00 0.00%
3 AeroClean -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 20                 3,382.50 0.00 0.00% 1,808.00 53.45% 0.00 0.00%
4 AK Installation Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 12                 2,518.00 674.00 26.77% 798.00 31.69% 124.00 4.92%
5 Allied Fire Protection, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 9                   1,354.00 0.00 0.00% 256.00 18.91% 0.00 0.00%
6 American Environmental, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 195               33,261.25 2,250.50 6.77% 30,069.75 90.40% 288.50 0.87%
7 AmQuip Crane Rental LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 9                   1,989.50 0.00 0.00% 970.50 48.78% 0.00 0.00%
8 Ardex, L.P. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6                   268.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
9 Axion Specialty Contracting -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 29                 9,031.00 0.00 0.00% 3,142.00 34.79% 2,166.00 23.98%
10 Ayotte & King For Tile, Inc -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 27                 611.50 0.00 0.00% 4.00 0.65% 0.00 0.00%
11 Back Bay Sign -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2                   266.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
12 Barber Firestop Systems LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 18                 2,085.00 38.00 1.82% 30.00 1.44% 0.00 0.00%
13 Bay Crane Northeast -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1                   10.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
14 Bay State Elevator Co. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 8                   315.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
15 BCI Worldwide -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 68                 12,263.50 920.00 7.50% 5,421.00 44.20% 490.00 4.00%
16 BECO Electrical Contractors, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 11                 3,433.50 0.00 0.00% 1,116.50 32.52% 2,088.00 60.81%
17 Berkshire Concrete Cutting -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 7                   136.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 7.50 5.49%
18 Berlin Steel Construction Company -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 105               63,226.50 6,565.00 10.38% 6,814.50 10.78% 3,394.50 5.37%
19 BG Mechanical Contractors, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 34                 14,884.62 0.00 0.00% 2,637.00 17.72% 2,632.00 17.68%
20 Blakeslee Prestress, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 43                 27,616.50 2,515.50 9.11% 3,753.00 13.59% 2,218.50 8.03%
21 Blue Construction, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 28                 26,663.00 4,614.50 17.31% 7,152.50 26.83% 1,564.00 5.87%
22 Budget Concrete -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1                   65.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
23 C & S Co., Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6                   680.50 0.00 0.00% 173.50 25.50% 0.00 0.00%
24 Capasso Restoration, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 10                 4,172.00 0.00 0.00% 2,148.00 51.49% 706.50 16.93%
25 Central Ceilings, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 94                 98,859.50 7,554.00 7.64% 26,074.50 26.38% 15,181.50 15.36%
26 Chabot & Burnett Construction Co., Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 89                 33,497.50 2,451.50 7.32% 9,847.50 29.40% 1,990.00 5.94%
27 Champlain Masonry, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 36                 5,090.75 100.00 1.96% 1,965.00 38.60% 688.00 13.51%
28 Chandler Architectural Products -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 46                 5,683.50 646.50 11.38% 255.00 4.49% 600.00 10.56%
29 CIP Concrete, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 15                 4,337.00 0.00 0.00% 687.00 15.84% 0.00 0.00%
30 CK Flooring Solutions, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 30                 7,597.50 1,126.00 14.82% 2,252.50 29.65% 521.50 6.86%
31 Coghlin Electrical Contractors, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 431               359,031.50 17,187.00 4.79% 61,225.00 17.05% 37,178.50 10.36%
32 Collins Electrical -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 175               126,162.75 8,059.00 6.39% 16,330.25 12.94% 7,631.00 6.05%
33 Comm-Tract Corp -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 13                 3,391.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
34 Commonwealth Guardrail, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 21                 1,239.00 91.00 7.34% 190.00 15.33% 53.00 4.28%
35 Connecticut Drywall Finishing, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 29                 4,516.50 207.00 4.58% 861.50 19.07% 0.00 0.00%
36 Construction Labor Unlimited, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 9                   747.00 8.00 1.07% 398.00 53.28% 0.00 0.00%
37 Conte Company, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3                   24.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 8.00 33.33%
38 Cross Country Food Service Installers Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 12                 4,067.00 0.00 0.00% 1,003.00 24.66% 1,036.00 25.47%
39 Cushing and Sons, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6                   174.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 42.00 24.14%
40 Cyn Environmental Services -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1                   24.00 0.00 0.00% 24.00 100.00% 0.00 0.00%
41 D.A. Sullivan & Sons, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 44                 15,009.50 1,882.00 12.54% 4,346.00 28.95% 396.00 2.64%
42 Dagle Electrical Construction -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 36                 5,674.00 204.00 3.60% 244.00 4.30% 211.00 3.72%
43 Day & Nite Refrigeration -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5                   3,554.00 0.00 0.00% 2,240.00 63.03% 0.00 0.00%
44 DeLucca Fence Company, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 10                 184.00 8.00 4.35% 16.00 8.70% 0.00 0.00%
45 Dependable Masonry Construction Co., Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6                   439.00 32.00 7.29% 219.00 49.89% 0.00 0.00%
46 Division Six Installers, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 36                 21,644.00 1,380.00 6.38% 4,396.00 20.31% 2,274.00 10.51%
47 Eagle Fence & Guardrail Construction, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 19                 2,357.75 0.00 0.00% 819.00 34.74% 0.00 0.00%
48 East Coast Air Barrier & Restoration, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 10                 465.00 0.00 0.00% 39.00 8.39% 0.00 0.00%
49 EDI Landscape, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 23                 12,614.75 1,347.00 10.68% 7,867.00 62.36% 0.00 0.00%
50 EDM Construction, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 42                 6,346.50 471.00 7.42% 1,379.50 21.74% 1,668.00 26.28%
51 EF Corcoran Plumbing & Heating, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 28                 8,491.00 1,410.50 16.61% 2,330.50 27.45% 0.00 0.00%
52 Energy Insulation Conservation Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 23                 6,705.00 0.00 0.00% 1,581.00 23.58% 0.00 0.00%
53 Environmental Testing & Balancing -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 7                   2,706.00 0.00 0.00% 419.50 15.50% 0.00 0.00%
54 Evermore Light and Power, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4                   613.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
55 Federal Concrete, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 100               38,506.50 2,886.00 7.49% 4,676.00 12.14% 1,949.50 5.06%
56 First Choice Finishes -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 11                 6,711.50 1,180.00 17.58% 1,212.00 18.06% 547.50 8.16%
57 Folan Waterproofing & Construction -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 13                 1,471.50 0.00 0.00% 547.50 37.21% 0.00 0.00%
58 Fontaine Bros, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 54                 18,259.50 2,784.50 15.25% 4,790.00 26.23% 1,230.00 6.74%
59 Food Equipment Installation, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4                   116.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
60 Frisoli Electric Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1                   299.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
61 Front Line, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 52                 9,672.50 5,198.00 53.74% 2,763.50 28.57% 459.00 4.75%
62 Fusion Electric, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2                   112.00 0.00 0.00% 104.00 92.86% 0.00 0.00%
63 Gagliarducci Construction, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 47                 4,264.50 635.00 14.89% 709.50 16.64% 906.50 21.26%

This Month's Workforce Diversity Statistics Project To Date Workforce Diversity Statistics
Women Minority Veteran Women Minority Veteran



MGM Springfield
Workforce Diversity Report (By Company)
As of: September 30, 2018

Reference Company
Employee 

Count
This Month's Total 

Hours Hours % Hours % Hours %
Employee 

Count
Project To Date 

Total Hours Hours % Hours % Hours %

This Month's Workforce Diversity Statistics Project To Date Workforce Diversity Statistics
Women Minority Veteran Women Minority Veteran

64 Gomes Construction Company, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4                   575.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
65 Granite State Specialties LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5                   341.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
66 Green Insulation, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5                   2,264.00 0.00 0.00% 48.00 2.12% 0.00 0.00%
67 H. Carr & Sons, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 224               190,401.50 9,399.00 4.94% 46,176.50 24.25% 19,118.00 10.04%
68 Harry Grodsky & Co. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 217               121,710.50 6,031.00 4.96% 9,294.50 7.64% 11,988.50 9.85%
69 Hayward Baker Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 32                 4,465.50 306.50 6.86% 1,170.50 26.21% 775.00 17.36%
70 HB Welding -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 16                 6,833.00 148.50 2.17% 470.00 6.88% 1,082.00 15.83%
71 Heritage Restoration, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 17                 5,868.00 82.00 1.40% 2,336.00 39.81% 100.00 1.70%
72 Hickman & Sgroi Electric Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2                   192.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
73 Insulation Contractor of New England LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 26                 7,778.50 0.00 0.00% 3,128.00 40.21% 902.00 11.60%
74 Interbuild, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 19                 8,725.50 343.00 3.93% 512.00 5.87% 0.00 0.00%
75 J.D. Rivet & Co. Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1                   3.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
76 Jantile Boston -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 54                 24,778.00 363.00 1.47% 3,498.50 14.12% 0.00 0.00%
77 JDC Demolition -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 29                 3,874.00 400.00 10.33% 792.00 20.44% 160.00 4.13%
78 John W. Egan -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 10                 1,327.50 0.00 0.00% 484.00 36.46% 0.00 0.00%
79 Jones Engineering LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2                   168.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
80 JRL Construction, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 84                 29,913.56 5,897.21 19.71% 11,391.50 38.08% 5,272.00 17.62%
81 K&K Acoustical Ceilings, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 8                   2,237.56 321.50 14.37% 357.50 15.98% 0.00 0.00%
82 KHS&S Contractors, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 123               77,140.50 5,090.00 6.60% 23,637.00 30.64% 5,905.00 7.65%
83 Kleeberg Mechanical Services, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 29                 2,675.50 0.00 0.00% 334.00 12.48% 0.00 0.00%
84 Kleeberg Sheet Metal, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 13                 1,144.50 255.00 22.28% 104.00 9.09% 0.00 0.00%
85 L.K. Sheet Metal, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 77                 61,161.25 4,448.25 7.27% 10,551.25 17.25% 4,348.00 7.11%
86 Langan Insulation LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2                   568.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
87 Legere Group -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 10                 6,818.00 1,084.00 15.90% 1,596.00 23.41% 557.00 8.17%
88 Longden Company, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 13                 2,770.00 184.00 6.64% 1,270.00 45.85% 144.00 5.20%
89 M. Frank Higgins & Co., Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 42                 19,023.00 383.00 2.01% 3,766.00 19.80% 0.00 0.00%
90 M.L. McDonald Sales Co., LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 11                 1,409.00 192.00 13.63% 192.00 13.63% 0.00 0.00%
91 M.L. Schmitt, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 43                 36,787.75 5,867.00 15.95% 5,923.00 16.10% 1,994.50 5.42%
92 Major Theatre Equipment Corp. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 7                   1,044.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 216.00 20.69%
93 Manganaro Northeast, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 9                   621.00 0.00 0.00% 306.00 49.28% 0.00 0.00%
94 Marr Equipment Company -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 22                 9,212.75 4,544.25 49.33% 6,567.25 71.28% 0.00 0.00%
95 Marr Scaffold -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 21                 638.00 0.00 0.00% 282.00 44.20% 16.50 2.59%
96 Marguerite Concrete -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 115               6,069.00 0.00 0.00% 1,011.00 16.66% 1,016.00 16.74%
97 Massey's Plate Glass & Aluminum, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 35                 23,943.00 1,616.00 6.75% 3,739.00 15.62% 2,255.00 9.42%
98 Mastercraft FC LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 22                 7,434.77 20.50 0.28% 3,180.81 42.78% 44.75 0.60%
99 Maxim Crane Works LP -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 7                   1,136.00 0.00 0.00% 543.00 47.80% 24.00 2.11%

100 Medeiros Hydroseeding & Landscape Construction, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2                   17.00 0.00 0.00% 11.00 64.71% 0.00 0.00%
101 Midwest Pro Painting Inc -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 66                 47,683.50 5,408.50 11.34% 15,862.00 33.27% 1,117.00 2.34%
102 Mobile Welding Service -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3                   132.00 0.00 0.00% 44.00 33.33% 0.00 0.00%
103 Moran Sheet Metal, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 15                 1,051.25 0.00 0.00% 289.75 27.56% 0.00 0.00%
104 MTK Construction Services, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 28                 1,278.00 0.00 0.00% 64.00 5.01% 0.00 0.00%
105 NER Construction Management -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 19                 2,125.00 0.00 0.00% 405.00 19.06% 0.00 0.00%
106 New England Concrete Cutting, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3                   456.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
107 New England Decks & Floors, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 11                 4,317.00 817.00 18.93% 340.00 7.88% 0.00 0.00%
108 New England Foundation Co., Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 20                 2,727.00 0.00 0.00% 587.50 21.54% 226.00 8.29%
109 New England Partition & Installation, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1                   70.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
110 New Hampshire Steel Erectors, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 11                 2,753.50 518.50 18.83% 104.00 3.78% 0.00 0.00%
111 North East Foam Solutions, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3                   528.00 0.00 0.00% 376.00 71.21% 0.00 0.00%
112 Northeast Contractors, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 37                 26,339.50 2,276.00 8.64% 918.00 3.49% 1,318.00 5.00%
113 Northeast Lighting Protection, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 7                   435.95 0.00 0.00% 119.35 27.38% 0.00 0.00%
114 Northeast Steel Erectors -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 7                   1,359.00 34.00 2.50% 183.00 13.47% 393.00 28.92%
115 Northeastern Steel Corporation -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6                   64.00 9.00 14.06% 50.00 78.13% 0.00 0.00%
116 Northern General -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 118               52,051.50 3,852.50 7.40% 9,281.50 17.83% 4,498.50 8.64%
117 Orissa, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 8                   78.00 54.00 69.23% 13.00 16.67% 0.00 0.00%
118 P. Gioioso & Sons Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 9                   834.50 114.50 13.72% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
119 Palmer Paving Corporation -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 59                 942.00 53.00 5.63% 14.00 1.49% 0.00 0.00%
120 Performance Testing & Balancing, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5                   266.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 38.00 14.29%
121 Professional Drywall Construction, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 96                 12,880.50 438.50 3.40% 2,254.50 17.50% 1,862.00 14.46%
122 Regis Steel Corp -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 69                 9,976.50 1,436.50 14.40% 2,335.00 23.41% 305.00 3.06%
123 RoadSafe Traffic Systems -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6                   49.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
124 S & F Concrete Contractors, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 371               89,248.00 7,427.50 8.32% 27,991.50 31.36% 6,112.50 6.85%
125 Safespan -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 11                 780.50 0.00 0.00% 56.00 7.17% 0.00 0.00%
126 Safway Services -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 81                 37,006.58 2,243.00 6.06% 18,958.50 51.23% 1,269.00 3.43%
127 Save-On-Wall Co., Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 9                   290.50 45.00 15.49% 45.00 15.49% 8.00 2.75%
128 S-Cel-O Painting, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 20                 6,490.50 594.50 9.16% 1,764.00 27.18% 1,066.00 16.42%
129 Schindler Elevator Corp -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 48                 26,812.90 1,138.00 4.24% 1,460.20 5.45% 3,074.00 11.46%
130 Security Construction Services, Inc. d/b/a: Security Fence Co. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 14                 3,866.00 300.00 7.76% 1,233.25 31.90% 40.00 1.03%
131 Sera Design -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4                   705.50 0.00 0.00% 522.00 73.99% 0.00 0.00%
132 Skyline Drywall, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 20                 11,839.00 1,497.00 12.64% 3,399.00 28.71% 2,479.50 20.94%
133 Soep Painting Corp -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 39                 11,791.50 0.00 0.00% 1,392.00 11.81% 0.00 0.00%
134 SOS Corporation -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1                   106.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
135 Southern New England Electrical Testing, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4                   1,129.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 356.00 31.53%
136 Stamford Wrecking -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 23                 4,035.75 76.00 1.88% 1,055.50 26.15% 516.00 12.79%
137 Sullivan & Narey Construction Co., Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 34                 10,853.50 333.50 3.07% 2,143.00 19.74% 647.00 5.96%
138 Superior Caulking & Waterproofing Co., Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 26                 8,052.00 0.00 0.00% 3,958.00 49.16% 156.00 1.94%
139 T & M Equipment Corporation -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 71                 35,236.05 4,802.00 13.63% 6,531.55 18.54% 1,448.50 4.11%
140 Tango Construction, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 17                 359.52 0.00 0.00% 359.52 100.00% 19.67 5.47%



MGM Springfield
Workforce Diversity Report (By Company)
As of: September 30, 2018

Reference Company
Employee 

Count
This Month's Total 

Hours Hours % Hours % Hours %
Employee 

Count
Project To Date 

Total Hours Hours % Hours % Hours %

This Month's Workforce Diversity Statistics Project To Date Workforce Diversity Statistics
Women Minority Veteran Women Minority Veteran

141 Tavares, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 30                 6,643.00 489.00 7.36% 1,970.00 29.66% 0.00 0.00%
142 Tech Valley Contracting, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 8                   2,018.00 206.00 10.21% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
143 The Northern Corp. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5                   170.00 0.00 0.00% 32.00 18.82% 0.00 0.00%
144 The Pappas Company, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4                   128.00 24.00 18.75% 78.00 60.94% 0.00 0.00%
145 Thunderbird Construction -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6                   97.00 0.00 0.00% 40.00 41.24% 0.00 0.00%
146 Tishman -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 29                 44,501.00 11,261.00 25.31% 12,120.00 27.24% 7,120.00 16.00%
147 Titan Roofing, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 136               39,850.25 611.25 1.53% 6,769.25 16.99% 3,233.75 8.11%
148 T.J. Conway Company -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 83                 57,528.75 2,237.00 3.89% 10,039.25 17.45% 10,077.50 17.52%
149 Triton Leasing and Rental, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 35                 3,187.50 0.00 0.00% 1,547.50 48.55% 239.00 7.50%
150 Ultimate Abatement Company, Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 47                 10,430.50 3,632.50 34.83% 10,119.50 97.02% 0.00 0.00%
151 Unistrut International Corporation -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 25                 5,477.50 586.00 10.70% 1,069.00 19.52% 184.00 3.36%
152 Universal Electric Co. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 22                 7,323.50 556.50 7.60% 2,166.00 29.58% 394.00 5.38%
153 Wallco Installations, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 15                 1,221.00 177.00 14.50% 241.50 19.78% 182.00 14.91%
154 Whitehawk Construction Company Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 48                 16,877.00 1,164.00 6.90% 2,380.00 14.10% 776.00 4.60%
155 William Roberts Electric Co., Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 27                 18,571.00 488.00 2.63% 334.00 1.80% 0.00 0.00%
156 Willow Tree Outdoor, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5                   261.50 0.00 0.00% 105.50 40.34% 0.00 0.00%
157 Winterberry Irrigation, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5                   1,548.50 0.00 0.00% 1,072.75 69.28% 0.00 0.00%
158 Wolfe House Movers, LLC -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 10                 1,194.50 0.00 0.00% 306.00 25.62% 228.00 19.09%
159 Wolverine Fire Protection Co -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 34                 34,422.50 2,267.50 6.59% 6,894.50 20.03% 1,591.00 4.62%
160 Worcester Elevator Co., Inc. -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2                   12.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6.00 50.00%

Total - Unions -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5,589            2,370,604.51 178,569.46 7.53% 533,221.68 22.49% 197,373.67 8.33%

161 On-Site Design / Management -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 622               370,359.33 55,918.90 15.10% 63,798.48 17.23% 41,231.55 11.13%
Total -                    0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6,211            2,740,963.84 234,488.36 8.55% 597,020.16 21.78% 238,605.22 8.71%

Group Project Goals Project To Date Delta
Women 6.90% 8.55% 1.65%
Minority 15.30% 21.78% 6.48%
Veteran 8.00% 8.71% 0.71%

Notes:
(1) Statistics include all workforce reports that were received by MGM as of September 30, 2018
(2) The total number of unique union workers that have worked on site is approximately 4,985.  The 5,589 union workers identified above includes workers that have worked for multiple companies.

Totals - Overall



MGM Springfield
Workforce Diversity Report (By Union)
As of: September 30, 2018

Reference Union
Employee 

Count
This Month's Total 

Hours Hours % Hours % Hours %
Employee 

Count
Project To Date 

Total Hours Hours % Hours % Hours %

1 AEEF CWA Local #1300 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 324.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
2 AFSCME Local #230 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 48.00 0.00 0.00% 48.00 100.00% 0.00 0.00%
3 Asbestos Workers #6 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 109 28,643.00 0.00 0.00% 9,382.50 32.76% 3,307.00 11.55%
4 Boston Plasters' & Cement Masons' - Asphalt Layers' Union #534 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 107 8,428.50 817.00 9.69% 1,032.50 12.25% 45.00 0.53%
5 Bricklayers Local #1 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 45 10,656.00 0.00 0.00% 4,927.00 46.24% 152.00 1.43%
6 Bricklayers Local #3 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 294 94,282.00 2,986.00 3.17% 18,667.00 19.80% 2,735.50 2.90%
7 Building Wreckers Union #1421 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3 542.00 0.00 0.00% 542.00 100.00% 0.00 0.00%
8 Carpenters Commercial Construction Local #349 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 6.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
9 Carpenters Interior Systems Local #352 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2 12.00 0.00 0.00% 6.00 50.00% 0.00 0.00%

10 Carpenters Local #24 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4 33.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
11 Carpenters Local #26 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 21.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
12 Carpenters - Local #108 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 817 337,609.74 26,582.00 7.87% 84,428.50 25.01% 36,603.00 10.84%
13 Carpenters Local #107 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 18 7,787.50 0.00 0.00% 1,658.00 21.29% 112.00 1.44%
14 Carpenters Local #109 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2 671.50 117.00 17.42% 117.00 17.42% 0.00 0.00%
15 Carpenters Local #111 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 56.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
16 Carpenters Local #1305 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4 366.00 0.00 0.00% 226.00 61.75% 0.00 0.00%
17 Carpenters Local #210 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2 16.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 8.00 50.00%
18 Carpenters Local #2168 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 23 4,683.56 10.50 0.22% 2,374.70 50.70% 44.75 0.96%
19 Carpenters Local #2169 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3 1,152.51 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
20 Carpenters Local #218 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 6.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
21 Carpenters Local #275 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4 114.00 0.00 0.00% 32.00 28.07% 0.00 0.00%
22 Carpenters Local #33 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 13 3,259.50 45.00 1.38% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
23 Carpenters Local #326 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4 1,097.00 0.00 0.00% 92.00 8.39% 0.00 0.00%
24 Carpenters Local #327 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3 1,829.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
25 Carpenters Local #328 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2 20.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
26 Carpenters Local #330 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4 885.00 0.00 0.00% 809.00 91.41% 0.00 0.00%
27 Carpenters Local #336 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 273 132,508.09 8,684.50 6.55% 34,735.50 26.21% 14,846.00 11.20%
28 Carpenters Local #337 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 328.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
29 Carpenters Local #338 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6 761.00 0.00 0.00% 210.00 27.60% 0.00 0.00%
30 Carpenters Local #339 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3 104.00 0.00 0.00% 54.00 51.92% 0.00 0.00%
31 Carpenters Local #346 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 32.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
32 Carpenters Local #349 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 7 1,190.00 0.00 0.00% 258.00 21.68% 0.00 0.00%
33 Carpenters Local #424 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2 80.00 0.00 0.00% 72.00 90.00% 65.00 81.25%
34 Carpenters Local #43 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6 554.00 0.00 0.00% 48.00 8.66% 0.00 0.00%
35 Carpenters Local #475 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 39.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
36 Carpenters Local #535 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3 565.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
37 Carpenters Local #67 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3 320.00 0.00 0.00% 136.00 42.50% 0.00 0.00%
38 Carpenters Local #635 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5 343.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 89.00 25.91%
39 Carpenters Local #1977 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 23 13,421.00 0.00 0.00% 8,425.00 62.77% 32.00 0.24%
40 Cement Mason Local #592 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 65.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
41 CT Bricklayers #1 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 19 5,859.00 0.00 0.00% 2,931.50 50.03% 0.00 0.00%
42 Floorcoverers Local #2168 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 54 6,790.00 1,064.00 15.67% 2,178.00 32.08% 521.50 7.68%
43 Glaziers Union Local 1133 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 9 714.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
44 International Alliance Theatrical Stage Employees Local #53 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 7 1,044.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 216.00 20.69%
45 International Association of Heat and Frost Insulators - Local 33 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5 833.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
46 International Association of Iron Workers Local #7 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 146 69,795.00 6,383.00 9.15% 6,225.00 8.92% 4,084.00 5.85%
47 International Association of Iron Workers Local #15 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5 2,219.50 40.00 1.80% 137.00 6.17% 0.00 0.00%
48 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers - IBEW Local #455 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3 112.25 50.75 45.21% 112.25 100.00% 0.00 0.00%
49 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers - IBEW Local #7 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 739 557,175.00 32,157.50 5.77% 87,230.75 15.66% 49,642.00 8.91%
50 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers - IBEW Local #8 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 273.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
51 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers - IBEW Local #35 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 38 18,986.45 2,677.00 14.10% 4,730.35 24.91% 3,027.00 15.94%
52 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers - IBEW Local #90 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3 773.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
53 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers - IBEW Local #96 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 8.00 0.00 0.00% 8.00 100.00% 0.00 0.00%
54 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers - IBEW Local #103 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 21 2,194.00 204.00 9.30% 16.00 0.73% 211.00 9.62%
55 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers - IBEW Local #104 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 10 1,850.00 0.00 0.00% 212.00 11.46% 0.00 0.00%
56 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers - IBEW Local #1228 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 8.00 0.00 0.00% 8.00 100.00% 0.00 0.00%
57 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers - IBEW 2nd District 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 23.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
58 International Union of Elevator Constructors Local #4 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6 404.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
59 International Union of Elevator Constructors Local #41 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 57 27,047.90 1,138.00 4.21% 1,460.20 5.40% 3,080.00 11.39%
60 International Union of Elevator Constructors Local #42 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 46.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
61 International Union of Elevator Constructors Local #43 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 46.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
62 International Union of Operating Engineers – IUOE Local #4 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 79 8,218.00 0.00 0.00% 241.50 2.94% 807.00 9.82%
63 International Union of Operating Engineers – IUOE Local #5 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 9.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
64 International Union of Operating Engineers – IUOE Local #98 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 218 64,663.55 7,645.75 11.82% 14,150.30 21.88% 3,366.75 5.21%
65 International Union of Operating Engineers – IUOE Local #106 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 12.00 0.00 0.00% 12.00 100.00% 12.00 100.00%
66 International Union of Operating Engineers – IUOE Local #478 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5 2,317.50 0.00 0.00% 2,149.50 92.75% 0.00 0.00%
67 International Union of Painters and Allied Trades - IUPAT District #11 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6 125.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
68 International Union of Painters and Allied Trades - IUPAT Local #1333 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 35 14,779.50 0.00 0.00% 270.00 1.83% 2,170.00 14.68%
69 International Union of Painters and Allied Trades - IUPAT, DC #11, Local #481 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 19 9,098.00 3,182.00 34.97% 2,564.00 28.18% 0.00 0.00%
70 Iron Workers District Council of New England 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 177 39,752.00 4,543.00 11.43% 8,699.50 21.88% 4,946.50 12.44%
71 Laborers' District Council 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 22 2,664.50 0.00 0.00% 1,226.50 46.03% 15.00 0.56%
72 Laborer's International Union of North America - LIUNA Building Wreckers Local #1421 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 188 28,938.75 4,005.25 13.84% 27,172.75 93.90% 0.00 0.00%
73 Laborers Local #133 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5 530.00 450.00 84.91% 466.00 87.92% 0.00 0.00%
74 Laborers Local #138 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 8 1,339.50 90.00 6.72% 20.00 1.49% 0.00 0.00%
75 Laborers Local #151 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6 375.00 0.00 0.00% 11.00 2.93% 0.00 0.00%
76 Laborers Local #175 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 14 494.67 8.00 1.62% 470.67 95.15% 19.67 3.98%
77 Laborers Local #22 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 36 12,666.00 1,794.00 14.16% 710.00 5.61% 1,320.50 10.43%
78 Laborers Local #223 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5 236.00 24.00 10.17% 142.00 60.17% 0.00 0.00%

This Month's Workforce Diversity Statistics Project To Date Workforce Diversity Statistics
Women Minority Veteran Women Minority Veteran



MGM Springfield
Workforce Diversity Report (By Union)
As of: September 30, 2018

Reference Union
Employee 

Count
This Month's Total 

Hours Hours % Hours % Hours %
Employee 

Count
Project To Date 

Total Hours Hours % Hours % Hours %

This Month's Workforce Diversity Statistics Project To Date Workforce Diversity Statistics
Women Minority Veteran Women Minority Veteran

79 Laborers Local #230 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 14 3,175.50 0.00 0.00% 2,111.00 66.48% 7.50 0.24%
80 Laborers Local #243 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6 4,057.50 82.00 2.02% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
81 Laborers Local #271, Rhode Island 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 8 1,358.00 1,072.00 78.94% 156.00 11.49% 0.00 0.00%
82 Laborers Local #385 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6 182.00 0.00 0.00% 8.00 4.40% 0.00 0.00%
83 Laborers Local #39 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 9 3,091.51 0.00 0.00% 119.01 3.85% 2,347.50 75.93%
84 Laborers Local #429 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3 64.84 0.00 0.00% 40.84 62.99% 0.00 0.00%
85 Laborers Local #455 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 24 6,097.50 1,496.00 24.53% 6,097.50 100.00% 0.00 0.00%
86 Laborers Local #473 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 17 3,476.00 0.00 0.00% 34.00 0.98% 0.00 0.00%
87 Laborers Local #547 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 8 2,183.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
88 Laborers Local #560 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 16 1,627.00 1,192.00 73.26% 1,057.00 64.97% 0.00 0.00%
89 Laborers Local #596 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 223 88,184.75 9,732.50 11.04% 23,051.50 26.14% 4,951.00 5.61%
90 Laborers Local #609 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 27 2,914.00 718.50 24.66% 125.00 4.29% 474.00 16.27%
91 Laborers Local #610 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 14 403.50 0.00 0.00% 14.00 3.47% 0.00 0.00%
92 Laborers Local #611 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 31 8,084.75 0.00 0.00% 6,254.00 77.36% 0.00 0.00%
93 Laborers Local #665 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 9 1,659.50 32.00 1.93% 1,659.50 100.00% 0.00 0.00%
94 Laborers Local #675 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 133.50 0.00 0.00% 133.50 100.00% 0.00 0.00%
95 Laborers Local #88 [Tunnel Workers] 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4 338.50 0.00 0.00% 8.00 2.36% 41.00 12.11%
96 Laborers Local #721 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 33.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
97 Laborers Local #876 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 40.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
98 Laborers Local #999 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 677 237,645.71 37,748.71 15.88% 76,068.25 32.01% 17,849.00 7.51%
99 Laborers Local #1000 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3 24.00 8.00 33.33% 8.00 33.33% 0.00 0.00%
100 Massachusetts Laborers' District Council 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 11 962.00 0.00 0.00% 85.00 8.84% 96.00 9.98%
101 Nevada Laborer’s Local #872 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 4 2,638.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
102 Nevada Painters Local #159 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 21 7,767.50 541.00 6.96% 2,339.50 30.12% 0.00 0.00%
103 Nevada Plasterer’s & Cement Mason Local #797 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 3 74.00 0.00 0.00% 36.00 48.65% 0.00 0.00%
104 New England Regional Council of Carpenters 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2 99.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
105 New England Regional Council of Carpenters - Local #43 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 649.61 0.00 0.00% 649.61 100.00% 0.00 0.00%
106 No. Cal Carpenters Local #9144 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 16.00 0.00 0.00% 16.00 100.00% 0.00 0.00%
107 NY Bricklayers #2 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 4.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
108 Operating Engineers Local #4 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 22 1,866.00 0.00 0.00% 20.00 1.07% 0.00 0.00%
109 Operating Engineers Local #478 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 8 728.00 0.00 0.00% 183.50 25.21% 0.00 0.00%
110 Operative Plasterers and Cement Masons International Association, Local 40 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 51 25,786.50 702.50 2.72% 6,248.00 24.23% 2,749.00 10.66%
111 Painters and Allied Trades 1M 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 13 4,108.50 121.00 2.95% 390.00 9.49% 0.00 0.00%
112 Painters and Allied Trades District Council #35 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 152 60,921.50 2,907.00 4.77% 18,935.00 31.08% 2,183.00 3.58%
113 Pile Drivers Local #56 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 18 2,114.00 0.00 0.00% 468.50 22.16% 180.50 8.54%
114 Plasterers and Cement Masons Local #534 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 77 5,587.00 0.00 0.00% 1,603.50 28.70% 921.50 16.49%
115 Plumbers & Pipefitters #104 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 386 204,636.37 9,678.50 4.73% 26,731.25 13.06% 23,115.00 11.30%
116 Plumbers & Pipefitters Local #777 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 15 5,154.50 0.00 0.00% 144.00 2.79% 1,583.00 30.71%
117 Roofers #241 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 8.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
118 Roofers #248 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 107 31,414.50 0.00 0.00% 6,084.75 19.37% 1,965.50 6.26%
119 Sheet Metal Workers #17 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5 349.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
120 Sheet Metal Workers #19 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6 2,601.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1,036.00 39.83%
121 Sheet Metal Workers #40 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 32 14,972.00 0.00 0.00% 1,565.50 10.46% 0.00 0.00%
122 Sheet Metal Workers #63 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 128 59,408.50 5,352.50 9.01% 11,291.00 19.01% 4,805.00 8.09%
123 Sheet Metal Workers #83 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2 17.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
124 So. Cal Painters Local #256 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5 375.00 105.00 28.00% 135.00 36.00% 0.00 0.00%
125 Sprinkler Fitters #669 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 43 35,776.50 2,267.50 6.34% 7,150.50 19.99% 1,591.00 4.45%
126 Teamsters' #404 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 10 972.50 114.50 11.77% 32.00 3.29% 0.00 0.00%
127 Teamsters Local #25 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 9 131.50 0.00 0.00% 4.00 3.04% 0.00 0.00%
128 United Union of Roofers, Waterproofers and Allied Workers/ Local Union #12 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 2 1,080.50 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%
129 United Union of Roofers, Waterproofers and Allied Workers/ Local Union #9 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 1 328.50 0.00 0.00% 328.50 100.00% 0.00 0.00%

Total - Unions 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 5,996 2,370,604.51 178,569.46 7.53% 533,221.68 22.49% 197,373.67 8.33%

130 On-Site Design / Management 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 622 370,359.33 55,918.90 15.10% 63,798.48 17.23% 41,231.55 11.13%
Total 0 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 6,618 2,740,963.84 234,488.36 8.55% 597,020.16 21.78% 238,605.22 8.71%

Group Project Goals Project To Date Delta
Women 6.90% 8.55% 1.65%
Minority 15.30% 21.78% 6.48%
Veteran 8.00% 8.71% 0.71%

Notes:
(1) Statistics include all workforce reports that were received by MGM as of September 30, 2018.
(2) The total number of unique union workers that have worked on site is approximately 4,985.  The 5,996 union workers identified above includes workers that have worked for multiple companies and/or multiple unions.

Totals - Overall



QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 APPENDICES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX D 

 

LETTER REGARDING COST OF CONSTRUCTION AND CAPITALIZATION OF GAMING LICENSE 

 

 

  







QUARTERLY STATUS REPORT: JULY-SEPTEMBER 2018        
 

 
 APPENDICES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX E 

 

CONSTRUCTION SITE PROGRESS IMAGES FOR Q3 2018 

 

 

 

 



AERIAL PROGRESS

Aerial View - August 20, 2018Aerial View - August 20, 2018



AERIAL PROGRESS

Aerial View - August 20, 2018



HOTEL EXTERIOR



PODIUM EXTERIOR



ARMORY



CHURCH



PARKING GARAGE



CHILD CARE



LOBBY



CASINO & VENUES



CASINO & VENUES



CASINO & VENUES



BALLROOM / PRE-FUNCTION



GUESTROOMS



GUESTROOMS



GameSense MGM Year End Update 

Voluntary Self-Exclusion 
Since the opening of MGM, there have 
been 82 Springfield-based 
enrollments into the VSE Program. 71 
enrollments (87%) were completed by 
GSAs and 6 (7%) by MGC Gaming 
Agents.  

GameSense Communications  
MGC executed a comprehensive 
communications and marketing 
campaign to coincide with the opening 
of MGM Springfield. 
 
Digital advertising incorporates 
behavioral targeting to reach persons 
believed to be at a greater risk of 
developing a gambling problem. 3.2M 
people have viewed digital GameSense 
messages since August, driving a sharp 
increase in visitors and engagement to a 
newly re-designed GameSenseMA.com. 
 
 
 
 
MGC and MGM have partnered on 
environmental signage strategies to 
engage patrons inside and outside the 
casino, as well as on PVTA buses 
servicing the casino. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Brochures have been a very successful 
aid in responsible gaming education. 
They are found within the GameSense 
Info Center and throughout the casino.  

Interactions with Guests 
As an evaluation mechanism, GSAs are 
asked to record their interactions with 
guests. They have logged a total of 
48,863 interactions, which include non-
substantive “simple” guest 
communication as well as more 
substantive “ intensive” interactions 
relating to responsible and/or problem 
gambling. The below figure provides a 
snapshot of intensive interactions 
metrics since the August opening. 

GameSense is an innovative responsible gaming program designed to promote 
positive play and reduce gambling-related harm. To promote positive play, 
GameSense Advisors (GSAs) engage in conversations with players relative to their 
gambling behavior to increase informed player choice.  To reduce gambling 
related harm, GSAs provide persons at risk and those with a gambling problem 
with information relevant to their specific needs such as self-assessment tools, 
voluntary self-exclusion and information on local treatment resources.  



 

Page 1 of 5 
 

 

 

NONDISCLOSURE AGREEMENT  
PURSUANT TO 205 CMR 139.02 

 

 

This Nondisclosure Agreement (hereinafter, “agreement”) is dated as of September 27 December 20, 2018, between 
the Massachusetts Gaming Commission (hereinafter, “Commission”), and Wynn MA, LLC, (hereinafter, “gaming 
licensee”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, all documents submitted by a gaming licensee to the Commission or obtained by the Commission in 
accordance with 205 CMR 139.00 have been deemed by the Commission to have been submitted pursuant to a 
gaming related investigation to ensure compliance with G.L. c. 23K and 205 CMR, adherence to the principles 
articulated in G.L. c.23K, §1, and/or to ensure the ongoing suitability of gaming licensees in Massachusetts; and   

WHEREAS, pursuant to G.L. c.23K, §21(a)(7) any information or reports, or parts thereof, that are required to be 
filed or otherwise submitted to or obtained by the Commission, the IEB, or their respective agents, in accordance 
with 205 CMR 139.00 that contain material or information that the gaming licensee considers a trade secret or 
believes would be detrimental to the gaming licensee if it were made public may be identified as confidential by the 
gaming licensee; and   

WHEREAS, pursuant to G.L. c.23K, §21(a)(7) , 205 CMR 103.08, and 205 CMR 139.02 the gaming licensee may 
request that the Commission enter into a written nondisclosure agreement under the terms of which the Commission 
agrees not to release the specified material or information publicly, in response to a request for public records or 
otherwise, and will assert the statutory exemption, G.L. c.4, §7(26)(a), and/or any other applicable exemptions, and 
withhold the applicable materials in response to any request for such record or information; and   

WHEREAS, the agreement may provide for coverage for specific materials or information, or categories of 
materials or information, which will be, or are likely to be, submitted to or obtained by the commission on more than 
one occasion; 

NOW THEREFORE, the Commission and the gaming licensee agree to the following:   

 

1. Subject Information and Materials.  This agreement shall apply to the following information and materials 
submitted to or obtained by the Commission from the gaming licensee: 

# INFORMATION/MATERIAL 
(including any limits on non-disclosure) 

AUTHORITY 
(205 CMR, license 

condition, etc.) 

1 Annual business plan 138.05(10) 

2 • Internal audit reports prepared by gaming licensee’s internal audit department or its 
independent accountant or auditor. 
 

• Information or materials contained in Commission audits conducted in accordance 
with 205 CMR 139.08 to the extent they relate to surveillance, security, internal 
control procedures, financial materials not otherwise publicly disclosed under 
federal law, and any other information or materials for which an NDA has been 
approved. 

140.05(3)(c) 
 
 
 

3 Board of Director meeting minutes 139.05(12) 

4 Capital expenditure plan (subject to the provision of adequate information to allow the 
Commission to publicly review the plan for approval). 

139.09 



 

Page 2 of 5 
 

5 Compliance and Audit Committee meeting minutes 138.04(2)(g) & (h) 
139.05(12) 

6 Progress plans, reports, and related documentation, including contracts, regarding 
compliance with construction commitments and environmental mitigation that contain 
interim assessments and/or opinions of the gaming licensee regarding compliance by 
the gaming licensee and/or status of the measure. This does not include information that 
is discussed publicly before the Commission. This provision shall sunset upon the 
issuance of the Operation Certificate by the Commission to the gaming licensee.  

135.04 

7 Non-construction related documents describing the gaming licensee’s pre-opening 
strategy and plans and/or describing potential compliance issues regarding the project 
including any interim analysis, opinions, and assessments offered by the gaming 
licensee or their agents. This does not include information that is discussed publicly 
before the Commission. This provision shall sunset upon the issuance of the Operation 
Certificate by the Commission to the gaming licensee.  

135.00 

8 Daily revenue numbers 139.04(6) 
140.03(2) 

9 Daily surveillance log 141.05(6) 

10 Data derived from gaming licensee’s player card loyalty program  
(subject to paragraph 6 below) 

139.05(6) 

11 Federal and state tax returns 139.05(4) 

12 Subject to proper identification by gaming licensee (see paragraph 3 below), financial 
statements and disclosures outside of what is publicly available via SEC filings (not 
including attested statement required in accordance with 205 CMR 139.06(2)). 

139.06(1) 
139.06(2) 
139.07 

13 Those parts of floor plans of Encore Boston Harbor depicting sensitive areas of the 
gaming establishment including the cage, count room, main bank, back of the house, 
and armored car areas.  

205 CMR 151.02 

14 Those parts of an incident report generated by the gaming licensee that implicate or 
incorporate surveillance, security, or internal control procedures in any way (redaction 
to be utilized in lieu of complete withholding, where possible).   

139.04(7) 

15 Information on salaries, wages, and bonuses to individuals or to specific job titles (not 
including salary ranges or benefits based on category of job). 

139.04(1) 

16 Reports on Macau operations that are required to be filed in any U.S. jurisdiction. License condition 
Section 2, provision 31 

17 Main bank closeout reports/variance reports 138.00 

18 Marketing materials prior to their use in the public domain that the Commission may 
request to see in advance of their use in Massachusetts. 142.02 

19 Quarterly report covering all complimentary services 139.05(7) 

20 Daily figures contained in a tax compliance packet 140.00 

21 Soft count variances 138.00 

22 Statistics on drop, handle and win by individual game or specific categories of games 139.04(6) 
 

23 All information on the Slot Machine Master List including actual or theoretical payback 
percentage by machine. 

145.01  

24 System of Internal controls and standard operating procedures.  138.02 
139.04(14) 

25 Name of an underage individual or an individual on the VSE list contained in an 
underage or voluntary self-exclusion compliance report, and to the extent surveillance, 
security, or internal control procedures are incorporated in such a compliance report in 
any way (redaction to be utilized in lieu of complete withholding, where possible). 
Additionally, the names on the gaming licensee’s do not market list.   

139.05(5) 



 

Page 3 of 5 
 

26 Value of promotional credits offered or used 139.05(5) & (7) 

27 Amount of disbursements to individual vendors (not the identity of the vendor) 138.06(2) 

28 Those parts of a report of violations or suspected violations of G.L. c. 23K or 205 CMR 
submitted by the gaming licensee to the Commission that implicate or incorporate 
surveillance, security, or internal control procedures in any way (redaction to be utilized 
in lieu of complete withholding, where possible).   

139.04(7) 

29 W2-G/1042-S report 142.02 

30 Video recordings, audio recordings, and photographs obtained from Encore Boston 
Harbor’s surveillance system by any means. 

205 CMR 141.02 

31 Compliance Binder. Typically updated quarterly, the binder is prepared on a corporate-
wide basis by Wynn Resorts, Ltd. for the corporate compliance committee members 
and other associated executives, and is comprised of documents containing assessments, 
summaries, and action items relative to potential and actual regulatory and legal issues. 
(Wynn MA, LLC shall remain responsible for ensuring all information required to be 
submitted in accordance with 205 CMR 115.01(4) and other applicable sources be 
submitted under separate cover as otherwise required.).  

205 CMR 115.01(d) for 
certain parts. 

 

2. Approval of Designation.  The gaming licensee has declared by way of application that it considers the 
information and materials identified in paragraph 1 above to contain a trade secret and/or that it would be 
detrimental to the gaming licensee if those materials were made public. The Commission agrees that the 
information and materials constitute a trade secret and/or that it would be detrimental to the gaming licensee if 
that information and material were made public and are entitled to confidential treatment under 205 CMR 
103.00 and 139.02 and agrees to enter into this agreement in an effort to protect the information and materials 
from public disclosure.    

3. Identification of Information and Materials.  The gaming licensee agrees to clearly mark all information and 
materials subject to this agreement that are submitted to the Commission with the letters “NDA- 
CONFIDENTIAL” and to include, where possible, a cover page with the submission indicating that the 
information and materials are subject to this agreement.   

4. Requests for Public Records.  The Commission agrees that it will not voluntarily publicly disclose any 
information or materials that are the subject of this agreement whether by way of a response to a request for 
public records or otherwise. In the event that the Commission receives a request for the disclosure of any such 
materials or information it will deny the request, withhold the materials, and assert the statutory exemption, 
G.L. c.4, §7(26)(a), and/or any other applicable exemptions to the public records law. 

5. Notification and Waiver.  The Commission will make reasonable efforts to notify the gaming licensee of any 
request for the public disclosure of any information or materials that are the subject of this agreement.  
Notwithstanding this agreement, the gaming licensee may, by written approval, agree to the public release of 
any such information or materials in response to a public records request or upon request by the Commission. 

6. Use by the Commission.  Nothing contained in this agreement shall be construed so as to prevent the  
Commission from making use of any information or material provided by the gaming licensee or otherwise as 
part of an investigation, disciplinary matter, or in any other manner deemed necessary by the Commission. For 
example, the Commission will make use of the gaming licensee’s customer tracking data collected or generated 
by loyalty programs, player tracking software, player card systems, online gambling transactions or any other 
information system in the manner provided by St. 2011, c. 194, section 97. 

7. Liability.  The Commission will utilize best efforts and employ all reasonable measures to ensure that any 
information or materials that are the subject of this agreement are not publicly disclosed. In the event of a public 
release in violation of this agreement, however, the gaming licensee agrees to hold harmless the Commonwealth 
of Massachusetts, the Commission, its employees and agents, in either professional or personal capacities from 
liability and any claims for damages of any kind.   



 

Page 4 of 5 
 

8. Disclosures to Governmental Entities.  It shall not be a breach of this agreement for the Commission to 
provide information as directed by an order of any court or governmental agency of competent jurisdiction. If 
the Commission determines that it is legally obligated to disclose information or materials that are the subject of 
this agreement, the Commission shall not be under any obligation to notify the gaming licensee if in doing so, in 
its sole discretion, it determines that the integrity of a governmental investigation or other matter would be 
compromised. The Commission will disclose only such information as is legally required, and will notify the 
court or governmental agency of the existence of this agreement. 

9. Information Sharing with other Jurisdictions.  It shall not be a breach of this Agreement for the Commission 
to provide information regarding applicants or licensees to law enforcement entities or gaming authorities and 
other domestic, federal or foreign jurisdictions, including the Federal Bureau of Investigation in accordance 
with G.L. c.23K, §6(e) whether by way of Memorandum of Understanding or otherwise.   

10. Subpoenas. In the event the Commission is served with a subpoena or other process from a person other than a 
governmental entity for any information or materials that are the subject of this agreement, the Commission 
shall promptly notify the gaming licensee in writing and forward a copy of the subpoena in order that the 
gaming licensee may initiate efforts to quash the subpoena or otherwise oppose production of such information 
or materials. However, while the Commission itself may elect to do so, it shall be under no obligation to file any 
motion to quash or otherwise oppose the request for production.   

11. Modification and Amendment.  This agreement may be amended or modified only with the mutual written 
consent of the parties. The Commission may revisit the Approval of Designation for any information or material 
included in accordance with paragraphs 1 & 2 of this agreement and 205 CMR 103.12 at its discretion. Further, 
the Commission may require, after review of submitted information and documentation or otherwise, the 
agreement be modified if it determines that specific information or materials submitted or to be submitted are 
not clearly addressed in paragraph 1 of this agreement.   

12. Cumulative Obligations.  This agreement is intended to supplement and clarify the Commission’s obligations 
under the public records laws of the Commonwealth, G.L. c.66, §10. Nothing in this agreement shall be 
interpreted so as to supersede such obligations. 

13. Entire Agreement.  This agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Commission and the gaming 
licensee relating to the matters discussed herein and supersedes all prior oral and written understandings with 
respect to the provision of such information or materials.   

14. Term and Termination.  This agreement shall remain in place until otherwise terminated.   

15. Non-waiver.  Any failure by either party to enforce the other party’s strict performance of any provision of this 
agreement will not constitute a waiver of its right to subsequently enforce such provision or any other provision 
of this agreement. 

16. Governing Law;  etc. This agreement will be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. If 
a provision of this agreement is held invalid under any applicable law, such invalidity will not affect any other 
provision of this agreement that can be given effect without the invalid provision. Further, all terms and 
conditions of this agreement will be deemed enforceable to the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, 
and, when necessary, the court is requested to reform any and all terms or conditions to give them such effect. 

17. Dispute resolution.  The parties agree to engage in all reasonable efforts to resolve any disputes arising from 
this agreement by mutual agreement. In the event the parties are unable to resolve such a dispute, a neutral 
single arbitrator shall be engaged to resolve the matter. 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 5 of 5 
 

The parties have executed this agreement on the date first written above. 

 

WYNN MA, LLC 
 
By: 
 
Print name: 
 
Title: 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
 
By: 

 
Print Name: 
 

Title: 

 



In 2017, Plainridge Park Casino had been operating over a year, having 
opened June 2015. MGM Springfield and Encore Boston Harbor had  
both broken ground and were under construction. Both the operations 
and construction phases of the three casinos contributed significantly  
to the workforce opportunities and economic impacts for Massachusetts 
residents and business owners, as well as minority, veteran, and woman 
employees and business owners. 

CASINO INDUSTRY
IMPACT REPORT 2017

JOB CREATION The impact the casinos had on the workforce during 2017.

MA EMPLOYMENT
The total number of permanent employees (not including 
construction) who were living in MA upon hire.

MA RESIDENT WAGES*

* MA Resident Wages reported for casino operations salaries/benefits only. Not inclusive of wages paid out to construction workforce.

* 2017 Construction: During 2017, both MGM Springfield and Encore Boston Harbor were under construction.* 2017 Operations: Inclusive of all 3 licensees, although MGM and EBH had not yet opened.

INDUSTRY JOBS IMPACT

$24,380,083

6,329 JOBS

OVER 7,000+ =

716 JOBS
2017 Construction* 2017 Operations*

PLAINRIDGE 
PARK CASINO

MGM 
SPRINGFIELD

ENCORE BOSTON HARBOR

473 

716

OVER $18.7 MILLION

people found work within the industry

WORKFORCE, BUSINESS, AND DIVERSITY IMPACTS 

OVERVIEW

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION | CASINO INDUSTRY IMPACT REPORT    2017

That’s over 77% of the MA residents  
employed out of

Total jobs
total wages paid



CONSTRUCTION EMPLOYMENT

That’s over 51,000 hours per week!

Minorities, Veterans and Women   
on construction projects

Minorities, Veterans and Women 
working in casinos

2,148576

4,891
MA residents on casino  
construction projects

INDUSTRY JOBS IMPACT CONT.

MA VENDOR/SUPPLIER SPEND The impact on local businesses serving the casino industry.

OVER $617.7 MILLION
SPENT WITH MA BUSINESSES IN 2017

INDUSTRY ECONOMIC IMPACT ON BUSINESS

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION | CASINO INDUSTRY IMPACT REPORT    2017

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY With one casino operational and two under construction, 80% of permanent casino employees and 34%  

of the construction project workforce were composed of minorities, veterans and women.

ConstructionOperations

Women
Minorities

Veterans

193337

46

Women
Minorities

Veterans

1,377378

393

OVER 2.6 MILLION
TOTAL PROJECT HOURS LOGGED IN 2017



DIVERSE VENDOR SPEND Casino spending with minority-owned (MBE), veteran-owned (VBE), and woman-owned (WBE) businesses. 

SUPPORT FOR WORKFORCE AND DIVERSITY INITIATIVES 
MGC provides grants, sponsorships and other funding to organizations in support of diversity and workforce development.

$207,00012 $125,000 + $14,000 +
GrantsOrganizations 

Supported
Campaign for  

Women in Construction
Diversity Programs and 

Event Sponsorships

$347,109 TOTAL FUNDING 
BY MGC IN 2017

INDUSTRY IMPACT ON DIVERSE-OWNED BUSINESS

PROGRAMMING IMPACTS

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION | CASINO INDUSTRY IMPACT REPORT    2017

WBE
MBE

VBE

28%53%

19%

Breakout of spend with 

CERTIFIED DIVERSE  
BUSINESSES

OVER $174.8 MILLION
SPENT WITH DIVERSE [MBE/VBE/WBE] 

VENDORS/SUPPLIERS IN 2017



 
 

 
 

 

TO: Acting Chairwoman Cameron, MGC Commissioners  

FROM: Jill Griffin, John Ziemba, Crystal Howard, Mary Thurlow 

CC: Ed Bedrosian, Catherine Blue  

DATE: December 17, 2018  

RE: Community Mitigation Fund  
Workforce Development Pilot Program Amendment Request 

 

Request Summary:  Springfield Technical Community College (“STCC”) requests a budget 
amendment that it believes will provide the Hampden Prep program with the leverage to: 

 increase enrollment numbers; 

 provide a more active and consistent advising model for day and evening students;  

 purposefully introduce students to career pathways; and 

 engage students prior to, during and after completing the HP Program at STCC.   

STCC indicates that approval of this amendment request would provide consistent advising 
of day and evening students and enhance service delivery to its participants. (See attached 
memo.) 

STCC’s Hampden Prep Program requests approval to: 

1. Open program enrollment to high level 2 students (in addition to level 3) in order to 
increase program participation.  STCC representatives indicate that “in the Springfield 
area few students are testing into Level 3 on the Test of Adult Basic Education 
placement assessment. Access to enrolling Level 3 students has been problematic even 
with continuous outreach and recruitment efforts while Springfield Adult Learning 
Center has 73 Level 2 students on a waitlist.”  Since this is a fundamental change in the 
original Commission approved grant we bring this back to the Commission for a vote.  

2. Combine two part-time education and career advisor positions (day and evening) into 
one full-time advisor position to serve both the day and evening students. 

3. Shift MCG grant fund to program budget lines to enhance services and assist in reducing 
barriers to best serve students of the Hampden Prep Program.  These changes include: 

 Utilize MGC funds for students to participate in OSHA 10 certification training in 
December of 2018 as proposed in the original MGC application with the current 



 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

cohort of students and with past cohort participants.  Students will receive an OSHA 
10 certification upon completion of the training. 

 Pay for the full HiSET exams for 30 students. 

 Provide six students with bus passes for eight months. 

 Pay for the cost of the National Career Ready Certification assessment for fifty 
students. 

4. Send four Hampden Prep staff to the Massachusetts Coalition for Adult Education 
Conference in May 2019.  This conference brings together over 500 teachers, advisors, 
community leaders, and program administrators for a day to learn about new adult 
basic education policies, discuss best practices and learn new skills to better serve 
students.  

5. Move funds into program efforts to recruit, train and provide engagement to its current 
cohort, those being students that have either completed or participated in previous 
cohorts since the launch of Hampden Prep at STCC.  

6. Fund the costs of monthly (day/evening) Information Sessions, including light 
refreshments beginning in November 2018.  

7. A Career Development Day:  A day long leadership workshop featuring a panel of 
Springfield entrepreneurs designed to increase student exposure to soft skills, job 
readiness skills, career options, and to leaders in the world of employment 

 Sharing planning, failures, resiliency, culture and success 

 Job readiness, career pathways, networking and confidence coaching workshops 

Grant History:  

At the June 26, 2017 MGC meeting the Commission voted to approve a Community 
Mitigation Fund Workforce Development Pilot of $200,000 to Springfield Technical 
Community College to develop and implement an accelerated High School Equivalency 
(HSE) and workforce readiness program, Hampden Prep.  The applicant stated, “Additional 
MGC funding will enable Hampden Prep to focus academic prep work on those Level 3 
students who are nearly ready for the multitude of new and emerging jobs, but lack the 
HiSET credential to make them eligible for vocational training and minimum employment 
credentials.”   

As noted in STCC’s application, “…upticks related to the MGM Casino, CRRC rail-car 
company and other manufacturing growth is promising, a great majority of Springfield’s 
residents cannot access jobs with these employers due to their lack of academic credentials 
and/or skills.  As incumbent workers gravitate to these new, better paying jobs, there will 
be a deficit of capable workers to backfill those positions in the local economy.”  It was 
additionally noted that “Similar need is also found in the region’s urban cores in Holyoke, 
Chicopee and Westfield.” 



 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

In its application STCC notes that “Springfield Technical Community College (STCC), in 
collaboration with Holyoke Community College (HCC) -- our partner in Training Workforce 
Options (TWO), proposes to develop and implement an innovative High School Equivalency 
(HSE) and workforce readiness program, Hampden Prep.”  STCC’s 2017 outline of its 
Hampden Prep program’s regional approach (with specific goals for surrounding 
community residents) and outreach strategy described a partnership with MGM Springfield 
as well as their existing network of employment and training partners including:  DESE-
funded ABE programs, the two Career Centers of Hampden County, the Regional 
Employment Board (LWIB), and Holyoke Community College (HCC).  The Career Centers in 
Springfield and Holyoke would host both information and recruitment sessions for 
Hampden Prep in addition to other information sessions at public housing units, house of 
corrections and throughout the community. 

The 2017 Grant proposed serving 90 level 3 students (classes began 2/20/18) through 
providing “…local education (high school credential) and career readiness exploration and 
certificate….”  In the November 8, 2018 MGC public meeting HCC provided an update 
regarding outcomes:  the Hampden Prep program served 50 students:  49 completed and 7 
achieved a high school equivalency.  Six participants enrolled in college and 8 were placed 
in jobs.  

The 2017 CMF review team was interested in Hampden Prep’s proposed strategy to 
maximize the number of program completers and positive program outcomes including 
completion of the 12 week program and HSE achievement in order to strongly meet the 
Guidelines’ proposed goals “… to improve the skills, knowledge, and credential attainment 
of … residents interested in a casino career, focusing on increasing industry-recognized and 
academic credentials needed to work in the most in-demand occupations related to the 
expanded gaming industry or a focus on occupations that could be in high demand from the 
casino”.  

At the June 7, 2018 MGC meeting the Commission approved a collaboration between 
Holyoke Community College, Springfield Technical Community College and Springfield 
Public Schools for Region B for $300,000.00.  This included $82,693 for year two of the 
STCC / HCC Hampden Prep Program for local education (high school credentials), and 
career readiness exploration and certificate.  In 2018 HCC/STCC proposed serving 60 level 
three students in year two of the Hampden Prep program. 

Staff Analysis:  MGC staff found most of the proposed changes support the general goals of 
the CMF Workforce Development Pilot Program to provide interested residents in gaming 
regions the ability to attain academic and occupational credentials needed to work in the 
most in-demand occupations related to the gaming industry.  Additionally the CMF 
Workforce Development Pilot Program was established to assist the unemployed or 
underemployed to either get their GED or Adult Basic Education (“ABE”) which would 
position them to get future jobs in the casino industry or training in advance by the 
backfilling of jobs. 



 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

However, in the case of the newly proposed Career Development Day, although an 
interesting and laudable event, MGC staff thought the general purpose may be pushing the 
boundaries of the previously approved grant goals.  No clear case had been made for the 
direct impact the event would have on Hampden Prep participants.  Additional concerns 
were raised regarding the use of stipends to pay local entrepreneurs as conference 
speakers. 

Generally the proposed amendment appears to be aligned with the grants previously 
approved by the Commission to support the Hampden Prep program’s goal of moving 
unemployed or underemployed adults into high demand jobs and “to accelerate ABE, 
HiSET prep and developmental programs for Hampden County residents and to provide 
non-traditional students the supports needed to complete postsecondary credentials in 
areas recognized by employers in the Springfield labor market.”   



 

 1 

Hampden Prep Program 

Springfield Technical Community College  

Budget Amendment Narrative  
 

December 14, 2018 
 

Currently, in the Springfield area few students are testing into Level 3 on the Test of 

Adult Basic Education placement assessment. Access to enrolling Level 3 students has 

been problematic even with continuous outreach and recruitment efforts. Springfield 

Adult Learning Center has 73 Level 2 students on a waitlist. Hampden Prep (HP) 

requests allowing these students to be served in the program. HP will continue to 

prioritize enrolling the highest academic level student available for each session.  

HP staff will continue to actively recruit and provide outreach for potential students.  

 

Hampden Prep Program is requesting permission to enhance services delivered to its 

students by moving existing funds to provide for the following needs: 

 

 Consistency in advising day and evening students by moving to one full time 

advisor  

 Funding to be used for HiSET fees and bus passes  

 Increase the amount set aside for the National Career Readiness Certificate from 

$45 to $79 per student 

 Increase training options based on student need (OSAH 10, ServeSafe, etc.) 

 Monthly informational recruitment sessions  

 A Career Development Day: A day long leadership workshop featuring a panel of 

Springfield entrepreneurs designed to increase student exposure to soft skills, job 

readiness skills, career options, and leaders in the world of employment 

o Sharing planning, failures, resiliency, culture and success 

o Job readiness, career pathways, networking and confidence coaching 

workshops 

 

Approving this proposed budget amendment will provide HP the leverage to increase 

enrollment numbers, provide more active and consistent advising for day and evening 

students, decrease student financial barriers, increase student exposure to career 

pathways, and engage students prior to, during and after completing the HP Program at 

STCC.   

 

  



 

 2 

Hampden Prep 

Springfield Technical Community College 

PROPOSED BUDGET NARRATIVE 
 

FT Advisor $18,879.00  FY18 

FT Advisor $8,308.00 FY19 
 

Currently HP advising is being provided to students by two part time positions of which 

one of the positions was previously held by former Advisor, Iesha Ramos, who has been 

appointed as the Interim Hampden Prep Coordinator position until June 30, 2018.  STCC 

Hampden Prep Program is proposing to combine the two part time positions and have one 

full time advisor position to serve day and evening students. Doing so will allow the 

advisor to work more closely with the Hampden Prep Coordinator to document, track and 

engage, facilitate career readiness sessions, one on one sessions with students and aid 

Hampden Prep Instructors to engage and advise students to start, complete and 

understand career options after successfully completing the program and passing High 

School Equivalency exam.     

 

Due to the immediate need of this position, we are requesting permission to place a 

current part time STCC Advisor in the Springfield Adult Learning Center Program as an 

interim Advisor lasting until June 30, 2018. After reviewing the budget, this grant will be 

able to sustain this proposed position until the end of the grant.  If this request is 

approved, the plan is to post the full time Hampden Prep Advisor position in April of 

2019. The proposed job posting will specify that the position will end at the end of this 

contract.  

 

The FT Advisor is projected to begin in December 2018. The advisor will be paid an 

hourly rate of $25.00 and work 37.5 hours. 37.5 hours a week The FT Advisor will work 

from December 2018-June 2019 for a total cost of $18,879 for FY 18 and $8,308 for FY 

19.  

 

HiSET exams $3,000.00 FY19 

The full battery cost for the HiSET is $100.00. The total cost for 30 students is $3,000.00 

 



 

 3 

STUDENT BUS PASSES $2,160.00 FY19 
Student bus passes cost $45 per month per student. The cost for 6 students is $270.00 a 

month. Total cost for 6 student bus passes for 8 months is $2,160.00. 

 

NCRC $3,950.00 FY19 
The full battery for the National Career Ready Certification is $79.00. For 50 students the 

total cost will be $3,950. 

 

Monthly Information Sessions with Refreshments $920.00  FY19 
HP Monthly information sessions will begin in November 2018. The cost for the snacks 

is $57.50 for the day information sessions and $57.50 for evening. The cost for the month 

is $115.00. The total cost of monthly information sessions’ light refreshments for 8 

months will be $920.00 

  

CAREER DEVELOPMENT DAY SPRING 2018 $1,800.00 (TOTAL COST)  

 Meals $600.00 

o Meals for 40 people will be provided during career development day at 

$15 per person for a total cost of $600.00. 

 Speakers $1200 

o Career Development Day speakers will be paid a stipend of $150.00. 

There will be 8 speakers for a total cost of $1200.  

 

Learning coach (peer advisors) $5,760.00 FY19 
The learning coach will be paid a stipend for $20 an hour. The learning coach will 

provide peer support for a minimum of 2 hours and a max of 6 hours a week. The 

learning coach will work 3 weeks a month for a total of 18 hours a month and $360.00 a 

month. 2 learning coaches will be hired, one for the day and one for the evening for eight 

months for a total cost of $5,760.00.  

 

MCAE Network Conference $660.00 FY19 
The Massachusetts Coalition for Adult Education MCAE Network Conference brings 

together over 500 teachers, advisors, and community leaders, program administrators for 

a day to learn about new adult basic education policies, discuss best practices and learn 

new skill to better serve students. The conference takes place May 2019. The conference 

registration fee is $165 per person. The total cost for 4 people is $660.00.  



 
 

 
 

 

TO: Chairwoman Cameron, Commissioners  

FROM: Jill Griffin, Crystal Howard  

CC: Catherine Blue, Ed Bedrosian  

DATE: December 20, 2018  

RE: Hospitality Sector Pipeline Workforce Grant Program - Update 

 

RFP Overview: On October 25, 2018 the Commission released The Hospitality Sector Pipeline 

Workforce Grant Program RFP with individual grant awards of up to $50,000 and a total of up to 

$100,000 available. Proposals were due to the Commission on November 28, 2018. The 

Commission received 11 responses totaling $419,212 requested. The proposals were required 

to include a partnership with a minimum of two businesses with operations in Massachusetts 

and that employ Massachusetts residents in the target occupations.   

About the Initiative:  The Massachusetts Gaming Commission’s (MGC) Department of 

Workforce Supplier and Diversity Development released funds in support of the Leisure 

Hospitality and Tourism (LHT) industry, with a primary concern of support for increased training 

opportunities for jobs within the industry to target a direct challenge indicated in The Work of 

Leisure: Behind the Scenes of the Massachusetts Leisure, Hospitality and Tourism Industry 

report, University of Massachusetts Donahue Institute, that a remarkably high percentage of 

employers in the industry said that finding appropriately skilled workers for their available jobs 

was inherently difficult. The large number of entry-level jobs, combined with low barriers to entry 

and a tendency to promote existing and long-term employees to management-level positions, 

make the hospitality sector ideal for workforce development efforts. UMass Massachusetts 

Donahue Institute estimates that even without the casino business, the industry will generate 

6,500 new jobs annually – more than 1 in 9 new jobs created in the state. Additionally, they 

estimate an additional 59,000 LHT jobs will open up annually as workers leave the industry and 

need to be replaced. Given the availability of jobs and upward mobility in some of the sector 

there is an opportunity to support increased training to prepare a pool of diverse, industry-ready, 

skilled candidates to step into jobs with career opportunities.  

The release of funds was also an effort to build upon the Leisure, Hospitality and Tourism (LHT) 

industry’s importance to the overall economy of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, given the 

introduction of Expanded Gaming and the openings of Plainridge Park Casino, MGM Springfield 

and the projected June opening of a third casino in Everett, Massachusetts.  

Primary Objectives: The program was designed to support and place un/underemployed 

Massachusetts residents into quality jobs in the hospitality sector, designed to establish career 



 
 

 
 

ladders leading to living wages. By investing in the development of, or expansion on the quality 

of well-defined career pathways that match training, education and supportive services needs to 

youth/adult needs; establishing wrap-around supports that enable the individual to thrive as they 

pursue career advancement; and increasing the capacity of education and workforce 

development programs to better serve opportunities for youth.  

Grant Awardees and Descriptions 

Holyoke Community College: Awarded $45,000 to support Welcome Pioneer Valley (WPV,) a 

brand new non-credit foundations of hospitality and hotel operations program at the HCC MGM 

Culinary Arts Institute. WPV will seek to train 60 job seekers or non/hospitality hotel workers, as 

well as 30 supervisors/managers from January through June 2019. The program is designed for 

anyone interested in starting or developing a career in the hotel industry including 

housekeepers, front desk personnel, valets, stewards, porters, environmental service workers 

and more. WPV will offer 60 hours of classroom instruction and hands on training; the duration 

of the program will be two weeks. There will be four cohorts of 15 individuals over the life of the 

grant. Training components will include: Fundamentals of Hotel Operation, Understanding 

Hospitality Operations and Business, Room Sanitation and Safety, Guest Service Pioneer 

Valley.  

Partners include: D Hotel and Suites, MGM Springfield, Fairfield Inn and Suites (Marriott) and 

Greater Springfield Convention and Visitors Bureau. 

Jewish Vocational Services: Awarded $45,000 to train 28 individuals through two training 

cycles for employment in hotels and to educate 60 individuals through monthly workshops about 

careers in the Leisure, Hospitality and Gaming industry. JVS’s training program includes a three 

week internship at a partner site. Following one week of classroom instruction at JVS in 

hospitality, guest service skills, hotel vocabulary and safety, each participant is matched with a 

three week job shadow opportunity in the area of room attendant, house person, maintenance, 

laundry or food service. The participant also returns to JVS once a week during the job shadow 

to work on resumes, interviewing skills and the job search process. The training includes 

information about career pathways, the best ways to communicate with their supervisors about 

their desire to move up. The target population for this program is un/underemployed adults who 

are non-native English speakers. 

Partners include: Westin Boston Waterfront, Intercontinental Boston, and The Charles Hotel. 

 



2018
ANNUAL REPORT



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 2

Governor 
Charles D. Baker

Attorney General 
Maura Healey

Treasurer 
Deborah Goldberg

Chairs of the House and Senate 
Committees on Ways & Means

Chairs of the Joint Committee 
on Economic Development & 
Emerging Technologies

Clerks of the House and Senate

December 2018 HONORABLE MADAMS AND MESSRS.

We are pleased to deliver the seventh annual report of the Massachusetts 
Gaming Commission. This report covers the details of our operations 
as of the end of the Fiscal Year 2018 (June 30, 2018), and is submitted in 
accordance with section 70 of Chapter 23K. 

During FY18 we continued to implement the operational readiness process 
in anticipation of the opening of MGM Springfield. This fiscal year we 
also increased funding for workforce development activities that leverage 
existing efforts at the State and local levels to help provide opportunities 
for employment. 

The third full year of operations for Plainridge Park Casino concluded on 
June 30, 2018. The total gaming tax revenues collected for the fiscal year 
were $170.0M with $68.0M of that directed to Local Aid. 

The opening of the downtown Springfield casino was August 24, 2018. 
Although our Investigations and Enforcement Bureau initiated an 
investigation on Wynn Resorts and the company’s response to allegations 
of inappropriate conduct by its former chairman, construction at the 
Encore Boston Harbor continues in Everett. 

We are always available to discuss with you at your convenience the efforts 
the Commission is making, the results it is achieving and any other aspect 
of our operations about which you would like additional information. 

Sincerely, 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 3

MISSION

The mission of the Massachusetts Gaming Commission is to 

create and maintain a fair, transparent, and participatory 

process for implementing the expanded gaming law passed 

by the Legislature and signed by the Governor in November 

2011. The Commission strives to ensure that its decision-

making and regulatory systems engender the confidence of 

the public and participants, and that they provide the greatest 

possible economic development benefits and revenues to the 

people of the Commonwealth, reduce to the maximum extent 

possible the potentially negative or unintended consequences 

of expanded gaming, and allow an appropriate return on 

investment for gaming providers that assures the operation 

of casino-resorts of the highest quality.



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 4

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Letter from the Chair 

Major Milestones Anticipated for Fiscal Year 19

Key Provisions of the Gaming Act

Recommendations for Legislative Action

Agency Divisions

Research & Responsible Gaming

Casino Properties and Project Summaries 

Racing Operations

Tax Collections & Agency Finances

Workforce, Supplier and Diversity Development

Casino Industry Impact Report 2017

Litigation Matters

5

6

8

9

11

15

21

25

27

31

37

41



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 5

LETTER 
FROM THE CHAIR

1.  Oversaw the third full year of operations of at 
Plainridge Park Casino (PPC). For FY18 (ending June 
30, 2018) Gross Gaming Revenues totaled $170.0M 
(an $11.82M increase from the prior year) resulting 
in taxes of $83.2M ($68M to Local Aid and $15.2M 
million to the Race Horse Development Fund)

2.  Promulgated or amended thirty sets of regulations 
that govern many important aspects of gaming  
and racing operations including progressive games 
and equipment, gaming devices and electronic 
gaming equipment, licensing and registration of 
casino employees, surveillance, tax remittance and 
reporting, administrative closure of applications  
and complimentary services and promotional  
gaming credits

3.  Released important reports including the Social 
and Economic Impacts of Expanded Gambling in 
Massachusetts: 2018 summarizing the impacts of 
expanded gaming to date. Other reports included  
the Analysis of the Wave 2 of the Gambling Cohort 
Study (MAGIC) as well as a second- year analysis  
of Lottery Revenue and Plainridge Park

4.  Completed the evaluation of two major responsible 
gaming initiatives: (1) We staff and operate a 
GameSense Info Center at PPC, and (2) We  
deployed “PlayMyWay,” a voluntary budgeting 
tool for slot players. These programs are first- 
of-their-kind in the United States

5.  Continued to oversee and regulate the racing and 
simulcasting operations in the Commonwealth, 
including disbursements to purses and for the 
benefit of horsemen and breeders associations for  
a total of $16.55M ($9.5M disbursed to standardbred 
and $7.0 million disbursed to thoroughbred)

6.  Held 25 public meetings of the Commission, and  
an additional four public hearings. The Commission 
streams all its public meetings live via the MGC 
website and transcribes the meetings and hearings 
in full. Further, there were 27 additional open 
meetings (Access and Opportunity Committee,  
Public Health Trust Fund Executive Committee, 
Horse Racing Committee, etc.)

7.  Authored a White Paper on Sports Betting in 
anticipation of the United States Supreme Court 
decision to strike down key elements of the law  
that prohibited most states from sanctioning  
and regulating sports betting (PASPA)

The Massachusetts Gaming Commission (MGC) has been in existence since March 21 of 2012, and this report entails the 
seventh fiscal year of operations in the process of implementing the expanded gaming legislation (Chapter 194 of the 
Acts of 2011 — An Act Establishing Expanded Gaming in the Commonwealth) enacted by the General Court and signed 
into law by the Governor November 2011. 

The Commission made significant progress towards its mission during FY18. We continue to operate the regulatory 
framework to enable this Commission to oversee and regulate the gaming licenses that the Gaming Act allows.

DURING FY18 THE COMMISSION:

Finally, during FY18 the Legislature enacted and the Governor signed St. 2017 Chapter 100 §3 as part of broader  
CORI reform efforts. This provision gives MGC the discretion to exempt individuals in certain job categories from 
registration. This effectively reconciled important provisions in the Gaming Act that had resulted in an automatic 
disqualification from employment to people with a criminal offense in their records.  

http://: https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/2C-Final-Draft-Sports-Betting-WP-2-28-18.pdf


MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 6

The first 10 months of operations of the MGM 
Springfield casino will follow the August 24, 2018 
opening. Gaming revenue for the first partial third 
quarter (from opening through September 30, 2018) 
amounted to $36.4M, which resulted in $9.1M in gaming 
taxes. For FY19 the Commonwealth could expect to 
collect approximately $59.9M for the first partial year  
of operations from this Category 1 license.  

The fourth full year of operations of Plainridge Park 
Casino will conclude on June 30, 2019. Gaming revenue 
for the first quarter of FY19 was $44.9M which resulted 
in $22.0M in revenues to the Commonwealth. Given 
increased competition from MGM Springfield, PPC  
could see prior year revenues decrease. 

Regulatory, staffing and oversight of the Everett 
operation will accelerate in anticipation of the projected 
opening of Encore Boston Harbor in June 2019. We do 
not anticipate significant revenue from this Category 1 
licensee in FY19. 

We will continue to improve our responsible gaming 
efforts. We have convened a group of Northeast 
regulators and operators in our efforts to implement 
a Regional Voluntary Self-Exclusion Program. This 
program would be the first effort of its kind in the nation. 

We will continue our research and program evaluation 
activities. We have begun a strategic planning process 
for the research agenda to continue making our research 
and program evaluation activities as useful as possible for 
regulation, mitigation, and the informing of policymakers.

Standardbred racing will continue at Plainridge Park 
Casino and is expected to include 108 days of live racing 
for the calendar year 2019. Thoroughbred racing will 
continue at Suffolk Downs and is expected to include  
at least 4 days of live racing for the calendar year 2019. 
We continue to evaluate the feasibility of thoroughbred 
racing given available monies for purses.

We will continue to work to maximize the economic 
benefits from a casino. We convene and connect 
licensees to the Commonwealth’s workforce and  
small business resources. We provide grants to  
leverage and supplement state and local workforce 
development programs. 

We will continue our transition to regulatory  
aspects of the operations of casinos, including:

•  Furtherance of regulations that govern operations  
and functions at the gaming establishments

•  Implementation of further rules and procedures  
to ensure the integrity of the game 

•  Compliance, monitoring and audit programs  
for the oversight of operations of licensees 

We monitor developments that affect the gaming 
industry to make policy recommendations. Topics 
like the status of the Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe have 
significant implications for Region C (Southeastern 
Massachusetts). Other topics include online gaming, 
sports betting, illegal gambling and the status of the 
Wampanoag Tribe of Gay Head (Aquinnah) and their 
potential impact on the young gaming industry in 
Massachusetts.

MAJOR MILESTONES 
ANTICIPATED FOR 

FISCAL YEAR 19



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 7



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 8

KEY PROVISIONS 
OF THE GAMING ACT

Chapter 194 of the Acts of 2011 (“The Gaming Act”) includes significant features to ensure public confidence and  
a robust gaming industry that generates economic development while providing mitigation measures to protect 
potentially vulnerable groups. 

A STRONG, INDEPENDENT REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

•  Five full-time commissioners appointed by the  
three constitutional officers

•  Rigorous standards for suitability and licensure  
of companies, vendors and employees

•  On-site presence of gaming agents, state police and 
responsible gaming agents (GameSense Advisors)

•  Detailed regulations and strict oversight to ensure 
integrity of the operations and fairness of the games

A ROBUST AND FUNDED RESEARCH MANDATE

The Gaming Act enshrines the role of research in 
enhancing responsible gaming and mitigating the 
negative consequences of expanded gaming in 
Massachusetts. To this end, the Secretary of Health  
and Human Services and the Commission established  
a Public Health Trust Fund Executive Committee to 
oversee and execute on this mandate. The act directs  
the parties to: 

•  Understand the social and economic effects of 
expanded gaming including conducting a baseline 
study and subsequent studies of all relevant critical, 
social and economic variables

•  Obtain scientific information relative to the 
neuroscience, psychology, sociology, epidemiology 
and etiology of gambling

•  Make annual, scientifically-based recommendations 
for policy to the Legislature 

STRONG LOCAL CONTROL

•  Host communities vote on the host community 
agreement negotiated between the applicant  
and the local executive 

•  Surrounding communities have a process for 
addressing mitigation concerns (that must also  
be funded and addressed by the applicants)

•  Reimbursement to communities for mitigation costs 

POLICIES TO MAXIMIZE THE BENEFITS TO THE 
COMMONWEALTH 

•  A competitive and transparent process for license 
solicitation, evaluation and award of up to three 
Category 1 licenses and one Category 2 license  
to maximize capital investment

•  Clear directives and specific criteria to realize 
economic benefits to support local, small and 
diverse businesses, employ the unemployed and 
underemployed while protecting vulnerable groups 
and other Commonwealth assets including the  
Lottery and impacted live entertainment venues



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 9

1.  Consider addressing the expiring nature of the 
racing statutes in a permanent manner. The current 
statutes that govern live racing and simulcasting 
in the Commonwealth (M.G.L. Chapters 128A and 
128C) expire on July 31, 2018. As part of the Gaming 
Act (Chapter 194 of the Acts of 2011, §104), the 
Commission was tasked with providing findings 
and recommendations to the Legislature (given its 
then pending expiration of July 31, 2014). These 
recommendations were submitted in April 2013, in 
a report that included a draft proposed new M.G.L. 
Chapter 128D. While the Legislature did not enact 
the proposed Chapter 128D, different efforts to 
address this (in the House and Senate) resulted in 
four annual extensions of sections 128A and 128C 
(St. 2105 Chapter 10 §59, St. 2016 Chapter 176, St. 
2017 Chapter 56 and St. 2018 Chapter 159). These 
extensions have allowed Suffolk Downs to continue 
simulcasting while requiring they conduct at least one 
day of live racing. However, in our opinion, the current 
short-term nature of the law creates uncertainty to 
the viability of live horse racing in the Commonwealth. 
Accordingly, the Commission favors an approach 
that includes a comprehensive statutory amendment 
that takes a more long-term view including allowing 
the Commission to set the minimum number of race 
days and use the Race Horse Development Fund to 
provide more assistance to the racing industry (both 
standardbred and thoroughbred).

2.  Consider addressing the rapidly evolving nature 
of online gaming in a holistic way. In 2016 the 
Legislature created a special commission that 
produced a report on July 31, 2017. In our opinion and 
as stated in the special commission’s final report, the 
Commonwealth should provide a flexible, omnibus 
regulatory framework (and update outdated relevant 
statutes) as opposed to addressing the legality and 
regulation of each new game or online technology on 
a one-off basis, which may also include sports betting. 

3.  Consider exempting members of the Gaming 
Policy Advisory Committee, its subcommittees 
and local advisory committees from certain 
conflicts of interest and ethics restrictions. M.G.L. 
Chapter 23K, §68 created a Gaming Policy Advisory 
Committee (GPAC) and subcommittees (specifically a 
Subcommittee on Community Mitigation) and Local 
Community Mitigation Advisory Committees (LCMACs) 
to provide advice to the commission on gaming 
policy and related mitigation matters. By statute, 
the LCMACs include appointees from the host and 
surrounding communities to the casinos. The people 
in the best position to provide informed input in many 
of these advisory roles are local officials, municipal 
and regional employees. However, it has been 
determined that municipal and regional employees 
may be in violation of the state’s conflict of interest 
law (M.G.C. Chapter 268a) if they were to provide 
advice to the Commission while also performing 
their local duties which typically include gaming-
related matters. MGC worked closely with the State 
Ethics Commission to craft language to allow those 
municipal and regional planning employees to provide 
the best advice to the Commission while also meeting 
their gaming-related local and regional duties.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR 
LEGISLATIVE ACTION

In accordance with M.G.L. Chapter 30 §33 and Chapter 23K (the Gaming Act); we submit recommendations for 
legislative action. The topics for consideration are: 



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 10



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 11

The Investigations and Enforcement Bureau (IEB) 
is comprised of 1) the Investigations Division, which 
includes Massachusetts State Police (MSP) staff and a 
team of civilian financial investigators; 2) the Gaming 
Agents Division, comprised of civilian agents, which is 
charged with providing regulatory oversight and on-site 
monitoring of licensed gaming establishments; and 3) 
the Chief Enforcement Counsel whose duties include 
legal review of investigations and acting as the attorney 
for the IEB in licensing and enforcement actions by 
the bureau. The Director of the IEB also oversees the 
Division of Licensing, which administers the licensing 
and registration functions on behalf of the Commission 
for employees of, and vendors to, the gaming 
establishments.

The IEB conducts probity investigations to determine 
suitability for licensure and registration for all gaming 
establishment employees and vendors, per licensing 
regulations (205 CMR 134.00), which also define 
thresholds, standards and procedures for licensing 
and registration. On January 2018, the IEB initiated an 
investigation into the circumstances reported in the Wall 
Street Journal regarding inappropriate behavior by Wynn 
Resorts CEO Steve Wynn and the company’s response. As 
of the writing of this report, the investigation continues.  

There are three levels of employee licensure: Key Gaming 
Employee — Executive, Key Gaming Employee — Standard, 
and Gaming Employee. All three levels of licensure 
require a background check before employment may 
commence at a gaming establishment. Some employees 
not classified by regulation as either Key Gaming or 
Gaming Employees must register as a Gaming Service 
Employee, unless exempted from classification by the 
Commission. Background checks for those employees 
may commence after employment begins. The depth  
of background check is commensurate with the level  
of licensure/registration.

Pursuant to St. 2017 Chapter 110 §3, the Commission 
may, in its discretion, exempt certain service employees 
by job description from the registration requirement, 
which had previously acted as somewhat of a barrier  
for some seeking employment.  

In FY18, the IEB and the Division of Licensing received 
and processed 2,026 applications for individual 
licensure or registration and over 658 applications  
for business entity licensure or registration. MGC  
also licensed an additional 14 casino qualifier individuals 
and 6 casino entity qualifiers. 

At PPC, gaming agents perform a variety of tasks 
including slot machine moves and inspections, 
operational audits, compliance reports, patron 
complaints, machine jackpots over certain thresholds, 
and tips from the Fair Deal tip line. 

As part of the Commission’s mission to ensure the 
integrity of the games, MGC promulgated an important 
set of regulations regarding the rules for table games 
and gaming equipment. These rules are typically quite 
detailed, and their associated procedures are enforced 
and designed to minimize advantage play. During the 
coming year, we anticipate training additional staff.  
This also includes the additional preparation of table 
game monitoring and associated procedures. 

During FY18, we successfully processed licensing 
applications via an upgraded version of a Licensing 
Management System (LMS). The system is a web-based 
digital tool to capture information from individuals to 
be licensed by MGC. The easy-to-use system allows 
for efficiencies in the licensing process. Users upload 
different documents as necessary and when available. 
The system provides for the documentation and 
preservation of all requirements of the licensing and 
investigatory processes. 

The LMS has dramatically enhanced our Division of 
Licensing’s ability to administer, track, document and 
communicate with licensees, and on-site staff on the 
status of the licenses and registrations. Also, the IEB 
utilizes the LMS to reflect actual workflows and track  
and record background investigations in our ongoing 
effort of building an entirely digital agency.

AGENCY DIVISIONS
INVESTIGATIONS AND ENFORCEMENT BUREAU AND DIVISION OF LICENSING 



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 12

The Office of the Ombudsman is responsible for 
coordinating and communicating interactions among 
the Commission and many stakeholders: State 
agencies, applicants, licensees, host and surrounding 
Communities, and multiple other interested parties. 

COMMUNITY MITIGATION GRANTS
The Community Mitigation Fund receives monies from the 
licensing fees and the taxes on gross gaming revenues 
and is designed to address unanticipated adverse impacts 
that may result from the construction and operations 
of casinos. It may also be used for planning, either to 
determine how to achieve further benefits from a facility 
or to avoid or minimize any adverse impacts. When 
fully funded, the Community Mitigation Fund will have 
approximately $20M annually for local mitigation projects. 

The Office of the Ombudsman reviews requests for 
mitigation dollars and makes recommendations to the 
Commission on the disbursements from the Community 
Mitigation Fund. To date, the Commission has allocated 
approximately $12.3M in grants to host, surrounding 
and neighboring communities, governmental agencies 
and public safety organizations. During FY18, the 
Community Mitigation grants were as follows:

1.  One-Time Reserve Grants in the amount  
of $100,000. This grant reserved $100,000 for 
the communities which were a host community, 
surrounding community, nearby or adjacent 
community. To date, a total of 28 communities 
associated with Region A (Eastern Massachusetts), 
Region B (Western Massachusetts) and the slots-
parlor have been granted reserves for a total of 
$2,800,000. 

2.  Specific Mitigation Grants. These grants were 
developed to assist communities with an unanticipated 
or anticipated mitigation need specific to that 
Community. During FY18 these grants were as follows: 

  •  Hampden County District Attorney’s  
Office: $125,000 
$100,000 for an additional Assistant District 
Attorney to assist with potential increased 
caseloads that may result from the operation 
of the MGM Springfield facility, and $25,000 to 
develop a tracking system for casino-related 
cases. The grant provides flexibility to pay for  
the portion of a victim witness advocate.

 •  Hampden County Sheriff’s Department: $765,000 
Lease assistance for the Western Massachusetts 
Recovery and Wellness Center for 2018 and 2019.  
The Center needed to move from its prior location 
which was located within the current footprint of  
the MGM Springfield facility.

  •  Massachusetts State Police: $1,814,544 
Hiring, training, and compensation of Troopers for  
the expansion of the Gaming Enforcement Unit

 •   Springfield Police: $160,498  
Training and equipment for Recruit Officers to 
attend Police Training Academy, and additional 
personnel costs. Five Springfield Police Officers 
and one Lieutenant will be assigned to the MGM 
Springfield Gaming Enforcement Unit.

3.  Transportation Grants. These grants were developed 
to assist communities in transportation and 
transportation-related impacts. The Commission 
continues to support regional approaches to mitigation 
needs and recognizes that some mitigation requires 
the commitment of more than one community. The 
2018 Guidelines for the Community Mitigation Fund 
allowed multiple communities to submit a joint 
application.

  •  Attleboro: $100,000 
Traffic study of and improvements (e.g., signal 
coordination) to a study area that consists of  
Route 123 from its intersections at Route 1, 
northerly along Route 1 to the North Attleborough 
corporate line. 

 •   Boston: $200,000  
Assistance with the design of the Sullivan  
Square / Rutherford Avenue Project.

  •  Chelsea: $200,000 
100% Design / Engineering of Beacham  
/ Williams Street Corridor.

  •  Everett / Somerville: $425,000  
Design and permitting of station enhancements 
/ a weather protected connecting structure 
(connector) for enhanced access to the Assembly 
Square MBTA Station. A completed connector 
would work in tandem with a proposed bicycle  
and pedestrian bridge to provide connections from 
the station to the Encore Boston Harbor facility, 
the City of Everett, and regional bicycle  
and pedestrian paths.

OFFICE OF THE OMBUDSMAN



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 13

 •   Medford: $198,600 
Survey, final design documents and complete 
permitting for the proposed South Medford 
Connector bicycle and pedestrian path, designed 
to provide enhance regional connections.

 •   Revere / Saugus: $275,000  
Funding for preliminary traffic designs for  
elements within Phase 1 of the Route 1 
Improvement Project in order to plan for  
potential Encore Boston Harbor traffic.

 •   West Springfield: $200,000  
Professional engineering consultant to collect 
data, analyze and design improvements to portions 
of both Park Street (Route 20) and Park Avenue 
(Route 20) between the intersections of Elm  
Street (Route 20) and Union Street, easterly to  
the North End Bridge Rotary at Route 5 to mitigate 
transportation impacts associated with additional 
casino traffic.

4.  Workforce Development Pilot Program. FY18 was  
the second year that MGC allocated funding for 
Workforce Development purposes as part of the 
Community Mitigation Fund. This program was 
conceived as a pilot program to help increase job 
readiness in both Regions A and B in anticipation 
of the casino openings. A total of $900,000 for the 
Workforce Development Pilot Program was approved 
for this fiscal year funding round as follows:  

 •   Boston Private Industry Council: $300,000  
Funding for the Greater Boston Casino Pipe Line 
Initiative (GBCPI) including funding for English 
for Hospitality classes, “Community Supports” 
local outreach to job seekers, Best Pre-apprentice 
program funding and gaming school scholarships.  

 •   Holyoke Community Collegen: $300,000 
Work Ready collaboration between Holyoke 
Community College (HCC), Springfield Technical 
Community College (STCC) and Springfield 
Public Schools including $70,000 for HCC gaming 
scholarships, $57,306 for HCC / STCC line cook 
training; $100,000 for year two of the SPS Ahead 
of the Game program for literacy and math skills 
GED / HiSET; and $82,693 for year two of the STCC 
/ HCC Hampden Prep Program for local education 
(high school credential) and career readiness 
exploration and certificate.

 •   MetroNorth Regional Employment  
Board (MNREB): $300,000 
MetroNorth Casino Careers Consortium  
(MNCCC) including $95,000 for the NECAT  
Everett Culinary Training Program, $10,000 for  
the Career Casino Advisors program, $60,000  
for English for Employment, and $50,000 for  
Job Readiness Training

5.  Non-Transportation Planning

 •    Malden: $50,000 
Planning to assist in the completion of a  
Broadway Corridor Framework Plan to study 
existing physical and economic conditions 
and project gaming facility related impacts 
on the Corridor. The effort will also provide 
recommendations relating to land use,  
economic development, and implementation.

 •   Revere: $50,000 
$42,000 to continue the services of an economic 
development consultant to address Encore Boston 
Harbor opportunities over an additional period of  
6 months. The balance of the grant, $8,000, would  
be used to undertake marketing and promotional 
efforts about these development opportunities  
and the potential linkage with the Encore Boston 
Harbor casino.

 •   West Springfield: $40,000 
Funding for an architectural and engineering 
consultant to conduct a Police Facility Needs 
Assessment and Location Study. The Town of  
West Springfield will experience space constraints  
in its current facility resulting from the hiring of  
eight new officers to address potential MGM 
Springfield calls for service.



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 14

6.  Tribal Gaming Technical Assistance  
Reserve $200,000

 •   Southeastern Regional Planning and Economic 
Development District (SRPEDD): $200,000  
This reserve would provide funding to SRPEDD to 
assist in the determination of potential impacts 
that may be experienced by communities that are 
geographically proximate to the proposed facility.  
The Commission determined that this reserve  
should continue until there is a decision regarding  
the tribal facility.

LICENSEE REPORTING AND CONSTRUCTION OVERSIGHT
The Office of the Ombudsman also helps the Commission 
remain up to date on the activities of its licensees, 
including the progress of the construction of the  
Encore Boston Harbor and MGM Springfield facilities, 
and the status of all three current facilities in meeting 
the terms of their licenses. The Office of the Ombudsman 
coordinates reports due to the Commission from 
licensees as well as developments regarding their 
progress against a large number of license conditions. 
This office includes the role of a Construction Project 
Oversight Manager for the oversight of efforts from 
licensees and other design, permitting, and  
construction requirements. 

The Ombudsman further coordinates and supports 
legislatively mandated Advisory Committees and  
sub-committees which support the Commission  
on the Community Mitigation Fund guidelines on  
an annual basis. 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DIVISION
The Information Technology Division (ITD) supports both 
internal and external business processes of MGC and 
provides infrastructure, connectivity, hardware, software, 
as well as data management and security for the integrity 
and efficiency of MGC’s operations and its oversight of 
licensees. 

The Gaming Technology Unit (GTU) is responsible for 
planning, organizing, managing, and implementing  
the regulations, policies, procedures, and testing needed 
to ensure the integrity of electronic gaming devices 
(EGDs) and associated software and equipment.  
The GTU oversees the issuance of certifications and 
permits for the use of EGDs in Massachusetts. The Unit 
is also responsible for the evaluation, inspection, and 
investigation of electronic gaming devices and associated 
equipment, and the oversight of all EGD assets in the 
jurisdiction. 

We have implemented a Central Monitoring System 
(CMS), for the oversight, reconciliation, inventory and 
control of all activity of the electronic gaming devices 
(slots) at the casinos. This system enables MGC to 
maintain a strict accounting and control of gaming 
revenues and corresponding taxes due to  
the Commonwealth in a highly efficient manner.

Gaming Agents



PAGE 15

RESEARCH & 
RESPONSIBLE GAMING

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT

The Office of Research and Responsible Gaming leads 
MGC’s efforts to mitigate gambling-related harm through 
the development and implementation of casino-based 
responsible gaming programs. In addition, this office 
directs the implementation of a comprehensive gaming 
research program as mandated by Section 71 of  
Chapter 23K.  

The Director of Research and Responsible Gaming 
serves as key liaison to the Public Health Trust Fund. 
The Gaming Act created this fund, and it is managed by 
an executive committee co-chaired by the Chair of the 
Commission and the Secretary of Health and Human 
Services or their designees. When fully funded, the 
Public Health Trust Fund will direct approximately $15M 
annually to gaming research, responsible gaming and 
problem gambling prevention and treatment programs. 
MGC and the Executive Office of Health and Human 
Services set an annual budget for expenditures from  
the Public Health Trust Fund, which includes funding  
for the yearly gaming research program.

SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF GAMBLING  
IN MASSACHUSETTS

The cornerstone research effort of the Commission is 
a comprehensive, multi-year study of the Social and 
Economic Impacts of Gambling in Massachusetts 
(SEIGMA). This study constitutes the most in-depth and 
comprehensive investigation of the impacts of introducing 
casino gambling ever undertaken. Led by the UMass 
Amherst School of Public Health and Health Sciences 
and supported by the UMass Donahue Institute, a  
multi-disciplinary research team collects, analyzes and 
reports each year the actual impacts, which in turn 
provide key information to policymakers. 

This year, SEIGMA released a report summarizing  
the impacts of expanded gaming to-date.

SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF EXPANDED 
GAMBLING IN MASSACHUSETTS: 2018 

Social and Health Impacts 
As of mid-2018 (i.e., after the opening of Plainridge  
Park Casino and prior to the opening of MGM Springfield 
and Encore Boston Harbor), the evidence indicates  
the following: 

•  There has been no significant change in the 
prevalence of problem gambling or related indices 
(treatment seeking, bankruptcy, divorce/separation, 
suicides) at either a state level or in the PPC host  
and surrounding communities. 

•  There has been no significant change in the overall 
amount of crime at a state level or in the PPC host 
and surrounding communities. 

•  There has been no significant change in population 
health (health, happiness, stress, substance use, 
addictions) at either a statewide level or in the PPC 
host and surrounding communities that can be 
attributed to casino introduction. 

Economic and Fiscal Impacts 
As of mid-2018 (i.e., after the opening of Plainridge  
Park Casino and prior to the opening of MGM Springfield 
and Encore Boston Harbor), the evidence indicates  
the following: 

•  The building of all three casinos has had significant 
direct economic benefits. All three casino companies 
have spent a considerable amount of money within the 
state building these facilities and employing a large 
local workforce in the construction. This amounted to 
$150.2M for PPC, with nearly 87% of this being spent 
in the state and approximately 81% of the construction 
workforce being from Massachusetts. 

•  The operation of PPC is also creating significant 
economic benefits, as most of the $176M–$186M 
annual revenue appears to represent new money  
from ‘recaptured’ Massachusetts casino patrons  



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 16

(i.e., Massachusetts residents who reported they 
would have gambled out-of-state if not for PPC) and 
out-of-state patrons. Furthermore, the large majority 
of this revenue stays in the state. Of the $129.5M  
n operational expenses (taxes, wages, supplies)  
in PPC’s first year of operation, 87% was spent  
within Massachusetts. Also, slightly more than 500 
people have ongoing employment at the casino,  
with approximately 71% being in-state employees.  
A significant portion of these are ‘new’ jobs as people 
taking the positions were either unemployed or 
working part-time prior to beginning work at  
the casino. 

•  Government impacts from casino gambling have not 
been extensively analyzed. However, it is clear that 
some regulatory costs are incurred at a state level  
are offset by revenue from casino business taxes  
and licensing fees. At a regional level, there are some 
financial costs in the community hosting the casino 
due to strain on infrastructure and local government 
services as well as the fact that the local populace 
will disproportionately contribute to casino revenue. 
However, this is offset by revenue from Host and 
Surrounding Community agreements with the  
casino, casino property taxes, and Local Aid from  
the state government from taxes on casino gross 
gaming revenue. 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING IMPACT COHORT (MAGIC) 

Since 2015, the same research team that leads the 
SEIGMA study has been conducting a longitudinal 
cohort study of gambling and problem gambling in 
Massachusetts. The MAGIC study surveys the same 
individuals (a sample of 3,139 Massachusetts residents) 
over time in an effort to obtain information on how 
gambling and problem gambling develops, progresses, 
and remits. The survey also identifies demographic 
groups particularly at risk of experiencing gambling-
related harm. This research also highlights risk and 
protective factors important in developing effective 
prevention, intervention, treatment, and recovery  
support services. The stability and movement in and  
out of different gambling behaviors is a key focus  
of the MAGIC study.

ANALYSIS OF MAGIC WAVE 2: INCIDENCE AND TRANSITIONS
The second wave of MAGIC was conducted from March 
2015 –September 2015 (an average of 16.5 months after 
Wave 1). Changes in gambling participation within the 
cohort were examined by comparing the self-reported 
past-year behaviors of the members of the cohort at 
Wave 1 and Wave 2. Results from this study suggest  
that the incidence of problem gambling may be relatively 
high, despite the fact that casinos are not yet operating 
in the Commonwealth. If true, it would indicate that 
additional prevention and treatment resources for 
the state are required. The results also suggest that 
remission from problem gambling is quite high. If true, 
then additional treatment resources may be especially 
beneficial in accelerating such transitions. Future 
analyses will focus on predictors of problem gambling 
onset and whether there are gender differences in these 
predictors as well as predictors of problem gambling 
remission and the extent to which accessing treatment  
is one of these factors. 

KEY FINDINGS: 
•  Recreational Gamblers and Non-Gamblers display  

the most stable pattern of gambling behavior.

•  80% of Recreational Gamblers stayed  
Recreational Gamblers.

•  64% of Non-Gamblers remained Non-Gamblers.  
A sizable portion transitioned into the Recreational 
Gambling category.

•  Only 49% of Problem or Pathological Gamblers  
stayed in this category.

•  Sizable portions transitioned into At-Risk Gambling 
and Recreational Gambling categories.

•  At-Risk Gamblers display the most unstable pattern  
of gambling behavior: 
 - Only 37% remained in this category. 
 - Most transitioned to Recreational Gambling. 
 -  A significant minority transitioned to  

Problem or Pathological Gambling.



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 17

The full report can be found at https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/MAGIC-Wave-2-Report-1-10-18.pdf

RESPONSIBLE GAMING INITIATIVES 

The ongoing Responsible Gaming programs currently 
deployed at PPC but expected to be implemented in  
both Category 1 casinos are: 

THE VOLUNTARY SELF-EXCLUSION PROGRAM (VSE)
As required by statute, the Voluntary Self-Exclusion 
Program is available to assist patrons who recognizethat 
they have experienced a loss of control over their 
gambling and wish to invoke external controls. Once 
on the list, persons are prohibited from entering the 
gaming floor, and if they do, gambling wins and losses 
are transferred to the MGC Gaming Revenue Fund. 
Enrollment terms are 6 months, 1 year, 3 years, or 
5 years. The VSE contract covers all Massachusetts 
casino properties. The self-exclusion process utilizes an 
engaged approach, ensuring that the patron obtains the 
assistance needed, is responded to in a respectful,  
timely, and discreet manner, and feels supported.   

•  There are currently 329 participants in the VSE 
Program. To date, 56 participants have removed 
themselves from the list at the conclusion of  
their term. 

MGC contracted with the Cambridge Health Alliance, 
Division on Addiction to provide an evaluation of the  
Voluntary Self-Exclusion Program. This initial report 
summarizes data collected from the program and its 
enrollees during its first twenty-nine months of  
operation in Massachusetts. 

KEY FINDINGS INCLUDE:
•  Overall, VSE enrollees were satisfied with the 

enrollment process and held positive impressions of 
it as well as the GameSense Advisors who facilitated 
enrollment; however, program satisfaction declined 
over time, possibly indicating a need for program-
related maintenance activities.

•  More than 40% of VSE enrollees who completed 
the follow-up interview indicated that enrollment 
influenced them to access additional help and 
resources.

•  Enrollees who completed the follow-up interview 
indicated that the program was helpful to them 
because of the support it provided, as well as its role 
as a deterrent because of the risk of being caught.

•  Enrollees who completed the follow-up interview 
reported statistically significant improvements  
in gambling problems, mental health, and  
relationship quality.

•  Enrollees who completed the follow-up interview 
significantly reduced the frequency and amount 
they gambled. Though more than 70% continued to 
gamble, 80% reported that they were gambling less  
at follow-up than prior to enrollment.

The full report can be found at https://massgaming.com/
wp-content/uploads/VSEeval.pdf 

TRANSITIONS BETWEEN GAMBLING BEHAVIOR GROUPS FROM WAVE 1 TO WAVE 2

WAVE 2

Non-Gambler Recreational 
Gambler

At-Risk 
Gambler

Problem or  
Pathological Gambler

Shift

GAMBLING STATUS N % N % N % N % N %

Non-Gambler 298 64.4 158 34.1 7 1.5 0 0.0. 16.5 35.6

Recreational 
Gambler

177 8.3 1,723 80.3 223 10.4 22 1.0 422 19.7

At-Risk 
Gambler

8 2.0 201 50.9 148 37.5 38 9.6 247 62.5

Problem or 
Pathological  

Gambler
- - 16 20.3 23 29.1 39 49.4 40 50.6

TOTAL 484 2,098 401 99

W
A

V
E

 1

https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/MAGIC-Wave-2-Report-1-10-18.pdf
https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/VSEeval.pdf
https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/VSEeval.pdf


MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 18

Also, we continue our efforts of convening a Regional 
Voluntary Self-Exclusion Program with neighboring states 
with casino gambling in New England (Connecticut, 
Rhode Island, Maine) and New York. We anticipate that 
during FY18, we will be well on our way to a multi-state 
compact that will be the first-in-the-nation. 

GAMESENSE
GameSense is an innovative responsible gaming program 
adopted by the Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
as part of its mission to 1) promote positive play and 2) 
reduce gambling-related harm. 

To encourage responsible gaming, GameSense works 
to support positive play for all players. Positive play is 
when a player holds attitudes and beliefs that minimize 
their risk for developing gambling problems. GameSense 
works to encourage positive play by increasing informed 
player choice. Informed player choice includes, but is not 
limited to, a deeper understanding about how gambling 
and individual games work, how much one is spending, 
and debunking common gambling myths. PlayMyWay is 
offered as a GameSense tool that allows players to set  
a budget and receive reminders of their budget so they 
can self-monitor their play activity. 

To reduce gambling related harm, GameSense works to 
provide at-risk and problem gamblers with information 
relevant to their specific needs. This includes connecting 
players to self-assessment tools, providing information 
to help them recognize the signs of problem gambling 
and community-based resources if they wish to seek 
professional help. If a player feels that their gambling is 
beyond their control, they can also enroll in the Voluntary 
Self-Exclusion Program, which excludes them from 
participating in gambling activities. 

To increase visibility and awareness of the program, 
GameSense Info Centers are located near high-traffic 
gambling areas of the casino. GameSense Advisors  
are on-site 16 hours per day, 7 days a week to educate 
and engage with casino patrons and staff. 

MGC contracted with the Cambridge Health Alliance, 
Division on Addiction to provide an evaluation of the 
GameSense program. A compendium of four evaluations 
spanning more than two years summarizes data collected 
from the program. 

KEY FINDINGS INCLUDE:
•  Within one year of launch, 54% of patrons surveyed 

reported being aware of the GameSense program 
and the level of awareness increased (43% to 69%) 
between February 2016 and July 2016.

•  Nearly three in five (59%) patrons surveyed reported 
learning something new about gambling from the 
GameSense Advisor. As a result of this interaction, 
22% reported having changed how they gamble. 
One in three (33%) patrons who had an in-depth 
conversation with a GameSense Advisor said this 
conversation caused them to think about their  
own gambling.



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 19

•  GameSense Advisors recorded 5,659 direct 
interactions with patrons between December 2015 
to May 2016, and 7,878 direct interactions between 
August 2016 to February 2017.

•  Nine out of ten believed GameSense could benefit 
anyone who gambles. Moreover, the overwhelming 
majority of patrons (98%) who spoke with a 
GameSense Advisor reported being satisfied  
with the information provided.

•  One in three (32%) patrons who had an in-depth 
conversation with a GameSense Advisor sought them 
out to learn about or enroll in PlayMyWay, and 90%  
of enrollments in the voluntary self-exclusion program 
were completed by GameSense Advisors (314 out of 
349 enrollments). 

The full report can be found at https://massgaming. 
com/wp-content/uploads/Comprehensive-Evaluation-
of-the-Plainridge-Park-Casino-GameSense-
Program-7-26-18.pdf 

PLAYMYWAY
This tool prompts rewards card holders to voluntarily 
choose a daily, weekly and/or monthly budget to track 
their spending while at PPC. 

Enrolled participants receive automatic notifications after 
they reach 50% and 75% of the spend budget. Players 
will also receive a notification when they reach 100% 
of the budget, and if they continue to play, notifications 
will be received at 25% intervals. A player can choose 
to stop at any point or keep playing. There is no penalty 
or consequence for playing beyond the set budget as it 
is intended to help players make decisions and monitor 
their gambling in real time. 

As of October 2018 over 20,000 PPC patrons have enrolled 
in PlayMyWay representing 7.5% of eligible players. Of the 
number of people who have enrolled, 2,900 (or 16%) have 
unenrolled.

MGC contracted with the Cambridge Health Alliance, 
Division on Addiction to provide an evaluation of 
PlayMyWay. A compendium of four evaluations spanning 
more than two years summarizes data collected from  
the program. 

KEY FINDINGS INCLUDE:
•  PlayMyWay users had significantly more cash activity 

than non-users on slot machines and electronic table 
games. For example, during the entire study period, 
PlayMyWay users inserted significantly more cash  
into slot machines than non-users but also withdrew 
more funds than non-users (lost less). 

•  PlayMyWay users tended to wager less money as well 
as lose less money per day compared to non-users. 
Over time, PlayMyWay users also exhibited slightly 
more variation in amount wagered than non-users.

•  About half of enrollees never approached their self-
determined budgets, and therefore never received any 
notifications. The observation of patterns of ongoing 
notification indicated that most people who received 
notifications from PlayMyWay did not stop gambling.

 •  The initial evaluation of PlayMyWay provides the 
first look into how real gamblers use and interact 
with PlayMyWay at Plainridge Park Casino. Data 
limitations prevented evaluators from assessing key 
differences in gambling behavior between PlayMyWay 
users and non-users, and among PlayMyWay users 
before, during, and/or after using PlayMyWay. These 
limitations also hampered a complete assessment 
of how budget notifications might relate to both 
gambling and cash activity. Additional evaluation is 
currently underway and expected to be complete 
within the next few months. 

The full report can be found at https://massgaming.
com/wp-content/uploads/PlayMyWay-Preliminary-
Evaluation-11-21-17.pdf 

https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/Comprehensive-Evaluation-of-the-Plainridge-Park-Casino-GameSense-Program-7-26-18.pdf
https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/Comprehensive-Evaluation-of-the-Plainridge-Park-Casino-GameSense-Program-7-26-18.pdf
https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/Comprehensive-Evaluation-of-the-Plainridge-Park-Casino-GameSense-Program-7-26-18.pdf
https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/Comprehensive-Evaluation-of-the-Plainridge-Park-Casino-GameSense-Program-7-26-18.pdf
https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/PlayMyWay-Preliminary-Evaluation-11-21-17.pdf
https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/PlayMyWay-Preliminary-Evaluation-11-21-17.pdf
https://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/PlayMyWay-Preliminary-Evaluation-11-21-17.pdf


MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 20



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 21

CASINO PROPERTY & 
PROJECT SUMMARIES

PLAINRIDGE  
PARK CASINO

PPC is the Category 2 licensee in Plainville, Massachusetts.  
The facility also hosts standardbred live racing and  
simulcasting operations. 

Conditional Award of the License  February 2014

Operations Certificate/Date Opened  June 24, 2015

Gaming Space  43,800 square feet

Capital Investment Amount  $250M

Employees   503 employees as follows: 35 Key Gaming Employees,  
190 Gaming Employees and 278 Service Employees

Tax on Gross Gaming Revenues  49%

Slots/Gaming Positions  1,250 slots/1,414 Gaming Positions

Table Games  N/A

Additional Amenities   2 Full-Service Restaurants [“Flutie’s Sports Bar” and  
“Slack’s Oyster House & Grill”] 3 food court style eateries 
[“B-Good” “Dunkin’ Donuts” “Slice”] Live Entertainment 
[“Revolution Lounge”] Additional racing concessions/outlets



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 22

ENCORE BOSTON 
HARBOR

Encore Boston Harbor is a Category 1 licensee for Region A 
in Everett, Massachusetts. The facility will sit on a previously  
contaminated site on the bank of the Mystic River at the site  
of the former Monsanto plant. 

Conditional Award of the License:  September 2014

Projected Opening Date  June 2019

Gaming Space  190,461 square feet

Total Investment Amount  $2.5 billion

Total Employment  4,000 permanent jobs (projected)

Tax on Gross Gaming Revenues  25%

Slots  2,574 Slot Machines

Table Games  141 gaming tables, 91 poker tables 

Additional Amenities   5-star hotel (671 rooms), 56,602 sf retail space, 10 outlets of  
food and beverage, multipurpose venue, spa/gym, convention 
space, outdoor space, indoor garden, indoor pool



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 23

MGM SPRINGFIELD MGM Springfield is a Category 1 licensee for Region B in 
Springfield, Massachusetts. The facility is located on approximately 
14 acres in downtown Springfield in the congregation of parcels 
bound by Main, State, Union and East Columbus Streets. 

Conditional Award of the License June 2014 

Opening Date  August 24, 2018

Gaming Space  126,262 square feet

Total Gross Area  759,157 square feet 

Total Investment Amount  $960 million*

Tax on Gross Gaming Revenues  25%

Parking  3,375 covered on site

Total Employment  3,000 permanent jobs (projected)

Slots  3,000

Table Games  100

Other Amenities   4-star hotel (250 rooms), 8 outlets for food and beverage,  
26,000 sf of retail space, bowling alley, cinema and  
54 residential units

*Does not include $60.7M for land and $75.5M for capitalized interest



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 24



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 25

RACING OPERATIONS
MGC is also responsible for the operational and fiscal 
oversight of the standardbred and thoroughbred 
racing operations and pari-mutuel facilities in the 
Commonwealth (under M.G.L. Chapters 128A and 128C). 

FY18 marked the fourth year that the Race Horse 
Development Fund had monies available to supplement 
purses, and accordingly the Commission approved 
disbursements for the prescribed purposes.

LIVE RACING AND SIMULCASTING AT  
LICENSED FACILITIES

STANDARDBRED RACING 
Calendar Year 2018 was the first year in which no race 
days were stipulated by statute (the Gaming Act stipulated 
an increase in race days for the first three years after 
award of a gaming license to a prior racing licensee).  
A racing meet of 110 days is being held at Plainridge  
Park Casino in Plainville. For the meet, the Division of 
Racing issued approximately 1,320 occupational licenses. 

The highlight of the 2018 harness racing season was  
the Sire Stakes finals in October. Approximately $800,000 
was distributed as purses. The events included the 
exhibition of “Foiled Again”, the standardbred that has 
won the most purse money in U.S. history.  

For the upcoming Calendar Year 2019, the number of 
race days will be 108. MGC solicited public comments 
and conducted public hearings to obtain input from 
stakeholders (operators, horsemen, etc.) and approved 
the racing application as presented. 

THOROUGHBRED RACING
For the Calendar Year 2018, live thoroughbred racing  
was conducted at Suffolk Downs for a total of 8 days.  
For the meet, the Division of Racing issued approximately 
1,200 occupational licenses. For the Calendar Year 
2019, Suffolk Downs applied for 4 racing days, with the 
possibility of adding days. We anticipate that racing will 
not continue at Suffolk Downs after July 1, 2019.

SIMULCASTING
Simulcasting is conducted year-round on seven  
licenses at the following facilities:

• Plainridge Park Casino

• Raynham Park

•  Suffolk Downs, including Twin Spires, TVG,  
Xpressbets, Wonderland

For 2018, total pari-mutuel handle in the Commonwealth 
is expected to reach $227M (approximately a 3.6% 
increase from the prior year).

During 2018, the Division of Racing continued efforts to 
enhance the safety and welfare of racing participants,  
as well as monitor and regulate the racing operations  
in the Commonwealth. 

KEY ACTIVITIES INCLUDED: 
•  Participation in the annual Association of Racing 

Commissioners International (ARCI) conference, 
and continuing education; the annual Organization 
of Racing Investigators conference and training; 
the Racing Officials accreditation program; and 
the Thoroughbred Racing Protective Bureau/ARCI 
Wagering Technology and Security Conference 

• Cutting-edge updates to racing regulations

•  Implementation of a new in-house financial  
reporting system



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 26

DISBURSEMENTS OUT OF THE RACE HORSE DEVELOPMENT FUND

During FY18, the Commission made disbursements in accordance with Chapter 23K and the recommendations for the 
split (between standardbred and thoroughbred horsemen) of the statutory Horse Racing Committee. The distributions 
out of the Race Horse Development Fund were as follows: 

ENTITY AMOUNT STATUTORY PURPOSE

HARNESS HORSEMEN’S ASSOCIATION 381,956 Health & Welfare of Harness Horsemen

MASSACHUSETTS THOROUGHBRED BREEDERS ASSN 956,697 Thoroughbred Breeders Program

NEW ENGLAND HBPA 229,352 Health & Welfare Thoroughbred Horsemen

PLAINVILLE GAMING AND REDEVELOPMENT LLC 7,639,118 Standardbred Live Racing Purses

STANDARDBRED OWNERS OF MASSACHUSETTS 1,527,824 Standardbred Breeders Program

STERLING SUFFOLK 4,453,802 Thoroughbred Live Racing Purses

Grand Total $15,188,749

Plainridge Park Casino Racing



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 27

TAX COLLECTIONS & 
AGENCY FINANCES

MGC’s Division of Administration and Finance (A&F), 
led by the Chief Financial and Accounting Officer, is 
responsible for the strict oversight of the revenues at 
gaming facilities and the collection of taxes due to the 
Commonwealth from those operations. The taxes and 
assessments on gross gaming revenues for Category 1 
facilities is 25%. The taxes and assessments on gross 
gaming revenues at the Category 2 facility is 49%.

The Division is also in charge of completing all financial 
transactions and coordinating with other functional areas 
to complete all administrative functions. The Division is 
responsible for accounting, budgeting, payroll, HR, and 
classification and compensation functions within the  
MGC structure. 

GAMING REVENUES AND TAX COLLECTIONS

From July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018, PPC reported 
$170.0 million in gross gaming revenues which 
generated $68M in tax dollars to Local Aid and $15.3M in 
assessments to the racehorse development fund. Below 
is a chart by month. The same information can be found 
at massgaming.com/revenue

SLOT MACHINE REVENUE

        TOTAL IN 
       TOTAL IN COLLECTED 
      TOTAL IN COLLECTED STATE TAXES AND  
      COLLECTED RACE HORSE  RACE HORSE 
 MONTH COIN IN  SLOT GGR HOLD % PAYOUT % STATE TAXES ASSESSMENTS ASSESSMENTS

July 2017 $ 194,625,671 $ 15,442,096 7.93% 92.07% $ 6,176,838 $ 1,389,789 $ 7,566,627

August $1 84,302,185 $ 14,220,614 7.72% 92.28% $ 5,688,246 $ 1,279,855 $ 6,968,101

September $ 181,888,412 $ 14,895,275 8.19% 91.81% $ 5,958,110 $ 1,340,575 $ 7,298,685

October $ 175,514,522 $ 13,562,865 7.73% 92.27% $ 5,425,146 $ 1,220,658 $ 6,645,804

November $ 168,442,924 $ 12,900,720 7.66% 92.34% $ 5,160,288 $ 1,161,065 $ 6,321,353

December $ 166,215,233 $ 12,722,209 7.65% 92.35% $ 5,088,884 $ 1,144,999 $ 6,233,883

January 2018 $ 158,131,225 $ 12,493,164 7.90% 92.10% $ 4,997,265 $ 1,124,385 $ 6,121,650

February $ 163,656,092 $ 13,875,608 8.48% 91.52% $ 5,550,243 $ 1,248,805 $ 6,799,048

March $ 190,673,169 $ 15,828,132 8.30% 91.70% $ 6,331,253 $ 1,424,532 $ 7,755,785

April $ 183,304,282 $ 14,594,193 7.96% 92.04% $ 5,837,677 $ 1,313,478 $ 7,151,154

May $ 183,441,966 $ 14,622,782 7.97% 92.03% $ 5,849,113 $ 1,316,050 $ 7,165,163

June $ 182,655,960 $ 14,858,491 8.13% 91.87% $ 5,943,397 $ 1,337,264 $ 7,280,661

Total $ 2,132,851,346 $ 170,016,148 N/A N/A $ 68,006,459 $ 15,301,453  $ 83,307,913

https://massgaming.com/regulations/revenue/


MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 28

For the first quarter of FY19 (July–September of 2018), PPC brought in $44.8M in Gross Gaming Revenues for  
a total of $21.9M in taxes and assessments due to the Commonwealth. It is possible that PPC could see  
revenues lower than the prior year, due to increased competition from MGM Springfield and the Tiverton Hotel  
and Casino in Tiverton, Rhode Island. 

AGENCY FY18 FINANCIAL RESULTS 

MGC approved an initial FY18 budget of $29.15M from the Gaming Control Fund. After three quarters of adjustments  
and increases for hiring related to the opening of MGM Springfield, MGC’s revised final budget was $30.96M.  
To meet the projected spending, MGC required an assessment of $24.52M to licensees. 

The final expenditures for FY18 were $29.59M and revenues (after balancing forward $2.6 million of FY19 slot fees 
received in FY18) were $30.54M. The result was a $947K excess revenue in FY18 which was credited to licensees  
in FY19. Below is a summary of spending and revenue for the Gaming Control Fund. 

GAMING CONTROL FUND 

CATEGORY BUDGET PROJECTIONS ACTUALS

Expenses Initial Projection Actuals To Date Total

MGC Regulatory Cost   

AA REGULAR EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION 6,148,832 5,853,402

BB REGULAR EMPLOYEE RELATED EXPEN 78,400 67,614

CC SPECIAL EMPLOYEES 43,200 25,927

DD PENSION & INSURANCE RELATED EX 2,274,415 2,085,374

EE ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 661,724 406,046

FF PROGRAM, FACILITY, OPERATIONAL SUPPLIES - 1,680

GG ENERGY COSTS AND SPACE RENTAL 1,247,229 1,282,797

HH CONSULTANT SVCS (TO DEPTS) 1,382,756 1,950,893

JJ OPERATIONAL SERVICES 4,591,189 3,825,125

KK Equipment Purchase 78,444 20,868

LL EQUIPMENT LEASE-MAINTAIN/REPAIR 32,107 26,952

NN NON-MAJOR FACILITY MAINTENANCE REPAIR 1,500 1,363

PP STATE AID/POL SUB/OSD 114,244 144,263

TT PAYMENTS & REFUNDS POL ISA 50,000 -

UU IT Non-Payroll Expenses 3,776,877 3,772,467

MGC Regulatory Cost Subtotal: 20,480,967 19,464,774

EE — Indirect Costs 1,648,870 1,579,832

Office of Attorney General

ISA to AGO 2,633,905 2,386,077

TT Reimbursement for AGO 0810-1204(up to 449,364 - 91,694

AGO State Police 1,068,417 915,149

Office of Attorney General Subtotal: 3,702,322 3,392,921



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 29

CATEGORY BUDGET PROJECTIONS ACTUALS

Expenses Initial Projection Actuals To Date Total

Research and Responsible Gaming/Public Health Trust Fund   

AA REGULAR EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION 205,317 206,689

BB REGULAR EMPLOYEE RELATED EXPEN 6,000 5,433

CC SPECIAL EMPLOYEES - -

DD PENSION & INSURANCE RELATED EX 74,592 74,029

EE ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 8,000 9,598

FF PROGRAM, FACILITY, OPERATIONAL SUPPLIES 500 34

HH CONSULTANT SVCS (TO DEPTS) 1,444,351 1,478,104

JJ OPERATIONAL SERVICES - 11,266

MM PURCHASED CLIENT/PROGRAM SVCS 25,000 -

PP STATE AID/POL SUB/OSD 2,074,723 2,007,939

UU IT Non-Payroll Expenses 75,000 11,080

ISA to DPH 1,140,197 1,071,694

Research and Responsible Gaming/Public Health Trust Fund Subtotal: 5,053,681 4,875,867

ISA to ABCC 75,000 281,331

Gaming Control Fund Total Costs 30,960,839 29,594,726

CATEGORY BUDGET PROJECTIONS ACTUALS

Revenues Initial Projection Actuals To Date Total

Gaming Control Fund Beginning Balance 0500 879,066 879,066

Phase 1 Collections (restricted) 0500 121,806 142,966

Phase 1 Refunds 0500 - -

Phase 2 Category 1 Collections (restricted) 0500 4,559 4,559

Region C Phase 1 Investigation Collections 0500 - -

Region C Phase 2 Category 1 Collections 0500 - -

Grant Collections (restricted) 0500 - -

Region A slot Machine Fee 0500 1,945,200 1,945,200

Region B Slot Machine Fee 0500 1,800,000 1,800,000

Slots Parlor Slot Machine Fee 0500 750,000 750,000

Gaming Employee License Fees (GEL) 3000 30,000 98,140

Key Gaming Executive (GKE) 3000 35,000 8,700

Key Gaming Employee (GKS) 3000 20,000 26,225

Non-Gaming Vendor (NGV) 3000 30,000 42,100

Vendor Gaming Primary (VGP) 3000 135,000 209,986

Vendor Gaming Secondary (VGS) 3000 40,000 5,000

Gaming School License (GSB) - 100

Gaming Service Employee License (SER) 3000 5,400 13,425

Subcontractor ID Initial License (SUB) 3000 - -

Temporary License Initial License (TEM) 3000 - -

Veterans Initial License (VET) 3000 - -

Transfer of Licensing Fees to CMF 0500 - -

Assessment 0500 24,518,396 24,518,396

Misc. 0500 52,982 98,223

FY19 Slot Assessment Collected in FY18 - (2,695,200)

Grand Total 30,367,409 30,542,087

Balance in Gaming Control Fund — Positive/(Negative) - 947,361

GAMING CONTROL FUND CONT.



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 30



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 31

WORKFORCE, SUPPLIER & 
DIVERSITY DEVELOPMENT

During FY18 MGC worked with community groups and the Legislature to reconcile certain parts of the Gaming Act 
relative to automatic disqualification to people with criminal offenses in their records. This past year, the Legislature 
enacted and the Governor signed St. 2017 Chapter 100 §3 as part of broader CORI reform efforts. This provision gave 
MGC the discretion to exempt individuals in certain job categories from the registration requirement.  

During the year, MGC reviewed the job requirements of certain positions (kitchen, restaurant, maintenance and some 
office staff) and exempted job classifications from registration, and thus those individuals are now subject only to the 
particular requirements of casino management. As a result, approximately 800 individuals at MGM Springfield were  
not required to be registered. We believe that this effort makes certain non-gaming related jobs are more accessible  
as opportunities for advancement.  

DIVERSITY MONITORING AND COMPLIANCE 

MGC established processes and systems to ensure 
the Gaming Act’s goals for business and workforce 
development and diversity during construction and 
operations are realized. MGC’s efforts and those of 
licensees include requirements to: 

•  Set diversity hiring goals and submit strategic plans 
for the inclusion of minorities, women and veterans  
in the workforce and during construction 

•  Regularly report progress towards diversity goals 

•  Support workforce development programs and 
develop affirmative action plans for the training and 
hiring of the underemployed and unemployed 

•  Coordinate with stakeholders and representatives 
from across the Commonwealth to strategize and 
support the hiring of Massachusetts residents and 
contracting with local diverse small businesses 

We continue convening an Access and Opportunity 
Committee (AOC) as part of those efforts. The AOC brings 
together state officials and community leaders, diversity 
advocates and licensees — MGM Springfield and Encore 
Boston Harbor — to help ensure that diversity goals 
are achieved through open, inclusive dialogue. During 
this fiscal year, MGC convened 10 monthly Access and 
Opportunity Meetings. MGM Springfield and Encore 
Boston Harbor provided detailed diversity reports on the 

percentage of minorities, women and veterans working 
on the construction of the resort-casinos and the dollar 
amount contracted with minority-, woman-, and veteran-
business enterprises compared to the initial goals set by 
each casino. Specific items addressed at the AOC include: 

•  Detailed report on hours by trade and subcontractor 
participation for each project 

•  Discussion of recommended actions to increase  
the numbers and participation

•  Discussion of timeline and upcoming contracting  
and hiring opportunities 

In addition, we partnered a Vendor Advisory Team with 
MGM Springfield via monthly meetings and phone calls 
to review bid opportunities and assist in identifying 
potential Massachusetts vendors for MGM. Participants 
included the Hispanic-American Institute, MA Office of 
Business Development, Springfield Regional Chamber, 
MA Supplier Diversify Office, SBANE, MA Small Business 
Development Center, MA Department of Agricultural 
Resources, MA Department of Fish and Game, Veterans 
Business Outreach Center of New England, Center for 
Women and Enterprise, Small Business Administration, 
Latino Chamber of Commerce, MA Department of 
Veterans Services and the Executive Office of Housing  
and Economic Development.  



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 32

Diversity Audit: On July 2018, MGC staff conducted a 
comprehensive review of MGM Springfield’s construction 
diversity reporting. This review included an evaluation 
of the methods by which diversity data is collected, 
disseminated and reported to MGC by the licensees,  
as well as verification of the accuracy of the data.  
The review also included an assessment of the controls  
in place and testing of the supporting documentation  
at the subcontractor level. The review team was satisfied 
that the diversity numbers reported to MGC for the 
construction period fairly represent the actual numbers 
contracted and there is enough documentation at the 
licensee to support those figures.  

WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS –  
WESTERN MASSACHUSETTS

FY18 was a busy year for Western Massachusetts 
and MGC staff in preparation of the opening of MGM 
Springfield. MGC co-convened with the Hampden County 
Regional Employment Board monthly meetings of the 
MGC/MGM Workforce Opportunity Team to identify and 
respond to project challenges, keep area workforce 
stakeholders informed about recruiting timelines and 
assist MGM Springfield in identifying and marketing 
employment opportunities to underemployed and 
unemployed residents of the Commonwealth.   

The group included representatives from the Governor’s 
Workforce Skills Cabinet, City of Springfield, EOLWFD-
Division of Career Services, Massachusetts Casino 
Careers Training Institute/Holyoke Community College, 
Springfield Technical Community College, Springfield 
Works Career Center, FutureWorks One Stop Career 
Center, CareerPoint One Stop Career Center, Partners 
for Community and Affiliates, Springfield Partners 
for Community Action, Franklin Hampshire Regional 
Employment Board and Springfield Public Schools.  

DIVERSITY AND TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE  
GRANT PROGRAM

This year the Commission continued its award of grants 
to enhance supplier diversity. The focus of this program 
is to help diverse firms succeed in the casino industry’s 
markets for goods and services as well as during 
the construction phase. This fiscal year the grantees 
included: 

•   The Hispanic American Institute, Chelsea Chamber 
of Commerce and North Shore Latino Business 
Association: $12,000 Awarded  
For bilingual outreach and technical assistance 
including one-on-one counseling to businesses 
regarding opportunities with Encore Boston Harbor. 
Efforts included networking events and seminars 
which resulted in engaging 70+ business owners  
(51 were WBEs, 56 were MBEs, 32 were minority 
women, 62 business owners were immigrants/ 
non-native English speakers) 

•   Build A Life That Works Campaign/Northeast Center 
for Tradeswomen’s Equity: $50,000 Awarded  
Now in its second year, the “Build A Life That Works” 
recruitment initiative seeks to inspire women to 
pursue a career in the union building trades as a 
viable path to equal pay for equal work, benefits  
and a better future. This first-of-its-kind, statewide 
effort aims to increase tradeswomen in the building 
trades to 20% by 2020. 

Build A Life That Works Campaign



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 33

•   Hampden County Sheriff’s Department:  
$12,716 Awarded  
This funding was utilized to train 60 current custodial 
inmates and a recently released population for 
certification in the Customer Service Gold program 
from the American Hotel and Lodging. It also provided 
trainees with information about CORI employment 
laws and available casino opportunities. This program 
had a 96% graduation rate.  

•   Quaboag Valley Community Development 
Corporation (QVCDC): $7,722 Awarded  
This grant promoted awareness of vendor 
opportunities and job openings through direct  
network outreach and advertising. It funded free 
culinary ServSafe courses and Job Readiness  
Skills courses for underemployed and unemployed  
job seekers, as well as an informational session  
for potential vendors. 

•   Asian American Civic Association (AACA):  
$15,000 Awarded 
This grant made available program enhancements 
to increase minority access and job opportunities 
to the casino industry, including a job fair, and an 
informational session for 165 students enrolled in 
ESOL and job readiness training. 

•   BEST Hospitality Training (BEST): $15,000 Awarded 
This hospitality training pipeline focused on casino 
careers. Efforts included a marketing strategy and 
informational sessions for 59 job seekers and work 
with community organizations to promote BEST’s 
English for Hospitality curriculum.

•   Chelsea Collaborative and La Comunidad:  
$12,260 Awarded 
This organization collaborated to support a workforce 
pipeline initiative to bridge the unemployment and 
income gap for Chelsea and Everett-area residents 
by expanding adult education offerings through 
ESOL reaching 160 students (nine classes) computer 
courses, and SkillSmart Training. Over 150 individuals 
benefitted from individualized case management 
of which 87% identified as Latino and 20% were 
unemployed. 

ADDITIONAL EFFORTS — WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT 

The Commission anticipates that over 15,000 individuals 
will need to be considered for employment to fill the 
remaining 4,000 needed permanent positions. To 
effectively respond to this workforce challenge, MGC 
continues work with established partnerships. Other 
partnerships and local efforts include: 

•   “Hampden Prep” Springfield Technical  
Community College, in collaboration with  
Holyoke Community College (HCC) workforce  
readiness program

•   Massachusetts Casino Careers Training Institute

•   HCC MGM Culinary Arts Institute (opened 2018)

•   Lasell College and Encore Boston Harbor 
collaboration designed to prepare students for  
careers in the hospitality industry

HCC MGM Culinary Arts Institute



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 34

ENCORE BOSTON HARBOR SUPPLIER DIVERSITY/WORKFORCE 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2018

SUPPLIER DIVERSITY DESIGN CONSTRUCTION

Demographic Goal Results Goal Results

MBE 7.9% 8.9% awarded 5% 6% awarded

WBE 10% 7.8% awarded 5.4% 10.8% awarded

VBE 1% 6.6% awarded 1% 2.6% awarded

WORKFORCE  CONSTRUCTION

Demographic Goal Results

Minorities 15.3% 25%

Women 6.9% 6.8%

Veterans 3% 6.4%

As of June 30, 2018, Encore Boston Harbor had awarded contracts (design and construction) totaling $1.32B with $233.1M in qualified  
contracts to M/W/VBEs.

RESULTS ON DIVERSITY HIRING & CONTRACTING

MGM SPRINGFIELD SUPPLIER DIVERSITY/WORKFORCE 
AS OF AUGUST 31, 2018

SUPPLIER DIVERSITY DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION

Demographic Goal Results Value

MBE 5% 7.4% awarded $41M 

WBE 10% 20.5% awarded $113.1M

VBE 2% 6.3% awarded $34.7M

WORKFORCE  CONSTRUCTION

Demographic Goal Results

Minorities 15.3% 21.78%

Women 6.9% 8.55%

Veterans 8% 8.71%

As of August 31, 2018 MGM Springfield had awarded contracts totaling $552.3M with $188.8M in qualified contracts to M/W/VBEs. 

At the end of FY18, MGM Springfield had exceeded diversity goals in all Women, Minority and Veteran participation categories.  
Also, 71% of the total hours worked at the MGM Springfield facility were by Massachusetts residents. 

As of the end of FY 18 over 3.1M work hours had been completed on the Encore Boston Harbor project by over 5178 individuals.  
86.36% of total hours worked were by MA residents.



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 35

PLAINRIDGE PARK CASINO SUPPLIER DIVERSITY/WORKFORCE 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2018

SUPPLIER DIVERSITY OPERATIONS

Demographic Goal Results

Minorities 6% 12%

Women 12% 25%

Veterans 3% 2%

WORKFORCE OPERATIONS

Demographic Goal Results

Minorities 10% 25%

Women Not Stated* 54%

Veterans Not Stated* 5%

1Racing numbers do not include seasonal employees

*These figures (goals) were not stipulated as part of the PPC Operations Plan

MGC SUPPLIER DIVERSITY EFFORTS

MGC works with a Vendor Advisory Group to connect diverse Massachusetts companies to business opportunities 
with casino licensees. Also, MGC is committed to ensuring that its internal supplier base is representative of the 
Commonwealth’s diversity.

On May 2018, we were honored to receive the Quasi-Public Organization of the Year Award from the Supplier Diversity 
Office of the Operational Services Division (OSD). The award, signed by Governor Charlie Baker and Lieutenant Governor 
Karyn Polito recognized MGC for its “outstanding participation in the Commonwealth’s Supplier Diversity Program.”

The award recognizes MGC’s efforts to fulfill the Expanded Gaming Act’s mission to ensure that all Massachusetts 
residents and businesses benefit from new opportunities afforded by expanded gaming. This is the second consecutive 
year MGC has received this recognition.



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 36

Access and Opportunity Committee

Gaming Agent Inspections



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 37

CASINO INDUSTRY 
IMPACT REPORT 2017

In 2017, Plainridge Park Casino had been operating  
over a year, having opened June 2015. MGM Springfield 
and Encore Boston Harbor had both broken ground 
and were under construction. Both the operations and 
construction phases of the three casinos contributed 
significantly to the workforce opportunities and economic 
impacts for Massachusetts residents and business 
owners, as well as minority, veteran, and woman 
employees and business owners. 

INDUSTRY JOBS IMPACT 

JOB CREATION The impact the casinos had on the workforce during 2017.

OVERVIEW

* 2017 Construction: During 2017, both MGM Springfield and Encore Boston Harbor were under construction.
* 2017 Operations: Inclusive of all 3 licensees, although MGM and EBH had not yet opened.

6,329 JOBS

OVER 7,000+ =

716 JOBS
2017 Construction* 2017 Operations*

people found work within the industry

PLAINRIDGE 
PARK CASINO

MGM 
SPRINGFIELD

ENCORE BOSTON HARBOR



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 38

CONSTRUCTION EMPLOYMENT

That’s over 51,000 hours per week!

4,891
MA residents on casino  
construction projects

OVER 2.6 MILLION
TOTAL PROJECT HOURS LOGGED IN 2017

MA RESIDENT WAGES* 

MA EMPLOYMENT
The total number of permanent employees (not including construction) who were living in MA upon hire.

* MA Resident Wages reported for casino operations salaries/benefits only. Not inclusive of wages paid out to construction workforce.

473 716
MA residents 

employed
Total jobs

INDUSTRY JOBS IMPACT CONT.

$24,380,083

OVER $18.7 MILLION
That’s over 77% of the

total wages paid

out of



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 39

MA VENDOR/SUPPLIER SPEND 

The impact on local businesses serving the casino industry.

Minorities, Veterans and Women   
on construction projects

Minorities, Veterans and Women 
working in casinos

2,148

576

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY 
With one casino operational and two under construction, 80% of permanent casino employees and 34% of the 
construction project workforce were composed of minorities, veterans and women.

Construction

Operations

Women
Minorities

Veterans

193337

46

Women
Minorities

Veterans

1,377378

393

OVER $617.7 MILLION
SPENT WITH MA BUSINESSES IN 2017

INDUSTRY ECONOMIC IMPACT ON BUSINESS



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 40

$207,00012 $125,000 + $14,000 +
GrantsOrganizations 

Supported
Campaign for  

Women in Construction
Diversity Programs and 

Event Sponsorships

$347,109 TOTAL FUNDING 
BY MGC IN 2017

DIVERSE VENDOR SPEND  
Casino spending with minority-owned (MBE), veteran-owned (VBE), and woman-owned (WBE) businesses. 

SUPPORT FOR WORKFORCE AND DIVERSITY INITIATIVES  
MGC provides grants, sponsorships and other funding to organizations in support of diversity and  
workforce development.

WBE
MBE

VBE

28%53%

19%

Breakout of spend with 

CERTIFIED DIVERSE  
BUSINESSES

OVER $174.8 MILLION
SPENT WITH DIVERSE [MBE/VBE/WBE] 

VENDORS/SUPPLIERS IN 2017

INDUSTRY IMPACT ON DIVERSE-OWNED BUSINESS

PROGRAMMING IMPACTS



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 41

LITIGATION MATTERS
CITY OF BOSTON/REVERE/MOHEGAN  
SUN ET AL. V. MGC

On September 22, 2015, Judge Sanders, in the Suffolk 
Superior Court- Business Litigation session, heard oral 
argument on MGC’s motions to dismiss concerning the 
claims asserted by the City of Boston, City of Revere, 
Mohegan Sun, the International Brotherhood of Electrical 
Workers 103 (“IBEW”) and the individual citizens. 
These claims (by the non-Boston entities) included 
allegations that the MGC failed to follow the Gaming Act, 
that the gaming act and certain of its regulations were 
unconstitutional and that MGC violated the Open  
Meeting Law. 

On December 3, 2015, MGC’s motion was granted, and 
all of Boston’s claims were dismissed. On that same 
date, the Court dismissed all of the claims of the IBEW, 
Revere, Mohegan Sun and the individual citizen plaintiffs 
except for Mohegan’s claim of a right to certiorari review. 
All of the parties except for Boston appealed to the single 
justice of the Appeals Court but were denied. MGC then 
appealed to the full Appeals Court and also sought direct 
appellate review by the Supreme Judicial Court. The other 
dismissed plaintiffs (aside from Boston) have appealed 
their respective dismissals to full Appeals Court.

The Supreme Judicial Court heard oral argument on 
December 5, 2016, and published a decision on March 10, 
2017. In its decision, the Supreme Judicial Court affirmed 
the dismissal of Revere and the Union’s claims against 
MGC while remanding the citizen claims of open meeting 
law violations and Mohegan Sun’s certiorari claim back 
to the Superior Court. The administrative record in the 
certiorari claim has now been assembled; however, a 
briefing schedule has not yet been established pending 
the Investigation and Enforcement Bureau’s report on 
their Wynn investigation.  

The Open Meeting Law claims have been bifurcated 
from the certiorari claim and written discovery has been 
completed. Deposition discovery is complete; however, 
the plaintiffs have filed a motion to expand discovery.  
That motion will be heard in December 2018. The parties 
will file motions for summary judgment in late fall 2018, 
with a hearing in March 2019.

FBT V. MGC 

On November 14, 2016, the Commission was sued 
for tortious interference with respect to the plaintiff’s 
agreement to sell property to the licensee for the 
Category 1 facility in Everett. The plaintiff is requesting 
damages as determined at trial. On April 7, 2017, the 
Commission filed a motion to dismiss the suit, which  
was granted by the court on June 7, 2017; however, 
the plaintiff filed an amended complaint while the court 
was in the process of issuing its decision. The court’s 
decision stands, and the Commission has filed a motion 
to dismiss the claims in the amended complaint. The 
Commission’s motion to dismiss was argued in October 
2017. In his order on the motion, Judge Leibensperger 
raised questions concerning whether he had subject 
matter jurisdiction necessary to rule on the motion.  
The parties jointly had the matter reassigned to a judge  
in Middlesex County to remedy the jurisdictional 
questions, and the motion was argued again in front of 
Judge Kaplan. In May 2018, Judge Kaplan dismissed the 
FBT plaintiff’s claims for a per se taking and impairment 
of contract rights but allowed their regulatory taking 
claims to survive. The Commission filed an Answer as  
to the surviving count on June 15, 2018, and on July 5, 
2018, filed a Third Party Complaint adding Wynn MA,  
LLC as a defendant. Wynn MA, LLC has been served 
with the Third Party Complaint and is expected to file a 
response to that document by October 25, 2018. Discovery 
has now started, and the Commission is working on its 
responses to written discovery requests.  



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 42

OTHER MATTERS — THE LAND-IN-TRUST  
CHALLENGE TO THE TRIBE

LITTLEFIELD ET AL. V. UNITED STATES DEPT. OF THE 
INTERIOR ET AL. (D. MASS. 2016) 
MGC is not a party to this legal challenge, but as an 
interested observer and as directed by Statute, MGC will 
continue to monitor the developments and status of the 
Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe (“Mashpee” or “Tribe”) and 
their efforts to build a casino in Taunton. 

In this matter, the plaintiffs and defendants filed cross-
motions for summary judgment on the plaintiff’s first 
cause of action concerning the Tribe’s eligibility as 
beneficiaries under the Indian Reorganization Act (“IRA”) 
and the authority of the Secretary of the Interior to take 
land into trust for their benefit. In finding for the plaintiffs, 
Judge Young interpreted the definition of “Indian” set 
forth in section 479 of the IRA. The definition states:

The term “Indian” as used in this Act shall include [1]  
all persons of Indian descent who are members of any 
recognized Indian tribe now under Federal jurisdiction, 
and [2] all persons who are descendants of such 
members who were, on June 1, 1934, residing within  
the present boundaries of any Indian reservation, and 
shall further include [3] all other persons of one  
half or more Indian blood.

The Supreme Court decision in Carcieri v. Salazar 
previously held that the term “now under Federal 
jurisdiction” refers to those tribes that were under federal 
jurisdiction when the IRA was enacted in 1934. The 
Mashpee, in this case, were arguing that they qualified 
as Indian under the IRA under the second definition; 
however, such an argument necessarily turns on the 
interpretation of the term “such members.” The plaintiffs 
argued that the term “such members” referred to the 
preceding use of “members” and thus the descendant 
of a recognized Indian tribe could only qualify as Indian 
for land in trust purposes if that tribe was under federal 
jurisdiction in 1934. The Mashpee were not federally 
recognized until 2007. The government, in turn, argued 
that the term “such members” was ambiguous.

Judge Young reviewed the definition and use of the word 
“such” in several other cases ultimately concluding 
that the Secretary erred in finding that the Mashpee 
fell within the second definition of “Indian” in the IRA. 
He explained that the Mashpee were not a tribe under 
federal jurisdiction in 1934 (taking them out of the first 
definition) and that the term “such members” from the 
second definition referred back to the use of members 

in the first definition. Given that recognition under the 
second definition requires descent from members of a 
tribe under Federal Jurisdiction in 1934 and the Mashpee 
were not recognized until nearly 70 years later, Judge 
Young concluded that the Secretary lacked the authority 
to acquire land in trust for the Mashpee and remanded 
the matter to the Secretary for further proceedings 
consistent with his opinion.

The Bureau of Indian Affairs filed a motion for 
reconsideration, which was denied by the District 
Court, and the Mashpee Wampanoag filed a motion to 
intervene, which was granted. In December 2016, the U.S. 
Department of the Interior and the Mashpee Wampanoag 
each filed a notice of appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals 
for the First Circuit. On April 24, 2017, the Mashpee 
Wampanoag filed an assent to the motion to stay briefing 
pending the revised decision from the Department of 
the Interior. On May 8, 2017, the federal appellants in this 
matter moved to withdraw their appeal. The Department 
of the Interior has not issued a revised decision but 
instead has requested a further briefing from the parties. 
The Mashpee Wampanoag have asked the court to further 
stay the matter pending a decision from the Department 
of the Interior, and the court has agreed to the requested 
stay. The Commission will continue to monitor this matter. 

Recently, on September 7, 2018, the Department of 
the Interior produced a revised decision in accordance 
with the request of the United States District Court 
for the District of Massachusetts. After evaluation of 
the voluminous materials submitted by the tribe, the 
Department concluded that the Tribe did not satisfy the 
“under Federal jurisdiction” requirement of the first 
definition of “Indian” as put forth by the IRA. Specifically, 
the assistant secretary wrote that “The record before me 
contains little indicia of Federal jurisdiction beyond the 
general principle of plenary authority, and little if any 
evidence demonstrating that the United States took any 
actions establishing or reflecting Federal obligations, 
duties, responsibilities for or authority over the Tribe in 
or before 1934.” The combination of the Department’s 
finding and the District Court’s ruling that the Tribe did 
not qualify under the second definition of “Indian” in 
IRA, could result in the Tribe losing its land in trust and 
its official tribal status entirely. In accordance with the 
instructions provided by the First Circuit Court of Appeals, 
the Tribe is now required to explain how, following the 
Department’s decision, the Tribe can be qualified to have 
land taken in trust by the federal government. Attorneys 
for the Tribe have requested additional time to address 
this issue.  



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT PAGE 43

CHALLENGE TO THE AQUINNAH WAMPANOAG TRIBE’S 
PLAN TO INTRODUCE ELECTRONIC BINGO GAMING ON 
THE TRIBE’S MARTHA’S VINEYARD LANDS

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS, ET AL V.  
THE WAMPANOAG TRIBE OF GAY HEAD (AQUINNAH),  
ET AL (D. MASS. 2015)
MGC is also not a party to this litigation, but, again, 
pursuant to its statutory mandate, the Commission 
is monitoring the case because the Aquinnah Tribe’s 
entitlement to conduct commercial gaming is at issue.

The case originated in 2015 on a complaint by the 
Commonwealth, joined by a local Martha’s Vineyard 
community organization and the Town of Aquinnah 
(collectively, the “Commonwealth Plaintiffs”), to block  
the Aquinnah Tribe’s stated intention to open an 
electronic bingo facility on its reservation land. The  
Tribe had obtained approval from the National Indian 
Gaming Commission to do so pursuant to the federal 
Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA). (Under IGRA, a 
federally recognized Tribe may sponsor electronic bingo 
games — so called, “Class 2” gaming — on its lands 
without the approval of state authorities. For conventional 
casino gaming, for example in a resort with table  
games, state approval under IGRA is required through  
a formal compact process.)

The principal basis of the Commonwealth Plaintiffs’ 
complaint was that the Aquinnah Tribe had surrendered 
whatever rights it otherwise would have had to conduct 
gaming on its tribal lands on account of the Tribe in 
1987 having entered into an agreement to settle pending 
litigation involving the Tribe’s claims to substantial 
portions of Martha’s Vineyard. The Tribe alleged that 
these lands had been conveyed to non-tribal members 
over a period of many decades in violation of federal law 
restricting the transfer of Indian land to non-Indians.  
That settlement agreement was incorporated into a 
federal statute, the Indian Claims Settlement Act of  
1987 (the “1987 Federal Act”). 

The Tribe acknowledged that pursuant to the settlement 
agreement it waived its right to conduct gaming on the 
property transferred to it in the settlement. However,  
the Tribe submitted that the 1987 Federal Act was 
impliedly repealed and superseded by the permissive 
provisions of IGRA, which was passed and became law  
a year later in 1988.

In November 2015, the US District Court in Boston 
(Saylor, J.) granted the Commonwealth Plaintiffs’ motion 
for summary judgment. The Court concluded that the 
Tribe had exercised insufficient governmental authority 
over its lands to qualify for IGRA-approved gaming. It also 
concluded that, in any event, the Tribe was bound by the 
terms of its 1987 settlement agreement because IGRA  
did not repeal the 1987 Federal Act.

In April 2017, however, the First Circuit Court of Appeals 
reversed the District Court, rejecting its conclusion as to 
the insufficiency of the Tribe’s exercise of governmental 
authority and finding that, in fact, IGRA did impliedly 
repeal the 1987 Federal Act. 

The Commonwealth Plaintiffs’ motion for en banc  
review by the First Circuit was denied. 

On August 8, 2017, the Commonwealth Plaintiffs filed an 
application for certiorari review before the Supreme  
Court of the United States. The application is pending.

The Commission will continue to monitor closely 
developments in the case.



MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORTPAGE 44

101 Federal Street, 12th Floor, Boston, MA, 02110
TEL 617.979.8400
FAX 617.725.0258

www.massgaming.com

MAGamingComm MassGamingComm MassGamingCommission

http://www.massgaming.com

	0) Cover Page
	12-20-18 - Commission Meeting Agenda - FINAL
	2a) 12-6-18 Meeting Minutes (Draft)
	3b) Region C Comments Combined
	1) Goodwin Region C Response and Exhibits
	MGE_ Public Comments Ltr to MGC 113018 (2)
	Exhibit A
	Exhibit B
	Exhibit C
	Table of Contents
	Region C: Request for Public Comments
	Question 1: Northeast and Mid-Atlantic Gaming Markets
	Question 2: Massachusetts Gaming Demand
	Question 3: Status and Potential Impact on Casino Gaming of Online Gaming, Sports Betting, and DFS
	Online Gaming (iGaming)
	Sports Betting
	Daily Fantasy Sports
	Summary

	Question 4: Casino Staffing Availability and Labor Market Impact
	Question 11: Massachusetts Horse Racing

	Appendix A: Competitive Environment
	Existing
	Connecticut
	Foxwoods Casino
	Mohegan Sun Casino

	Rhode Island
	Twin River Casino
	Newport Grand Casino/Tiverton Casino

	Massachusetts
	Plainridge Park Casino
	MGM Springfield

	New York
	Saratoga Springs
	Monticello Raceway
	Empire City at Yonkers Raceway
	Resorts World Casino at Aqueduct Racetrack
	Rivers Casino & Resort
	Resorts World Catskills

	Maine
	Hollywood Casino Hotel & Raceway Bangor
	Oxford Casino

	New Jersey
	Bally’s Atlantic City
	Borgata
	Caesars Atlantic City
	Golden Nugget Atlantic City
	Taj Mahal/Hard Rock Atlantic City
	Harrah’s Resort Atlantic City
	Resorts Casino Hotel
	Tropicana Atlantic City
	Revel/Oceans Resort

	Pennsylvania
	Sands Casino Resort Bethlehem
	Mount Airy Casino Resort
	Mohegan Sun Pocono
	Parx Casino and Racing
	SugarHouse Casino
	Harrah’s Philadelphia Casino & Racetrack
	Valley Forge Casino Resort
	Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course


	Proposed New England
	Encore Boston Harbor
	Connecticut


	Appendix B: Signature Page

	Exhibit D
	Exhibit E

	2) Region C Public Comments by mail and email
	3) Form Letter and Name Counts
	4) Comments from 9-27-18 MGC Mtg
	0) 9-27-18 Cover Page 
	09-27-18 - Commission Meeting Agenda - FINAL
	2a) 09-13-18 Meeting Minutes (Draft)
	4a) Lynn Summary memo
	5a1) MA-VSEP Open Meeting 2018 slide deck
	5a2) MA-VSEP Revised Evaluation Report 073018 no watermark
	6a) Build A Life Campaign Comissioner Update 9.24.18FINAL on template
	6b) Cambridge College Gaming School Presentation 092018 FINALv2
	7a) Request to Reopen Region C
	7a2) 2018.08.13 letter from Goodwin
	7a3) Region C Comments Combined


	3c) Commission Meeting 12-20-18 Presentation
	ASSESSMENT:�MGM OPENING ACTIVITIES
	AGENDA
	Overview
	Opening mgm
	Participants
	KEY ACTIVITIES
	Best practices
	Activities and assessment
	METHODOLOGY
	BEST PRACTICES-HIDE THIS SLIDE
	KEY HIGHLIGHTS
	AREAS OF INTEREST
	Construction Site overview april 2016
	construction
	Opening day
	Ombudsman Granular tracking
	ombudsman
	Ombudsman high-level tracking
	Gaming floor delivery day
	Gaming agents
	Gaming floor completed
	Licensing system before
	licensing
	Licensing system now
	By the numbers
	By the numbers
	By the numbers
	By the numbers
	conclusion
	conclusion
	acknowledgments
	Questions/follow-up

	3d) MGM Plaza 12-18-18
	UFirst 90 Days Plaza Audit Report:
	TO: Bruce Band – Assistant Director IEB
	Burke Cain – Field Manager IEB
	FROM:  Angela Smith
	Table of Contents
	MGM Springfield Outdoor Plaza
	Events
	The Armory
	Originally planned to be used as a restaurant, the Armory has served for several events during the first three months. During opening, guests used the building to sign-up for an MLife card. Currently, it is used as a holiday village. There have been n...
	Kringle Emporium
	In addition to selling candles, the Emporium also offers food and drinks (as well as alcoholic beverages). There have been no related issues observed by the IEB.
	Fire Pits
	As the winter weather approached, MGM placed fire pits in the plaza. There have been no related issues observed by the IEB.
	Ice Skating Rink
	Towards the conclusion of the 90 day audit, MGM began to open the ice skating rink to the public. Prior to the opening of the ice rink, the open area was used for several events including an arts & crafts show and live entertainment.
	Tree Lighting
	After the 90 day audit had concluded, MGM placed a holiday tree and held a lighting ceremony in the plaza.
	Special Events Schedule on the MGM Plaza
	Glassware in the Plaza
	The picture below shows a sign MGM uses to help prevent patrons from taking glassware outside on to the plaza. The IEB has observed patrons using these tables and found no issues of glassware taken past this point.
	In summary, the IEB documented 80 plaza inspections during the first three months. Additionally, the IEB performed undocumented reviews of the plaza daily during routine patrols. IEB gaming agents conducted security staffing audits, surveillance camer...
	On three occasions, IEB found surveillance camera coverage of the plaza to be insufficient. Cameras were immediately added by MGM
	IEB also observed security staffing fail to meet the regulated requirements for the plaza. On Fridays and Saturdays after 16:00, additional security officers are required for the late afternoon and evenings. MGM addressed these incidents immediately.


	3d2) MGM Crosswalk- 12-18-18
	TO: Bruce Band – Assistant Director IEB
	Burke Cain – Field Manager IEB
	FROM:  Angela Smith

	4a) MGM Springfield Q3 MGC 2018 122018 v 3
	4a2) MGM Springfield 2018-Q3 QSR (rev)
	C - 9-30-18-September Workforce Diversity Reports.pdf
	9.30.18 Workforce Diversity Report  (By Company)(END OF MONTH)
	Sep 18 Company Union Sum

	9.30.18 Workforce Diversity Report  (By Union)(END OF MONTH)
	Sep18 Union Summary



	5a) MGM GameSense_Year End Update_Final
	Slide Number 1

	6a) Encore draft NDA (for MGC review and execution)
	MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION

	7a) MGC-030_DiversityReport_12.10_Web
	7b1) memo re STCC budget amendment 12.14.18 (3)
	7b2) HP STCC Budget narrative  12.13.18 (2)
	7c) HLT Grant Update-Memo 12.20.18
	8a) MGC-029_AnnualReport2018_r3-v2



